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Be smart. Pay smart. 

ust

One for All
With technology moving at the speed of thought, 
our society is heading towards a digital lifestyle 
to fulfil their daily needs. LankaClear foresaw this 
change and designed all our technology solutions 
to be inclusive to cater to people of all ages and 
backgrounds. From north to south and east to 
west of the island, old to young, rich to poor, men 
to women and Baby Boomers to Generation Z, 
we provide an affordable and convenient array of 
services to everyone, everywhere and every time 
they perform a financial transaction.

While leading the pack in introducing innovations 
that make life convenient for all, we have created 
a secure environment in which all our people 
can engage in their daily transactions seamlessly. 
LankaClear fully understands its one for all role in 
the financial sector and we have witnessed how our 
innovations helped the entire population to navigate 
these challenging times.
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One for All 
in Service
LankaClear has taken on the responsibility to deliver 
consistent and comprehensive financial services to 
all its customers. We provide superior service to all 
irrespective of time and location in a variety of ways 
through multiple service offerings. We have delivered 
a consistent 24X7 service across all our solutions to 
ensure a seamless experience to all customers. As 
the single entity connecting all banks and finance 
companies, effective delivery of our services is critical 
to keep the financial sector functional.
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Introduction to the 
Report

From one end of the country to the 
other, from old to young, rich to poor, 
men to women, working or retired, 
regardless of ethnicity, background, or 
culture, LankaPay offers an affordable and 
convenient array of services to everyone, 
everywhere, and every time consumers 
perform a financial transaction. The range 
of services we provide varies from cheque 
clearing to interbank ATM transactions 
to interbank fund transfers to interbank 
mobile payments to card payments to 
remittances to digital signatures across 
one network – LankaPay: One for all.

This is LankaClear's seventh Integrated 
Annual Report, covering the period from 
1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022, and 
provides a concise and comprehensive 
analysis of our overall business strategy, 
performance, and process used to 
execute it. This is in relation to our 
capital management and value creation 

process, which is governed by the 2021 
International Integrated Reporting Council 
(IIRC) guidelines.

The financial statements are presented 
in accordance with the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka's Sri 
Lanka Financial Reporting Standards for 
Small and Medium-Sized Entities. The 
Financial Statements have been reviewed 
by the Audit Committee to ensure that 
they present a true and fair view of the 
organisation. Ernst & Young Chartered 
Accountants Sri Lanka provided external 
assurance on the Financial Statements. 
The Report also complies with the 
requirements of Company Act No. 7 of 
2007.

We have made every effort to ensure 
that this report represents a balanced, 
complete, and accurate review. Our goal 
is to provide credible information in a 

consistent manner, allowing for clarity and 
comparability. The General Manager/CEO 
and members of the Company's corporate 
management team is accountable for the 
Company's sustainability practices and 
disclosures in this Report.

Boundary, Materiality Assessment and 
Restatement of Information 
This report boundary covers LankaClear 
(Pvt) Ltd. operations and topics identified 
as material to the Company based on an 
assessment of stakeholder priority and 
impacts on the Company.

The key topics arising from our 
stakeholder engagement, regulatory 
mandate, industry trends, opportunities, 
and risks have been addressed in this 
Annual Report based on their importance 
to the organisation and to our key 
stakeholders.
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This activity is carried out annually with the 
participation of the entire Management 
team based on their areas of expertise 
and stakeholder engagement, and it is 
evaluated on a regular basis at Board and 
Management meetings and is integrated 
into organisational and departmental 
goals.

Read LankaClear Annual Report 
2021-22 Online

www.lankaclear.com/
downloads/

Company Overview  Introduction to the Report

1. Ensure trust and high availability of all payment systems 
within LankaClear network

2. Improve, upgrade and continuously maintain the efficiency 
and reliability of all existing IT infrastructure for smooth 
functioning of the LankaClear payment systems

3. Enhance information security and compliance to maintain 
world-class standards

4. Implement industry best practices for LankaPay card 
operation

5. Manage seamless integration of LankaPay products with 
banks and financial institutions

6. Providing value-added services to customers
7. Introduce innovative and technologically advanced payment 

solutions towards achieving the key objective of driving 
financial inclusivity to ensure extensive use of LankaClear 
services by the general public

8. Increase LankaPay brand awareness and brand loyalty 
among the general public via direct and indirect 
engagements

9. Enhance customer satisfaction levels
10. Ensure the availability of a highly-qualified, trained, efficient 

and motivated team of staff members
11. Optimum engagement with employees to ensure reduction 

of employee grievances that leads to reduced turnover

12. Ensure fair and equitable compensation and benefits to all 
employees

13. Maintain an enhanced and effective procurement process to 
improve operational efficiency and transparency

14. Reduce consumption by increasing the efficiency in usage of 
energy

15. Ensure the establishment of a suitable environment and 
carry out timely maintenance required for equipment, 
operations and staff

16. Enhance the overall financial health of the organisation 
through attaining revenue and profitability growth and 
attaining cost efficiencies while safeguarding Company 
assets

17. Ensure continued contractual safeguards with contractors, 
vendors, service providers and other parties who transact 
with the Company

18 Ensure the Company’s contractual rights
19. Enhance member participation for LankaClear products
20. Contribute towards sustainable development
21. Maintain good governance controls 
22. Establish partnerships with regional payment networks

The main aspects identified as being 
of high priority to both LankaClear and 
stakeholder interests are summarised and 
depicted in page 04, and are discussed in 
depth throughout this report.

The topics identified as high, medium, and 
low priority have been mapped onto the 
grid above. The following is a list of the 
material topics considered for this report. 

No information has been 
restated from the previous 
Annual Report.
 



6 LankaClear (Private) Limited Annual Report 2021/22

About Us

One for All
Bringing the best-of-breed solution to Sri Lanka’s national payment infrastructure, LankaClear 
as the operator of Sri Lanka’s National Payment Network - LankaPay has been in the forefront 
in revolutionizing the country’s banking and financial services sector by keeping the elements 
‘innovation’ and advanced ‘technology’ at its core.

Grown by leaps and bounds since its incorporation in 2002, LankaClear’s quest is to empower every 
Sri Lankan with faster, convenient, secure and affordable payment solutions thereby creating 
financially inclusivity.

As the national payment network that functions under the guidance and supervision of the 
Central Bank of Sri Lanka, LankaClear is regarded as one of the best Public-Private Partnerships 
(PPP) in the region.

The entity is owned by the Central Bank of Sri Lanka along with other licensed public and private 
Commercial Banks operating in the island nation.

Our Vision
To be Asia’s most 
trusted and reliable 
payment network

Our Mission
To be the trusted National 
Payment Network that facilitates 
high quality electronic financial 
services at affordable prices in a 
secure, reliable and convenient 
manner to all Sri Lankans

Company Overview  About Us
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Core Values
“This is How We Do It”

01 Responsibility and Accountability
 We act responsibly and take accountability for our actions as we know that our decisions and 

actions affect our stakeholders. We know that the confidence will be built based on our verbal and 
written commitments, which we reliably meet.

 
02 Respect Others for Who They Are
 It is not by a designation, race, or creed that people are valued and respected by all of us at 

LankaClear.  
We respect, value and honour them for who they are and what they do.

 
03 Be a Catalyst for Change
 Change is in our lifeblood and no matter what happens our passion for change and the hunger 

for finding better ways of doing things will never stop. We continue to search for and provide the 
latest technology-based solutions to our customers while justifying our drive to become a valued 
Payment Infrastructure Facilitator.

 
04 Leadership
 Everything we do at LankaClear is aimed at making people passionate about their contribution and 

to become leaders in their own areas of expertise.
 
05 Integrity and Trust
 We at LankaClear proclaim that we make promises that we can keep while claiming ownership for 

what we speak and do as individuals as well as a company.
 
06 Availability and Accessibility
 We are available for assistance at all times and our services incorporate a high level of information 

security. The accuracy, trust, and accessibility of our systems are our strengths. We cherish our 
commitment to Payment Infrastructure Facilitation as the emerging most reliable and trusted 
entity in the region.

 
07 Teamwork & Collaboration
 We know that the success of a team is dependent on how well the members of the team care for 

each other and work as one. It is our forte to bring the members of the team together and lead the 
process of effective collaboration to bring harmony and success to the working relationships of all 
levels and to work towards a common objective.

Company Overview  About Us
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Awards and 
Recognition

2011

Certificate of Compliance 
under Service Organisations 
Sector at the Annual Report 

Awards organised by the 
Institute of Chartered 

Accountants of Sri Lanka

2014

Silver Award under 
Infrastructure and Utilities 

Sector at the National 
Business Excellence Awards 

organised by the Ceylon 
Chamber of Commerce

 
Silver Award under Small 

and Medium sized Entities at 
the Annual Report Awards 

organised by the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of Sri 

Lanka

Merit Award under 
Commercial Category at 

the Bestweb.lk Competition 
organised by LK Domain 

Registry 

2017

Gold Award under Small and 
Medium sized Entities at the 
Annual Report Awards 2017 
organised by the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants 
of Sri Lanka for the second 

consecutive year

Gold Award under ICT 
Services Sector at the 

National Business Excellence 
Awards 2017 organised by 
the National Chamber of 

Commerce2012

Bronze Award under Service 
Organisations Sector at 

the Annual Report Awards 
organised by the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of Sri 

Lanka

2015

Bronze Award under Small 
and Medium sized Entities at 

the Annual Report Awards 
organised by the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of Sri 

Lanka

2018

Gold Award under Small and 
Medium sized Entities at the 
Annual Report Awards 2018 
organised by the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants 
of Sri Lanka for the third 

consecutive year.

Gold Award under ICT 
Services Sector at the 

National Business Excellence 
Awards organised by the 

National Chamber of 
Commerce valid for two years 

including 2018.

2013

Gold Award under 
Infrastructure and Utilities 

Sector at the National 
Business Excellence Awards 

organised by the Ceylon 
Chamber of Commerce 

Silver Award under Small 
and Medium sized Entities at 

the Annual Report Awards 
organised by the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of Sri 

Lanka
2016

Gold Award under Small and 
Medium sized Entities at 

the Annual Report Awards 
organised by the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of Sri 

Lanka

Silver Award under ICT 
Services Sector at the 

National Business Excellence 
Awards organised by 

the Ceylon Chamber of 
Commerce 

Company Overview  Awards and Recognition
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2021

Gold Award under ICT 
Services Sector at the 

National Business Excellence 
Awards 2021 organised by 
the National Chamber of 

Commerce 

Overall Bronze Award under 
Large Organizations category 

for the first time at the 
National Business Excellence 

Awards 2021, organised by 
the National Chamber of 

Commerce

Merit Award for Capacity 
Building for the first time 
at the National Business 
Excellence Awards 2021 

organised by the National 
Chamber of Commerce

Silver Award under Small and 
Medium Sized Entities at the 
Annual Report Awards 2021 
organised by the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of Sri 

Lanka.

2019

Gold Award under Small and 
Medium sized Entities at the 
Annual Report Awards 2019 
organised by the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants 
of Sri Lanka for the fourth 

consecutive year.

Company Overview  Awards and Recognition
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2006
Commenced 
nationwide 
T + 1 cheque 
clearing and 
truncation - 
1st in South 
Asia and 2nd 
in the world

Established 
a fully-
functional 
DR site for 
LankaClear 
payment 
systems

2008

2009
Launched 
‘LankaSign’ 
- The only 
commercially 
operating 
Certification 
Service Provider 
(CSP) in Sri 
Lanka

Commenced 
submission of 
cheque images 
via CD for CITS, 
ending the era of 
physical cheque 
submission

Implemented 
nationwide same 
day electronic 
fund transfer 
(SLIPS) - 1st in 
South Asia

2010 2011
Introduced the direct connectivity 
mode for CITS settlement 
clearing for all banks using digital 
certificates for greater security

Extended CD (cheque) submission 
time from 6:30 pm to 7:30 pm via 
efficiency enhancements of the 
CITS main clearing

Advanced the inward return 
delivery time from 2:00 pm to 
1:30 pm to reduce the cheque 
realisation time and provided 
greater convenience to customers

Launched 
‘LankaPay’ 
Common ATM 
Network

Extended outward 
(cheque) clearing 
cutoff time from 
7:30 to 8:00 pm for 
greater customer 
convenience.

Implemented the 
help desk call 
monitoring and 
tracking system to 
improve customer 
service process for 
financial industry

2013

Launched Bank 
Computer Security 
Incidents Response 
Team (BankCSIRT) - 1st 
in South Asia (renamed 
in 2015 as FinCSIRT)

Amalgamated Sri Lanka 
Rupee Drafts System 
into CITS in July 2014

Migrated CITS front-end 
hardware to virtual 
infrastructure ‘VM’ for 
better and achieve cost 
efficiencies

2014

2015
Launched LankaPay 
Realtime Payment 
Network (CEFTS) for real-
time payments

Launched LankaPay 
Shared ATM Network 
(SAS) and LankaPay Card 
Management System 
(CMS), thereby providing 
a shared solution for 
ATM switching and card 
management

Launched LankaPay 
Common POS Switch 
(CPS) & Common Mobile 
Switch

Launched USD Online 
Payment system

2017
Became the first entity 
in Sri Lanka to obtain 
PCI-DSS version 3.2 
certification

Digitised many 
internal documents 
and introduced digital 
signatures to promote a 
‘paperless’ environment at 
LankaClear

Introduced an additional 
clearing cycle for SLIPS to 
ensure faster clearing of 
SLIPS transactions

Implemented LankaPay 
Online Payment Platform 
to facilitate online 
payments for customs 
declarations to be 
extended later for online 
payments towards other 
government services

Launched CITS Online 
Image Transfer Solution 
-1st in South Asia

Launched ‘JustPay’ via 
CEFTS to facilitate low 
value retail payments 
using mobile devices

Upgraded CITS System 
Software for improved 
performance

2016

10 LankaClear (Private) Limited Annual Report 2021/22

Our 
Milestones
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2022
Implemented the LankaPay 
Cheque Imaging and 
Truncation System (CITS) 
Clearing and Settlement 
Interface Contingency Solution 
(CSI-CS) to streamline the 
clearing operation during 
contingency scenarios

Upgraded the Common Card 
and Payment Switch (CCAPS) 
to a higher version which 
provides better functionality 
and security

Successfully achieved the PCI-
DSS compliance recertification 
for the year 2021/22

Enabled online payments to 
Employees’ Provident Fund 
(EPF), Import & Export Control 
Department (IECD), Sri Lanka 
Standards Institution (SLSI) 
via LankaPay Government 
Payment Platform (LPOPP)

Introduced 5th settlement cycle for 
Common Card and Payment Switch 
(CCAPS)

Enabled online tax payments to 
Department of Inland Revenue (IRD) via 
LankaPay Government Payment Platform 
(LPOPP)

Enabled online payments to Sri Lanka 
Ports Authority (SLPA) 

Upgraded Facetone to enable ticketing 
functionality and work delegation

2021

2020
Launch of Payment Exchange Name (PEN) to 
facilitate online payments based on a mobile 
number and a nickname 

Launch of Direct Debit 

Implemented Automated Customer Support 
System (ACSS) to better serve customer queries

Migrated all clearing systems from obsolete 
DogTag Certification Authority (CA) to new 
Windows CA

Migrated the entire LankaSign process from a 
physical document-based system to an online 
approach

Obtained the PCI-DSS version 3.2.1 
recertification

2018
Introduced a process for liability to shift 
from issuer to acquirer for EMV enabled 
transactions

Launched a number of mobile payment 
applications facilitated via ‘JustPay’

Upgraded LankaSign system to the 
status of a fully-fledged commercial 
CSP (Certification Service Provider) via 
technology and security improvements

Obtained the PCI-DSS version 3.2 
recertification

Implemented the back end to 
facilitate LankaQR  - National 
Quick Response (QR) code-based 
transactions

Introduced four settlement cycles 
among member banks for CAS 
and CEFTS clearing to reduce the 
interbank settlement risk

Implemented Clearing and 
Settlement Interface (CSI) Project 
for CITS to fully automate the data 
submission by banks to LankaClear 
reducing manual work and 
enhancing data security

Designed and built a brand-new 
state-of-the-art data centre with 
two-hour fire resistance enclosure 
aligned with “Uptime Tier 3” 
standard

Implemented an automated clearing 
process for USD draft/cheque 
clearing for the convenience of 
participating banks where bank 
representatives do not have to 
carry physical drafts/cheques to 
LankaClear

Enabled JCB cross border 
transactions through cards 
issued under the National Card 
Scheme (NCS) and JCB cards issued 
internationally

Obtained the PCI-DSS version 3.2.1 
recertification

2019

11LankaClear (Private) Limited Annual Report 2021/22
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Corporate Strategy Human Capital Customer RelationshipTechnology

Financial Resources

• Superior 
Technology

• Reliability and 
Availability

• Highly Secured
• Unparalleled 

Service
• Brand Loyalty
• Social & 

Relationship

• Staff 
specialisation
• IT
• Network 

and Security
• Operations 

CCAPS, CITS 
etc.

• LankaSign
• FinCSIRT
• Finance
• HR and 

Admin
• Marketing
• Audits
• Research & 

Development
• Legal

• 24*7 call centre 
operation

• Help Desk 
Services

• Account 
Manager 
Involvement

• The Central Bank 
and Banking sector 
investment (Public-
Private Partnership)

• Retained Earnings

• Clearing Infrastructure
• Application Systems

• CCAPS - Provided by FIS an American 
multinational corporation which offers 
a wide range of financial products and 
services.

• CITS - Provided by NETS, a Singapore-based 
leading payments services group, enabling 
digital payments for merchants, consumers 
and banks across the entire payments value 
chain

• Hardware and System Software Infrastructure 
CAPS
• CCAPS - IBM Infrastructure
• CITS - Oracle Infrastructure

• Best Security Infrastructure and Standards
• Process Automation and Digitalisation

• Paperless office and digital signing
• Use of collaborative tools such as MS Team
• Use of data analytic tools such as Tableau

Marketing & 
Branding

Research & 
Development

Sustainable 
business goals

Resource Input

• New business strategies and  
 business ideas
• Business profits

• Improved and tested technology
• Experienced workforce
• Satisfied and new customers 

• Reputation
• Sustained business
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Vision and Mission
Monitoring Business Environment
• Organisational strengths and weaknesses
• Business Opportunities and Threats

Certifications
• PCI DSS Standards
• ISO Standards

Regulation
• Regulated by Central Bank
• Acts and Laws

Business 
Model

Company Overview  Business Model
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Facilitating 
Realtime 
Payments

Facilitating Batch Mode 
Digital Payments

Paper Based Payments 
Automation

Clearing Supporting 
Products

• CEFTS
• JustPay
• LankaQR
• LPOPP
• Direct 

Debit
• PEN
• CPS
• CAS
• SAS and 

CMS
• NCS

• USD On-line 
Payment System

• SLIPS

• CITS
• UITS

• LankaSign
• FinCSIRT

Product Range

Corporates Retail Customers Financial Industry

Government Sector SME Sector

Digital Economy

USD Payments

• CITS - Clearing 
Interbank cheque 
payments

• CEFTS - Facilitating 
real-time transfers 
below Rs. 5 Mn

• JustPay - Facilitating retail 
payments

• NCS - Facilitating retail card 
payments

• CPS - Facilitating retail  
merchant payments

• CAS - Facilitating cash withdrawals

• SAS and CMS - Providing cost 
effective solutions

• JustPay & LankaQR - 
Powering FinTech Apps

• FinCSIRT -  Sri Lanka Financial 
Sector Computer Security 
Incident Response Team

• LPOPP - 
Facilitating 
Government 
Sector Payments

• LankaQR - Facilitating SME 
sector merchant payments 
under low cost structures

• Digital payment products powering digital payments
• LankaSign powering the authenticity of the digital information flows

• Facilitating USD payments 
through USD On-line 
Payment System and UITS

Markets served through banks, financial institutions and fintech

Output

Financial Inclusivity

Reduce Costs

Cashless Society

Sustainable business

Secure Transactions

Business profits

Fi
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• National Payment Network • Accomplishment of Vision, Mission and Goals

KPIs and Goal Achievement

Corporate Governance 
& Risk Management Framework

Audit Assurance
• Information Security Audits
• Financial Audits
• Process Audits

Company Overview  Business Model
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Participants in LankaClear 
Payment Systems

Bank 
Code Bank Name
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7010 Bank of Ceylon
7038 Standard Chartered Bank
7047 Citi Bank NA
7056 Commercial Bank of Ceylon PLC
7074 Habib Bank Ltd
7083 Hatton National Bank PLC

7092 The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking 
Corporation Ltd

7108 Indian Bank
7117 Indian Overseas Bank
7135 People’s Bank
7144 State Bank of India
7162 Nations Trust Bank PLC
7205 Deutsche Bank AG
7214 National Development Bank PLC
7269 MCB Bank Ltd
7278 Sampath Bank PLC
7287 Seylan Bank PLC
7296 Public Bank Berhad
7302 Union Bank of Colombo PLC
7311 Pan Asia Banking Corporation PLC
7454 DFCC Bank PLC
7463 Amana Bank PLC 
7481 Cargills Bank Ltd
7700 Bank of China Ltd
7719 National Savings Bank
7728 Sanasa Development Bank PLC
7737 HDFC Bank

7746 Citizen Development Business Finance 
PLC 

7755 Regional  Development Bank
7764 State Mortgage & Investment Bank
7773 LB Finance PLC 
7782 Senkadagala Finance PLC 
7807 Commercial Leasing and Finance PLC
7816 Vallibel Finance PLC
7825 Central Finance PLC
7834 Kanrich Finance Ltd
7852 Alliance Finance Company PLC
7861 LOLC Finance PLC

Company Overview  Participants in LankaClear Payment Systems



15LankaClear (Private) Limited Annual Report 2021/22

Bank 
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7898 Merchant Bank of Sri Lanka & Finance 
PLC

7904 HNB Finance Ltd
7913 Mercantile Investment and Finance PLC 
7922 People’s Leasing and Finance PLC
7931 Sarvodaya Development Finance Ltd
7959 Bimputh Finance PLC
7968 Siyapatha Finance PLC
7977 LOLC Development Finance PLC
7995 Dialog Finance PLC
7603 Softlogic Finance PLC
7630 Singer Finance (Lanka) Ltd
7667 CBC Finance Ltd

7612 Cooperative Regional Rural Bank Ltd 
Polgahawela

7658 Lanka Credit and Business Finance 
Limited

6889 Richard Pieris Finance Ltd
8004 Central Bank Of  Sri Lanka
Total 25 22 14 29 47 46 3 17 16 24 17 20 19 6 3 7

Participants joined prior to 2021/22

  Participants went live during the year 2021/22

Company Overview  Participants in LankaClear Payment Systems
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Our Contribution to the 
Economy

Over 10 Mn retail sector 
payment facilitation through 
JustPay. Growth of 127% 
in JustPay registration and a 
growth of 149% in JustPay 
transactions during the year

24x7 call centre to 
support 
banks and financial 
institutions year around with 
regard to technical issues

Over 62 Mn
interbank debit card 
transactions facilitated 
for withdrawal of cash

Over LKR 18 Tn 
and USD 585 Mn
worth of transactions 
facilitated through 
LankaPay Systems

69 Mn online real time 
24x7 interbank fund transfers/
payments facilitated via 47 
CEFTS members

 Connected to 
Central Bank, 24 

Commercial Banks, 
6 Specialized Banks 

and 23 Financial 
Institutions.

54
Participants

44 Bn+
Worth of JustPay 
transactions being 
transacted during the 
year under review via 26 
mobile applications 
supported by 16 
financial institutions. 
Customers of 24 
financial institutions 
can add their accounts 
and pay.

USD 585 Mn + 
worth of transactions 
facilitated through USD 
Online & USD Draft 
clearing systems.

32 Mn +
Cheques cleared worth 
of over LKR 8. 6 Tn.

24 Mobile Apps
Connected to LankaQR

supported by 20 issuers, 20 merchant 
acquirers and 21 transaction acquirers.

5,800 +
ATMs+CRMs+CDMs 

Island wide connected 
to LankaPay - 

Common ATM 
Network 99.66% 

covered. 

Payment backend is 

PCI-DSS/
PA-DSS 
compliant 
and the first entity to 
do so in Sri Lanka.

Company Overview  Our Contribution to the Economy

approx. 369,000

During the year security of 
transactions and documents 
ensured through

LankaSign digital certificates

369,000+
Mobile, Application 
specific, E-mail 
signing and 
Document signing 
certificates issued.

LankaSign process is 

ISO 27001 
certified & 

the sole authorised
certification provider in  

Sri Lanka.
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CITS

SLIPS

CAS

CEFTS

 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Annual Transaction Volumes By Products Transaction Volume (Mn)

 CITS  SLIPS  CAS  CEFTS
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Annual Transaction Value By Products Transaction Value (Rs. Bn)
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Growth in Transaction Volume & Value 
2021/22

 Growth in Transaction Value
 Growth in Transaction Volume

14% 0.1%

25% 16%

36% 20%

96% 112%

Certification & Integration
This process ensures the smooth integration of participants for LankaClear products 
after certifying their system interfaces for required standards and configurations so 
that information flows among systems accurately. During the year under review, the 
number of certifications carried out for various products are as follows.

Infrastructure Enhancement
1. LankaPay Cheque Imaging and 

Truncation System (CITS) achieved a 
system uptime of 99.72%. 

2. Common Card and Payment Switch 
(CCAPS), which is the interbank real-
time payment switch, achieved a system 
uptime of 100% without pre-planned 
downtimes.

3. Successfully obtained the recertification 
for the prestigious Payment Card 
Industry Data Security Standards (PCI-DSS 
version 3.2.1), which is the highest level of 
security conformance in the world.

05
JustPay

08
CEFTS Credit

01
EMV 

Migration

04
LankaQR

01
NCS

2 in 1 Card

Company Overview  Our Contribution to the Economy
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Financial
Highlights

2021/2022 2020/2021 2019/2020 2018/2019 2017/2018

Results for the Year (Rs. Mn)

Revenue 1,329 1,057 1,098 1,029 918

Gross Profit 596 477 532 533 463

Profit Before Tax 617 518 561 520 425

Income Tax Expenses 49 28 75 90 64

Profit for the Year 568 490 486 430 361

At the Year End (Rs. Mn)

Total Assets 3,911 3,339 2,966 2,586 2,104

Total Capital Assets 748 806 621 608 582

Shareholders’ Funds 3,555 3,092 2,702 2,290 1,912

Long Term Financial Investments - 385 532 1,093 782

Short Term Financial Investments 2,455 1,757 1,519 549 506

Information Per Ordinary Share

Earnings Per Share 37.26 32.10 31.85 28.28 23.78

Dividend Per Share (Proposed) 7.45 6.42 6.37 4.95 3.50

Net Assets Value Per Share 233.11 202.77 177.17 150.17 125.78

Ratios

Gross Profit Ratio 45% 45% 48% 52% 50%

Net Profit Ratio 43% 46% 44% 42% 39%

Return on Equity 16% 16% 18% 19% 19%

Return on Assets 15% 15% 18% 17% 17%

26%
Total Revenue
LKR 1.33 Bn

35%
CCAPS Revenue
LKR 822 Mn

16%
Net Profit
LKR 568 Mn

17%
Total Assets
LKR 3.9 Bn

15%
Total Shareholder Funds 
LKR 3.6 Bn

15%
Net Assets Value per Share
LKR 233.11

Company Overview  Financial Highlights
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Revenue Mix

2017/18
2018/19
2019/20
2020/21
2021/22

 CCAPS

 CITS & SLIPS 

 Other

Ten Year Financial Performance - From 2013 to 2022  Rs. Million

 Total Assets  Shareholders’ Funds  Revenue   Total Cost

0

500

1,500

2,500

3,500

4,000

 12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16  16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22

1,000

2,000

3,000

Total Assets Distribution

18% 19%

63%

58% * 
Return 

on  PPE & 
Intangibles

 PPE and Intangibles   Financial Investments

 Other Current Assets

* For the calculation, the return considered is 
excluding the net of tax investment income.

Cashflow

26%

10%

64%

46% *
OCF/

Revenue

* Operating Cash Flow to Revenue, showing the 
company’s ability to convert its sales into cash.

 Net Cashflow From Operating Activities

 Net Cashflow Used in Investing Activities

 Net Cashflow Used in Financing Activities

Capital Structure

87%

4%
3%

6%

* For the calculation, the considered return is the Profit 
After Tax, excluding the net of tax investment income. 
The considered equity is excluding the value invested in 
financial investments.

39%*
Return on Equity 

Excluding the equity 
invested in financial 

investments

 Share Capital  Reserves

 Non Current Liabilities  Current Liabilities

Company Overview  Financial Highlights
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Revenue Analysis

 Transaction Revenue (Rs. Mn)

 Other Revenue (Rs. Mn)
 Transaction Rev. as % of Total Rev.

0

200

800

1,000

1,400

600

50

55

70

75

85

65

400 60

1,200 80

Rs. Mn %

 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22

Profitability Analysis
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Company Overview  Sustainability Highlights

Sustainability 
Highlights

Oxygen Manifold System 
with automatic control 
panel with 500L /min” 
donation to Colombo 

South Teaching Hospital

Introducing an 
‘Educational Assistance 
Programme’ for internal 
staff at a value of 2.4 Mn

Conducting LankaPay 
product awareness 
program for newly 

appointed BOC legal 
officers, A/L and 

university students

Recruitment of key 
female incumbents to 

research & development, 
marketing & project 

delivery roles 

Revising the 
organization’s salaries 

and benefits, as 
recommended by an 

industry survey carried 
out by KPMG

Continuously educating 
the public on cyber 
crimes and how to 

prevent themselves from 
such frauds through a 
series of mini videos 

shared on social media 
as a means of countering 

social engineering

Human 
Sustainability

During this challenging times, 
the company didn’t resort to any 

layoffs or pay cuts for staff

A notable contribution of 
LankaClear can be observed in 

making digital transactions more 
affordable by 50% of JustPay 
transactions being below Rs. 

250 in value

During this challenging time, 
LankaClear facilitated to 
increase the efficiency of 

payments by enabling real-time 
payments which are made for 
the importation of foods and 

essential necessities to Sri Lanka 
through LankaPay Government 

Payment Platform connects 
Sri Lanka Customs, Import and 
Export Control Department, Sri 
Lanka Standards Institution, Sri 
Lanka Ports Authority (Vessels, 
Cargo and entry permits) which 

are directly connected to the 
import export process

Enabling online real-time 
payments and facilitating over 

Rs. 240 Bn worth of transactions 
to Sri Lanka Customs, BOI, 

Inland Revenue Department, Sri 
Lanka Port Authority (Vessels, 
Cargo and entry permits), EPF, 

Import and Export Control 
Department (IECD), Sri Lanka 

Standards institution (SLSI) for 
24x7x365 days via LankaPay 

Government Payment Platform 
(LPOPP).   

Partnering with Central Bank to 
launch the National Remittance 

App - LankaRemit

Business and Social 
Sustainability
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Company Overview  Sustainability Highlights

Upgrading the older IT 
Infrastructure to the 
latest IBM POWER 9 

processor architecture-
based power systems 
(Power S924) in 2021 

to enhance energy and 
processing efficiency

Achieving 61% employee 
satisfaction rating for 

Performance Appraisals

Achieving 88% employee 
retention rate

Winning the Merit Award 
for Excellence in Capacity 

Building at National 
Business Excellence 

Awards 2022 organised 
by National Chamber of 

Commerce

Facilitating over 175 
Mn transactions during 

the year recording a 
45% growth from the 

previous year via digital 
channels 

Upgrading the virtualised 
infrastructure with an 

investment of Rs. 45 Mn 
at DR site

Organising LankaPay 
Technnovation Awards 
For the 4th time - the 

first and the only 
payment technology 

innovation awards in Sri 
Lanka

Obtaining PCI-DSS 
recertification complying 

with the highest 
international standard 

for payment card 
industry data security

Recycling office paper 
waste to produce 

notebooks for all staff 
and other stakeholders 
making optimal use of 

resources 

Sending all e-waste 
for recycling to a CEA 
approved recycling 

company

Changing all fluorescent 
lights to LED and 
disposed relevant 

electrical waste though 
a e-waste recycling 

company

Operational 
Sustainability
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One for All  
in Innovation
LankaClear has always leveraged on our core strengths 
to introduce innovations in the financial sector via 
the latest technologies and harnessed social trends 
to create appropriate solutions. We introduce robust 
and sustainable solutions to provide efficient financial 
intermediation, greater financial inclusion and means 
to create a less-cash society through digitization. 
Our track record of achieving continuous growth has 
provided us with the agility required to create value for 
all in the short, medium and long term.
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Chairman’s 
Review

Notwithstanding the negative setbacks of the global 
and local economic environment, LankaClear managed 
to steer through these challenging ocean conditions 
posting a positive financial performance.

Stewardship  Chairman’s Review
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The year 2021/22 has been extremely 
eventful and full of experiences. The 
landscape we were once familiar with 
has changed significantly and demands 
greater resilience and patience. Sri Lanka 
is at a pivotal juncture as it navigates many 
geopolitical undertones and global market 
disruptions amidst its balance sheet 
structural challenges. Globally too we see 
similar conditions reflected in financial 
markets namely, commodity markets, 
freight indexes, interest rates, stock 
markets, bond markets, and currency 
markets. Many countries are facing these 
trying conditions with new policy tools 
and by embracing technology to reshape 
and reorient their economies thereby 
transforming their business models 
to suit the new opportunities these 
disruptions present. We at LankaClear 
too are cognizant of the global and 
local environment and have embarked 
on making necessary changes to our 
business model as we move amidst such 
disruptive market conditions, noting that 
such disruptions do present their own 
unique opportunities. We also realize 
that in an era of disruptive Fintech 
technology it is not confined to banking 
per se as it has become a way of life for 
all of us today. Given that we live in such 
volatile global and local landscapes, it is 
paramount to look beyond the noise and 
see into the future, as it does provide 
significant opportunities to innovate and 
bring about new intellectual capital. 

Given this backdrop, it gives me great 
pleasure to present, the Annual Report 
of the Company for the financial year 
ended 31st March 2021/22 on behalf of 
the Board of Directors. I am delighted 
to mention that the company recorded 
another year of strong growth. It gives 
me great pride in sharing the progress 
of yet another successful year despite 
facing the second and third waves of 
COVID -19 pandemic. Despite the negative 
headwinds the Sri Lankan financial sector 
has stood up to these disruptions and has 
shown significant strength and character 
to deal with many of these challenges 

while supporting the real economy. 
The Banking sector’s 15% year-on-year 
growth in total assets, while the sector’s 
steady return on equity (ROE) of 14.5% 
reflects this resilience. Notwithstanding 
the negative setbacks of the global and 
local economic environment, LankaClear 
managed to steer through these 
challenging ocean conditions posting a 
positive financial performance. The strong 
interdependence between the banking 
sector’s requirement for secure cashless 
payment methods and the combined 
increase in product development by the 
FinTech segment has seen rapid adoption 
in the usage of digital payments and real-
time settlements popular in the economy. 
This expanding and healthy ecosystem 
continued to lend support to our cause 
and is reflected in our revenue streams. 

As you may know, LankaClear has 
managed to provide uninterrupted 
and seamless payment and settlement 
services and access to cash through 
its technology mapping of the island-
wide LankaPay Common ATM Network 
(CAS). While LankaPay Realtime Payment 
Network (CEFTS) enabled Sri Lankan banks 
and businesses to weather the Covid-19 
storm with online transfers. LankaPay 
Realtime Payment Network (CEFTS) 
continued to gain user acceptance, 
familiarity, and market trust as its usage 
as total transaction value surged to Rs. 4.9 
trillion recording a 104% growth during 
the year 2021 while total internet banking 
transactions grew by 46% reaching 
to Rs.6.5 trillion as per the Central 
Bank’s Payments Bulleting for the 4th 
quarter of 2021. Furthermore, LankaPay 
Government Payment Platform (LPOPP) 
which facilitates online payments to key 
government institutions such as Sri Lanka 
Customs and the Department of Inland 
Revenue was instrumental in providing 
the convenience for citizens to make 
online payments for government services 
during the lockdown periods facilitating 
Government revenue collection in a 
timely manner. E-commerce transactions 
too witnessed a 98.7% growth reaching 

Rs. 169 Bn in 2021, while total value of 
transactions through ATM witnessed a 
growth of 16% recording an increase of 
Rs. 609 Bn in value reaching to Rs. 4.3 
trillion, despite the disruptions in supply 
chains, the transport system, and the 
intermittent closure of the economy 
during the year 2021. 

All of the above contributed to our topline 
as it recorded a growth of 25.7% to Rs. 
1,329 Mn while our EPS has increased by 
16% to Rs. 37.26. LankaClear delivered a 
Profit After Tax of Rs. 568 Mn in 2021/22 
compared to Rs. 490 Mn in the previous 
financial year, while facing the worst 
economic crisis recorded in Sri Lanka 
since its independence, while battling 
the world pandemic of COVID -19 too. 
Total Assets of the Company grew by 17% 
during the year and stood at Rs. 3.9 Bn 
as of 31st March 2022. The impressive 
financial results noted above enabled the 
company to report an EPS of Rs. 37.26 
growing from Rs. 32.10 reported last year. 
I am happy to announce that the Board 
has recommended a final dividend of Rs. 
7.45 per share to our shareholders for the 
current Financial Year.

The financial performance of the company 
is discussed in greater detail in the 
financial review section of this report. 

Performance of the Company at a 
Glance
It is indeed noteworthy to mention that 
the team delivered a stellar financial 
performance and continued the growth 
trajectory seen over the last few years. 
LankaClear recorded a Profit After Tax of 
Rs. 568 Mn (2020/21 – Rs. 489 Mn). As 
Revenue and Profit for the year increased 
by 26% & 16% respectively. 

During the year, the transaction volumes 
of our LankaPay Realtime Payment 
Network (CEFTS) achieved a phenomenal 
YoY growth of 110% (2020/21 - 93%, 
2019/20 – 77%). This growth is primarily 
attributable to the growth in the banking 
industry as well as the FinTech sector 

Stewardship  Chairman’s Review
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in Sri Lanka. The efforts of the team at 
LankaClear too have been focused on 
the ever-growing demand for innovative 
products, which offer both convenience 
as well as trust, and security which 
smoothens the digital lifestyles of users. 
The growth per se was also fueled by 
the promotional campaigns conducted 
continuously LankaClear, Central Bank, 
and financial institutions promoting digital 
payment methods. Such initiatives helped 
citizens to embrace digital payments and 
reap the benefits, especially during the 
times when mobility was restricted.

The digital penetration of the banking 
industry into rural areas is indeed 
encouraging, as the consumer patterns of 
end-users in these areas have drastically 
changed their business models while 
technological expansions have shown 
significant volume growth in these areas. 
It is heartening to note that 52.46% of 
LankaPay Common ATM Network (CAS) 
transactions, were generated from 
the rural economic activities while the 
Western Province contribution was at 
47.54%. Furthermore, ATM usage country-
wide showed encouraging results as each 
district and province at least recorded 1% 
and 4% out of total LankaPay Common 
ATM Network (CAS) transaction volumes 
respectively at minimum. Due to these 
expansions, the YoY volume growth 
in cash withdrawals of the LankaPay 
Common ATM Network (CAS) transactions 
increased by 24% (2020/21 – 3%) where 
the average monthly volume exceeded 
5 Mn transactions during the year. 
Owing to the concentrated marketing 
efforts towards raising awareness of the 
convenience to use the nearest ATM, 
rather than the banks’ own ATM, by the 
end of the financial year, the LankaPay 
Common ATM Network (CAS) contributed 
to 20% of the overall ATM transactions 
in the country. The transaction volumes 
of LankaPay Interbank Payment System 
(SLIPS) saw a growth of 16%.

‘JustPay’ a popular product continued to 
create a positive impact in the local retail 

market segment. During the year under 
review, the upper limit per transaction 
was increased to Rs. 50,000 from Rs. 
25,000 by the Central Bank of Sri Lanka in 
February 2021. By the fourth quarter of 
2021, thirteen (13) licensed commercial 
banks, three (3) licensed specialized 
banks and six (6) finance companies had 
connected to JustPay. This helped JustPay 
record a total of 10.8 Mn successful 
transactions and also had 532,213 
registrations recording a YoY 127% 
growth. Further, the security measures 
of JustPay were enhanced to ensure the 
trust our customers’ place in the financial 
ecosystem remains revalidated. 

LankaQR which is facilitated by LankaPay 
Realtime Payment Network (CEFTS) was 
established through the Payment and 
Settlement Systems Circular No. 02 of 
2019. This Quick Response (QR) code-
based payment solution provides an 
alternative channel for initiating and 
accepting payments between a customer 
and a merchant. At the end of the 4th 
quarter of 2021, the total volume and 
value of transactions amounted to 
849,023 and Rs. 1.92 Bn respectively. 
By 2021, there were 295,884 registered 
merchants under LankaQR recording a 
75% growth in merchant registrations. 
The Central Bank together with financial 
institutions enabled mobile payment 
apps launched “rg mqrdu LankaQR” public 
awareness campaign in October 2021. 
Further, in December 2021 the maximum 
Merchant Discount Rate of 0.5% for 
LankaQR initiated transactions was 
extended until further notice to encourage 
merchants to accept LankaQR as another 
efficient payment mode.

The launch of the National Card Scheme 
(NCS), in partnership with Japan Credit 
Bureau (JCB) came to fruition, as 
LankaClear sought to promote financial 
inclusivity and save foreign exchange 
outflow through this initiative. NCS offers 
a lower Merchant Discount Rate (MDR) 
benefitting merchants across the board. In 
2021, several financial institutions started 

issuing LankaPay Cards introducing 
a low cost regime paving the way for 
new developments. The Central Bank 
continued its stringent regulatory and 
supervisory framework regarding payment 
cards and mobile payment systems, 
by amending the Payment Cards and 
Mobile Payment Systems Regulations 
No. 1 of 2013 (Regulations). Accordingly, 
two financial institutions were granted 
licenses as issuers under the National 
Card Scheme, while another financial 
institution been granted license to 
function as a financial acquirer of payment 
cards, in accordance with the Regulations 
during the year. NCS benefits cardholders, 
merchants, financial institutions and 
national economy alike compared to other 
card schemes. 

Banking Sector Review
The banking sector has shown its 
dominance in the financial sector by 
accounting for 63.3% of total assets 
in the financial system as at end of 
2021 as it continued to support the 
financial intermediation of the economy 
by enhancing banking services and 
expanding the banking network, thereby 
promoting financial inclusivity. 

The profitability of the banking sector, 
measured by the Return on Equity (ROE) 
and Return on Asset Before Tax (ROA) 
ratio increased to 14.5% and 1.6% in 
2021, relative to 11.4% and 1.4% recorded 
respectively, in 2020. The ROA and ROE 
figures corroborate with the GDP growth 
rate of 3.7% in 2021 and are a testament 
to the fact that the economic activity was 
recovering post the downward correction 
witnessed in the economy in 2020. 

The Central Bank, as the regulator of 
payment and settlement systems of 
the country, continued to pursue its 
National Payment Council roadmap as 
its policy framework focused on shifting 
from the traditional banking models to a 
more technology-based efficient banking 
model thereby broad basing access and 
making the cashless payments system 

Chairman’s Review
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trustworthy, efficient, and cost-effective. 
The regulator’s circular to all financial 
institutions requesting to facilitate 
electronic payment instruments, with 
real-time notifications to customers is a 
vital step toward ensuring the Fraud and 
Risk Management frameworks remain 
robust. This is an important requirement 
due to different threats and vulnerabilities 
from many perspectives such as money 
laundering and sanctions screening, 
internal frauds, credit card frauds, mobile 
frauds, identity frauds, etc. 

Go Global
Armed with a strong balance sheet the 
company is making remarkable headway 
in bringing secure, reliable, and scalable 
solutions to the payment and settlements 
landscape of Sri Lanka. We believe that 
we must continue to invest in people and 
in technology to ensure that we are on 
par with global standards while making 
such innovative products are available 
in the local financial markets. This 
investment commitment has enabled us 
to maintain much-needed brand visibility 
and recognition too. Today, LankaClear 
is embarking on becoming a regional 
player with its ‘Go Global’ business 
strategy, given its scalable product suite 
which is managed by its tremendously 
passionate and talented staff. In this 
context, the Board has spent significant 
time developing the strategic road map 
and is making the necessary tweaks to 
bring about the best in our people, and 
delivery processes, to our list of innovative 
products. As a preview into the future let 
me share a few of these products that 
we intend to launch with our business 
partners, namely, the interoperable Tap 
and Go - Two in One Transit card, iOS, 
and android-based Digital Signatures, 
Pay Me pull facility, enhancing of Lanka 
Remit application, expanding e-commerce 
to LiveCommerce, Blockchain e-KYC 
project and Yuan clearing, while also 
further strengthening our alliances 
and collaborations by way of strategic 
tie-up with NPCI’s India RuPay Cards, 
China Union Pay and the Asian Payment 

Network are some of these new and 
exciting opportunities that have been 
embarked upon. I am confident that these 
use case experiences will soon be part 
of the day-to-day usage of Sri Lankan 
consumers and businesses. 

Change in Brand Name 
During the past few years, LankaClear 
continued to invest in upgrading the 
payment and settlement systems needed 
to facilitate the rapidly growing need for 
more cost-effective payment methods 
to better serve the banking and financial 
sector to expand their reach, facilitate 
low-cost cross-border cash flows, and 
networking throughout the country. The 
investment has given strength to the 
banking sector as it remains a key artery 
in the country’s economic progress. As 
LankaClear is the only payment network 
infrastructure provider for the country’s 
banking system, we continue to play 
a dual role in leading and supporting 
the Central Bank’s National Payments 
Roadmap by providing the necessary 
infrastructure backbone that facilitates the 
banking system to function uninterrupted. 
In addition, we also take immense pride in 
championing the country’s transition into 
a 21st-century, cashless economic drive, 
by introducing innovative humanized 
solutions. To complete the process of 
transformation from a mere clearing 
function to a wider payments and 
settlements role, the company will change 
its name to be synonymous with its brand 
identity from LankaClear to LankaPay. 
This outcome will be fulfilled by the 3rd 
quarter 2022, to this end we have already 
commenced global collaborations and in 
doing so hope to continue contributing 
towards bringing the world closer to our 
customers and lowering the economic 
costs of cross-border transactions thereby 
enhancing Sri Lanka’s international 
competitiveness.

Economic Outlook
Sri Lanka is Tiding Over Trying Times
The war in Ukraine has caused significant 
economic harm, as well as a costly 

humanitarian crisis that requires a peaceful 
resolution, and it has led to a considerable 
slowdown in global growth in 2022/23. 
As a result, worldwide ripple effects were 
experienced through commodity markets, 
inflation, supply chains, trade, and financial 
channels. The war has slowed GDP across 
the world, it has raised fears of stagflation 
or even recession. Developing countries, 
in particular Sri Lanka, have taken the 
brunt of this war. The worsening balance 
of payments brought about the outcome 
of the default to external creditors and the 
restructuring of external debt payments 
will now have to run its course, as the 
country contemplates the structural 
shift that may come about with the IMF 
assistance. The difficult paradigm of 
running a business operation in a default 
environment will extol further pressure and 
challenges on businesses to cut costs while 
maintaining a trade-off between limited 
access to external funding, increasing 
raw material, energy, and input prices to 
an already fragile real sector. Economic 
development activity will be slower because 
of the current externally driven inflationary 
environment, tight monetary policy, and 
our legacy cash flow issues. 

This action would negatively impact 
investments and savings and build 
pressure on banking sector NPLs in Sri 
Lanka and across the world. As a corollary, 
Sri Lanka’s economic growth would be 
below its potential rate, global growth too 
is expected to be 3% in 2022 and 2023. 
In this context, Asia remains the beacon 
of hope and light as it is poised to grow at 
5.3% in 2023 too. 

Therefore, the next century of growth will 
be driven by Asian economies, hence, the 
rise of “Asianization” will be inevitable. 
South Asia's bounce back in the second 
half of 2022 after a major second wave of 
post-Covid-19 is also encouraging. Data 
indicates that the Asian region, has shown 
improving domestic demand, recording 
high remittance inflows, continuing 
investments in infrastructure projects, and 
resumption of exports have contributed 
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to strong economic growth in the region 
driven by India, China, Malaysia, Vietnam, 
Bangladesh, and the Philippines. South 
Asian regional growth is expected to 
accelerate to 7.6% in 2022 as pandemic–
related disruptions fade. Monetary and 
Fiscal policies are expected to remain 
broadly accommodative in 2022 and 2023 
in China and most Asian economies. 

We are cognizant of these global growth 
trends and are keen to look beyond the 
borders of Sri Lanka to capture such value 
and opportunities by way of strategic 
partnerships that would enhance cross-
border payments and settlements. 

Organizational Development & Talent
Management
The company during the period 
under review invested significantly in 
organizational development (OD) to 
facilitate a new model while placing 
employees at the center of the 
organization’s growth drive, by breaking 
silos and driving accelerated change. 

Improved HR Services Through
Digitalization
HR services were digitalized enabling 
the staff to obtain most of the HR 
services online. The entire recruitment 
process starting from sourcing to final 
selection and issuance of offer letters, 
appointment letters and induction 
toolkit, etc. was made online during 
the year. The use of digital signatures 
made a significant improvement to the 
onboarding process too. Making the 
maneuverability of the HR services even 
simpler and easier to reach potential 
recruits as it had fewer or no costs 
from the side of new employees. The 
transformation of the HR department will 
continue in 2022/23, as we embrace a 
new ethos and organizational structure 
with a wider scope outlined for the 
modern needs of talent management. 

Development of Future Leaders 
The HR strategy focused on investing 
heavily in shaping the future leader with 

an emphasis on making staff globally 
competitive. Upskilling the staff through 
job and character-building initiatives 
enhanced the performance of the staff 
to better serve our customers. This 
was evident through the overall goal 
achievement ratio of the company which 
indicated 87% for the year compared to 
last financial year which was 83.38%. 

The Board and Senior management 
believe that the future leaders must be 
empowered to drive change in their own 
business verticals, delivering optimum 
results and fostering a collaborative 
culture. “We Can Culture” is one of 
the strategic initiatives that will be 
institutionalized in 2023. To this end, the 
management has invested in carving out 
a new HR Strategy with the partnership 
of KPMG. The new HR strategy looks to 
make staff be entrepreneurial and focus 
on results, bringing transformational 
leadership that prepares them to deliver on 
regional and global partnerships, innovative 
payment solutions, as well as continuous 
improvement of business practices. 

Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP)
As part of this transformation, we have 
also launched another groundbreaking 
initiative by partnering with E & Y to 
develop an Employee Share Option Plan 
for employees. The main objective of 
this program is to share the growth of 
the organization with its employees and 
motivate the staff to build a sense of 
ownership of the company. The ESOP 
further envisions helping the staff to feel 
that they are more than just employees 
filling a position as the program provides 
them with a sense of belongingness with 
a real stake in the company’s outward 
trajectory.

The rules of the ESOP scheme will be 
developed with E&Y in such a manner that 
after the vesting period the employees will 
be allowed to buy and sell the shares back 
to the company and earn the difference 
between the share allocated price and the 
selling price. 

Trauma Management 
There is no doubt that COVID-19 created 
a lot of pressure for employees where 
the BOC Tower became a red zone with 
many contracting the disease at the time 
when the Delta variant was dominant 
in the country. Facing the once-in-a-
lifetime challenge was not something very 
easy for employees and their families. 
With the caring initiatives adopted by 
HR Department, our staff was able to 
manage and reduce the pressure they 
felt at work or at home during these 
difficult times. The HR Helpdesk during 
the pandemic made sure that weekly 
health check calls were given to all staff 
to know their health status. It was a 
personal touch which made a long-lasting 
effect on many employees and was 
appreciated by them.

Adopting flexible working hours and 
Working from Home facilities ensured that 
their health is not compromised. Most 
importantly we organized several Online 
Awareness and Training Programs to keep 
up the mental health of all employees. 

Stakeholder Engagement 
The year under review was no ordinary 
one with unprecedented macro-economic 
challenges that affected the entire world 
and our economy. LankaClear wasn’t 
immune to these macroeconomic 
headwinds, yet we managed to convert 
every challenge into an opportunity by 
creating value for end-users, FinTechs, 
and banks. The company managed to 
provide an uninterrupted service enabling 
the financial sector to operate seamlessly 
even during intermittent lockdowns, 
and travel restrictions, and without 
compromising the safety and wellbeing of 
employees in posting impressive financial 
performance. 

This is a vital part of our organizational 
learning and planning processes 
which enables us to remain relevant in 
today’s turbulent and complex business 
environment. Through the company’s 
stakeholder engagement process, we 
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have been able to identify risks and 
opportunities in the market, manage 
different interests, communicate 
proactively with our stakeholders, and 
gain valuable feedback in making informed 
decisions. Our stakeholder engagement 
process is elaborated in detail under 
Stakeholder Engagement Section in this 
report.

Gratitude and Appreciation
In the denouement, I must state that 
LankaClear (Pvt) Ltd is extremely 
passionate about the transformative 
role it is entrusted with in terms of 
operationalising a comprehensive national 
digital payment platform in the region. 
I take this opportunity to thank the 
former Chairman, Mr. Anil Amarasuriya, 
for his contribution and direction to the 
Company’s growth during his tenure for 
the last six years. I wish to convey my 
appreciation to both my current and past 
colleagues on the Board for their active 
participation in all Board matters and 
for being a vital part of the progress that 
LankaClear has achieved through the 
years. 

While extending my heartfelt thanks to 
Mr. Priyantha Talwatte, Mr. Bingumal 
Thewarathanthri, Mr. Jonathan Allas, Mr. 
K.E.D. Sumanasiri and Mr. Lakshman Silva 
for their contribution to the organization 
while serving on the Board, I wish them 
all the best in their future endeavors. I 
would also like to extend a warm welcome 
to the new Board members – Mr. Sanjay 
Wijemanne, Mr. Ravin Basnayake and Mr. 
Thimal Perera.
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My sincere appreciation is conveyed to 
GM/CEO, Mr. Channa de Silva and the 
entire LankaClear team for their energy, 
hard work, and passion in delivering 
excellent results in the current financial 
year. I also would like to extend my 
heartfelt gratitude to the Governor of 
Central Bank and his wonderful team 
and to all our stakeholders; for their 
continuous trust and support which they 
have placed in us our services.

Dr. Kenneth De Zilwa
Chairman

21st June 2022
Colombo
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General Manager/
CEO’s Review

LankaClear has become the glue that holds the entire 
financial sector together by introducing innovative 
technologies to be a leader in the country’s digital 
transformation journey.
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Convenience to All
Growing Internet penetration, densely 
populated urban cities, faster-paced lifestyles 
and challenging work environments are 
adding more complexity into the lives 
of consumers. Consumers are feeling 
more stretched than ever before and are 
increasingly striving for ways to simplify their 
busy lives. Around the globe, consumers 
need and look for convenience in all forms 
such as simplicity, time saving and suitability. 
Thus, it leads to not only adopting the 
latest technologies, but also devising new 
engagement strategies at every step.

It is about each encounter, interaction 
and activity that can help fulfil consumers’ 
growing demand for convenience, which will 
save them precious time. This demand for 
convenience presents many entrepreneurs 
and businesses with a myriad of new 
opportunities. Innovative and integrated 
solutions providing greater convenience are 
being brought to market at speed to address 
multiple consumer challenges. However, 
for sustained success, companies will need 
to adapt and enhance their convenience 
solutions as consumer needs rapidly evolve. 
To do so effectively will entail being ahead of 
the game by understanding consumer needs 
before your competitors do, how consumer 
demand will change and what solutions 
will help. No matter where or for whom, 
convenience has three core attributes: 
ease, utility and simplicity. To deliver 
true convenience, these three attributes 
must form the foundation for the entire 
consumption and engagement spectrum. 
In this context, convenience solutions can 
enable more fulfilment, enjoyment and 
balance in consumers’ busy lives.
 
Our objective for the financial year under 
review was to provide convenient financial 
services to all consumers across the country 
at every instance they perform a financial 
transaction. We had to deal with significant 
economic and environmental challenges, 
changing behavioural traits of our consumers 
and a long-term pandemic that devastated 
the lives of many. I am pleased to note that 
we achieved our objectives successfully by 
initiatives that addressed the requirements 
of all consumers. It is also with great 

satisfaction that I announce our achievement 
of the targeted profit objective despite 
unprecedented difficulties. We focused on 
the difficulties faced by the consumers and 
came up with innovative solutions targeting 
different segments of the population. I will 
share more on how we managed to deliver 
our services on a 24X7 basis despite many 
challenges during the fiscal year 2021/22 in 
the next few sections and how we helped 
the lives of many by providing convenient 
financial services.

Bleak Business Environment and 
Competition
For two years in a row, the country’s business 
environment was significantly impacted 
from the negative impacts of the Covid-19 
Pandemic. The country was in and out of 
lockdown status for several instances during 
the financial year under review. The negative 
business sentiments especially due to travel 
restrictions were experienced by the entire 
business community across the country 
throughout the year. The adverse effects 
of the lower business activities resulted in 
lower spending capacity of small businesses 
and individual customers. This downward 
trend in economic activities, which resulted 
in many business segments getting affected 
and resulted in a contraction of traditional 
financial transactions, such as cheques, 
increasing approximately by 0.1% YoY. 

The country experienced a shortage of 
fuel supply due to not having sufficient 
foreign exchange reserves and challenged 
transport sector including public transport 
and resulted in regular travelling of people. 
In addition, due to the financial crisis and 
lower capacity of hydropower, there were 
serious power interruptions enforced by 
the government, which went up to nearly 
13-hour disruptions especially during 
the last quarter of the financial year. This 
seriously affected our Work from Home 
arrangements successfully implemented to 
overcome travel restrictions as well as the 
shortage of fuel for vehicle transport. The 
power cuts also negatively impacted the 
entire financial sector as they struggled to 
keep their ATMs and branches open with 
greatest difficulty.

As per the Central Bank Payments bulletin 
Q4 2021, currency in circulation increased 
to more than 1 trillion in the 4th quarter of 
2021, which was a 20.4% increase from the 
same quarter previous year primarily due 
to the increased printing of currency notes. 
This resulted in a 24% volume increase of 
inter-bank ATM transactions. While overall 
cheque volumes increased by 0.1% during 
the financial year, the volume of electronic 
fund transfers increased significantly by 
110.47% compared to the previous year. 
The financial sector withstood the negative 
business sentiments successfully by 
enabling many modes of digital channels 
to address different requirements of the 
banking population whether it’s access 
to cash or digital payments. Citizens and 
businesses who were pretty much forced 
to adopt digital payments during the first 
year of the pandemic continued the same 
momentum last year as well, which resulted 
in a significant growth in the volume of 
transactions in all digital payment modes.

Online payment transactions grew at a 
phenomenal rate while JustPay payment 
mode achieved a YOY growth of 149% 
and demonstrated popularity among both 
merchants and consumers alike. All local 
banks and a few key finance companies had 
joined JustPay by the end of the financial 
year. However, cash still reined as the leader 
mainly due to excessive printing of currency 
notes throughout the year that were 
distributed to the marginal communities 
of the population and continued to be the 
biggest competitor for digital payments in 
most segments of the market. 

The phenomenal growth of local online 
payments modes with very low merchant 
commission rates triggered reactions from 
the competitors, especially international 
card schemes, to intensify their marketing 
campaigns. LankaClear also embarked 
on facilitating inward foreign exchange 
remittances via LankaRemit app launched 
during Q4 of the financial year. This solution 
was partly to address the foreign exchange 
crisis facing the country by providing a 
convenient and a cheaper way to send 
money to Sri Lanka. The app is intended 
to act as an aggregator for the existing 
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inward remittance channels and provide 
the capability to track the remittances in 
transit. LankaClear has become the glue that 
holds the entire financial sector together by 
introducing innovative technologies to be a 
leader in the country’s digital transformation 
journey. 

Key Strategies
All our strategies for the year revolved 
around providing everyday convenience 
to everyone in carrying out financial 
transactions across all digital payment 
channels. A new strategy adopted to 
diversify our services outside Sri Lanka 
helped to address a primary concern 
prevailing in the country, which was the 
significant reduction of foreign exchange 
remittances into the country. The launch 
of our newest solution LankaRemit app 
within a few months was a step in the right 
direction and drew considerable praise from 
all Stakeholders. Our agility to respond to 
crisis situations quickly was phenomenal 
and helped to overcome many challenges 
during the height of the pandemic and we 
put in place a few key strategic initiatives 
to help the country in the hour of need. 
We formulated our strategies by looking 
at the end consumer and enhance ways 
to provide further conveniences to the 
services they were already consuming 
while we introduced additional solutions to 
improve user experience. This helped us 
to transform the payments industry in the 
country and ensured that we remain relevant 
and compelling in a highly competitive and 
volatile environment.

Providing everyday convenience to all 
consumers was at the centre of our thought 
process when enabling seamless payment 
solutions to the market in response to their 
digital payment needs. Through market 
research, we found certain discontinuities 
that were prevailing in the digital payment 
landscape and rolled out strategies to design 
and implement solutions to address these 
gaps. These strategies looked at the process 
from an end-to-end perspective to ensure 
that the payment cycle is not broken at any 
point, which was required to drive adoption 
across different segments of the market. For 
example, the drive to adopt LankaQR all over 

the country helped not only to fix a broken 
link in the payment cycle, but also bring the 
lower end of the merchants into the digital 
payment cycle. The exclusion of small-scale 
merchants from the digital payment cycle 
previously broke its continuity as small 
merchants were demanding cash instead of 
digital payments since they needed cash for 
their daily needs. 

The strategy to implement Sri Lanka Transit 
Card (SLTC) in public transport to provide 
‘Tap-and-Go’ capability to the travelling 
consumer was another instance where 
we addressed a gap in the market. We 
identified public transport as an area where 
a high-volume cash-based transactions took 
place where no digital payment option was 
available. The strategy was also based on 
our tacit knowledge that in most countries 
digital payment adoption propagated into 
other areas only after ‘Tap-and-Go’ payment 
capability was introduced into public 
transport. We saw significant adoption 
throughout the year across most of our 
digital payment modes, which indicated 
that we delivered satisfaction to our target 
market and were relevant to them. Our 
strong business fundamentals and razor-
sharp focus on the correct operational 
model enabled us to execute our strategies 
with greater confidence and efficiency.

Operational Excellence
We managed to keep our operations running 
24X7 overcoming many obstacles from the 
Covid-19 pandemic as well as long power 
interruptions experienced due to economic 
crisis. The transaction volumes of all our 
digital payment solutions grew at a significant 
pace. We invested in technologies to bridge 
the market gaps and provided everyday 
convenience to all our digital consumers 
and managed to provide an uninterrupted 
service despite all the challenges we faced 
during the year.

Due to the increase of volumes in other 
areas, LankaPay Cheque Imaging and 
Truncation System (CITS), continued to 
reduce the significance on the overall 
transaction volume from 20% the previous 
year to 15% during the year under review. 
The total volume from the products under 

Common Card and Payment Switch (CCAPS) 
improved to 66% from a previous 58% 
confirming the fact that the market is moving 
towards digital payments. The volumes of 
LankaPay Realtime Payment Network (CEFTS) 
grew exponentially during the year increasing 
its contribution by 11% (grew from 19% to 
30%) to the overall volume from 9% (grew 
from 10% to 19%) a year ago. We anticipate 
the same trends to continue in the short 
to medium term as the adoption of digital 
transactions, propelled by the pandemic, 
improved providing a boost to our efforts to 
move the country towards a digital economy. 

The volumes of cheques cleared via our 
system increased marginally by 0.1% YOY 
(compared to a decline of 27% in 2020/21). 
The volume of interbank ATM transactions 
penetrated further and recorded 20% share 
out of the total ATM transaction volume 
in 2021/22 (19% penetration in 2020/21) 
as per the Q4, 2021 Payments Bulletin of 
the Central Bank of Sri Lanka. LankaPay 
Interbank Payment System (SLIPS) and 
LankaPay Realtime Payment Network (CEFTS) 
contributed 49% of the total interbank 
transaction volume compared to 41% in 
the previous year while LankaPay Realtime 
Payment Network (CEFTS) transaction volume 
increased by 110% YOY. JustPay volumes grew 
by a phenomenal 149% YOY while LankaPay 
Government Payment Platform (LPOPP) had 
07 members connected with government 
departments such as Sri Lanka Customs, BOI, 
SLPA, IRD, EPF, SLSI and IECD onboard and 
provided significant convenience to traders, 
especially during the pandemic.

Common Card and Payment Switch (CCAPS) 
continued to grow its contribution towards 
the overall transaction volume growth of the 
company. Transaction volume of payment 
modes under Common Card and Payment 
Switch (CCAPS) reached a YOY growth 
of 50%. Despite the trend in LankaPay 
Cheque Imaging and Truncation System 
(CITS) volumes being almost stagnant, the 
transaction volumes from Common Card 
and Payment Switch (CCAPS) showed a 
remarkable growth and shouldered the 
impact on the annual revenue and reduced 
the pressure of revenue reduction from 
LankaPay Cheque Imaging and Truncation 
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System (CITS). The contribution of LankaPay 
Realtime Payment Network (CEFTS) volume 
towards overall Common Card and Payment 
Switch (CCAPS) transaction volume grew by 
an impressive 12%, which was mainly due 
to the growth of JustPay and the continuous 
efforts of the team who worked hard to grow 
the volumes via creative marketing strategies 
and building long-term relationships.

Our flagship retail payment mode, ‘JustPay’, 
continued with high growth momentum last 
year as well where the transaction volume 
grew by 149% while customer registrations 
grew at 127% during the year compared 
to the previous financial year. However, we 
observed that nearly 50% of the JustPay 
transactions during the year were below 
Rs. 250 per transaction while 6.6% of 
transactions were below Rs. 1000. This 
clearly indicated that we have been able to 
attract low-value cash-based transactions 
into digital as per our objective in introducing 
this payment mode. With 25 apps joining 
JustPay, it has now become the de facto 
payment mode the local FinTech companies 
are leveraging to enter the financial services 
market. We were able to commence rolling 
out the Sri Lanka Transit card (SLTC) under 
the National Card Scheme after overcoming 
many challenges especially due to changes 
in the transport ministry during the year 
with the signing of a four-party agreement 
among Sri Lanka Transport Board, National 
Transport Commission and People’s Bank 
and LankaClear. The SLTC project was 
rolled towards the end of the financial year 
via a pilot project that commenced from 
Makumbura to Galle stretch on the Southern 
Highway. This national initiative is planned to 
be rolled out into all government and private 
sector buses as well as the railway in several 
phases.

Our very own initiative to ensure financial 
sector stability by enhancing information 
security across the financial sector via our 
FinCSIRT team continued to support many 
organizations in the sector. FinCSIRT was 
established as a value-added service to run 
only on a cost recovery basis contributed 
and not as a major revenue contributor 
to LankaClear, supported several financial 
institutes to overcome security incidents 

and provided a critical service to ensure that 
the public trust in financial services remain 
intact.

Financial Outcomes
I am pleased to inform all our shareholders 
that we withstood the enormous amount 
of pressure and uncertainty in the business 
environment and delivered significant 
growth in our top line and the bottom line 
during the financial year under review. We 
grew our revenue by 25.7% to record Rs. 
1.329 Bn (2020/21 - Rs. 1.057 Bn) during 
the year despite LankaPay Cheque Imaging 
and Truncation System (CITS) revenue 
marginally increased by 32 Mn compared to 
the previous year. As expected, the LankaPay 
Cheque Imaging and Truncation System 
(CITS) revenue marginally increased mainly 
due to an overall increase in cheque volumes 
by 0.1%. Our Gross Profit (GP) grew by 27.3% 
to record Rs. 596 Mn (2020/21 – Rs. 468 Mn), 
Profit Before Tax (PBT) grew to Rs. 617 Mn 
(2020/21 – Rs. 518 Mn) to record a 19.2% 
growth and Profit After Tax (PAT) recorded 
Rs. 568 Mn (2020/21 – Rs. 489 Mn) at a 
growth rate of 16.1%. These are remarkable 
results considering that we were under the 
twin negative impacts of continuous Covid-19 
pandemic as well as the severe economic 
crisis facing the country.

To achieve the above results all other 
products had to set up their contribution 
toward overall revenue because the revenue 
contribution of LankaPay Cheque Imaging 
and Truncation System (CITS) towards overall 
revenue, which was 22.6% in 2020/21 further 
reduced to 20.4% in 2021/22. Our strategy 
and focus on growing other digital payments 
services volumes to reduce the dependency 
on LankaPay Cheque Imaging and Truncation 
System (CITS) revenue towards the total 
revenue mix paid off. The transaction 
revenue from Common Card and Payment 
Switch (CCAPS) grew by 36.5% YOY to bridge 
this gap. The total transaction revenue 
grew by 25.2% to achieve a revenue of Rs. 
1,081 Mn where the main contributions for 
this growth came from LankaPay Realtime 
Payment Network (CEFTS) and LankaPay 
Common ATM Network (CAS) recording a 
56% and a 21% growth respectively. We 
also saw a significant growth of online 

transactions as opposed to premising 
e-transactions, which could be attributed to 
the behavioural change of consumers from 
the impact of the pandemic, which bodes 
well for digital payments.

Our strategy of rolling out technology 
solutions with the objective of providing 
everyday convenience to everyone resulted 
in the introduction of solutions such as 
Payment Exchange Name (PEN), LankaPay 
Online Payment Platform, Direct Debit and 
LankaQR. These solutions, even though not 
generating a significant revenue contribution 
during the financial year, are expected to 
provide significant growth to our LankaPay 
Realtime Payment Network (CEFTS) platform 
in the future. With the country facing a 
significant foreign exchange crisis, the 
financial institutions are looking for cost 
savings on foreign payments and there were 
positive sentiments on our LankaPay card 
that would help them to minimize the cost 
increases from the currency depreciation. 
This helped us to achieve a YOY growth of 
644% for LankaPay Common POS Network 
(CPS) service and this is expected to be a 
significant revenue contributor in the future. 
Introduction of LankaRemit app to address 
the foreign exchange crisis during the year 
is expected to drive inward remittances in 
the future and become a revenue source 
for the company. To achieve sustainable 
financial growth in the medium to long term, 
we need to increase transaction volumes in 
all digital payment modes by introducing new 
services that will attract the attention of the 
new generation of consumers by providing 
further convenience. 

Stakeholder Engagement
Providing everyday convenience to everyone 
across a series of technology platforms 
and networks is a complex and a daunting 
task. Any failure in any of the connected 
systems or networks would create a negative 
user experience and inconvenience to the 
consumer. Managing all stakeholders and 
their expectation is not easy and needs to 
be done in a careful manner. Despite the 
complexity, we have managed to work closely 
with all our stakeholders and enabled our 
services to be available 24X7 and created a 
positive consumer experience. The growing 
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volume of digital payments is a testimony to 
the success we have achieved in managing 
all stakeholder expectations.

Our external stakeholders included the 
Central Bank of Sri Lanka, banks, finance 
companies, FinTech service providers, 
government departments and businesses 
and individual customers who consume our 
services etc. The Central Bank of Sri Lanka is 
a unique stakeholder as they play multiple 
roles such as the regulator, a shareholder, 
represented in our Board as well as a 
customer of our services. LankaClear 
works with the Central Bank on many 
fronts including implementing solutions on 
behalf of them, getting approvals for our 
solutions, working on the national roadmap 
for payments and working on national 
financial inclusivity strategy etc. A majority of 
our staff have to regularly interact with the 
Central Bank and these engagements and 
relationships have to be managed carefully in 
order to achieve our objectives.
 
We are dealing with a two-tier system where 
our direct customers are the banks and 
finance companies while the end users - 
businesses and individuals are our indirect 
customers. Since our services are consumed 
by the end customers, we have to look at 
the end-to-end process of service delivery. 
For example, in order for a customer to 
withdraw cash from another bank’s ATM our 
system and systems of banks on either side 
of our network must function in tandem. 
A failure or a delay of any component 
would bring a negative user experience 
in consuming the service. In addition, if a 
transaction failure occurs for some reason 
the follow-up mechanism must be carefully 
handled. Hence, we had to engage with all 
the stakeholders constantly to ensure that 
all connected systems to our network work 
according to the design and minimize any 
failures.

Our decision-making process was directly 
linked to providing everyday convenience 
to everyone and we had to obtain a deeper 
understanding of the requirements of a 
seamless user experience across multiple 
payment modes. Despite facing many 
obstacles during an unprecedented year, we 

had to provide an unparalleled consumer 
experience and create awareness amongst 
them about our services to achieve success. 
However, based on the data collected from 
our market research activities, we dug deep 
into understanding the modern consumer 
behaviour during the year under review and 
designed our new services accordingly. Most 
our promotional activities were carried out 
primarily via social media and radio channels 
to create awareness amongst them of the 
everyday convenient services we offer. How 
we identified the consumer requirements, 
especially how they have adopted smart 
phone-based services, our awareness 
strategies and how we did end-consumer 
promotions are discussed in detail under the 
marketing strategies.

We conducted our annual flagship customer 
recognition event LankaPay Technnovation 
Awards for the fourth time with an 
appropriate theme “Recognizing Digital 
Superheroes”. This event was held after a 
lapse of one year as we could not hold it 
last year due to the difficulties faced by the 
Covid-19 pandemic. However, due to the 
government directions to curtail gatherings, 
we conducted the event this year on hybrid 
mode with few participants onsite and the 
rest connecting remotely. Once again, the 
event helped to create a lot of excitement 
among our members, especially the social 
media-based voting process to select the 
most popular digital payment product, which 
resulted in a healthy rivalry among all the 
participants.

We have tried to instill a high-performance 
culture in which accountability and integrity 
are two key pillars. However, we have 
encouraged our staff to contribute with their 
ideas, suggestions and opinions via many 
initiatives to promote innovation, harmony, 
recognition and inter-departmental 
collaboration. We also formulated 
many strategies to better manage the 
expectations of our staff and reward the 
high performers in a more systematic 
manner. Due to the pandemic situation 
that prevailed for the second year in a row, 
the physical interactions among the staff 
were limited as we encouraged work from 
home environment. But we engaged with 

all levels of staff via online meetings and 
activities. We further invested in our people 
to overcome the extraordinary conditions 
in the environment by providing company 
transport and places to stay for people who 
had to travel from far, necessary facilities to 
work from home and sessions by external 
trainers to engage with staff to keep stress 
levels low etc. Our stakeholder engagement 
is discussed in detail under Stakeholder 
Engagement Section in this report.

Corporate Governance
As a responsible entity in the corporate 
world, LankaClear continued to be a role 
model and a responsible corporate citizen 
via our ethical and transparent business 
process and embedded these principles into 
our culture. Through our defined corporate 
governance practices and continuous 
commitment towards compliance we were 
able to deliver a remarkable performance 
throughout the year. The organization is 
formulated under the Companies Act No. 
07 of 2007 and the Code of Best Practice on 
Corporate Governance issued jointly by the 
Securities and Exchange Commission and 
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
Sri Lanka. Our internal Information Systems 
Auditor who reports directly to the Board 
Audit Committee assisted us to keep the 
team on track in this regard by maintaining a 
constant vigil on governance aspects. 

The composition of the Board that 
represents key stakeholders, ensures a 
high level of governance and compliance in 
all our activities. We have always strived to 
exceed expectations of all our stakeholders 
while fully complying with the regulations, 
directions and standards set by the Central 
Bank. The governance structure of FinCSIRT, 
which is governed by a committee consisting 
of a Central Bank representative as the 
Chairman and representatives from member 
banks and financial institutes, SLBA and Sri 
Lanka CERT, ensures that we support to 
achieve financial sector stability via improved 
security in all financial systems connected 
to the National Payment Network. We also 
have the Board Audit committee and Board 
Risk Committee as an oversight committee 
to mitigate any governance and compliance-
related matters faced by the organization.

General Manager/CEO’s Review

Stewardship  General Manager/CEO’s Review
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Sustainability Model
LankaClear sustainability model covers 14 
out of 17 priorities identified under GRI 
framework and we have covered them 
comprehensively in our reports in relevant 
sections.

Corporate Social Responsibility
We encouraged all our employees to be 
socially responsible by contributing their 
time, effort and skills to support community 
initiatives through acts of volunteerism and 
commitment. Those areas can be reviewed 
in detail under sustainability reporting as well 
as HR capital reports. 

Accolades
I am elated to announce that LankaClear 
grabbed three prestigious awards at the 
National Business Excellence Awards 2021. 
This event is conducted by the National 
Chamber of Commerce of Sri Lanka 
(NCCSL) with a view to recognizing business 
enterprises, which have demonstrated 
excellence in business, whilst contributing 
to the economic progress of the country. 
These awards signify our commitment to 
continuous improvement in all our business 
processes. We were also able to secure 
the Silver Award for our annual report with 
the theme “Quantum Leap”, under the SME 
category at the well renowned CA Sri Lanka 
Annual Report Awards in 2021. Winning 
the Silver award required a phenomenal 
effort and a testament to the commitment 
of the team who worked tirelessly on this 
task with very limited resources. Winning all 
these awards despite an extreme negative 
business environment is a clear indication of 
not only providing our services at the highest 
level, but also doing them on par with the 
best in the business community.

Future Potential
After delivering many pioneering solutions in 
the local market, we explored extending our 
service beyond the shores of Sri Lanka. We 
established partnerships with the National 
Payment Corporation of India, Asian Payment 
Network, China Union Pay and Discover 
financial services to facilitate transactions of 
international payment networks locally as 
well as enable foreign inward remittances 
at a much lower cost into Sri Lanka. We 

also launched the LankaRemit app as an 
aggregated solution to provide a seamless 
experience to the expatriate Sri Lankans 
domiciled in other countries to send inward 
remittances at the lowest possible cost. 
These efforts are intended to bring much 
needed foreign exchange to the country at 
much lower costs per transaction, which 
would encourage more people to remit 
money to Sri Lanka. 

We see great potential in the Sri Lanka 
Transit Card for the future once all the 
teething issues are rectified and rolled 
out across the island in a few phases. 
The same card could be utilized for non-
transport-related payments as well to 
provide much more convenience to the 
general public and convert a large portion of 
cash-based transactions into digital. Future 
for LankaSign, our certification authority 
business will be bright with our WebTrust 
certification which ensures LankaSign digital 
signatures the cross border acceptance. 
With a lot of traction during the pandemic 
for digital signatures and a big push from the 
government for public sector organizations 
to communicate digitally, the future demand 
would be much greater. With the alignment 
under the National CA, LankaSign will fall 
within the national agenda as well.

With a clear direction of striving to be a 
regional player in the payments industry, 
we hope to create opportunities in this 
area with strategic investments in this 
direction to facilitate everyday transactions 
to everyone. While we focus to improve 
customer convenience, we will enable our 
future investment towards providing access 
to financial services for the rural population 
who do not enjoy the same benefits as 
their urban counterparts. We will continue 
to invest in cutting-edge technology to 
empower our people and organisations, so 
that they could address the pressing financial 
needs of all communities we serve.

Appreciations
I would like to appreciate our resilient staff 
for ensuring that the services were not 
disrupted anytime during the worst periods 
of the pandemic as well as from many power 
outages. The team was able to maintain a 

99.9% uptime on a 24X7 basis across all our 
service lines throughout the year. I am happy 
about the efforts of our team in making 
sure that none of our services were affected 
during this period. All our staff contributed 
despite undergoing a lot of personal 
hardships amidst trying circumstances to 
realise our goals. I value the contribution 
and unwavering commitment of every 
staff member to ensure that we always 
maintained the highest levels of service.

I wish to sincerely acknowledge the support 
provided by our former Chairman and the 
new Chairman, the Board of Directors and 
all other shareholders for their continued 
encouragement. I am thankful to the 
members of my management team for 
placing their trust in me and delivering 
positive outcomes in a timely manner 
through dedication and exceptional 
abilities. I convey my gratitude to all our 
member banks, financial institutions and 
their customers for the loyalty towards 
LankaClear. I am energized and determined 
to guide our organisation to be the best 
in class and become a regional leader in 
providing unparalleled digital financial 
services in the future.

Channa de Silva
General Manager/CEO

21st June 2022
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Board of Directors

01. Dr. Kenneth De Zilwa 

Chairman

Top economist and senior banker, Dr. 
Kenneth De Zilwa assumed duty as the 
Chairman of LankaClear on 01st June 
2021 for a term of three years.

Dr. De Zilwa counts over 20 years 
of experience in banking, managing 
business at the senior managerial level 
across all verticals. He is an expert in 
Treasury, especially in the areas of risk 
management, money markets, and 
debt markets; in both domestic and 
international financial markets, alike. 
He was a part of the Global Advisory 
Team for the Government of Sri Lanka 
USD Bond Issuance and worked closely 
with the senior officials of the Central 
Bank of Sri Lanka in drafting guidelines 
for the market during his tenure at 
HSBC.

Dr. De Zilwa was also the President 
of the Sri Lanka Forex Association 
and has been instrumental in setting 
up the ACI Market Ethics Committee, 
Education Committee, and a 
Regulatory Framework, inspiring and 
leading the Association to new heights. 
Under his leadership, Dr. De Zilwa was 
able to gain Sri Lanka Forex the full 
membership of ACI International and 
make the Association internationally 
reputed. He was appointed Secretary 
for the ACI Model Code Committee by 
the Central Bank of Sri Lanka and was 
responsible for Sri Lanka’s First Interest 
Rate Option and Currency Derivative 
Transactions in Sri Lanka and also 
developed the First Islamic Finance 
Rupee Bond i.e. Sukuk. He was recently 
appointed by UNDP as a consultant 
to the Ministry of Finance & Planning 
apart from being a consultant to 
several leading local and international 
organizations. 

A veteran in Business Cycles and Real 
Economy, Dr. De Zilwa holds a Ph.D. and 
MA in Economics and a Postgraduate 
Diploma in Development Economics from 
the University of Colombo. He also holds 
an MA in Economics for Development 
from the Erasmus University of Rotterdam, 
Netherlands apart from the Postgraduate 
Diploma in Bank Management and 
Finance from the Institute of Bankers 
Sri Lanka. He has contributed to many 
papers in reputed journals including the 
anniversary edition of the Association of 
Professional Bankers.

02. Mr. R. A. Ananda Jayalath

Director
 
Mr. Jayalath currently serves as an 
Assistant Governor of the Central bank 
of Sri Lanka. Areas under his purview 
cover foreign reserves management, 
monetary policy implementation, domestic 
banking operations, and financial 
consumer relations. Prior to the present 
assignment, he was overseeing the area 
of financial regulation and supervision, 
payment and settlement, information 
technology, and economic research at 
the Central Bank of Sri Lanka. He is a 
Co-Chair of the National Certification 
Authority Task Force established under 
the Digital Transactions Act of Sri Lanka 
and served as the Chairman of the Sri 
Lanka Accounting and Auditing Standards 
Monitoring Board during the period 2017 
to 2020. Mr. Jayalath counts over 30 years 
of experience and served in a number of 
capacities from an Auditor to Head of the 
Department prior to being appointed as 
an Assistant Governor of the Bank. His 
experience covers the areas of monetary 
policy, foreign reserves management, 
risk management, fund/investment 
management, financial regulation, 
economic research, and auditing. He 
holds positions on a number of boards 
and has played different roles in several 
internal and external forums/committees 

on finance, reserve management, 
securities financing, monetary policy, 
financial stability, risk management, 
payment system regulation, and 
payment technology-related fields.

Mr. Jayalath holds an MA Econ. (Kansas, 
USA), MBA (PIM USJ Sri Lanka) and a 
B.Com (Kelaniya, Sri Lanka). He is also a 
Fellow member of CA (Sri Lanka).

03. Mr. K .V.K. Alwis

Director

Mr. Alwis is the Director of the 
Information Technology Department 
of the Central Bank of Sri Lanka. 
Mr. Alwis has a Master’s Degree in 
Information Technology from the 
Swinburne University of Technology, 
Australia, and a B.Sc. Special Degree in 
Computer Science from the University 
of Colombo, Sri Lanka. 

Mr. Alwis started his career in the 
Central Bank in 1997 and he has 
served in the Sri Lanka Automated 
Clearing House since 2000 before 
he was posted to the Information 
Technology Department of the Central 
Bank.

He has specialized in the Financial 
Market Infrastructures and has played 
a key role in implementing the Real 
Time Gross Settlements System (RTGS) 
and the Scripless Securities Settlement 
System by the Central Bank in 2003 – 
2004. 

Mr. Alwis has an excellent track record 
in the Central Bank by delivering key IT 
projects.

He has assisted many Cabinet 
Appointed Procurement Committees 
by working as a member of the 
relevant Technical Evaluation 
Committees. 
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At present, Mr. Alwis is playing a key role 
in the Central Bank’s efforts to develop the 
Capital Market Infrastructure.

04. Mr. W. P. R. H. Fonseka

Director

Mr. Fonseka was appointed to the Board of 
LankaClear on 18th May 2020. He currently 
serves as Additional General Manager / 
Chief Financial Officer at Bank of Ceylon. 
He has over 31 years of experience at Bank 
of Ceylon and has played a pivotal role 
in the success of the Bank by deploying 
his expertise in many varied roles which 
include retail lending, corporate & offshore 
banking, international operations, treasury, 
and investment. Mr. Fonseka specialized in 
financial management, financial reporting, 
and strategic planning in the field of 
banking. 

A graduate with a B.Sc. Degree in Business 
Administration from the University of Sri 
Jayewardenepura, Sri Lanka, Mr. Fonseka 
also holds a Postgraduate Diploma in 
Management from the Postgraduate 
Institute of Management (PIM) Sri Lanka. 
He has also obtained an MBA from the 
University of Southern Queensland, 
Australia. Mr. Fonseka is a Senior Fellow 
Member of the Institute of Bankers of Sri 
Lanka, a Fellow Member of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka, and 
participated in the Advance Management 
Programme conducted by the Harvard 
Business School of USA, in 2018.

Mr. Fonseka serves as a Director of the 
Boards of Merchant Bank of Sri Lanka 
& Finance PLC, Property Development 
PLC, and Transnational Lanka Records 
Solutions (Private) Limited. He also 
holds responsibilities as the Chairman 
of the Audit Committees of Property 
Development PLC apart from LankaClear. 
Mr. Fonseka was appointed to the 
Governing Council of the Association of 
Accounting Technicians of Sri Lanka with 

effect from February 2020 and currently 
serving as the Immediate Past President 
of the Council. He currently serves as a 
member of the Sri Lanka Accounting and 
Auditing Standards Monitoring Board 
(SLAASMB).

05. Mr. Ranjith Kodituwakku

Director

Mr. Kodituwakku is a veteran banker, 
serving as the Chief Executive Officer/
General Manager of People’s Bank. He 
has nearly four decades of multi-faceted 
experience in local as well as cross-border 
operations. 

He has a wealth of banking knowledge in 
a wide spectrum of areas covering Branch 
Banking, Consumer Banking, Commercial 
Banking, Corporate Banking, Off-shore 
Banking, International Banking, Project 
Financing, Recoveries, Digitalization, etc. 

He is a key figure in driving the Bank 
towards digitalization by mapping 
business requirements to a digital 
platform by adopting best practices 
in the industry and re-engineering 
business processes for which the bank 
was awarded many prestigious awards/
recognitions both internationally and 
locally. 

He also serves as the Chairperson 
of Financial Ombudsman Sri Lanka 
(Guarantee) Ltd Lanka Financial Services 
Bureau Ltd & People’s Travels Ltd, 
Vice Chairperson of Sri Lanka Banks’ 
Association (Guarantee) Ltd, Director of 
People’s Leasing & Finance PLC, People’s 
Insurance PLC, People’s Merchant 
Finance PLC, Lankan Alliance Finance Ltd 
- Bangladesh, Credit Information Bureau 
of Sri Lanka and Lanka Clear (Pvt) Ltd and 
a Governing Board Member of Institute 
of Bankers of Sri Lanka and National 
Payments Council. 

Mr. Kodituwakku holds a Master’s Degree 
in Business Administration specialized in 
Finance from the University of Colombo, 
Bachelor of Laws (Honours) from the 
University of New Buckinghamshire, 
United Kingdom, and is a Senior Fellow 
Member of the Institute of Bankers of Sri 
Lanka and a Certified Member of Sri Lanka 
Institute of Marketing.

06. Mr. Sanjay Wijemanne

Director

Mr. Sanjay Wijemanne is the Deputy 
General Manager – Retail & SME Banking 
at Hatton National Bank PLC and manages 
the areas of Personal Financial Services 
(Leasing, Pawning Personal and Housing 
Loans), SME/Microfinance, Credit Cards, 
Sales and Business Development, Network 
Management, Deposit Mobilization, 
Marketing Communications, Customer 
Service, Club, and Priority Banking, 
Inward Remittances and Exchange House 
Relationships, and Bancassurance. He 
holds a B.Sc in Business and Finance from 
Mount Saint Mary’s University, USA.

Mr. Wijemanne is also a Director at Acuity 
Stockbrokers (Pvt) Ltd, HNB General 
Insurance, and Acuity Partners (Pvt) Ltd.

He commenced his career with Ceylinco 
Securities & Financial Services and then 
joined HNB as a Management Trainee/
Executive. Thereafter, he joined HSBC 
where he held different positions such 
as Vice President – Custody and Clearing, 
Head of Sales, Head of Branches including 
Premier Banking, Branch Manager – 
Colpetty Branch/Manager Premier Centre.
He then joined Standard Chartered Bank 
and held positions of Head of Retail 
Banking, General Manager – Premium 
Banking Branch Sales and Services, and 
General Manager – Wealth Management 
Value Centre.
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07. Mr. Ravin Basnayake

Director

Mr. Ravin was appointed as the Citi 
Country Officer (CCO) in Sri Lanka 
with effect from 01st January 2012. 
He is a veteran Citibanker, with over 
32 years of banking experience and 
has served in several key positions 
within the Sri Lanka franchise. Prior 
to his appointment as CCO, he served 
as Head of Corporate Banking Group, 
where he led the Global Banking 
business in Sri Lanka. 

Mr. Basnayake has been serving on 
the board of the American Chamber 
of Commerce since 2014 and has held 
office as President of AmCham. 

He holds an MBA from the Post 
Graduate Institute of Management, 
University of Sri Jayewardenepura, and 
is an Associate Member of the Institute 
of Financial Services of the United 
Kingdom.

08. Mr. N. H. T. I. Perera

Director 

Mr. Thimal Perera is the Chief 
Executive Officer (CEO) of DFCC Bank 
PLC. He functioned as the Deputy Chief 
Executive Officer of the Bank prior to 
his appointment as the CEO and was 
appointed to the Board in July 2019.

He has held several senior positions in 
the banking sector and has over two 
decades of experience in the financial 
services and banking sector, both 
locally and internationally having been 
with the HSBC Group, both in Sri Lanka 
and overseas, the Commercial Bank of 
Qatar, Barclays Bank Plc and UAE. He 
was the Deputy General Manager of 

Hatton National Bank where he guided the 
retail and SME banking sector.

While at HNB he also served as a Board 
Member of HNB Assurance PLC, HNB 
General Insurance Ltd, and HNB Finance 
Ltd where he was also the Chairman of 
the Board Audit Committee. He is also 
the Chairman of Synapsys Limited, Acuity 
Partners Limited, and DFCC Consulting 
(Pvt) Ltd and serves as a Director of Lanka 
Ventures PLC, and LVL Energy Fund PLC 
apart from LankaClear.

Mr. Perera is a member of the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka 
and a finalist of the Chartered Institute of 
Management Accountants UK.

09. Mr. E. R. de Silva

Observer

Mr. Ravi de Silva brings well-seasoned 
skill and expertise in banking, finance, 
and commerce to his role at SLBA 
through which he comes to the Board 
of LankaClear as an observer. His 
wide-ranging knowledge and particular 
experience in the areas of Credit and Risk 
have been gained in a career of over 45 
years in which he has held progressively 
senior positions in banking and financial 
services in Sri Lanka and internationally. 
He left Sri Lanka in 1988 and has had 
varied international experience with the 
HSBC Group serving in subsidiaries in the 
Credit and Risk function, as Chief Credit 
Officer and Chief Risk Officer. 

After retirement from the HSBC 
Group at end of 2012, he lived in the 
UK undertaking ad hoc consultancy 
assignments until his return to Sri Lanka 
in August 2016. He assumed the current 
role as Secretary-General at SLBA on 1 
August 2017. Mr. de Silva holds a Bachelor 
of Laws degree from the University of 

Board of Directors

Sri Lanka, is a Fellow of the Chartered 
Institute of Bankers UK, and has been 
admitted as an Attorney at Law of the 
Supreme Court of Sri Lanka.
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One for All  
in Convenience
Convenience is required at many places, at different 
times and in many forms. It may be convenience at 
your fingertips when you use your mobile or at the click 
of a button when you are using internet banking or 
when you need cash for shopping to be taken from any 
ATM or at signing documents with digital signatures 
when signatories are at different locations. All services 
of LankaClear are designed in a way to provide 
convenience to customers and enable them sufficient 
time to engage in things that really matter.
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Macro Environment
The Asian Development Bank’s (ADB) 
annual flagship economic publication 
forecasts a muted recovery from the 
coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic 
as Sri Lanka’s economy grapples with 
macroeconomic challenges arising from 
high debt, low foreign reserves, and 
inflationary pressures. ADB forecasts Sri 
Lanka’s economic growth will drop to 2.4% 
in 2022 and will improve marginally to 
2.5% in 2023.

Even as the Omicron variant of COVID-19 
subsides, the country is facing several 
headwinds. Rising food, fuel, and 
commodity prices; higher import prices; 
supply chain disruptions; shortages 
stemming from the foreign exchange 
squeeze; demand-side pressures; and 
exchange rate depreciation collectively 
driving inflation to an all time high in 2022. 

A strong vaccination drive helped the 
economic activity recover from the impact 
of multiple COVID-19 waves, with tourism 
being one of the worst-hit sectors, gaining 
strength at the dawn of the year. At the 
same time, growth is being held back by 
Sri Lanka’s debt overhang, large external 
financing requirements, energy shortages, 
and high inflation. Immediate measures to 
restore macroeconomic stability and debt 
sustainability are crucial for recovery to 
gain traction.

Underlying macroeconomic weaknesses, 
the pandemic’s lingering impacts, energy 
shortages, and external shocks pose 
downside risks to the economic outlook. 
In the absence of access to the sustained 
balance of payment financing, foreign 
exchange reserves will continue to be 
limited, and external sector vulnerabilities 
are likely to persist. The implications of the 
Russian invasion of Ukraine is reflected 
in higher oil and food prices as well as 
reduced tourism and export earnings.

Source: www.adb.org

Operational 
Environment

Banking Industry Analysis
During the year under review, the Central 
Bank of Sri Lanka devalued the currency 
the Sri Lankan rupee, by 48% YoY basis to 
shore up foreign reserves and to attract 
migrant worker remittances. However, 
migrant workers shunned the formal 
banking system due to the low exchange 
rate compared to what the informal 
channels offer them.

Workers’ remittances have contained 
around 80% of Sri Lanka’s annual trade 
deficit over the past two decades. Central 
Bank of Sri Lanka’s Foreign Remittances 
Facilitation Department was set up in 
November to facilitate and streamline 
remittance inflows to the country, along 
with multiple special incentive schemes. 
However, these initiatives have not yielded 
desirable results.

Sector Strength
The expansion of domestic credit, 
particularly credit to the public sector, 
was robust during the past few months, 
according to Central Bank of Sri Lanka, 
noting that some slowdown in the growth 
of broad money was observed due to 
the decline in net foreign assets of the 
banking system. Following the monetary 
tightening measures, market interest rates 
are adjusting upwards.

The banking sector has increased 
revenues during the past few quarters, 
due to the exchange rate volatility and 
interest rate fluctuations. Most private 
sector banks have high liquid asset 
ratios and adequate capital adequacy 
ratios. Their profitability has increased 
substantially. But with the exchange rate 
increase and high inflationary pressures, 
the banks are expecting net interest 
margins to reduce, challenging liquidity 
levels and credit quality stress.

In early March, Central Bank of Sri Lanka 
increased the standing deposit facility 
rate and the standing lending facility 
rate by 100 basis points each, to 6.50% 
and 7.50%, respectively. Considering 

the severity of external problems and 
disruptions to domestic economic 
activity, a comprehensive policy package 
containing both traditional and non-
traditional measures, along with other 
initiatives that have an impact on the 
overall economy, was essential to counter 
economic headwinds. Consequently, 
Central Bank of Sri Lanka moved to hike 
the Standing Lending Facility Rate (SLFR) 
and the Standing Deposit Facility Rate 
(SDFR) by 7% at its meeting on April 8 to 
14.50% and 13.50% respectively.

The Sri Lankan banks are bracing for low 
credit growth amid the rise in interest 
rates, rating downgrades, new taxes and 
the quality of the portfolio, all of which 
have impacted the banks’ capital growth.

Banks are forecasting single-digit credit 
growth this year, compared to last year’s 
16%. Sri Lanka’s commercial banks provided 
a record amount of credit to the private 
sector in 2021, amounting to Rs. 810.5 Bn.

In 2022, the banking sector is wrestling 
with exposure to the country’s sovereign 
debt and economic vagaries. Apart from 
credit growth, analysts predict that these 
factors will weigh heavily on asset quality.

Tourism Sector
The Sri Lankan banking sector has not 
seen bad loans increase in the past 
year as much as expected because the 
regulator extended the pandemic-related 
moratorium several times.

Central Bank of Sri Lanka once again 
extended the debt moratorium for the 
tourism sector until June this year to 
revive an industry that had just started to 
recover from the Easter Sunday bombings 
in 2019 when it was then hit by the 
Covid-19 pandemic, wiping out USD 4 Bn 
in annual earnings.

However, industry officials say the banks 
could see a big uptick in non-performing 
loans once the debt moratorium ends 
later this year.

Operational Review  Operational Environment
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Plus, the sliver of hope the country had 
for tourism to rebound in 2022 has faded 
with the break out of the war between 
Russia and Ukraine, which are two of Sri 
Lanka’s largest tourist markets. However, 
bankers hope that other tourism markets 
will help grow in earnings in the sector.

Trade Down
The trade finance business has been 
negatively impacted due to the acute 
scarcity of foreign exchange (FX), 
restricting importers’ ability to bring in 
goods. 

Early this year, Central Bank of Sri Lanka 
imposed a 25% inward remittance 
surrender rule, leading to a large loss 
in FX in banks. To preserve their foreign 
currency, the banks were forced to 
curtail imports. However, in November 
the banking regulator further directed 
authorised dealers or the banks to convert 
money remitted into foreign currency 
accounts through export proceeds within 
one month and seven days into local Sri 
Lankan rupee accounts.

Credibility Issues
The Sri Lankan banking sector is slowly 
losing credibility on the international 
stage, with correspondent banks being 
reluctant to guarantee transactions with 
the low credit ratings of the country 
and its inability to raise funds in the 
international markets.

The attractiveness of the banking sector 
will depend on whether Sri Lanka will 
seek IMF assistance and the sort of 
restructuring mechanism that will be 
offered to bondholders. All banks trading 
on the Colombo Stock Exchange are at a 
steep discount to their book value.

Source: www.thebanker.com

During the year under review, how 
LankaLear dealt with economic challenges 
and the pandemic whilst serving the 
national cause is summarised below.

Our Response to Economic Challenges

Macro-Economic 
Concern

Our Response

Steep LKR depreciation, 
shrinking of foreign 
exchange reserves, 
accelerated inflation 
and stressed monetary 
systems

From the National Standpoint, 
�� LankaClear’s solutions are low-cost alternatives for 

international service providers, saving large amounts 
of vital foreign exchange.

�� During the year under review, LankaClear assisted 
the Central Bank of Sri Lanka in the launch of the 
National Remittance Mobile Application, LankaRemit, 
which gives Sri Lankans working abroad direct access 
to existing remittance channels while also allowing 
them to choose more convenient and cost-effective 
remittance channels to send money to Sri Lanka.

�� LankaClear has kept its fee structures consistent for 
many years, without raising them and even providing 
price reductions for products such as LankaPay 
Realtime Payment Network (CEFTS), LankaPay 
Common POS Network (CPS) and LankaSign allowing 
banks and fintech to manage their costs effectively.

�� The availability of low-cost efficient payment methods 
has offered tremendous relief and independence to 
already pressured monetary systems.

 
From the Organisational Standpoint,
�� Negotiating with vendors to keep contracts in LKR 

terms as feasible.
�� Maintaining strong relationships with bankers in 

order to make timely payments to overseas vendors. 
�� Maintaining adequate liquidity to meet the expenses.
�� Negotiating extended credit periods with the 

vendors.
�� Postponing capital expenditures as much as feasible.

Energy shortages From the National Standpoint, 
LankaClear’s uninterrupted services and facilitating 
electronic transactions have already saved many Sri 
Lankans time and effort, which would have been lost if 
the general public had to physically visit banks to conduct 
financial transactions.  

From the Organisational Standpoint,
�� LankaClear has arranged for employees to work from 

home in order to prevent staff transportation issues.
�� Because LankaClear is located at the head office of 

the Bank of Ceylon, the electricity supply is more 
reliable.

�� Maintaining enough fuel supplies at the disaster 
recovery site, which is operated by onsite generators.

Operational Review  Operational Environment
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Macro-Economic 
Concern

Our Response

Reduced economic 
activities due to poor 
economic conditions

LankaClear has expanded its offerings to capture 
new client demographics and transactions that were 
previously conducted through non-digital means.
�� With the availability of the LankaPay Realtime 

Payment Network (CEFTS), during the pandemic 
period allowed many people who were stuck at 
home to conduct financial transactions with ease 
and security at a low cost via the internet and mobile 
banking applications. Hence digital transactions soar 
during the period and continued the trend thereafter 
as well.

�� Via the JustPay platform LankaClear facilitates low-
value retail transactions, thereby attracting a portion 
of the unbanked cash that is being circulated in the 
banking system.

�� LankaClear facilitated LankaQR which is a low-cost 
digital payment solution, which targets small and 
medium enterprises especially. 

iii. Provided secure server access 
to many departments 

 Staff members who required 
internal server access during 
work from home were facilitated 
through a remote VPN privileged 
access system. 

iv. Meeting through Microsoft 
Teams

 Adopting secured collaborative 
tools for online meetings, most 
internal and external meetings 
during work from home were 
held via Microsoft Teams. 

v. Remote call centre 
 Operating around the clock, 

our call centre team continued 
to serve member banks and 
consumers throughout the 
lockdown period facilitated via 
the remote log-in using Facetone 
and AVAYA technologies.

vi. Remote infrastructure 
monitoring

 During the year, the company 
strengthened the security of 
remote infrastructure monitoring 
through a secured VPN, ensuring 
uninterrupted service delivery for 
member banks and internal staff.

2. Transport provided to staff who 
required to report to the office

 All employees who needed to 
work from the office were supplied 
with transportation to and from 
the workplace. Those who chose 
to drive themselves were given a 
transportation payment based on 
the distance from their home to the 
office.

3. Issue Central Bank Curfew Passes
 We got curfew passes issued by 

Central Bank for those who had to 
report to office and those passes 
were sent to employees’ residences 
through the office vehicle

Operational Environment
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Our Response to Covid 19
As the operator of the national payment network LankaClear, which is responsible 
for all interbank payments. LankaClear also collaborated with other critical 
professionals to guarantee that banking clients may conduct their financial 
transactions as smoothly as possible throughout the pandemic. As a result, even 
when the entire country was in lockdown, LankaClear had to guarantee that its 
operations were not affected and that service levels were maintained to facilitate 
uninterrupted interbank payments. 

Below are some of the highlights of our Covid-19 response. 

1. Introducing work from home - In line with the government direction allowing 
work from home, LankaClear too moved swiftly to this mode taking the following 
measures. 

i. All relevant employees were provided with digital signatures
 LankaClear as the sole Digital Certification Authority in Sri Lanka had provided 

its management staff with digital signatures for internal approval purposes. 
With the outbreak of the pandemic and work from home, all employees 
involved in approval-related processes were provided with digital signatures, 
enabling secure signing of all documents while working remotely. 

ii. Provided laptops to all staff
 During the first wave of the epidemic, LankaClear lacked computers for all 

employees and struggled to manage day-to-day operations in a work-from-
home environment. Having anticipated the possibility of a second wave, the 
company made preparations to buy laptops for all essential staff, despite 
market shortages, while non-critical staff received desktop computers.
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4. Reimbursing of internet and call 
charges during work from home

 During work from home, the 
company introduced an allowance to 
compensate for their additional voice 
and data usage and for those who 
didn’t have internet facility at home, 
the company provided dongles. 

5. PCR testing at company 
expense and provided transport 
arrangements for employees to 
get vaccinations.

 The HR department urged 
and instructed all employees 
to get vaccinated at the local 
vaccination clinic. For individuals 
who worked from the office, the 
office organised immunisation, 
including transportation to and from 
vaccination locations. Whenever PCR 
tests were required for employees 
who worked from home, the firm 
paid for them, and any testing 
performed outside of the office was 
compensated.

6. Accommodation and meals for 
staff who travel a long distance 
to the office

 During the lockdown period, 
LankaPay Cheque Imaging and 
Truncation System (CITS), Common 
Card and Payment Switch (CCAPS) 
and part of the maintenance 
operation were carried out from DR 
Centre as a risk mitigating measure. 
During this period, staff who travelled 
a long distance to the office were 
provided accommodation at DR 
site. Those who reported to head 
office and travelled long-distance 
were provided accommodation at a 
close-by hotel. These staff were also 
provided with meals or reimbursed 
their meal cost as necessary. 

7. Flexible working hours 
 A feature in the HR system was 

enabled to capture the sign-in and 
sign-out of the office and sign-in 
time was kept flexible, as long as 
the required number of hours were 
covered.

8. Flexi location of work from the 
office at both head office and DR

 All employees who had to report to 
the office were provided with the 
flexibility of coming to the head office 
or the DR centre. 

9. Site sanitization & disinfections 
weekly DR site & head office

 The head office and DR site were 
disinfected weekly 

10. Additional leave granted for 
Covid-positive employees

 Employees who were found Covid 
positive were given an additional 7 
days’ leave in addition to their usual 
entitlements in other categories.

11. Facilitated quarantine of 
employees 

 When an employee was found Covid 
positive, the company facilitated 
quarantining the rest of the staff in 
the same cluster after carrying out 
contact tracing to prevent the spread 
of the disease among LankaClear 
employees as well as their families

12. Covid preventive measures
 The company provided face masks to 

all employees when they are working 
from the office. Face masks and hand 
sanitisers were provided at the office 
free of charge.

Operational Review  Operational Environment
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Operational Environment

Global Trends in Payment Systems

Global Trends – Payment Systems Our Response

�� In the year 2021, the offline and online worlds merged 
for good, solidifying the digital-first economy as the new 
normal for businesses and consumers. 
�y Even though in-person shopping has largely reopened, 

consumers have become accustomed to the simplicity 
and ease of ecommerce. 

�y And we have merchants, issuers, and fintechs to thank 
for creating and enabling frictionless digital experiences 
at scale.

�y The melding of online and offline means that 
omnichannel commerce has become a business 
requirement.

�y Investing in meeting customers when, where, and 
how they want to shop is critical–making it simple for 
consumers to transact while providing the support and 
confidence they need across any channel.

�� 2021 also witnessed notable labor and product shortages 
due to the ‘Great Resignation,’ continued impact from the 
COVID-19 pandemic, and constricted supply chains.
�y While the causes for these shortages may be 

temporary, the actions businesses took to overcome 
them are not.

�y By embracing automation, businesses now do more 
with less while serving customers more effectively.

�y As workers return and supply chains start flowing again, 
these actions will leave businesses better prepared to 
serve customers in the digital-first economy.

�� Customer expectations are changing, and businesses are 
adapting
�y After two years of shifting habits to working and 

shopping largely online, consumers are now more 
comfortable navigating the world through a digital lens.

�� The investment in digital customer experiences begins with 
payments
�y Businesses are expanding their payment options to 

meet customer preferences for digital payments, both 
contactless in-store and flexible choices online.

�y People want to have a frictionless commerce 
experience at the point when they want to transact.

�� Digital wallets
�y A digital wallet is a virtual version of your everyday 

wallet
�y An estimated 4.4 Bn global consumers will shop 

with a digital wallet by 2023, accounting for 52% of 
ecommerce payments globally

�y 1.6 Bn global consumers will pay by digital wallets at 
the point of sale (POS) in 2023, accounting for 30% of 
POS payments.

�� CEFTS under the LankaPay network is a pioneer product in 
enabling digital transactions, providing the infrastructure 
for interbank real-time digital transactions.

�� During the year under review, CEFTS processed 69 Mn 
transactions for a 110% YoY increase, allowing many 
people who were stuck at home to conduct financial 
transactions with ease and security at a low cost via the 
internet and mobile banking applications.

�� The LankaPay network introduced many innovative 
products to the market by leveraging the CEFTS platform, 
such as JustPay, LankaQR, LPOPP and PEN.

�� These breakthrough solutions opened the door for 
many FinTech firms to thrive by basing their apps on 
these product platforms, resulting in mutually beneficial 
collaboration.

�� JustPay aims to facilitate low-value retail transactions, 
thereby helping to attract a portion of the unbanked cash 
that is being circulated into the banking system. JustPay© 
was initiated as a highly secured payment mechanism 
with two factor authentication and end to end encryption 
in addition to further strengthen the security measures 
taken by banks for mobile applications and internet 
based transactions according to Central Bank of Sri Lanka 
approved security standards. JustPay a critical backbone 
connecting the digital platforms of banks. The unique 
platform revolves around the ubiquitous smartphone, 
leveraging its versatility to usher in a host of benefits for 
consumers, merchants, banks, fintech companies and the 
economy as a whole.

�� LankaQR is a project initiative from the Central Bank of Sri 
Lanka to ensure all QR codes and QR-based transactions 
in Sri Lanka are standardised and interoperable. Central 
Bank of Sri Lanka has entrusted LankaClear to implement 
and operate LankaQR. LankaQR members use CEFTS and 
JustPay payment platforms to ensure interoperability.

�� LankaPay Online Payment Platform facilitates real-time 
payments to main government institutes such as Sri Lanka 
Customs, Inland Revenue Department, Sri Lanka Ports 
Authority, Board of Investment, Employee Provident Fund, 
Sri Lanka Standards Institute and Department of Imports 
and Exports Control, which is a successful project where 
the government institutes reducing the time-consuming 
steps.

Operational Review  Operational Environment
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Global Trends – Payment Systems Our Response

�� QR-code payments
�y By 2025, QR-code payment users are expected to 

exceed 2.2 Bn, equating to 29% of all mobile phone 
users globally

�y Throughout the buyer’s journey, businesses are using 
QR codes in innovative ways to drive additional sales 
and improve the customer experience.

�� Pay by link and digital invoicing
�y Pay by link allows businesses to create instant custom 

links to send to customers to initiate payments online.
�y While similar to pay by link, business-to-business (B2B) 

payments traditionally use digital invoicing, an invoice 
that can be viewed and paid digitally.

�y Both forms of digital payments are on the rise; one 
pay by link provider reports seeing 6x growth in 
transactions from 2020 to 2021, while digital invoicing 
is projected to grow at a compound annual rate of 
20.4% from 2019 to 2027.

�� With the recent move to a more remote workforce, 
businesses see that their employees need to manage their 
accounts receivable and payable functionality outside of a 
physical office.
�y Digitizing B2B payments, including accounts payable, 

accounts receivable, expense reimbursement, and 
employee-initiated spending, is the solution with 
significant benefits.

�y With digital B2B payments, a business has more 
visibility into what funds are going where and why. In 
turn, they gain the transparency and control needed 
to optimize cash flow, reduce errors, and mitigate 
payment-related fraud.

�y Another benefit in reducing your manual payment 
processes gets down to the bottom line: saving money. 
Reducing checks by 10-50% equates to $1.3-$58.3 
billion savings each year. The hard costs of B2B 
check payments disappear when migrating to digital 
processes including paper, postage, and the time it 
takes to stuff envelopes.

�y For all of these reasons, global B2B non-cash 
transactions will increase to nearly 200 billion 
transactions by 2025, from 121.5 billion in 2020, 
according to Capgemini estimates.

Source: https://docs.globalpaymentsinc.com/v/2022-
commerce-and-payment-trends-report-en

�� Central Bank of Sri Lanka launched the National Remittance 
Mobile Application, LankaRemit in February 2022 which 
is the National Remittance Mobile Application provide 
Sri Lankans working abroad direct access to the existing 
remittance channels, as well as facilitates their ability to 
choose more convenient and cost-effective remittance 
channels to send money to Sri Lanka. LankaRemit has been 
deployed by the LankaPay network, which is also integrated 
into CEFTS to conveniently receive the foreign remittances 
to the local dependents.

�� Payment Exchange Name (PEN) is a nickname based real-
time person-to-person or peer-to-peer (P2P) payment 
system facilitated via CEFTS. PEN enables customers 
to make P2P payments amongst PEN member banks 
conveniently, securely and error free. With PEN, Customers 
no longer have to provide their bank name, branch, 
account number and other details when requesting for 
a fund transfer. This would minimize the mistakes made 
by customers in making an electronic fund transfer. Due 
to the ease of making fund transfers, PEN is expected to 
attract less tech-savvy customers also to adopt electronic 
payment modes in making fund transfers, which is key to 
making financial inclusivity a reality.

�� LankaPay Payment Card is positioned as an everyday 
payment card instrument that can be used at a corner 
shop to pay for groceries, to withdraw money from any 
ATM and to use it as a transit card to purchase a ticket in 
any transport mode. 

Further as the next phase of the LankaPay Card, it will be 
enabled with e-commerce purchase option with necessary 
3D security features.

These initiatives will provide a truly convenient home-
grown payment mechanisms across all payment channels 
to suit the lifestyle of the digital consumer, especially the 
mobility demanded by the millennials and Generation Z.

Further, the LankaPay Card is not limited to domestic 
usage. It has an international reach as well through the JCB 
network. LankaPay Card can be used in any ATM or a POS 
terminal through the JCB network worldwide.

�� LankaSign, as the financial sector’s Certification Service 
Provider (CSP), is widely used in almost all financial sector 
organizations and a few other sectors to automate their 
documentation process by digitally signing electronic 
copies of documents and adding high security to the 
electronic document exchange process.

�� CITS, which replaced the physical cheque with electronic 
information flowing throughout the clearing cycle, 
facilitated the clearing of 33 Mn cheques during the year 
under and did not show much increase in volumes after 
decreasing 27% year on year during 2020/21.

Operational Review  Operational Environment
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Organisational 
Review

�y Deployment of National Remittance Mobile Application, 
LankaRemit during the year under review. 

�y Support digital payments saving time and energy.
�y Innovative products such as JustPay, LPOPP, LankaQR and 

progressing steadily growing recording transaction volume 
growth of 149%, 472% and 261% respectively.

�y Through CAS saving time for banks’ customers by without 
requiring to go to own ATM.

�y CITS Reducing the clearing and settlement period significantly 
by introducing T+1 clearing and settlement island-wide and 
introducing online image presenting for banks.

�y Through LankaSign powering digital document signing so that 
empowering paperless concepts.

Timely introduction of innovative and efficient payment 
solutions and services to exceed customer expectations

�y In 2021/2022, we successfully obtained the recertification 
for the prestigious Payment Card Industry Data Security 
Standards (PCI-DSS version 3.2.1), which is the highest level of 
security conformance in the world. This is a testament to our 
commitment to maintain the highest level of security for our 
payment systems.

Enhance and sustain information security and compliance 
on all platforms

�y Our robust and scalable IT infrastructure along with our 
continued process and technology improvements ensured 
that all our payment systems were available 24x7 and 365 
days of the year to serve the general public.

�y During the year under review, LankaClear implemented a 
comprehensive Cheque Imaging and Truncation System 
technology stack with improvements and virtualized 
infrastructure at Disaster Recovery Site (DRS).

�y CITS achieved a system uptime of 99.72% during the year 
2021/2022. 

�y Common Card and Payment Switch (CCAPS), which is the 
interbank payment switch, achieved a system uptime of 100% 
excluding pre-planned downtimes.

�y LankaClear also adheres to a robust business continuity plan 
and in the year 2021/2022 conducted two drills to test our 
preparedness to handle operations in case of a disaster to the 
primary site.

Ensure trust and high availability of all payment systems 
and services

�y Pursuing different objectives which cover the different 
requirements of the different stakeholders and extensively 
discussed under the stakeholder section

�y Voluntary publication of the annual report
�y By promoting digital payments contribution to preserving the 

nature.

Manage and deliver stakeholder expectations whilst 
maintaining good governance and contributing to 
sustainable development

Our Corporate Strategy and Achievement of Strategic Objectives

LankaClear with a primary objective of driving financial inclusivity in the country, aims to achieve this via facilitating high-quality 
digital financial services at affordable prices in a secure, reliable and convenient manner for all Sri Lankans. The Company envisages 
of becoming Asia’s most trusted and reliable payment network and has built its strategies of realising the above by providing a 
seamless experience to the digital consumers of the country by deploying cutting-edge technology-based financial services. We have 
implemented world-class payment systems, in some instances for the first time in the region, to ensure all Sri Lankans are on par 
with the regional peers. 

The ever-changing business dynamic across the world presents many possibilities and benefits to individuals and companies. It 
enables people to connect more with their loved ones and build new friendships and partnerships all over the world. It also enables 
companies to reach out more to customers through digital channels, etc. 

From online shopping to social media, people can create their own innovative content and post it on YouTube, Facebook or 
engage in blogging etc. They can transact or make payments using their smart mobile devices. Digital banking for example allows 
individuals and companies to open bank accounts and facilitates payments by using savings and current accounts without ever 
stepping out. This is possible through digitisation, which can essentially turn a smartphone into a wallet, a shopping mall or even a 
bank branch. 

Ensuring a seamless experience will allow us to maximise our time, do more things in a day and ultimately use that free time to live 
a better life. Our objective for the financial year 2021/22 was to provide a seamless experience to all our stakeholders across one 
country and one network. Our strategy objectives and progress in achieving the desired goals are outlined below and discussed in 
detail throughout the operation review.

Operational Review  Organisational Review
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�y Partnership already established with JCB the 
Japanese card scheme

�y Progressing on partnering with major card schemes such as 
Discover, RuPay, China Union Pay

Establish partnerships with regional payment networks

CEFTS 
�y 40% tariff reduction from January 2021

JustPay
�y Introduction of a separate low tariff structure for low-value 

transactions
CAS 
�y Around 7 times the price reduction of the comparative price.

SLIPS
�y No price increase from the initial price set at the inception of 

the product
LankaSign
�y Maximum price cap was introduced for JustPay certificates so 

that JustPay apps were enormously benefitted

Reduce the cost of all inter-bank financial transactions

�y Total training hours 2067
�y Investment in training Rs. 2.5 Mn
�y Employee goal achievement 87%
�y Turnover per employee Rs.12 Mn (YoY increase 22%)

Improve productivity through human capital development to 
facilitate organizational growth and regional expansions

�y Rs. 1.3 Bn revenue recorded with a YoY increase of 26%
�y Rs. 568 Mn net profit after tax recorded with a YoY increase 

of 16%
�y Rs. 3.6 Bn Net Assets recorded with a YoY increase of 15% 

Enhance the overall financial health of the organisation by 
achieving revenue and profitability growth targets, while 
safeguarding company assets

�y Radio campaigns and social media campaigns targeting both 
customers as well as merchants

�y Continued to campaign towards raising public awareness on 
LankaClear leading role as the national payment network, 
which was felt timely with ‘going local’ became a focal point 
with rupee depreciation

Take LankaPay brand to the masses

�y Donation of Supply and Installation of Oxygen, Medical Air 
Pipeline System from tank to MOT at the Kalubowila General 
Hospital to help many Covid-19 positive patients that needed 
oxygen support.

Promoting social harmony by contributing towards a worthy 
CSR cause

�y Operating around the clock, our call centre team continued 
to serve member banks and consumers even throughout the 
lockdown and economic constrains

�y Improvements in customer surveys
�y International Customer Service Week programme
�y LankaPay Online Quiz Competition

Enhance customer satisfaction levels

Operational Review  Organisational Review
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Use of Advanced Technology 
The platform used by the LankaPay 
network is scalable, reliable, and secure 
running on an operationally proven 
technology backend. This superior 
technology platform has successfully 
implemented in multiple countries as 
their National Payment Switch while 
other Payment Networks have also been 
implemented on the same backend. 
The current switch has been tested and 
proven to process approximately seven 
million commercial transactions a day and 
implemented in multiple countries. 

During the year under review, we took 
steps to improve our critical backend by 
carrying out numerous improvements to 
the Common Card and Payment Switch 
(CCAPS) software while the network 
infrastructure was also upgraded 
for better performance and security. 
Maintaining Reliability and Availability by 
achieving 100%, uptime for all our systems 
throughout the year is a benchmark for 
the operational team at LankaClear. In 
addition, high reliability and availability 
across all our systems were ensured via a 
tried and tested Business Continuity Plan 
and our state-of-the-art Disaster Recovery 
Site (DRS). We are using clustering for 
high availability for all systems in the 
Primary Data Centre (PDC) while the data 
is replicated to DRS in real-time. This was 
to ensure that PDC had extremely high 
availability at all times and even in an 
unlikely event where the PDC becomes 
non-functional, it is possible to activate 
DRS immediately. 

Maintain High Security Across all 
Systems
During the year under review, LankaClear 
was recertified for world-renowned PCI-
DSS certification for the sixth consecutive 
year, which is the top-notch security 
standard in the payment card industry. 
LankaClear was the first entity in the 
country to achieve this status a few years 
ago. Hence, all systems of LankaClear have 
been designed and implemented with the 
highest level of security in mind and our 

payment back-end is PA-DSS complied 
and aligned with ISO 27001 standards. 
The advanced use of MACing and Dynamic 
Key management ensures greater 
security, which is an aspect brought into 
all our payment systems. The system is 
fully EMV-ready. The network is structured 
on a layered and segregated basis for 
greater security. This is to ensure that 
we fulfil the security requirements from 
end to end within our entire network to 
justify and maintain our status quo as the 
‘Trusted National Payment Network’. 

Superior Customer Service 
LankaClear is geared to provide 24x7 
support services to our member banks and 
financial institutions by striving to maintain 
the highest level of service. The services 
are provided by highly-skilled, committed 
and trained staff whose performance 
evaluation is tied to the feedback of the 
customers they serve. In addition, we also 
provide banks and financial institutions 
with incident-related support and proactive 
alerts and Security Operations Center 
(SOC) services via FinCSIRT. The FinCSIRT 
team provides critical security support to 
our members based on a Central Bank-
approved Baseline Security Standard. This 
not only ensures that we maintain the 
highest level of security within our network, 
but also extends this to our customer 
banks and financial institutions to maintain 
financial sector stability. 

Trust-Based on Closer Relationships 
During the year under review, we have 
strived to improve existing relationships 
with our member banks and financial 
institutions by working closely with them 
and building their trust in our network 
and people. To achieve this objective, we 
continued to implement the account and 
relationship management concept via 
one-on-one engagements, discussions 
and presentations with all financial 
institutions to increase trust across all 
LankaPay systems. There was also a 
significant effort towards the development 
of mutually beneficial solutions that 
would encourage financial institutions 

to improve their service levels as well as 
facilitate more opportunities for their 
digital consumers to engage in inter-bank 
transactions. 

Continuous Innovation is Key for 
Success
In order for us to be a highly competitive 
force in the market, we sharpened our 
focus to implement a host of innovative 
digital payment solutions to keep abreast 
with the rapidly-changing technology 
landscape. 

As a result of many innovative solutions 
introduced by LankaClear in the recent 
past, many banks and financial institutions 
had the opportunity to start reaping the 
benefits by going live with these new 
products. 

Security, Availability of Systems with 
Updated Technology
As the backbone network supporting the 
Sri Lankan payment industry, LankaClear 
has to ensure that all its systems 
maintained the highest levels of security 
standards in addition to high availability 
with updated technology. Hence, all our 
systems are deployed using cutting-
edge technology and state-of-the- art 
infrastructure that are already tried and 
tested across the world.

As we deploy innovative technology to 
facilitate all interbank transactions, we 
have to ensure that the entire financial 
sector as well as their customers trust 
our systems. Hence, we have gone the 
extra mile to maintain the highest levels 
of information security, reliability and high 
availability. Therefore, we have ensured 
that all our products and services adhere 
to international security standards and 
performance benchmarks.

During the year under review, LankaClear 
implemented a comprehensive cheque 
imaging and truncation system technology 
stack with improvements and virtualized 
infrastructure at Disaster Recovery Site 
(DRS). All IT infrastructure is maintained 

Organisational Review
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Gen 1

Gen 1

Gen 2

Gen 2

ISP 1
ISP 2

Data 
Center

Data 
Centre

Redundant 
UPS

Redundant 
UPS

Grid Power

Grid Power

Head Office

Distance
16 Km

CITS / SLIPS / USD Online /  
USD Draft / LankaSign /  
CAS / CEFTS / LPOPP /  
JustPay / PEN / LankaQR /  
SAS & CMS / CPS / NCS /
FinCSIRT

Products

CITS / SLIPS
/ USD Online
/ USD Draft /
LankaSign / CAS
/ CEFTS / LPOPP 
/ JustPay / PEN / 
LankaQR / SAS &
CMS / CPS / NCS /
FinCSIRT

Products

Finance / HR /
Legal / Procurement /
Marketing

General 
Administration

Finance / HR /
Legal /
Procurement 
/Marketing

General 
Administration

Fully operational 
Disaster Recovery 
Site, 4-storey 
building

in a newly built stat-of the-art datacenter 
which is aligned with ‘Uptime Tier 3’ 
standard and has capabilities of N+1 
availability on power architected primary 
and secondary feeders and precision air-
conditioning system.

Further, LankaClear upgraded the 
broadband bandwidth to cater demanding 
business requirements and facilitate 
exponential growth in digital payments. 
LankaClear also upgraded its core network 
security infrastructure to protect against 
cyber security threats.

In 2021/2022, LankaClear successfully 
obtained the recertification for the 
prestigious Payment Card Industry Data 

Security Standards (PCI-DSS version 
3.2.1), which is the highest level of security 
conformance in the world. This is a 
testament to our commitment to maintain 
the highest level of security for our 
payment systems.

LankaClear also adheres to a robust 
business continuity plan and in the year 
2021/2022 the company conducted two 
disaster recover (DR) drills to test its 
preparedness to handle operations in 
case of a disaster at the primary site. Both 
the drills were completed successfully 
reflecting on uninterrupted operation of 
all our readiness to maintain continuity of 
all systems even during any eventuality. 
LankaClear has ensured uninterrupted 

operation of all payment systems in 
the event of a failure in the underlying 
IT infrastructure by further investing 
in a world class IT environment. This 
enterprise grade clustered IT environment 
has been designed by adopting 
application and database clustering and 
based on real-time replication of business 
critical information to multiple locations. 
In addition, all the Intel-based systems are 
on a virtualized environment, facilitating 
for better resource utilisation, monitoring, 
and management. 

The below diagram shows the general 
blueprint of Business Continuity at 
LankaClear.
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Our robust and scalable IT infrastructure 
along with our continued process and 
technology improvements ensured that 
all our payment systems were available 
24x7 and 365 days during the year to 
serve the general public. This is evident 
by the demonstrated high availability of 
our key payments systems during the 
year 2021/2022 For example, LankaPay 
Cheque Imaging and Truncation System 
(CITS) achieved a system uptime of 99.72% 
during the year 2021/2022. Common Card 
and Payment Switch (CCAPS), which is 
the interbank payment switch, achieved a 
system uptime of 100% sans pre-planned 
downtimes. The high availability features 
and improvements made by us during the 
year 2021/2022 in people, processes and 
technology have ensured that financial 
institutions and the general public get 
a secure environment to carry out their 
daily financial transactions without being 
inconvenienced by intermittent service 
interruptions due to IT systems or network 
failures.

People are Our Critical Asset 
During the year under review, the country 
was significantly affected by the pandemic 
conditions and the Company had to carry 
out 24X7 operations, which had significant 
national-wide importance. Safeguarding 
the lives of the employees and their 
families while providing continuous service 
was a huge dilemma the management 
had to grapple with throughout the year. 
The organisation was never prepared 
to sacrifice the safety of employees and 
made untiring efforts to safeguard the 
staff by taking bold and efficient decisions 
in achieving both objectives. Timely 
shift to work from home arrangements, 
providing transport and accommodation 
and keeping to the health regulation were 
some of the key success factors, which 
ultimately paved the way for success in 
both aspects. 

Even though the year was absolutely a 
challenging one, the company was able to 
create many learning and development 
opportunities for our employees. 

The right training needs of the staff were 
identified according to the established 
mechanism while prioritising the most 
needed products and services covering 
all departments. The right online trainings 
were provided to individuals with the 
purpose of either filling a competency gap 
or as an improvement to the process or 
the individual. As a fundamental protocol, 
the competency gaps of staff have been 
identified by measuring the current and 
required competency level for each job 
position holder. 

Continuous Process Improvement
During the year we continued to improve 
our systems and processes to strengthen 
the operations by adhering to a structured 
way of working and ensuring continuous 
improvements to operational manuals. 
Further, operations were audited 
regularly by internal and external auditors 
to mitigate risks and to ensure strict 
adherence to our governance principles. 
Employees were trained to acquire 
relevant domain expertise of the network 
operations. A structured approach was 
followed to ensure that we maintain an 
efficient operation while we drive our 
operational costs down. This was to 
ensure that we would be able to provide 
the highest level of services at the lowest 
possible cost. 

Monitor Achievements 
To monitor the outcomes of several 
initiatives at LankaClear, measurements 
were taken in two aspects, such as the 
organisation achieving its objectives 
provided via the national agenda through 
the Central Bank and the banking 
fraternity while ensuring the profitability 
of the organisation. The expectations 
of the Central Bank and banks were 
mapped under the stakeholder 
engagement section while the 
achievements have been discussed. In 
order to measure company profitability, 
annual budgets were submitted for the 
approval of the Board of Directors at the 
beginning of the financial year for them 
to evaluate and compare against the final 

achievements at the end of each month 
and the end of the year. 

Outlook
We believe that the only way to determine 
ultimate success is to measure the 
outcomes on a regular basis. Hence, as an 
outcome of the above strategic initiatives, 
we wanted to achieve significant growth 
in the inter-bank financial transaction 
volumes across all our solution offerings. 
We recognised that the way forward to 
achieve the above high-level outcomes 
was to cater to the changing needs of the 
digital consumer by providing convenient 
and relevant financial services at a 
nominal cost across any location, device, 
or time. 

Finally, we strived hard to achieve our 
ultimate objective of supporting the 
country’s vision of ensuring financial 
inclusivity and moving towards a less-cash 
society. LankaClear understands that the 
future success of any technology-based 
organisation is achieved by being dynamic 
and depends on its ability to adapt to the 
rapidly changing business environment. In 
addition, we believe that by being relevant 
to the digital consumer’s needs and 
providing them with options to address 
their different convenience needs, 
we would continue to be on a growth 
trajectory. 

All our services have been designed with 
an ultimate objective of catering to the 
needs of the digital consumer, as we 
understand, the pulse of the modern-day 
customers are driven by their ability to 
enjoy an ultra-convenient lifestyle and 
they may consume the services that 
are offered seamlessly from anywhere, 
anytime and via any device. Hence, all our 
services have to be reliable, secure and 
provide convenience. The future success 
of our business will depend on our ability 
to successfully address the ever-changing 
needs of the digital consumer as well as 
providing a seamless mechanism to fulfil 
them via all the services. 

Organisational Review
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Segmental 
Reporting

LankaClear product-wise performance and progress made are highlighted in this section.

Product Volume of Transaction 
Cleared

Growth 
%

Value of Transaction 
Cleared 

(in Millions)

Growth %

2020/2021 2021/2022 2020/2021 2021/2022

CITS - Cheque Presented for Clearing 32,816,387 32,843,785 0.1% 7,549,163 8,639,984 14.4%

CITS - Cheque Returned for Clearing 1,807,861 1,455,026 -19.5% 238,473 221,375 -7.2%

SLIPS 37,093,664 43,037,464 16.0% 2,399,911 2,997,966 24.9%

CAS - Cash Withdrawals 50,488,217 62,618,159 24.0% 543,012 736,403 35.6%

CAS - Balance Inquiry 15,934,302 16,941,409 6.3%      

CEFTS Approved & Declined 34,813,427 73,752,305 111.9% 2,929,975 5,752,751 96.3%

CEFTS Approved 32,730,939 68,889,959 110.5% 2,929,975 5,752,751 96.3%

LPOPP 123,476 706,300 472.0% 91,349 240,784 163.6%

JustPay - Registrations 234,584 532,213 126.9%      

JustPay - Transactions (4102) 4,366,968 10,882,998 149.2%      

CPS - Authorisation Advice 84 1,400 1,566.7% 0.4 8 1,945.2%

CPS - Purchase 45 1,355 2911.1% 0.7 8 1,126.4%

SAS - Cash Withdrawals 356,911 406,779 14.0% 4,263 5,313 24.6%

SAS - Balance inquiry 124,010 133,903 8.0%      

SAS - Mini Statement 10,506 10,357 -1.4%      

UITS 28,565 28,609 0.2% 241 260 7.6%

USDOPS 17,305 20,039 15.8% 255 325 27.6%

Paper +
Electronic CITS

SLIPSOUR PRODUCTS

CAS LPOPP

JustPay

CPS

PEN

NCS

LankaQR

USD Online 
Payments

Fully
Electronic

FinCSIRTSecurity 
Solutions

LankaSign

LankaRemit

USD Draft 
Payments
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LankaPay Realtime Payment Network (CEFTS)

Value to Customers Highlights 2021/22 Outlook

�� Facilitate domestic interbank fund 
transfers 

�� Real-time processing
�� Maximum per transaction value 

allowed is Rs. 5 Mn 
�� 47 participants connected to 

the system including all licensed 
commercial banks during the 
year under review 

�� The platform for many innovative 
product extensions due to the 
real-time processing features

�� Transaction volumes have grown 
by 110% and value by 96% YoY 
basis

�� 5 new participants connected to 
the system during the year under 
review

�� LankaPay Government Payment 
Platform, JustPay, Direct Debit, 
PEN are all extensions of CEFTS

�� LankaRemit connected to CEFTS 
during the year under review

�� With digitalization, we expect 
CEFTS transactions to flourish at a 
significant growth rate.

�� LankaClear expects to enhance 
the use and accessibility of 
new products such as PEN and 
Direct Debit by enrolling more 
participants and improving the 
infrastructure in growing the 
CEFTS volumes.

LankaPay - CEFTS - Volume Wise Volume (In ‘000)
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JustPay

Value to Customers Highlights 2021/22 Outlook

�� Facilitates retail payments using 
smart mobile devices on a real-
time basis

�� Tariff scheme is slab based and 
significantly low compared to card 
payments

�� Maximum per transaction value 
allowed through JustPay is 
Rs.50,000

�� Communications via JustPay apps 
are digitally signed and encrypted

�� All JustPay apps adhere to Central 
Bank specified security standards

�� No registration cost and hassle-
free

�� No. of participants as at the end 
of the year under review
�y JustPay enabled mobile 

payment apps – 26
�y JustPay Acquirer Banks – 16
�y JustPay Issuer Banks – 24

�� Transaction volumes have grown 
by 149% 

�� New participant connected to 
the system during the year under 
review
�y JustPay enabled mobile 

payment apps – 4
�y JustPay Acquirer Banks – 5
�y JustPay Issuer Banks – 4

�� Introduction of a price cap on 
digital certificates use by JustPay 
apps

�� Customer registration 
interactions - 532,213 (234,584 
– 2020/21) with an YoY increase 
of 127%

�� LankaClear is in the process of 
enrolling more prominent apps 
for JustPay so that more cash-
based retail payments can be 
captured by the banking system

�� LankaClear is in the process of 
obtaining web trust certification 
for the digital certificates used for 
the customer enrolling process of 
JustPay further enhancing security 
and reliability

�� With the popularity of the 
digitalization and enrolling 
more apps, we expect JustPay 
transactions to grow at a 
significant growth rate

JustPay Registration - Volume Wise Volume
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LankaPay Government Payment Platform (LPOPP)

�� Connects government 
organizations enabling acceptance 
of payment via digital means

�� Government organizations 
connected
�y Sri Lanka Customs
�y Board of Investment of Sri 

Lanka
�y Sri Lanka Port Authority
�y Inland Revenue Department
�y Employees’ Provident Fund
�y Import and Export Control 

Department
�y Sri Lanka Standards Institution

�� Facilitates real-time payments
�� Provision of payment 

confirmation details on a real-
time basis

�� Transaction volumes have grown 
by 472% and value by 164% YoY 
basis

�� New banks connected – 2
�� New institutions connected -  

online payments to SLPA (cargo), 
EPF, SLSI, IECD facilitated during 
the year

�� LankaClear is in the process 
of enrolling more government 
institutions to enhance customer 
convenience and efficiency in the 
government sector.

�� Developing a mobile interface is 
in progress to provide the service 
via mobile applications

�� With more government 
institutions and banks joining 
the system and enhancing the 
platform options we expect the 
transactions that flow through the 
platform to grow at a rapid pace

LankaPay - LPOPP - Volume Wise Volume
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LankaQR

�� Ensure all QR codes and QR 
based transactions in Sri 
Lanka are standardized and 
interoperable

�� LankaPay Realtime Payment 
Network (CEFTS) and JustPay 
payment platforms are used by 
LankaQR members to ensure 
interoperability

�� Enables customers to make 
payments, directly from their 
bank accounts to accounts of 
merchants or service providers, 
using payment apps of LankaQR 
certified financial institutions

�� Low-cost digital payment solution, 
which targets small and medium 
enterprises

�� Customers are not be charged for 
using LankaQR based payments

�� Transaction volumes have grown 
by 261% 

�� New participants joined during 
the year under review
�y Transaction Acquirers – 2
�y Merchant Acquirers – 3
�y Issuer – 2

�� Significant transaction volume 
growth shows that the product 
has significant growth potential 
and with features of the product 
such as simplicity and low-
cost, LankaClear expects the 
product to play a significant 
role in converting cash-
based transactions to digital 
transactions 

Value to Customers Outlook

LankaPay Common POS Network (CPS)

�� Links all POS switches of the LankaPay–CPS members to 
facilitate payment card transactions

�� Has the technical capability of routing domestic 
interbank POS transactions initiated by any card issued 
by a local card issuer

�� Low mandated Merchant Discount Rate of 1%

�� LankaClear is in the process of expanding the card base 
under NCS in order to improve the transactions that 
may be acquired through CPS, under the National Card 
Scheme.

�� Considering depreciation of the LKR against the USD, 
banks and financial institutions are favourable in issuing 
LankaPay-JCB co-branded cards, given the expensive 
fees associated with the foreign card systems with which 
they are now linked.

�� LankaPay is also in the process of integrating with 
international card schemes in order to acquire 
international cards under CPS.

Operational Review  Segmental Reporting

Value to Customers Highlights 2021/22 Outlook



62 LankaClear (Private) Limited Annual Report 2021/22

LankaPay Common ATM Network (CAS)

�� Connect 99.95% of all ATMs in 
the county with 24 * 7 * 365 
operation

�� Enabling customers to use 
literally any ATM in the country

�� Affordable rates
�� Enables customers to withdraw 

cash and check account balance 
from any ATM

�� After the pandemic the product 
rebounded strongly

�� Acquiring international JCB 
payment cards

�� In the process of connecting 
international/national card 
schemes such as Discover, RuPay 
and China Union Pay to acquire 
international cards

�� With the convenience that is 
brought by the product and 
the popularity of cash-based 
transactions, the product is widely 
used by the general public.

�� However with the growing 
popularity of digital payments, the 
transaction volume is expected to 
diminish in the long run. 

LankaPay - CAS Cash Withdrawals - Volume Wise  Volume (In ‘000)
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Value to Customers Outlook

LankaPay Shared ATM Network (SAS) and Card Management System (CMS)

�� Provides a cost-effective solution to any financial 
institution that does not have its own ATM Switch to 
connect to a common infrastructure that connects over 
99.5% of all ATMs in the country

�� Indicating a loss of momentum for the two products 
owing to market rivalry and product characteristics.

�� LankaCLear is assessing the choices available to address 
the poor performance of the products.

LankaPay - SAS Cash Withdrawals - Volume Wise Volume
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Value to Customers

LankaPay Interbank Payment System (SLIPS)

�� A same-day electronic fund transfer facility
�� Popularly used for periodic or bulk payments  

such as standing order, salaries, utility bill payments

Highlights 2021/22

�� Reducing the popularity with the introduction of realtime 
payments real-time payments

Sri Lanka Inter Bank Payment System - Volume Wise   Volume (In ‘000)
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Value to Customers Outlook

LankaPay Cheque Imaging and Truncation System (CITS)

�� Eliminates the need to move the physical cheques 
across banks and branches for clearance purposes

�� Facilitate settlement and clearing of cheques on T+1 
basis island wide

�� Cheque volumes are declining and with the digital 
payments gaining momentum

Cheque Presented for Clearing - Volume Wise   Volume (In ‘000)
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Value to Customers

LankaPay US Dollar Draft Online Image Transfer System (UITS)

�� Clearing of following instruments
�y USD drafts issued by commercial banks in Sri Lanka payable to Sri Lankan individuals and institutions
�y USD drafts issued by banks or exchange houses abroad drawn on commercial banks in Sri Lanka

US Dollar Draft Clearing - Volume Wise  Volume

 2020/21  2021/22

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

US Dollar Draft Clearing - Value Wise  Value (In USD Million)

 2020/21  2021/22

0

10

20

30

40

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

�� Low transaction processing fees for member banks
�� Reduces the foreign exchange outflow being transaction processing fees
�� Enhanced turnaround time (TAT) and prompt in-time zone settlement
�� Less administrative hassle for banks

�� Routing the domestic USD transactions 
locally

Value to Customers

LankaPay USD On-line Payment System (USDOPS)

Highlights 2021/22

USD Online Payment System - Volume Wise Volume
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Segmental Reporting

LankaPay National Card Scheme 
(LankaPay Card)
The Monetary Board of Sri Lanka 
approved LankaClear to implement a 
National Card Scheme (NCS) in Sri Lanka in 
2016. After a comprehensive selection and 
negotiation process, LankaClear partnered 
with JCB International for the technology 
and know-how in implementing the 
project. JCB International is one of the six 
members of EMV Co, the international 
body which defines standards for secure, 
interoperable electronic payment 
instruments such as chip cards, QR codes, 
and related processing devices. 

In Sri Lanka, financial institutions offer a 
variety of card-based payment options 
to customers, which promotes financial 
inclusivity in the country. 

LankaClear introduced the LankaPay Card 
co-branded with JCB to the market through 
several financial institutions. Following are 
the current issuers of the LankaPay Card. 

�� MCB Bank Limited
�� Siyapatha Finance PLC
�� Regional Development Bank
�� HDFC Bank
�� People’s Bank

These cards are debit cards enabled with 
chip-based (EMV) technology. 

LankaPay Card is positioned as an every-
day payment card instrument that can be 
used at a corner shop to pay for groceries, 
to withdraw money from any ATM and 
to use it as a transit card to purchase a 
ticket in any transport mode. At the next 
phase, LankaPay Card will be enabled 
with e-commerce purchase option with 
necessary 3D security features. 

These initiatives will provide a truly 
convenient home-grown payment 
mechanisms across all payment 
channels to  suit the lifestyle of the 
digital consumer, especially the mobility 
demanded by the millennials and 
Generation Z.

Further, the LankaPay Card is not limited 
to domestic usage. It has an international 
reach as well through the JCB network. 
LankaPay Card can be used in any ATM or 
a POS terminal through the JCB network 
worldwide.

Benefits of the LankaPay Card
�� Merchant Discount Rate (MDR) is 

mandated at 1%, which is a game-
changer in promoting more and more 
merchants to enable acceptance of 
payment cards towards empowering 
a cashless lifestyle. 

�� Interchange fee payable by an 
acquirer to the issuer is mandated 
at 0.5%.

�� As an issuer of the LankaPay Card, 
no switching for no-PIN approved 
domestic POS transactions.

�� Reduced interchange fee for issuers 
and lower fee for customers for 
domestic ATM transactions.

�� No bulk or volume-based fees
�� No integration with JCB and all 

LankaPay Card issuers obtain the 
full access to the JCB network via 
LankaPay.

 
Sri Lanka Transit Card
The Central Bank of Sri Lanka has 
entrusted LankaClear to implement the 
Sri Lanka Transit Card (SLTC). LankaPay 
Card issued under NCS is the payment 
instrument that will be used as the SLTC. 
LankaClear together with the Ministry of 
Transport, Sri Lanka Transport Board, 
the National Transport Commission, and 
People’s Bank have issued the first transit 
payment card. The SLTC is currently 
at a pilot stage and a dedicated team 
appointed by the Ministry of Transport is 
overlooking the operations of the project 
to identify any operational issues and 
improvements needed. 
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Document/ 
E-mail Signing 

Certificates

Mobile SDK 
Certificates

Certificates 
Validation 
Services

Application 
Certificates

LankaSign IT Security Solutions 

LankaSign CSP (Certification Service 
Provider) 
LankaSign commenced its operations 
more than a decade ago in 2009 based 
on a request of the Central Bank of Sri 
Lanka, Sri Lanka Computer Emergency 
Readiness Team (SL CERT) and Sri Lanka 
Banks’ Association (SLBA). LankaClear 
established the LankaSign CSP to address 
the banking and financial sector Public 
Key Infrastructure (PKI) requirements. 
Although LankaSign certificates were 
initially used to facilitate the PKI 
requirements of LankaClear’s internal 
systems, LankaClear expanded its scope in 
2012 by issuing digital certificates to all the 
clearing systems handled by LankaClear 
covering banks and finance companies. 
Hence, LankaSign became a fully-fledged 
commercial CSP serving the current 
market demands.

LankaSign is Sri Lanka’s first and the 
only authorised Certification Service 
Provider (CSP) under National Certification 
Authority (NCA). LankaSign complies 
with all the international standards for 
operating as a commercial CSP and has 
obtained ISO 27001:2013 certification for 
its operations. LankaSign CA uses military 

grade secure equipment and physically 
housed in a Payment Card Industry - Data 
Security Standard (PCI-DSS) complied 
environment. 

The difficulties of getting physical signatures 
while working remotely, obtaining approvals 
when the signatories are travelling or 
remotely located and in automating the 
business process to be efficient and 

productive are some of the key benefits of 
using LankaSign digital certificates. 

For easy automation and integration 
requirements, LankaSign CSP has 
introduced a software development kit (SDK) 
for Android, iOS, and Java platforms, which is 
currently used by many mobile application 
developers and solution developers to 
power their mobile payment applications. 
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Segmental Reporting

By the end of the financial year under 
review, LankaSign digital certificates have 
been used by; 
a) Over 50 financial institutions for 

clearing systems operated by 
LankaClear, 

b) All commercial banks participating 
on CITS, SLIPS, UITS & USD Online 
Systems, 

c) Sri Lanka Customs and over 500 
import and export companies under 
Sri Lanka Customs.

d) Central Depository System (CDS) for 
digitising its settlement schedules

e) Ministry of Justice, Central Bank, 
Ceylon Electricity Board, BOI, Sri 
Lanka Telecom and many other 
government and private sector 
organisations.

 
Business Development and Growth 
LankaClear improved its top-line growth 
of LankaSign by 26% YoY during the 
year under review due to the impact of 
increased revenue on JustPay related 
certificate sales. 

New Business Initiatives/Prospects
In order to cater to the dynamic market 
requirements, LankaSign CSP ventured 
into new security solution areas. As a 
result, we introduced mobile-based 
security solutions for JustPay enabled 
mobile applications. JustPay, a new 
payment mode that to facilitates low value 
cash-based transaction via smart devices, 
is powered by LankaSign Mobile SDK 
to cater to the requirements of mobile 
application security and digital signing 
requirements. 

Further, we enhanced the LankaSign 
mobile testing systems, which became 
the test bed for the financial sector to test 
their mobile payment applications with 
multiple devices and technologies. 

The Phase II of the Sri Lanka Customs 
project is expected to commence its 
live operations in the near future by 
expanding the paperless trade facility 
to the remaining 25,000 organisations 

which are currently working with Sri Lanka 
Customs. 

The National Certification Authority (NCA) is 
the entity which ensures overall governance 
and standards for smooth and effective 
functioning of CSPs. The Root CA of National 
Certification Authority is the highest-level 
Certification Authority in Sri Lanka. NCA 
was launched in 2020 and LankaSign would 
soon become a CSP under NCA.

FinCSIRT Services
FinCSIRT, was launched as a joint initiative 
by the Central Bank of Sri Lanka, Sri Lanka 
Computer Emergency Response Team, 
and Sri Lanka Bankers Association, as an 
independent unit to handle information 
security incidents as well as proactively 
develop the sector capabilities to defend 
against the rapidly advancing information 
security threat landscape.

In its initial phase, FinCSIRT started its 
operations primarily providing a reactive 
response to the banking sector,  but over 
time, FinCSIRT has  evolved to provide  
more comprehensive services to the 
financial sector. FinCSIRT now has the 
distinguished “Liaison Membership” of 
the Asia Pacific Computer Emergency 
Response Team.

FinCSIRT currently provides its services to 
43 banks, finance, and primary dealers. 
Despite the recent pandemic situation, 
FinCSIRT took measures to ensure its 
services were delivered unhindered, and 
was able to provide dedicated assistance 
to its members.

The services offered  by the FinCSIRT  are 
as follows:

Sectoral Information Security 
Development Services
�� Assisting the Central Bank of Sri 

Lanka (The Regulator) in sector 
information security posture building 

�� Assisting the financial sector affiliated 
stakeholders in providing secure 
services to the financial institutions

�� Uplifting the information security 
resiliency of the Sri Lankan financial 
sector
�y Conducting a cyber security 

readiness assessment of the 
sector institutions based on a 
methodology developed by the 
FinCSIRT bi-annually
�y Uplifting the capabilities of the 

personnel responsible for handling 
information security incidents in 
the financial sector with simulated 
live threat environments (Cyber 
War Games)

�y Conducting cybersecurity research 
and developments to enhance 
cybersecurity readiness of the sector
�y Uplifting the individual institutions 

strength in information security 
resiliency 
�y Service Level Agreement 

based services by FinCSIRT to 
its members (CORE and ISOC 
Services)
�y Act as internal information security 

consultant for the Financial 
Institutions
�y Publishing and assisting the 

implementation of information 
security best practices and 
standards 

�y Conducting regular workshops and 
providing various opportunities for 
the sector to bridge the security gaps

Global Information Security 
Development Services
�� Supports international FinCSIRTs 

and CERTs for information security 
development

�� Coordinate and corporate with 
international CERTs for incident 
responses activities

 
During the year digital poster campaign 
was conducted by FinCSIRT to raise 
cybersecurity awareness among 
the financial sector employees by 
collaborating with ISACA Sri Lanka and 
NSBM ISACA university student group. 

http://www.fincsirt.lk/Posters.html 
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Member List
1. Habib Bank Limited
2. Deutsche Bank
3. Citi Bank NA
4. Nations Trust Bank PLC
5. Union Bank of Colombo Limited
6. Indian Overseas Bank
7. Bank of Ceylon
8. Commercial Bank of Ceylon PLC
9. Sampath Bank PLC
10. National Savings Bank
11. Hongkong & Shanghai Banking 

Corporation
12. Seylan Bank PLC
13. Hatton National Bank PLC
14. Pan Asia Banking Corporation PLC
15. Singer Finance PLC
16. Vallibel Finance PLC
17. Lanka Orix Leasing Company PLC
18. Central Finance Company PLC
19. Amana Bank PLC
20. HDFC Bank
21. MCB Bank Limited
22. Siyapatha Finance PLC
23. Peoples Bank
24. Standard Chartered Bank
25. Mercantile Investment and Finance 

PLC
26. Bimputh Lanka Finance PLC
27. Asia Asset Finance
28. Softlogic Finance PLC
29. Sanasa Development Bank Ltd
30. Citizen Development Business 

Finance PLC
31. LB Finance PLC
32. Merchant Bank of Sri Lanka
33. Cargills Bank
34. Regional Development Bank
35. DFCC Bank Limited
36. National Development Bank PLC
37. Capital Alliance Holdings Ltd
38. Fintrex Finance
39. RPC Finance
40. Kanrich Finance
41. Public Bank Berhad
42. Colombo Trust Finance PLC
43. HNB Grameen Finance
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One for All  
in Equality
From north to south and east to west of the island, 
old to young, rich to poor, men to women and Baby 
Boomers to Generation Z, LankaClear provides 
an affordable and convenient array of services to 
everyone, everywhere and every time they perform a 
financial transaction. Our services are open to everyone 
to be consumed at any time of the day. We are 
committed to provide equal opportunities for everyone 
in consuming convenient financial services across the 
island in a fair and equitable manner. 



71LankaClear (Private) Limited Annual Report 2021/22



72 LankaClear (Private) Limited Annual Report 2021/22

Value Creation 
Model

A critical factor that determines the 
success or the failure of any organisation 
is its process of value creation. Every 
successful world-class organisation 
is operated with a purpose to create 
value for all its stakeholders including 
customers, employees, investors as well as 
shareholders.

The value creation process of LankaClear 
is to ensure that all our services are 
relevant to our customers, offered faster 
to the market and secure, which results 
in business growth for the Company for 

the benefit of all stakeholders. With a 
vision to be the Asia’s most trusted and 
reliable payment network, LankaClear’s 
long-term objective is to foster greater 
financial inclusivity in Sri Lanka. The above 
objectives are achieved by facilitating high 
quality financial services at affordable 
prices in a secure, reliable and a 
convenient manner to the general public.

The capital is utilised in such a way to 
ensure that innovative technology-based 
financial services are brought to market 
continuously maintaining the highest 

quality in all intended aspects to serve our 
customers better.

Our value creation process has been 
depicted in the diagram below;

Capital Deployed to
Create Value

Value Creation 
Process

Business Segments

Business Domain

Capital 
Transformed

Vision

Mission

Strategy

Values

Financial 
Capital

Manufactured 
Capital

Intellectual 
Capital

Human  
Capital

Social & 
Relationship Capital

INPUT Governance Capital
Management

Governance Capital
Management

Performance &
Future Outlook

Opportunities &
Risk

Domestic 
Interbank
Cheques 
Clearing

Common ATM
and POS 
Network

Shared ATM
Network

Domestic
Electronic 

Fund
Transfers

Information
Security 
Services

Digital
Certificates

Operations | Finance | External Services | Information Systems Audit | Maintenance & Facilities | HR & Administration
Legal | Brand Development & Marketing | Business Development

Support Services

CAS

SAS

CPS

NCS

SLIPS

CA

USD Clearing

CMS

FinCSIRT

CITS

A reliable and trusted
payment network for 

general public

Efficient clearing 
process for financial 

industry

Secure online 
transactions for 

customers of 
financial institutes

Achievement of 
greater financial 
inclusivity and 

stability

Environmental 
friendly move 

towards paperless 
future and a cashless 

society

Wealth creation for 
shareholders

Motivated and 
trained staff aligned 
to Company Vision

CEFTS

JustPay

PEN

LPOPP

Direct Debit
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For the year ended 31st March
2021/22

LKR
 

% 
2020/21

LKR
 

% 
2019/20

LKR
 

% 
2018/19

LKR
 

 %

Value Added                
Business Revenue 1,329,295,649   1,057,154,707   1,097,709,274   1,029,057,105  
Cost of Services 428,242,336   356,709,788   371,369,782   366,996,530  
Value Added by Business Activities 901,053,313   700,444,919   726,339,492   662,060,574  
Finance & Other Income 217,103,300   209,155,196 225,812,211   186,023,654  
Total Income 1,546,398,949   1,266,309,903   1,323,521,485   1,215,080,759  
                 
Growth in Value Addition 22%   -4%   9%   14%  

Distribution of Value Added                
To Employees                
Salaries & Other Benefits 359,894,847   236,967,390   248,049,621   225,511,631  
Training 2,463,961   2,165,997   7,892,675   6,229,034  
  362,358,808 23% 239,133,387 19% 255,942,296 19% 231,740,665 19%

To Providers of Capital                
Dividends to Ordinary Shareholders 97,905,000   97,142,500   75,487,500   53,200,000  
  97,905,000 6% 97,142,500 8% 75,487,500 6% 53,200,000 4%

To the Government                
Income Tax 49,160,834   28,175,912   75,488,226   89,811,604  
  49,160,834 3% 28,175,912 2% 75,488,226 6% 89,811,604 7%

To Expansion and Growth                
Retained Profits 462,662,170   390,420,123   411,834,841   371,231,152  
Depreciation & Amortisation 176,961,494   166,347,093   152,805,327   117,216,505  
Deferred Taxation (30,891,693)   (11,618,899)   (19,406,487)   (15,115,697)  
  608,731,971 39% 545,148,317 43% 545,233,681 41% 473,331,959 39%

Cost of Services 428,242,336 28% 356,709,788 28% 371,369,782 28% 366,996,530 30%

Total Distribution 1,546,398,949 100% 1,266,309,903 100% 1,323,521,485 100% 1,215,080,759 100%

The value of LankaClear’s direct economic contribution to the nation may seem relatively insignificant in contrast to its actual 
economic impact to the nation. LankaClear has a multiplier effect on the national economy of Sri Lanka, via its role of facilitating 
interbank payments and settlements nationwide. By implementing most modern IT systems, the Payments and settlements have seen 
greater efficiencies. Previously where a cheque took many days to realise funds, today we are clearing in real time through LankaPay 
network. 
 
During the financial year 2021/22 LankaClear made a direct economic contribution to the country, to the value of Rs. 1.5 Bn. 
Employees benefited from 23% of this value, while 3% went to the state coffers in the form of taxes and 6% was distributed among 
the shareholders of the Company. 
 
LankaClear retained 39% of its earnings to reinvest in technology and capacity enhancements, to support Sri Lanka’s long-term 
development. To date, all LankaClear operations and investments in new technologies have been met through reinvested profits. 
 
The Company through its operations as the National Payment Network has contributed immensely towards indirect economic value 
creation, which far supersedes its direct economic value creation. Under the operations review we have discussed the value of 
transactions cleared through our different clearing products.

Capital Management  Value Creation Model
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During the fiscal year 
under review, revenue 
increased by 26% to Rs. 
1.3 Bn, with electronic 
transactions accounting 
for 87% of overall revenue 
growth, a good trend. 
Furthermore, a profit 
of Rs. 568 Mn was made 
during the year under 
review, representing a 
16% increase year on 
year. Given the setback 
in economic momentum 
experienced during the 
pandemic, the financial 
achievements produced in 
the year under review are 
impressive.

Financial  
Capital

Overview
During the year under review, financial 
capital was utilised to the organization's 
advantage by making financial resources 
accessible at the appropriate time and in 
the right amount for the organization's 
fund requirements, enabling continuous 
revenue creation. Furthermore, the 
revenue was efficiently converted back 
into financial capital through the use of an 
efficient due collection mechanism.

Operating Cashflow / Revenue  %

 Operating Cashflow / Revenue
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Meanwhile, the financial resources' worth 
was retained by investing in financial 
instruments and profitable ventures.

Return on Investments   %

 Return on Non Current Assets  
(Net Profit Less Interest on Fixed Deposits 
After Tax / Total Non Current Assets Less 
Long Term Financial Investments)

 Avg. Return on Fixed Deposit (Before Tax)
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With the conclusion of the pandemic, 
the business environment improved 
dramatically. LankaClear's revenue 
increased in tandem with transaction 
volumes, resulting in strong financial 
performance at the end of the year under 
review.

During the fiscal year under review, 
revenue increased by 26% to Rs. 1.3 Bn, 
with electronic transactions accounting 
for 87% of overall revenue growth, a good 
trend. Furthermore, a profit of Rs. 568 Mn 
was made during the year under review, 
representing a 16% increase year on year. 
Given the setback in economic momentum 
experienced during the pandemic, the 
financial achievements produced in the 
year under review are impressive.

Revenue Growth (YoY)  %

 Revenue Contribution from Electronic   
 Products

 Revenue Growth of Electronic Payment 
 Products (YoY)

 Total Revenue Growth (YoY)
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However, towards the end of the year, 
the organization was feeling the negative 
effects of the macroeconomic conditions. 
The sharp depreciation of the LKR has 
an immediate impact on expenses since 
a significant portion of infrastructure 
procurement and maintenance 
expenditures are set in USD. The cost 
climbed by 24% year on year.

Capital Management  Financial Capital
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significant revenue rise in such areas is a 
good trend.

LankaPay Realtime Payment Network 
(CEFTS)
LankaPay Realtime Payment Network 
(CEFTS) is a pioneer product that 
enables digital transactions, providing 
the infrastructure for interbank real-
time digital transactions. During the 
year under review, LankaPay Realtime 
Payment Network (CEFTS) processed 69 
Mn transactions (33 Mn – 2020/21) for 
a 110% (93% – 2020/21) YoY increase, 
allowing many people who were stuck at 
home to conduct financial transactions 
with ease and security at a low cost via the 
internet and mobile banking applications. 
The banking sector decreased real-
time digital transaction costs by 40% in 
2020/21, which was a good development 
for digital consumers. Transaction income 
has grown by 56% (66% – 2020/21) as 
transaction volumes have increased, 
reaching Rs. 365 Mn (234 Mn – 2020/21).

CEFTS Transaction Income Rs. Millions

 CEFTS Transaction Income
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The LankaPay network introduced many 
innovative products to the market by 
leveraging the LankaPay Realtime Payment 
Network (CEFTS) platform, and during 
the year under review, revenue from 
products such as JustPay, LankaQR, and 
LankaPay Government Payment Platform 
(LPOPP) showed significant YoY revenue 
growth rates of 131%, 141%, and 31%, 

respectively, which remained instrumental 
in achieving a healthy topline despite 
challenges. These breakthrough solutions 
opened the door for many FinTech firms 
to thrive by basing their apps on these 
product platforms, resulting in a mutually 
beneficial collaboration.

Launched in 2017, JustPay aims to 
facilitate low-value retail transactions, 
thereby helping to attract a portion of the 
unbanked cash that is being circulated 
into the banking system.

LankaQR is a project initiative from the 
Central Bank of Sri Lanka to ensure all 
QR codes and QR-based transactions 
in Sri Lanka are standardised and 
interoperable. Central Bank of Sri Lanka 
has entrusted LankaClear to implement 
and operate LankaQR. LankaQR members 
use LankaPay Realtime Payment Network 
(CEFTS) and JustPay payment platforms to 
ensure interoperability.

LankaPay Government Payment Platform 
facilitates real-time payments to main 
government institutes such as Sri Lanka 
Customs, Inland Revenue Department, 
Sri Lanka Ports Authority, Board of 
Investment, Employee Provident Fund, Sri 
Lanka Standards Institute and Department 
of Imports and Exports Control, which 
has replaced the cumbersome manage 
payment process.

Central Bank of Sri Lanka launched the 
National Remittance Mobile Application 
LankaRemit, in February 2022 which is the 
National Remittance Mobile Application 
that provide Sri Lankans working abroad 
direct access to existing remittance 
channels, as well as the ability to choose 
more convenient and cost-effective 
remittance channels to send money to 
Sri Lanka. LankaRemit has been deployed 
by the LankaPay network, which is also 
integrated into LankaPay Realtime 
Payment Network (CEFTS) to conveniently 
receive inward remittances. 

Total Cost Increase (YoY)  %

 Total Cost Increase % (YoY)
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Regardless of how significant the financial 
issues are, the organization's ultimate goal 
is to survive and thrive in difficult times. In 
these difficult circumstances, organisation 
will focus on its strengths. 
   
Revenue
Considering the extraordinary revenue 
decrease of 4% recorded during the year 
2020/21 under pandemic conditions, the 
overall revenue gain of 26% YoY during 
the year under review is a strong sign of 
recovery. The pandemic has resulted in a 
decrease in transaction volumes and the 
repeal of some fees in 2020/21.

Digital Payment Products
The revenue growth was primarily 
supported by products under Common 
Card and Payment Switch, which grew 
by 35% year on year (17% in 2020/21) 
and LankaPay Interbank Payment System 
(SLIPS) by 18% year on year (-0.5% in 
2020/21) to account for 87% of overall 
revenue growth of Rs. 237 Mn (Rs. 89 Mn 
in 2020/21).

LankaPay network was on a quest to 
align its product lines to support digital 
payments even before the advancement 
of online customers. As a result, the 
network was able to release multitude 
solutions well ahead of the competition, 
putting our network in a great position 
to dominate the market. As a result, the 
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LankaPay Common ATM Network (CAS)
LankaPay Common ATM Network (CAS), 
which connects all ATM switches of the 
LankaPay Common ATM Network (CAS) 
members, enabled 80 Mn interbank ATM 
transactions (66 Mn – 2020/21) originating 
from ATMs of a LankaPay Common ATM 
Network (CAS) Members during the year 
under review, representing a YoY increase 
of 20% (2% – 2020/21).

The pandemic had a significant impact on 
LankaPay Common ATM Network (CAS) 
volumes since the general populace was 
trapped at home and unable to withdraw 
cash as needed. However, once social 
activities resumed, the LankaPay Common 
ATM Network (CAS) transaction volumes 
increased instantly, demonstrating the 
product's value to the general public and 
how much the general public is connected 
to the product, which had delivered more 
convenience and time savings to the general 
public. As a result, transaction revenue 
climbed by 21% year on year (1% - 2020/21).

According to the Central Bank Payment 
Bulletin, the total volume of cash 
withdrawals (financial transactions) via 
ATMs increased by 14% to 296 Mn in 2021 
(259 Mn in 2020), while total withdrawals 
through the LankaPay Common ATM 
Network (CAS) increased by 19% to 58 
Mn in 2021 (49 Mn in 2020), indicating a 
higher customer preference to use the 
nearest ATM over their own bank ATMs.

CAS Transaction Income Rs. Millions
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LankaPay Interbank Payment System 
(SLIPS)
LankaPay Interbank Payment System 
(SLIPS), a same-day electronic fund 
transfer facility operated by the LankaPay 
network, is widely used for periodic or 
bulk payments and facilitated 43 Mn 
transactions (37 Mn – 2020/21) during 
the year under review, representing a 
16% YoY increase ((-1%) – 2020/21) and 
a total revenue of Rs. 162 Mn (Rs. 137 
Mn – 2020/21) representing an 18% YoY 
increase ((-0.5%) – 2020/21).

However, we anticipate that the 
importance of LankaPay Interbank 
Payment System (SLIPS) will reduce as 
more users migrate to realtime payments.

SLIPS Transaction Income  Rs. Millions
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LankaPay Cheque Imaging and 
Truncation System (CITS)
LankaPay Cheque Imaging and Truncation 
System (CITS), which replaced the physical 
cheque with electronic information flowing 
throughout the clearing cycle, facilitated 
the clearing of 33 Mn cheques during the 
year under review (33 Mn – 2020/21) and 
did not show much increase in volumes 
after decreasing 27% year on year during 
2020/21.

CITS Transaction Income Rs. Millions
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LankaClear was founded to run the 
operations of the Sri Lanka Automated 
Clearing House, where clearing interbank 
cheques was the principal source of 
revenue. However, as digital transactions 
become more common, cheque volumes 
have continually decreased over the years. 
Over time, the decreasing volume has 
been a difficulty in combining profitability 
with the national responsibility to clear 
cheques at unprofitable levels.

LankaSign Digital Certificate Authority
LankaSign, as the financial sector's 
Certification Service Provider (CSP), is 
widely used in almost all financial sector 
organizations and a few other sectors to 
automate their documentation process 
by digitally signing electronic copies of 
documents and adding high security 
to the electronic document exchange 
process.

During the year under review, the revenue 
from LankaSign increased by 14% YoY 
basis (26% - 2020/21) to Rs. 42 Mn (Rs. 36 
Mn - 2020/21).

Capital Management  Financial Capital
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LankaSign Revenue Rs. Millions

 LankaSign Revenue
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During the pandemic, most organizations, 
particularly government agencies, 
concentrated on going paperless. This 
endeavor would not have been possible 
without the use of digital certificates 
provided by LankaSign. During the year 
under review, revenue from digital 
certificate sales to importers and 
exporters through Sri Lanka Customs 
surged by an astounding 863% year on 
year.

JustPay related certificate sales which is 
LankaSign's major revenue generator, 
grew by 1% year on year to Rs. 23 Mn. The 
revenue stagnated during the financial 
year under review due to the pricing cap 
implemented by management for JustPay-
related certificate sales in order to induce 
more registrations for JustPay payment 
Apps, which led to the rise of JustPay 
transaction volumes.

As the next phase in the expansion plan, 
with a major upgrade to the system, 
LankaSign expects to provide digital 
certificates in real-time for mobile-based 
payment applications for digitally signing 
and authenticating electronic documents. 
This will be enabled by a common API 
developed by LankaSign, which can 
be easily integrated with such mobile 
payment applications via a Software 
Development Kit (SDK) that is freely 
distributed to such developers. This new 

initiative is expected to significantly boost 
digital certificate sales.

LankaPay Shared ATM Network (SAS) 
and Card Management System (CMS)
The LankaPay Shared ATM Switch was 
launched in 2015 to meet the needs of 
banks and NBFIs that want to offer their 
customers the convenience of accessing 
their accounts through an ATM network 
but face financial and operational 
constraints in investing in their own ATM 
network or Card Management System 
(CMS).

However, during the financial year under 
review, LankaPay Shared ATM Network 
(SAS) revenue climbed by just 3% to 
Rs. 16 Mn, while CMS revenue declined 
by 0.3% to Rs. 5 Mn, indicating a loss 
of momentum for the two products 
owing to market rivalry and product 
characteristics.

Due to a lack of adequate participants 
to bear the cost structure, two products 
were consistently suffering from operating 
losses, thus the business is assessing the 
choices available to address the poor 
financial situation.

LankaPay Common POS Network (CPS) 
and LankaPay National Card Scheme
Interbank POS transactions between 
LankaPay acquirers and issuers are 
switched and cleared by LankaPay 
Common POS Network (CPS). The POS 
transactions of LankaPay/JCB co-badged 
debit cards issued under NCS are now 
handled through LankaPay Common POS 
Network (CPS). Furthermore, LankaPay 
Common POS Network (CPS) may route 
POS transactions for any card issued 
under any card scheme.

LankaClear (Private) Limited and JCB 
International Co., Ltd. (JCBI) have formed 
a strategic collaboration to construct the 
National Card Scheme (NCS) under the 
supervision and control of the Central 
Bank of Sri Lanka.

Domestic banks and financial institutions 
can choose to issue LankaPay-JCB co-
branded debit cards under the NCS. 
LankaPay-JCB co-branded cards will be 
accepted locally via the LankaPay payment 
network (ATMs and POSs) as well as 
worldwide over the JCB international 
network, primarily offering lower-cost card 
acceptance in Asian nations.

LankaPay Common POS Network (CPS) 
earned income of Rs. 19 Mn (Rs. 2.5 Mn – 
2020/21) owing to invoicing membership 
fees of Rs. 15 Mn, mostly for acquirer 
participants, during the year under review.

However, due to a lack of an appropriate 
card base that could be handled by 
LankaPay Common POS Network (CPS), 
the number of transactions completed 
through LankaPay Common POS Network 
(CPS) remained negligible.

The LankaPay network is in the process 
of expanding the card base under NCS 
in order to improve the transactions 
that may be acquired through LankaPay 
Common POS Network (CPS), as described 
separately under the topic of the National 
Card Scheme.

Furthermore, with the considerable 
depreciation of the LKR against the USD, 
banks and financial institutions are ready 
to issue LankaPay-JCB co-branded cards, 
given the expensive fees associated with 
the foreign card systems with which they 
are now linked.

As banks and financial institutions employ 
more LankaPay network products and 
services, NCS and other LankaPay network 
products have the potential to save 
billions of rupees and precious foreign 
currencies for the financial industry.

LankaPay is also in the process of 
integrating with international card 
schemes in order to acquire international 
cards under LankaPay Common POS 
Network (CPS), allowing LankaPay 
Common POS Network (CPS), as well as 
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banks and financial institutions, to earn 
additional revenue in a cost-effective 
manner, as the LankaPay network 
eliminates the need for other card 
schemes to connect to local banks when 
they connect to the LankaPay network.

Sri Lanka Financial Sector Computer 
Security Incident Response Team 
(FinCSIRT) 
FinCSIRT, which was founded as a 
centralised agency to coordinate security 
efforts within the banking and financial 
sector, continued to offer services to the 
industry and was discussed separately.

FinCSIRT's income decreased by 11% 
year on year to Rs. 25 Mn (Rs. 28 Mn – 
2020/21). The greater revenue in 2020/21 
was attributable to the invoicing of income 
from prior years during the year 2020/21 
as a result of a delay in signing renewal 
agreements.

FinCSIRT Revenue  Rs. Millions
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Expenses 
Direct Operating Expenses
Direct operational costs totaled to Rs. 733 
Mn (Rs. 589 Mn – 2020/21) for the year 
under review, representing a YoY growth 
of 24% (3% – 2020/21).

Direct Operating Expenses  Rs. Millions
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The direct operational costs were mostly 
comprised of 27 % IT maintenance 
expenditures, 35% employee costs, and 
23% depreciation.

Staff expenses, IT maintenance costs, and 
depreciation all contributed to the major 
cost increase for the year under review.

Staff costs remained about the same 
as in 2019/20, since staff benefits were 
not significantly enhanced in light of 
the challenging financial performance 
in 2020/21. Following that, with greater 
financial success during the financial year 
under review, the delayed staff benefits 
were made available during the financial 
year under review.

Employees expenses account for a large 
amount of the organization’s cost structure 
and staff play an important role in the 
organization’s operations and growth. As 
a result, talent retention and management 
is an important component of the  
organization, and compensatory incentives 
should be provided as soon as possible. 

The unfavourable exchange rate 
movement affecting payments made 
in USD and USD pegged to respective 
vendors had mostly influenced the rise in 
IT maintenance costs. New IT maintenance 
payments were also required and settled 
throughout the financial year under review.

During the financial year under review, the 
rupee fell by 48% against the US dollar, 
putting severe strain on the cost structure. 
Management is now engaging with 
vendors to reduce cost escalation and 
convert as much USD based expenditures 
to LKR as feasible.

Depreciation expenditures rose during 
the fiscal year under review, owing mostly 
to the Common Card and Payment Switch 
hardware and software update. Common 
Card and Payment Switch hardware and 
software were updated, costing Rs. 397 
Mn in capital expenditure.

Because the business is primarily driven 
by technology and innovation, the 
organisation committed to incurring 
the required costs on technology 
infrastructure expansions and 
maintenance on a continual basis during 
the year under review, despite cost 
escalation.

However, since the majority of hardware 
and software are purchased from other 
countries, future capital expenditure is 
likely to skyrocket. As a result, before 
making final purchase decisions, 
management must properly rationalise 
the expenditure.

With the steep LKR depreciation against 
the USD and the subsequent economic 
crisis, most goods and services prices 
had increased, and the shock waves are 
expected to be felt for a few years to come 
with significant adverse outcomes, and 
finding solutions for such outcomes had 
become a top priority of the organisation.

Administration Expenses
Administration expenditures climbed 
by 25% during the year under review, 
compared to a 13% decrease in 2020/21. 
The cost rise was mostly due to increases 
in staff costs, corporate branding and rent 
fees.
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Administration Expenses Rs. Millions
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The rise in personnel costs was mostly 
due to the availability of lagging employee 
benefits.

Company branding costs, which were at a 
low in 2020/21, were boosted to improve 
the corporate image and assist sales and 
marketing operations.

Rent expenses were subsidised against 
rent costs for the year under review in 
2020/21.

Capital Expenditure 
During the year under review, the 
Company spent Rs. 186 Mn (Rs. 285 Mn 
- 2020/21) on capital asset purchase. The 
capital expenditure continued to focus 
on supporting the changes required to 
bring additional convenience to financial 
services, as well as improving efficiency, 
reliability, and security through one entire 
network to meet the increased demand 
of the financial sector, while empowering 
all of our valued stakeholders to be 
connected digitally within their lifestyles 
to maximise their time to do more things 
within a day and ultimately use that free 
time to live a better life.

Capital Expenditure Rs. Millions
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A new hardware and software upgrade 
for Common Card and Payment Switch 
(CCAPS) had greatly improved the 
performance and security of switch.

Many capital expenditure improvements 
are in the works to strengthen the 
LankaPay network, including the 
acquisition of a fraud management 
system, enhancements to clearing 
products, enhancements and upgrades to 
technology infrastructure, enhancements 
to customer service tools and 
enhancements to internal productivity 
improvement tools, among others.

Interest Income 
During the year under review, the interest 
rate drop was maintained, resulting in a 
7% YoY decrease in interest revenue to Rs. 
182 Mn (Rs. 195 Mn - 2020/21).

The investment base at the end of the 
year was Rs. 2.4 Bn (Rs. 2.1 Bn - 2020/21) 
with investments at interest rates ranging 
from 5.50% to 14.00% (5.25% to 15.22% - 
2020/21).

Interest Income Rs. Millions
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Interest income has been a substantial 
source of revenue for the Company, 
accounting for 29% (38% - 2020/21) of 
PBT. The retained profits were temporarily 
placed in financial instruments until they 
were suitably channelled into capital 
projects at the correct moment to 
expand payment infrastructure initiatives, 
accumulating advantages for our member 
banks, who are both direct clients and key 
shareholders. 

However, with the shift in economic 
policy, in April 2022 interest rates began 
to rise. The increase in interest rates will 
benefit interest rate income, giving some 
protection against growing prices.

Nonetheless, greater operating and capital 
expenditures planned in 2022/23 may 
have an impact on the investment base, 
reducing interest income.

Taxation 
During the year under review, tax 
costs surged to Rs. 49 Mn (Rs. 28 Mn – 
2020/21), representing a 74% YoY rise 
((-63%) – 2020/21). The increase in tax 
expenditure is mostly attributable to 
deferred tax provisioning and the timing 
changes that result. During the year under 
review, the organisation was able to make 
use of a tax exemption offered to the IT 
industry for items covered by Common 
Card and Payment Switch (CCAPS), which 
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Financial Capital

reduced tax expenses to a certain 
amount. The entire taxable profit was 
taxed at a rate of 24% (24% - 2020/21). 
However, with the new tax rates and 
policy changes, the tax expenditure is 
likely to soar.

Tax Expense Rs. Millions
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Profitability 
During the year under review, the 
organisation recorded a Profit After Tax 
of Rs. 568 Mn (Rs. 490 Mn – 2020/21) 
with an increase of 16% (1% – 2020/21) 
while recording a Gross Profit of Rs. 596 
Mn (Rs. 468 Mn – 2020/21) and PBT 
of Rs. 617 Mn (Rs. 518 Mn – 2020/21) 
with a Gross Profit Margin of 45% 
(44% – 2020/21) and Net Profit Margin 
recorded 43% (46% - 2020/21).

Profitability - GP & NP Rs. Millions
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With the end of the pandemic, transaction 
volumes were steadily rebounding, 
and the organization's profitability was 
increasing in tandem. However, the 
decline in the Net Profit Margin reflects 
the impending negative economic effects, 
as well as the linked effects on cost 
inflation. The Return on Capital Employed 
(ROCE) climbed to 17% (16% - 2020/21) 
while capital employed increased by 16% 
year on year (14 % - 2020/21).

With the ongoing improvement in 
profitability, the Company reported an 
earnings per share (EPS) value of Rs.37.26 
(Rs.32.10 – 2020/21) a growth of 16% 
(1% – 2020/21). Return on Equity (ROE) 
stayed at 16% (16% - 2020/21) and Return 
on Assets (ROA) remained at 15% (15% - 
2020/21) primarily owing to slower profit 
growth compared to equity growth of 15% 
and total assets growth of 17%.

Profitability - ROE, ROCE & ROA %
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However, a more focused Return on 
Investment (ROI) can be calculated as 
58 % (43% - 2020/21) by calculating the 
return on non-current assets (net profit 
less Interest on Fixed Deposits after-tax/
total non-current assets less Long Term 
financial investments) as most of the 
other assets were parked under financial 
investments for future use.

With the improvement in profitability, a 
first and final dividend of Rs.7.45 (Rs.6.42 
– 2020/21) per share is recommended, 
subject to shareholder approval at the 
company's next Annual General Meeting. 
This is the largest dividend per share 
(DPS) proposed in the Company's 20-
year history, notwithstanding financial 
challenges during the year under review.

LankaClear has consistently paid 
dividends to its shareholders, and the 
firm will endeavour to find a balance 
between healthy dividend distribution 
and retention to fund future investment 
requirements in order to increase long-
term shareholder value.

Liquidity, Capital Structure and 
Shareholders’ Funds 
Throughout the year, the Company 
remained debt-free, supporting its 
investments with cash produced internally.
During the year under review, the firm 
produced net cash from operating 
operations of Rs. 606 Mn (Rs. 395 Mn 
– 2020/21) representing a YoY growth 
of 53% ((-25%) – 2020/21). This rise was 
primarily attributable to a drop in trade 
and other payables and an increase in 
revenue-related cash flow. For Rs. 250 
Mn (2020/21 - Rs. 247 Mn) and Rs. 98 
Mn (2020/21 - Rs. 97 Mn), the cashflows 
were used for investment operations and 
dividend payments, respectively.

At the end of the year, Rs. 2.9 Bn (2019/20 
- Rs. 2.3 Bn) in liquid funds remained 
in fixed deposits and REPOS, while the 
Free Cashflow to Net Cashflow from 
Operating Activities ratio remained at 
69% (11% - 2020/21) to be used for 
future investments to cater to a rapidly 
changing technology landscape in the 
payment industry, as well as for other 
contingencies. With more revenue and 
decreased cash outlay for capital assets, 
the ratio improved dramatically during the 
year under review.
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Shareholder funds stood at Rs. 3.6 Bn (Rs. 
3.1 Bn - 2020/21) at the end of the year, 
up 15% (14% - 2020/21) year on year, 
and Net Assets per Share increased to Rs. 
233.11 (Rs.202.77 - 2020/21).

Liquidity and Shareholder Funds Rs. Billions
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Financial Priorities for Future 
Financing the organisational finance 
requirements on a constant and timely 
basis is critical to the organization's 
survival. As a result, establishing 
financial priorities and allocating limited 
financial resources is a top-notch task. 
Furthermore, the present economic 
environment has elevated the importance 
of this activity, and failure may be fatal 
for any firm, especially given the current 
conditions.

�� As an organisation that operates on 
a high-tech infrastructure, funding 
for ongoing maintenance and 
upgrading of the infrastructure is a 
top priority. Making sufficient funds 
available for the timely enhancement 
and upgrading of the infrastructure, 
obtaining the required local and 
international specialist support 
for maintenance purposes, and 
maintaining internal staff and talent 
are some of the organization's 
top priorities in order to keep the 
organisation running.

�� The organisation operates in a 
digitalized environment that is 
constantly developing, and the 
subject industry has a high demand 
consumer base. As a result, one 
unquestionable financial goal is 
to meet consumer needs through 
continual innovation while retaining 
dependability and security. 
Furthermore, financial transactions in 
a digitalized working environment are 
especially exposed to cyber attacks.

�� The organisation is funded by 
the Central Bank of Sri Lanka and 
licensed commercial banks, who act 
as both regulators and customers. 
Balancing regulatory requirements, 
consumer needs, and shareholder 
value all have advantages and 
disadvantages, and the business 
must find a balance that has a 
significant impact on determining 
financial objectives.

 As a commercial organisation, 
generating sufficient revenue and 
profits is a critical priority so that 
the organisation can continue 
to generate an adequate return 
for shareholders as well as other 
stakeholders such as employees 
and vendors, as well as continue to 
serve customers by maintaining the 
infrastructure.

 Running operations efficiently and 
effectively is also a need in order to 
preserve profitability.

�� The macro-environment will shape 
all organisations' operational 
perspectives. As a result, the 
business must keep a close watch 
on new patterns and be prepared 
with quick financial and other 
reactions. Lack of foreign exchange 
reserves, sharp depreciation of the 
LKR, increased inflation, shortage of 

resources, social discontent and low 
income levels, and influence on the 
financial industry are some of the 
themes the organisation is keeping 
an eye on.

�� Regardless of how severe 
the financial issues are, the 
organization's ultimate goal is to 
survive and thrive in difficult times. 
Organizations exploit their strengths 
during these difficult times.

�y As a highly important national 
institution, LankaClear cannot run 
out of fuel, which would bring the 
entire financial industry to a halt, 
something we cannot afford in 
this critical scenario. Having liquid 
accumulated funds is a significant 
strength for the business and a 
source of relaxation for the whole 
industry.

�y The organization was in the 
process of consolidating payment 
industry infrastructure with 
minimum cost to the industry 
saving the most valuable 
foreign exchange as an effective 
alternative to the foreign 
solutions. With these established 
products, now is an appropriate 
time for the industry to leverage 
on those products.

   
�y Maintaining solid controls, risk 

management, and preserving 
corporate assets are also 
essential financial responsibilities 
for the organisation in order 
to minimise resource leakage 
and stay within the firm's risk 
appetite.  
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Financial Snapshot - 2021/22

2021/22
Absolute 

Growth (YoY)
Growth % 

(YoY) 2021/22
Explanation

Financial Performance

Revenue 1,329,295,649 272,140,942 +26% With the rebound from the pandemic impact, 
revenue from major product lines such as CCAPS, 
SLIPS, and CITS increased by 35%, 18%, and 14%, 
respectively, influencing YoY growth.

Direct Operating 
Expenses

733,429,877 144,301,517 +24% Cost increases in software and hardware 
depreciation, direct staff cost (Salaries, bonus 
payments, incentives & allowances) & IT 
maintenance expenses are mainly caused to the 
cost escalation.

Gross Profit 595,865,772 127,839,425 +27% The YoY increase in gross profit was produced by 
revenue growing at a faster rate than direct cost 
increasing.

Other Income 217,103,300 7,948,104 +4% YoY growth is mainly due to the exchange gains 
recognised under other income.

Income Tax Expense 49,160,834 20,984,923 +74% Mainly attributable to deferred tax provisioning 
and the timing changes that result.

Profit for the Year 568,202,062 78,623,927 + 16% Due to above mentioned increases in revenue and 
other gains.

Financial Position

Total Non-Current Assets 748,307,261 (442,844,086) -37% Due to the reduction in long-term investments and 
amortisation/depreciation of non current assets.

Total Equity 3,554,975,532 462,662,172 + 15% Due to higher profitability and retention ratio.

Total Non-Current 
Liabilities

107,843,535 40,317,409 + 60% Due to increase in Retirement Benefit Obligation 
because of the provisional adjustments based 
on salary adjustments took place during the year 
under review and increase in deferred tax liability. 

CA Sri Lanka Annual Report Awards 2021 - Silver Award under the SME Category

Financial Capital
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The year although 
had many challenges 
generated many career 
opportunities for 
employees through 
various company 
initiatives and projects. 
The virtual sales team that 
includes all management 
staff of the company 
operates in the form 
of brand ambassadors 
enhancing the relationship 
between the client and 
thus promoting the sales 
strategy of the company.

Human 
Capital

LankaClear recognizes the critical importance of its human resources and takes effective 
measures to develop and retain the top talent. The HR strategy of the company aims 
to undertake significant initiatives to increase effectiveness and efficiency through the 
provision of training, performance management, talent development, compensation 
and benefits management, and employee engagement. As LankaClear, the operator of 
the National Payment Network, continued to focus on attracting and retaining top talent 
through the effective management of the above key result areas. The management 
believes that human capital development is vital to the growth and productivity 
improvement of the company. The implementation of such multifaceted employee 
development initiatives will undoubtedly result in an increase in long-term employee 
contribution and engagement. 

The company’s approach to the management of Human Resources is founded on the 
company's core values. This framework continually strives toward ensuring diversity, 
encouraging and facilitating innovation and excellence. The company believes in 
diversity and inclusion and is committed to the principle of Equal Employment 
Opportunity. About 15% of our total workforce comprises of female employees, a 
number which will continue to grow in the future, with the focus of the company 
towards diversity and inclusion.

The year, although had many challenges generated many career opportunities for 
employees through various company initiatives and projects. The account managers 
team that includes all management staff of the company operates in the form of brand 
ambassadors enhancing the relationship between the client and thus promoting the 
sales strategy of the company. Each member of the team is made accountable for a 
client and the progress of the account is reviewed weekly by the top management. 
Sufficient exposure and training have been provided to equip the team with the right 
skill set to meet varied challenges in relationship management. 

Key Indicators  of Human Capital
  

Criteria 2020/21 2021/22

Total Headcount Including Fixed Term Contract Staff 107 110

Retention of Staff 93% 88%

Attrition During the Year 4% 12%

Total Employee Benefits Liability Paid During the Year 238,570,824 360,003,437

Total Number of Leavers 5 13

Total Number of New Recruits 3 16

Average Days of Lead-time for Recruitment of New 
Employees

0 11 Days

Working From Home Days (Working Days) 108 174

Training Hours per Employee (Hours) 6 6

Total Number of Employees Receiving Performance 
Review (%)

100% 100%

No. of Promotions 3 19

No. of WFH  Days (Including Saturday / Sunday) 217 221
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Performance Management 
An automated performance appraisal 
system is implemented and 100% of 
the staff goes through the established 
appraisal standards and their 
performance is apprised biannually. 
The appraisal dialogue between the two 
parties takes place as an important activity 
in the process enabling both parties to 
open up for a positive career discussion. 
The ratings of the appraisals are obtained 
based on the result of the achievement 
of goals and KPIs of the individuals. The 
performance appraisal process is used 
as a constructive instrument to recognize 
exemplary performance, reward, and 
recognition of best performers and for 
further improvements of individuals 
where necessary. It is important to 
note that the appraisal process is an 
integral part of the HR Strategy of the 
company and information obtained from 
the process is used to make significant 
career decisions for the employees such 
as staff promotions, compensation, and 
organizational development initiatives. 

Similarly, Personal Improvement Plans 
will also be implemented when the 
management sees drastic deviations in 
individual performance against standards. 
Monitoring performance and providing 
ongoing feedback to empower staff 
throughout the year is an important 
leadership responsibility in the company. 
In LankaClear, the staff is encouraged and 
ownership is entrusted to take charge of 
their performance and engage in effective 
performance dialogue with the immediate 
managers. 

As stated above the key strategy of the 
appraisal process has been to reward 
and recognize key talent, which ultimately 
leads to the creation of a productive and 
engaged workforce. Management also 
noted that the commitment to improved 
performance was a passion for many 
employees in the organization and they 
demonstrated the same while at work. 

During the year under review 18 
employees, 17% of the workforce were 

promoted by adhering to the principles 
of the company performance appraisal 
system.

Compensation and Benefits Structure 
of the Organization
A great milestone of the company’s 
compensation and benefits strategy was 
to establish the implementation of the 
3rd phase of the staff salary survey which 
was conducted by KPMG. The salaries of 
the staff were benchmarked to the 66th 
Percentile of the industry in which the 
salaries of some employees had been 
increased 100% while the overall average 
salary increment percentage was 36.8% 
during the last year. Continuing the 
company strategy of pay for performance, 
the management continued the salary 
review process for the current financial 
year by ensuring the staff is paid fairly for 
their contribution. During the salary review 
process of the current financial year, the 
company ensured that the employees are 
paid accurately, with regard to their skills, 
achievements, and position in the industry. 

The management strongly believes that 
the benchmarking of overall salaries of the 
organization at the 66th Percentile of the 
Market Survey was a great achievement 
in which it reflects the establishment 
of pay for performance strategy of the 
company. The management was also 
able to design a new pay structure 
including new allowances in line with 
the establishment of the market survey 
covering all categories of employees. 
The management also ensured to reflect 

Training Session conducted for LankaClear Account Managers at Galadari Hotel

New Year Celebrations at LankaClear

Human Capital
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that the pay increases as far as possible 
match the level of performance of the 
employees. This strategy helped the 
management to establish the fact that 
the company doesn't simply reward 
employees for longevity, but rewards 
those who consistently improve on 
productivity, operational excellence, and 
improvement. 

The total compensation package 
offered to staff members included 
not only salaries but also various 
allowances, insurance benefits including 
family members, contributions to 
retirement plans, bonus schemes, and 
other monetary incentives for career 
advancements, etc. 

The bonus schemes were also revised and 
ensured all staff is given a fair share for 
their contribution to the organization. The 
overall employee cost for the financial year 
as a result of the changes implemented 
by the management including payroll cost 
and connected profit-sharing schemes 
had risen from Rs. 238,570,824.00 in the 
last financial year to Rs. 360,003,437.00. 
The benefits of the compensation revision 
of LankaClear are aimed at the raises in 
performance which will foster a more 
competitive workforce. The compensation 
strategy also resulted in a higher level of 
productivity as each employee strives to 
increase the level of service to clients.

Help Building Careers through Training 
& Development 
LankaClear is determined to develop 
the skill levels of the workforce by 
providing timely and quality training 

and development programs based on their skill competency and organizational 
requirements. The year under review although was challenging to conduct external 
training programs due to the Covid-19 threat the management still was able to provide 
an array of training to the staff. 

A total of 40 Training Programs were conducted during the year to develop the skills and 
competencies of staff. The programs were designed for IT, technical, and other soft skills 
competency development of the staff. The programs were evaluated for adequacy and 
quality and shared the input with the management for further action where necessary.

Total Training Programs Conducted During the Year 40 

Total Man Days of Training 258

Total Training Man-hours 2,066.5

Average Training Man-hours and Man-days per Person 19 and 2.3 days 

Total Investment in Training 2.5 Mn

Average Goal Achievement Percentage of the Workforce 87%

Investment on Training 

Man Hours Utilized on Training

 IT Skills  Technical Skills 

 Soft Skills

62%

11%

27%

Training by Category

 IT Skills  Technical Skills 

 Soft Skills

45%

7%

48%

Talent Development and Employee Retention 
The management focus for talent development in the organization includes recognizing 
individuals’ talent and putting employees in positions that make the best use of their 
skills. The staff promotions that were implemented during the year with the promotion 
of 18 employees which represented 17% of the workforce is a testimony of the 
management strategy for talent development during the year. This made the staff feel 
more confident in their skills and helped using their strengths on their everyday work. 
We believe that when employees perceive that they are being encouraged by talent 
development initiatives, they feel more confident about their long-term career path in 
the organization. 
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However, the targeted employee retention goals of the company were not been able to 
achieve during the year due to unplanned leavers.

Employee Retention from 2016/17 to 2021/22

Year 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Retention Ratios 87% 91% 86% 83.5% 92.59% 88%

 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
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As of March 31, 2022, LankaClear did not face any litigation issues, was not fined, did not 
get any sanctions imposed nor had any case filed in a court of law for non-compliance 
with labour regulations.

Employee Profile of LankaClear as at March 31, 2022 
The LankaClear team comprised of 110 employees as at March 31, 2022 with the 
composition of 107 permanent and 2 contract based staff. 

Employment by Gender 

 Male Employees  Female Employees
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Employment by Nature of Contract
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Employee Engagement Survey 
The staff engagement survey 2021 of 
LankaClear was the 4th annual survey 
conducted by the company having 1st 
3 surveys conducted in partnership 
with Great Place to Work Inc. The main 
objective of conducting the survey was 
for all employees to take a moment to 
reflect on their past operational year 
and to touch and feel the perception 
and satisfaction level of employees on 
the overall strategy of the company and 
measure the management style. The 
survey was conducted in the month of 
June 2021. The response rate was 92% 
(97 responded from 105 participants) and 
the overall employee satisfaction rate was 
61%. 

The survey was formatted and delivered 
as an electronic survey to be completed 
online. Employees, the target audience 
was sent a link to the online survey for 
completion within the allotted time 
period of 21st June to 12th July 2021. All 
employees had active email addresses 
and access to the internet to allow ease of 
completion for all. None of the employees 
had submitted manual survey forms 
although it had the provision for hardcopy 
submissions following the confidentiality 
of the information being submitted.

Employee Wellbeing During the 
Pandemic
There is no doubt that COVID-19 created 
a lot of pressure for employees where 
the BOC Tower became a red zone with 
many contracting the disease at the time 
when the Delta variant was dominant in 
the country. Facing the once-in-a-lifetime 

Human Capital
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challenge and adapting to the stressful 
conditions were not something very easy 
for employees and their families. But with 
self and family care support from the HR 
department our staff was able to manage 
the pressure they felt at work or at home 
during these difficult times. The HR help 
desk during the pandemic made sure that 
weekly health check calls were given to all 
staff to know the status of the situation. 
This was a personal touch which made a 
long-lasting effect in the hearts of many 
employees as it is fondly remembered 
even today. 

The mere fact of one must wear masks 
and gloves all day and having to keep 
social distancing etc. while at work leads to 
demoralization and also reduces efficiency 
and bring mental health down. We made 
sure that the staff is given flexible working 
hours and a working from home facility to 
ensure that their health is not challenged 
while at work and beyond. Most 
importantly we organized several online 
awareness and training programs to keep 
up the mental health of all employees. We 
are proud to mention that all employees 
in the company made it to the special 
mental health training program as it was 
fun and insightful.

The HR department was able to cope 
with the situation and helped the staff by 
implementing the following.

�� Provided accommodation with meals 
to employees who had to report 
to office for critical operations and 
maintenance activities.

�� Also started a staff dormitory in the 
Disaster Recovery Site at Malabe for 
staff and provided free meals.

�� All other staff were given the facility 
to work from home and this made 
them securely stay at home and 
attend to work without having to 
travel. 

�� Introduced a special allowance to 
staff to cover expenses during the 
pandemic.

�� Provided company transport to staff 
who were traveling from distant 
districts such as Anuradhapura, 
Kandy, and Matara when there was a 
need for them to report to the office.

�� Reimbursed transport expenses to 
all those who had not been eligible 
for travel-related allowances.

�� Reimbursed the use of Internet 
access and call fee facilities when 
exceeded the limits. 

�� Financed and facilitated more than 
120 PCR Tests to ensure when a 1st 
or 2nd level contact is found and 
others were safe to work.

�� Mandated that all meetings be 
conducted via MS Teams meetings to 
minimize physical gathering of staff 
and customers.

�� Mandated the use of digital 
signature for various types of 
approval documents including bank 
fund transfer letters to minimize 
exposure.

�� Providing laptops to almost all staff 
members enabling efficiency of work 
anywhere. 

�� Fortifying IT security to enable 
remote server access to staff via VPN 
connections.

�� Facilitating curfew permit letters with 
the signature authority from Central 
Bank to secure staff when they had 
to travel to the office.

�� Granting additional leave for those 
who fell sick due to Covid-19. 

�� When employees were found 
infected, the HR carried out 
contact tracing to safeguard other 
employees to prevent the disease 
from spreading to others within 
LankaClear.

�� Regular disinfection of work surfaces, 
tables, telephones, keyboards, 
door handles, railings, etc. with 
disinfectants several times a day.

�� Inside the air-conditioned areas we 
made it a practice to keep the doors 
open which minimized the contact of 
door handles, and places, where one 
has to pull or push to open.

�� Distribution of face masks, gloves, 
and disposable tissue free of cost 
to secure the people and to avoid 
physical contact with objects when 
staff had to work from the office.

�� Minimized the overcrowding of 
customers by directing customers to 
avail of the information and services 
via the company web site.

�� Made it mandatory to clean hands 
before entering the workplace by 
employees and customers.

�� Made sanitizing hand rub dispensers 
available to employees and 
customers to clean their hands at the 
main entrances as well as suitable 
other places.

�� Ensured the hand rub dispensers 
are regularly refilled and are freely 
available at all times.

�� The correct hand washing technique 
was demonstrated by posters, 
emails, e-flyers, TV screens, and, 
dissemination of information at 
meetings.

CSR Contribution to the Society 
LankaClear is determined to uphold its 
corporate philosophy by ensuring reach 
to the most deserving communities in 
the society through the offering of our 
services thus connecting them to their 
financial needs. As it is our policy to 
reach and connect the society, we intend 
to contribute to society’s sustainable 
development needs by providing 
enhanced products that make a difference 
in society. The redeployment of the Digital 
Signature facility to many government 
institutions during the pandemic is a clear 
testimony to our approach to connecting 
people at a time when there was a great 
challenge to physically connect people 
due to pandemic threats and controls. 
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The CSR initiatives of the company are a collective activity where everyone contributes in many ways at least by taking part in the 
event of the proposed CSR project. During the year under review, the CSR activities of the company were limited only to the donation 
of supply and installation of oxygen, medical air pipeline systems from tank to MOT at the Kalubowila General Hospital. The donation 
was a great help to many Covid-19 positive patients that needed oxygen support.

Strategic Objectives and Goals for the Financial Year 2021/22
1. Establish partnerships with regional payment networks. 
2. Improve productivity through human capital development to facilitate organizational growth and regional expansions. 
3. Introduce an innovative solution to provide digital consumer convenience. 
4. Increase the contribution of electronic payment products towards overall revenue by 15%. 
5. Exceed the assigned profit targets for the year.
6. Increase the satisfaction index of the annual customer survey by 10%. 
7. Take the LankaPay brand to the general masses.

MOT Opening at Kalubowila General Hospital on December 2021

Human Capital
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Strategic Priorities and Performance during the Financial Year 2021/22

Strategic Priority Performance

Establishing a fair and equitable compensation 
and benefits structure

�� The compensation and benefits structure for the year under review was 
implemented following Board approval.

�� Board also approved promotions and equity adjustments to 17% of the 
total workforce. 

�� In addition, the bonus scheme which covers all employees yielded a 
promising benefit to the staff members by disbursing 3% of annual revenue 
as Bonuses for the year under review. 

�� Restructured the IT Security arm of the company by adding the “Chief 
Information Security Officer” (CISO) position.

Going global initiative �� The new business stagey involves strengthening regional partnerships. 
The management with the blessings of the Chairman started the Business 
and HR Strategy development initiative with the consultation of KPMG as 
consultants.

Physical infrastructure development �� Initiated the plans for a modern office complex by awarding the contract of 
the office interior development to a renowned interior architect. 

Creation of value ensuring that the core values 
of the organization are lived by, through 
adequate awareness programs

�� Continued the value measurement process using already developed criteria 
for the same.

�� Organized leadership round tables to share the views of the leadership and 
associated values with LankaClear leaders.

Enhance employee engagement by 
implementing the engagement formula by 
bringing management and employees together

�� Developed employee engagement activity calendar for the year and 
implemented same. 

�� Conducted a number of engagement activities including leadership round 
tables, HR skips, and one-on-one discussions with all levels of employees.

Staff engagement survey 2021 �� Conducted the staff satisfaction survey for the year and obtained an overall 
satisfaction ratio of 61%.

�� The main grievance being the “salary” an effective compensation and 
benefits strategy was implemented to address the concerns.

Transform LankaClear workplace culture to 
improve innovation and productivity 

�� Continued the “Voice of Change” employee suggestion box program 
commenced during the previous year although it had a lower response 
compared to the previous year.

�� Provided extensive training to relationship managers with sufficient 
coaching hours. 
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The pandemic was a 
blessing in disguise for 
the digital payment 
industry and was amongst 
the few industries that 
grew exponentially with 
changing consumer 
behavior and change 
in business operations 
induced by the pandemic. 
According to businesswire.
com, the global digital 
payments market has 
marked 16.1% compound 
annual growth in 2021 and 
is expected to reach  
USD 9,073.09 Bn in 2025.

Intellectual 
Capital

Marketing Performance 
The year 2021/22 marked yet another 
year of resilience where the company 
managed to bounce back strong after a 
slight drop in top line the previous year. 
Amidst numerous challenges posed by 
the turbulent operating environment, 
LankaClear recorded total revenue 
of Rs. 1,329,295,649 compared to Rs. 
1,057,154,707 in 2020/21 with a 25.74% 
YoY growth. 

The Marketing Department of LankaClear 
is primarily responsible for overall 
marketing strategy, planning, and 
execution as well as driving transactional 
revenue which is the biggest contributor 
to the overall revenue. Although the 
macro environment was found to be 
gloomy with a devastating impact on trade 
and day to day life of people, the company 
managed to post healthy financial 
performance with the right marketing 
strategies. In the year under review, 
the company posted a commendable 
performance to record a transactional 
revenue of Rs. 1,036,287,594 in 2021/22 
surpassing the one billion mark for the 
first time in history. This is a 23.85% 
growth compared to the previous financial 
year.
 

The pandemic was a blessing in disguise 
for the digital payment industry and was 
amongst the few industries that grew 
exponentially with changing consumer 
behavior and change in business 
operations induced by the pandemic. 
According to businesswire.com, the global 
digital payments market has marked 
16.1% compound annual growth in 2021 
and is expected to reach USD 9,073.09 
Bn in 2025. LankaClear despite the 
negative macro-economic conditions that 
prevailed, managed to find opportunity in 
every challenge and expand its pie during 
2021/22, achieving a higher growth rate 
than the global industry average.

Despite the unprecedentedly challenging 
market conditions, we continued to 
thrive and make commendable progress 
towards propagating digital payments in 
the country in 2021/22. Facilitating over 
203 Mn transactions via digital channels, 
recording a 44% growth from the previous 
year. In terms of driving transactional 
revenue, during the year, more focus 
was placed on LankaPay Real-time Fund 
Transfer Network, the Common ATM 
Network, JustPay mobile payments, and 
LankaSign. 
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The company’s far-sighted approach 
to diversifying its product portfolio in 
time coupled with the overall marketing 
strategy once again paid rich dividends, 
enabling the company to weather the 
macro-environmental volatilities and 
post remarkable performance in the year 
under review.
  
Revenue from one-time joining fees 
dropped marginally during the year which 
was negated by the growth in other 
income and transactional revenue. 
 
During the year JustPay continued to post 
a remarkable 149% growth surpassing 

the 10 Mn threshold, facilitating over 
Rs. 43 Bn worth of transactions. JustPay 
registrations grew by 127% during the 
year. The practical difficulties faced by 
customers in performing daily chores 
during the pandemic were found to be 
a compelling reason to shift from cash 
payments to mobile payments for the 
day to day transactions. LankaClear 
carried out several radio campaigns 
and social media campaigns targeting 
both customers as well as merchants. 
It was heartening to note that we were 
able to keep some of those micro and 
SME enterprises alive by empowering 
them with a convenient, affordable and 

The number of interbank ATM 
transactions facilitated rose to 79 Mn 
during the year followed by the Real-Time 
Fund Transfer Network which facilitated 
69 Mn transactions. LankaPay Interbank 
Payment System (SLIPS) recorded 43 
Mn transactions and interbank cheques 
cleared remained around 32 Mn in 
2021/22 also. 

With the Central Bank’s direction, slashing 
the rates for interbank real-time fund 
transfers by 40% in January 2021, revenue 
from the product was hit by over 10 Mn 
in Q4 of 2020/21. However, the company 
turned it to its advantage and made it a 
part of its value proposition to penetrate 
into the market. Furthermore, with 
intermittent travel restrictions due to the 
pandemic, the company also identified 
the potential for Common ATM Network, 
Real-time Fund Transfer Network, JustPay 
mobile payments, and LankaSign. Several 
marketing campaigns were carried out 
on radio and on social media with high 
intensity and our efforts were shown to 
have reaped rich dividends with the Real-
time Fund Transfer Network including 
JustPay mobile payments, recording the 
highest product-wise growth with YoY 52% 
growth followed by the Common ATM 
Network which recorded an impressive 
21% growth compared to 3% growth 
during the previous year. 

LankaClear identified its heavy reliance on 
LankaPay Cheque Imaging and Truncation 
System (CITS) and LankaPay Interbank 
Payment System (SLIPS) which accounted 
for 85% of the total transactional revenue 
in 2014/15. Having identified the overall 
risk of over-dependence on these 
products which were at the maturity 
stage, the company diversified its product 
portfolio, increasing the contribution 
from electronic payment products over 
the years. Accordingly, by 2021/22 the 
share was LankaPay Cheque Imaging and 
Truncation System (CITS) and LankaPay 
Interbank Payment System (SLIPS) was 
as low as 33% of total revenue, with 67% 
contributed by new payment products. 
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accessible mode of payment to operate 
during the lockdown, in partnership with 
the JustPay enabled apps and member 
banks whilst helping the economy to 
function in an exceptionally challenging 
environment. 

With the pandemic, organizations across 
the country faced difficulties in getting 
documents signed physically in a ‘work 
from home’ setup. LankaClear identified 
the need to facilitate the corporate sector 
with digital signature solutions. Sri Lanka 
Customs mandated that all documents 
submitted to Sri Lanka Customs should 

Intellectual Capital

Marketing Performance

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
Transactional Revenue (Rs.)
CITS 196,883,570 206,192,887 257,150,837 290,693,941 278,848,207 254,467,199 185,412,586 185,522,866
SLIPS 74,546,545 88,261,281 100,607,905 110,966,154 120,918,805 134,322,353 132,519,768 153,266,692
CAS 49,072,876 84,559,093 157,848,247 214,410,862 258,703,476 293,705,955 295,635,544 358,536,163
SAS - 28,148 483,640 1,070,687 1,466,956 2,149,728 2,208,427 2,472,819
CEFTS - 675,308 12,020,138 34,095,731 76,752,496 140,484,530 233,800,865 364,691,147
Total Transactional 
Revenue

320,502,991 379,716,717 528,110,767 651,237,375 736,689,939 825,129,764 849,577,190 1,064,489,687

CCAPS Revenue 49,072,876 85,262,549 170,352,025 249,577,280 336,922,928 436,340,213 531,644,835 725,700,129
Income from One Time Joining 
Fees

38,515,000 63,730,000 68,952,500 25,359,511 22,575,000 24,325,000 32,726,190 30,446,137

Other Income 158,849,831 158,194,249 203,698,037 241,906,616 269,792,165 248,254,510 174,851,327 234,359,826
Total Revenue 517,867,822 601,640,965 800,761,303 918,503,011 1,029,057,105 1,097,709,274 1,057,154,707 1,329,295,649

Growth in Transactional 
Revenue (%)

19% 18% 39% 23% 13% 12% 3% 25%

Growth in Income from One 
-Time Joining Fees

209% 65% 8% -63% -11% 8% 35% -7%

Growth in Other Income (%) -12% -0.4% 29% 19% 12% -8% -30% 34%
Share of Transactional 
Revenue as a Percentage of 
the Total Revenue

62% 63% 66% 71% 72% 75% 80% 80%

Revenue from CCAPS 
Transactions

49,072,876 85,262,549 170,352,025 249,577,280 336,922,928 436,340,213 531,644,835 725,700,129

Growth in CCAPS 
Transactional Revenue

476% 74% 100% 47% 35% 30% 22% 37%

Revenue from CCAPS as a 
Percentage of Transactional 
Revenue

15% 22% 32% 38% 46% 53% 63% 68%

be digitally signed using LankaSign 
which gave a major boost to the digital 
certificates issued during the year. Several 
institutions joined LankaSign digital 
signatures including a few banks, namely 
Commercial Bank, NDB Bank, and Nations 
Trust Bank.

In addition to the above, the company 
continued to campaign towards raising 
public awareness of its leading role as 
the national payment network, which 
was felt timely with ‘going local’ became 
a focal point with rupee depreciation. 
In this direction, the company launched 

a merchant acquisition drive towards 
on-boarding merchants for the LankaPay 
National Card Scheme. The integrated 
marketing campaign included print, radio, 
PR, and social media promotions and 
created traction in the market, not only 
in terms of acquiring new merchants but 
also in terms of the benefits of having 
a local cards scheme and getting the 
entire eco-system activated to come on 
board for this national initiative. Several 
banks are now in the pipeline to come 
on board as acquirers and issuers which 
is important before the launch of a card 
issuance campaign planned by the end of 
2022.
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R & D as a Key Enabler for Future
To plan for future direction and 
growth of the company, Research and 
Development was identified as a key 
enabler and we established a Research 
and Development (R&D) department in 
2021. The objective was to understand 
the latest developments in the Technology 
sphere as well as how financial sector 
would embrace these developments so 
that LankaClear could map its business 
model to explore new opportunities. On 

this journey, the initial work was proposed 
to be conducted via desk research and 
the areas for research to be determined 
based on company’s strategic directions 
such as;

i. Identify new solutions/services 
ii. Improve existing products 
iii. Gain market insights 
iv. Improve customer service 
v. Improve existing processes 

In this context, our first exercise was to 
develop the organization's basic research 
and development strategy and scope.  

 
1. 

 
2.

 
3.

 
4. 

 
5.
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Intellectual Capital

Any task that comes to R&D to be 
executed in five stages. 

�� Stage 1: Idea/ Requirement 
Generation

The R&D department is tailored to meet a 
variety of requirements. For example, R&D 
reports can explore business priorities 
for the company, support management 
requests, handle operational or market 
requirements, or it may be a report that 
addresses a specific area identified by the 
management. These requirements may 
initiate at the company board and the 
management level of the company. 

�� Stage 2: Research
The R&D team will conduct the study, 
prioritizing the research and development 
for key requirements. Understanding the 
R&D requirement and prioritizing is done 
via necessary discussions, after which 
the research will begin. Each research 
may differ from each other and could 
require relevant industry studies, training 
sessions, discussion sessions, process/
activity studies, as well as may involve field 
studies with the assistance of external 
research agencies.

�� Stage 3: Research Analysis & 
Recommendations

Once the information is gathered, R&D 
Department will compile and scrutinize 
them to generate meaningful outcomes. 
The information will be meticulously 
analysed by the R&D team to meet 
the initial requirement and reports the 
outcomes to the R&D steering committee 
with the necessary recommendations.

�� Stage 4: Planning & Development
The R&D Steering Committee is chaired by 
the General Manager / CEO of LankaClear 
and has three other senior corporate 
managers as members of the Committee. 
Lead Manager R&D is an advisory 
member to the Steering Committee, who 
submits/presents the R&D reports to the 
Steering Committee and does not govern 
the decisions of the Committee. The 
R&D Steering Committee meetings are 
scheduled for each quarter to follow up 
on the action items. 

All action items were recorded and 
followed by General Manager / 
CEO's office for continuous review of 
decisions and the development team's 
appointments made at the meeting. Lead 
Manager R&D may also closely work with 
the steering committee and development 
teams to oversee and follow up on the 
action items as required. 
  
�� Stage 5: Launch

The launch stage is the final stage of 
implementing the R&D recommendations 
and R&D committee decisions. These 
results can be tangible or intangible. 
For example, insights received from 
market research can be used to improve 
marketing strategies, as well as consumer 
survey results and recommendations 
can be used to improve operations and 
technical services. The R&D insights 
are supposed to be reflected in all the 
development decisions of the company.
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Social and Relationship 
Capital

Maintaining Customer Satisfaction 
through Our Values Even in a Pandemic 
Situation 
As we have done in the past, LankaClear 
understands the importance of 
providing uninterrupted service to our 
customers, even though there is no 
direct competition for LankaClear in the 
market for certain services. This has not 
dampened our resolve to provide best-
in-class customer service. Especially in 
the face of the pandemic that has led to 
the global economic downturn, we have 
worked to provide high-quality services 
without compromising our customer 
services. Our visionary customer service 
policy governs how the organisation and 
our employees deal with our customers 
and has proven in practice that it is a 
robust set of policies that can be applied 
at any time. It comprises how we greet 
customers, handle service complaints, 
and the backup services available to the 
product or service. At its core, quality 
customer service is about making sure 
our customers feel that they are valued, 
treated fairly, and appreciated by every 
single person in the organisation. 
Therefore, being a trusted payment 
network in Sri Lanka, understanding and 
meeting timely customer needs is one of 
our top priorities. 

We are humbled that LankaClear operates 
the only secure and reliable common 
backend network for all Sri Lankans to 
process financial transactions under the 
supervision of the Central Bank of Sri 
Lanka. However, this does not preclude 
us from maintaining the highest level 
of customer service. We strive to serve 
our customers better by implementing a 
reliable, cost-effective, and secure retail 
payment system to meet our customers' 
daily payment needs. We strive to ensure 
that the uptime of our network would 
be very close to 100% at all times. We 
serve the entire Sri Lankan population as 
the ultimate consumers of our services 
via banks, financial institutes, and other 
authorized service providers. 

Heighten Customer Experience during 
Uncertainties 
We believe that customer service 
constitutes the entire life cycle of the 
customers’ experience. It is the general 
perception of the public about their 
experience with LankaPay services. For 
example, providing friendly guidance and 
assistance to use a customer’s mobile/ 
internet banking facility to transfer funds 
from his bank account to another is 
superior customer service. The customer 
service representative supports the 
customer to carry out the transaction 
successfully on time. 

On the other hand, a person at home can 
transfer money to another person who 
has an account in a different bank within 
a few seconds at the lowest possible 
cost via his bank’s internet banking. If the 
experience is delightful, saving his time, 
effort and money; and consistent every-
time  he consumed our service, we can 
reasonably assume that we have achieved 
our quest.

What does Good Customer Service 
Look Like?
Examples of good customer service 
experiences are often the result of a kind, 
customer-centric staff who are good at;

��Responding Quickly: A customer will 
appreciate fast response when they raise 
an issue or highlight a problem.

��Acting on Feedback: When an 
employee acts on the feedback they 
received from a customer, it shows the 
customer that their opinion matters.

��Having Empathy: Employees that try 
to understand a customer’s point of view 
make a customer feel valued.

��Maintaining Customer Self-service 
Options: When customers want to find 
their own answer to service problems, 
having an up-to-date FAQ page or 
knowledge article base can be very helpful.

We are humbled that 
LankaClear operates 
the only secure and 
reliable common backend 
network for all Sri Lankans 
to process financial 
transactions under the 
supervision of the Central 
Bank of Sri Lanka. However, 
this does not preclude 
us from maintaining the 
highest level of customer 
service. We strive to serve 
our customers better by 
implementing a reliable, 
cost-effective, and secure 
retail payment system to 
meet our customers’ daily 
payment needs.
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��Providing Omni Channel Support: 
Different communication channels 
can support customers that have busy 
schedules or want flexibility in how they 
connect with businesses. Your employees 
need to be prepared to offer support 
through email, phone, live chat, and social 
media.

��Going the Extra Mile: When an 
employee delivers value beyond the 
customer’s expectations or adds a 
personal touch to the service experience, 
it can leave a positive impression and 
increase customer loyalty.

A most recent example of extended 
customer experience is providing 
continuous clearing and transaction 
facilities to the public and the financial 
institutes during the COVID 19 pandemic. 
Considering the safety of our customers, 
we have assured there is no interruption 
to our operations by letting customers do 
daily retail services via electronic banking 
systems when they are at home. Also, 
being an infrastructure provider for the 
banking and financial industry, our main 
obligation was to assure the processing 
of salary payments and cheque clearing 
on time, which has a direct impact on 
the country's economy as well as on 
peoples’ lives. Our task force achieved the 
task successfully by understanding the 
essentiality of the services provided by our 
company to the country. 

We have updated our service guidelines to 
allow certain processes to be performed 
based on documents submitted via email 
instead of having physically handover 
them. For example, we are accepting 
scanned copies of request forms that 
previously required to be submitted 
physically. Here, our LankaSign digital 
signing service did an exceptional job. 

We, as an organisation, have always 
strived to provide superior customer 
service and a great customer experience 
and have benefited from customer loyalty, 
customer satisfaction, positive word-of-

mouth that resulting positive reviews, and 
recommendations. Like every year, to 
improve customer relationships, we have 
focused on,

1. Setting mutually satisfying goals 
by streamlining to offer what 
the customer requires and not 
limiting ourselves to offer what the 
organisation can provide. 

2. Finding new ways of doing things by 
aligning structures and systems to 
support the business requirements 
of our customers.

Investments in Improving Customer 
Experience 
International Customer Service Week 
– 2021
Steps were taken to celebrate International 
Customer Service Week to recognize 
the importance of our customers and 
appreciate them for their contribution 
towards our business. This year too, we 
have celebrated International Customer 
Service Week to recognize the importance 
of our customers and appreciate their 
contribution to our business. 

During this week, we were able to 
raise company-wide awareness of the 
importance of customer service by 
conducting an online presentation and 
e-flyers to educate staff on customer 
service.

LankaPay Online Quiz - Season II– 2021
Due to the popular demand we organized 
the LankaPay Interbank Quiz Competition 
for the second consecutive year to build 
the relationship among the customers. 
Adhering to the health guidelines, this year 
the activity was conducted virtually. 

In August 2021, the event was successfully 
completed after a well-fought victory and 
an exciting tiebreaker session, Commercial 
Bank grabbing the first place, Sampath 
Bank and LOLC team securing the second 
and third places respectively. Valuable 
prizes were awarded to the winning 
teams.

Social and Relationship Capital
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Winners of the LankaPay Online Quiz Competition 2021- Session II

2nd Runner-up - LOLC Finance Team

Winner - Commercial Bank Team

1st Runner-up – Sampath Bank Team
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Social and Relationship Capital

Indirect Economic Benefits of LankaClear Operations

LankaClear as the operator of the 
national payments network provides 
the much-needed central infrastructure 
to the country’s financial sector under 
the guidance of the Central Bank. The 
economic benefits of our operations 
are generated mainly due to reduced 
transactional cost, payment technology 
innovations, financial sector as well as the 
national economy alike.

Indirect Economic Benefits to the 
General Public
The very purpose of our existence boils 
down to harnessing financial inclusivity 
by empowering every Sri Lankan with 
convenient, accessible, secure, affordable, 
and humanized digital financial services.

We understand the value of time, hence 
the value of convenience in performing 
a financial transaction, which is often 
not the ‘need’ of the customer but an 
inevitable step in fulling a need in day-
to-day life. Making this inevitable process 
of day-to-day financial transactions 

hassle-free is what our operations revolve 
around. Today’s digital consumers expect 
our services to be omnipresent and to 
be accessible from wherever they are, 
any device they use, at a time convenient 
for them and with minimum effort and 
time. Therefore, we identify our ultimate 
objective to be providing convenience 
to everyone, whenever they carry out a 
digital financial transaction by saving their 
time so that they could spend that time on 
what really matters to them.

Throughout our journey, we have silently 
touched the lives of every Sri Lankan by 
facilitating interbank financial transactions 
from cheque clearing to, interbank ATM 
transactions to interbank fund transfers to 
interbank mobile payments to interbank 
QR transactions to almost every single 
time they carry out an interbank financial 
transaction.

By establishing the critical interbank 
payment infrastructure, LankaClear has 
been instrumental in drastically bringing 

down the transaction costs to banking 
customers. By doing so, the Company has 
made banking services more affordable to 
a larger segment of the population. This is 
clearly reflected in the below breakdown 
of our product-wise business volumes, 
which is essentially the number of times 
we have silently facilitated financial 
transactions performed by customers.

Being the country’s national payment 
network, one of LankaClear’s primary 
objectives is to create financial inclusivity, 
which in all instances supersedes 
commercial intent. As a result, we have 
been facilitating interbank payments 
at much lower rates compared to the 
international payment networks. Reduced 
transaction costs and multiple payment 
options that can cater to the changing 
customer lifestyles has propelled greater 
adoption of digital payments. This is 
reflected in the steady growth in our 
transaction volume over the years. In 
2021/22 a total of 238 Mn transactions 
were facilitated compared to 176 Mn 
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transactions in the previous year. 
Compared to 4% growth in transaction 
volume in 2020/21 and 11% growth 
in the year 2019/20, the company 
recorded an impressive 35% YoY growth 

in overall transaction volume during the 
year under review.52.46% of interbank 
ATM transactions are performed 
outside western province and it is also 
heartening to note that majority of 

JustPay transactions are below Rs. 250 in 
value which is a testament to our pledge 
towards making digital payments a part of 
everyday life of everyone.

Capital Management  Social and Relationship Capital

Product Name
2014/15
Volume

2015/16
Volume

2016/17
Volume

2017/18
Volume

2018/19
Volume

2019/20
Volume

2020/21
Volume

2021/22
Volume

Interbank Cheque 
Clearing 

48,020,383 50,290,948 52,577,612 51,450,255 49,353,665 45,045,603 32,816,387 32,843,785

Interbank Same Day 
Fund Transfers 

21,012,977 24,088,234 27,643,863 30,701,857 33,680,734 37,511,191 37,093,664 43,037,464

Interbank ATM 
Transactions 

11,761,947 19,984,603 35,823,455 48,045,269 57,658,471 65,818,146 66,913,946 80,110,607

Interbank Real-time 
Fund Transfers 

 77,177 1,373,731 3,897,573 8,882,020 16,993,057 32,730,939 68,889,959

Real-time Payments 
to Government 
Institutions 

   3,026 19,060 49,272 123,476 706,300

Interbank 
Mobile payment 
Transactions 

   233 139,342 1,481,608 4,366,968 10,882,998

Other Transactions 1,891,689 1,716,428 1,988,331 2,209,962 2,191,901 2,081,643 2,088,444 2,038,642

Total 82,686,996 96,157,390 119,406,992 136,308,175 151,925,193 168,980,520 176,133,824 238,509,755
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Social and Relationship Capital

District Wise Distribution of Interbank ATM Transactions

Province District Total
% ATM Transaction Distribution During  

FY 2021/22

Northern Province

Jaffna 1,416,643

4.10%
Kilinochchi 463,745
Mannar 370,514
Mullaitivu 431,229
Vavuniya 574,314

North Western Province
Puttalam 1,960,643

8.76%
Kurunegala 4,999,687

North Central Province
Anuradhapura 2,472,154

5.04%
Polonnaruwa 1,533,354

Central Province
Matale 1,575,771

11.25%Kandy 5,191,100

Nuwara Eliya 2,170,896

Sabaragamuwa Province
Kegalle 2,476,142

6.55%
Ratnapura 2,730,999

Eastern Province
Trincomalee 1,256,433

4.44%Batticaloa 1,008,884
Ampara 1,266,574

Uva Province
Badulla 2,209,202

4.21%
Monaragala 1,137,847

Southern province
Hambantota 1,390,470

8.11%Matara 1,821,574
Galle 3,231,296

Western Province
Gampaha 10,739,489

47.54%Colombo 22,743,933

Kalutara 4,298,036

With consumer confidence on digital 
payments improving, it is envisaged 
that the adoption of other payment 
instruments, such as payment cards, 
digital wallets, and mobile payments, will 
also increase in the future.

Indirect Economic Benefits to Financial 
Sector
LankaClear as the operator of the national 
payment network has contributed to the 
stability, growth, and greater autonomy of 
the country’s financial sector. 

Prior to the establishment of LankaClear, 
interbank clearing operations were 
carried out by international payment 

switches at a considerably higher cost. 
This had a significant impact on the 
operational cost structure of the banking 
and financial services sector. By routing 
these transitions locally, LankaClear has 
been able to bring down the transaction 
fees to its member banks drastically, 
and thereby be a catalyst for growth and 
profitability of the country’s banking and 
financial sector. 

In carrying out its operations, LankaClear 
has brought greater autonomy to the 
financial sector by routing most domestic 
interbank transactions locally which 
would have otherwise been routed via 
international payment networks. Being 

an entity that is coming under the direct 
purview of the Central Bank and jointly 
owned by the Central Bank and all 
licensed commercial banks in the country, 
the company by all virtue is in existence to 
serve the country’s financial sector.

Since its inception in 2002, the company 
is fully funded by equity and has been 
financially independent and stable, 
without being a burden to the Treasury. 
The company has also maintained service 
levels on par with industry standards 
whilst conforming to the highest 
international security standards, thereby 
contributing towards uplifting public 
confidence in the banking system and its 
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smooth operation which are critical for the 
sector's stability and growth. 

By creating a common payment 
infrastructure that is shared amongst all 
its members, LankaClear has created a 
level playing field for all industry players 
irrespective of their capacity, resource 
capabilities, and size. As a result, any of 
our members can now offer the same 
level of convenience and accessibility 
to their customers irrespective of their 
individual financial and operational 
prowess to invest in and maintain a 
fully-fledged payment system. By doing 
so, the Company has been able to 
increase the usage and enhance the 
economies of scale of the common 
payment infrastructure of the country. 
The existence of a common payment 
infrastructure alone has helped foster 
competition in the industry, which in turn 
has created numerous benefits for the 
general public. 

Furthermore, by pioneering payment 
technology innovations, LankaClear 

LankaClear Team with the Awards Received at the National Business Excellence Awards 2021 Organised by National Chamber of Commerce

has facilitated the banking and financial 
sector to be innovative and enhance their 
product offering. The payment technology 
innovations pioneered by LankaClear 
during its illustrious journey have 
mentioned under “Our Milestones” Section.

Taking another step forward in the same 
direction, LankaClear launched LankaPay 
Technnovation awards, conducted for the 
fourth time in March 2022 to recognize 
the banks, Non-banking Financial 
Institutions (NBFIs) and FinTechs for their 
payment technology innovations.

Indirect Economic Benefits to the 
Country 
The establishment of LankaClear marks 
one of the most significant milestones 
in the history of Sri Lanka which has 
contributed immensely toward the greater 
socio-economic needs of the country, on 
terms that are favorable to the country, 
allowing domestic interbank payments 
to be routed locally, without having 
to depend on international payment 
switches for the same.

Having an autonomous domestic switch 
allows the country to be independent 
which wouldn’t have been so pertinent 
ever before. Throughout its journey that 
spans over two decades, we have saved 
the country billions of dollars of valuable 
foreign exchange which would have 
otherwise been paid to the international 
payment switches.
Lower transaction fees and greater 
convenience have helped take banking 
services to a larger segment of the 
population, by making it far more 
affordable and accessible to them. The 
ultimate objective of gaining financial 
inclusivity is expected to make a positive 
contribution to attracting currently 
unbanked cash into the financial 
ecosystem that in turn would reduce cash 
in circulation while helping to uplift their 
lives, and people by providing them the 
access to digital financial services.

Capital Management  Social and Relationship Capital
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The Company’s business 
activity of moving the 
general public into a 
cashless society, or moving 
away from a paper-
based economy, could be 
viewed as being largely 
environmental friendly by 
contributing significantly 
towards reducing paper 
consumption, which leads 
to a reduction of cutting 
down trees.

Natural 
Capital

Sustainability 
The concept of sustainability is of 
paramount importance in almost all the 
disciplines and fields across the globe. 
The integration of this concept into 
any business through a combination 
of economic, environmental, and social 
aspects will pave the way to myriads 
of positive outcomes, ensuring future 
success and thereby achieving the 
sustainability-related, environmental, and 
social-friendly goals and objectives of 
the organisation. Global developments 
have already ensured that the concept 
of sustainability has increasingly gained 
momentum throughout the last few years.
 
Sustainability is the non-consumption 
of resources that replace themselves 
when producing goods and services. A 
sustainable business is a business that 
strives to meet the triple bottom line, 
which is the social, environmental, and 
economic pillars. Since LankaClear is 
promoting the sustainability concept to 
ensure the reduction of total emissions 
due to its daily operations. This concept 
of sustainability can be implemented in a 
vast range of activities that are done on 
a regular basis. Since the Company has 
made significant profits and it is covered 
in the financial review and audited 
Financial Statements comprehensively, we 
are not touching the area of profitability 
in this section. Also, with respect to 
people or social aspects, it is covered 
comprehensively in Human Capital and 
Social and Relationship Capital sections. 
Therefore, we are limiting this article only 
to the planet or environmental activities 
and LankaClear’s positive contribution 
towards that area. 

Environmental Responsibility 
LankaClear’s business activities revolve 
around facilitating electronic payments 
that do not lead to significant negative 
environmental impacts made by 
traditional businesses such as companies 
in the manufacturing sector. Also, it does 
not utilise scarce nonrenewable energy 
for production purposes, water and plants 

so it does not lead to deforestation. On 
the contrary, the Company’s business 
activity of moving the general public into 
a cashless society, or moving away from a 
paper-based economy, could be viewed 
as being largely environmental friendly by 
contributing significantly towards reducing 
paper consumption, which leads to a 
reduction of cutting down trees. This is 
achieved in two ways. 

The introduction of LankaSign digital 
signatures for internal purpose has cut 
down on paperwork significantly and 
used extensively during the pandemic 
to become a paperless office. The usage 
of CDs for cheque clearing is no longer 
in use with the introduction of an online 
system which again linked to a cut down 
in total emissions due to the business 
activities of LankaClear. 

With the regulations and awareness 
programs initiated by LankaClear, all 
waste is segregated and sent for recycling 
or disposal based on the type of waste. 
Awareness and monitoring programs 
have significantly contributed to achieving 
100% waste segregation and addressing 
environmental concerns. 

Energy Management 
LankaClear initiated a new state-of-the-
art data centre which is more efficient 
than the previous data centre. The total 
and sectional energy consumption is 
regularly monitored and recorded to 
make sure that the efficiency of the 
system is always higher which will save 
energy as well as reduce emissions. All 
the staff was requested to switch off AC, 
lights, and computers when they leave the 
office. Several awareness programmes 
were conducted to achieve this target. 
Furthermore, all bulbs were replaced with 
highly efficient LED bulbs to reduce energy 
wastage.

Impact of Online and Mobile 
Transactions on Sustainability 
Online transactions can be identified as 
one of the most convenient means to 
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transfer money from a bank to another 
bank and pay bills including electricity 
bills, water bills, telephone bills, etc. For 
instance, with tons of duties piled up 
at the place of work, wasting time for 
deposits and paying bills in never-ending 
queues at banks would lead to much 
inconvenience and discomfort. 

But if people tend to transfer money and 
pay their bills online, all those unnecessary 
burdens will be off their shoulders. 
The time spent and cost incurred for 
transportation to pay the bills would be 
saved as they can pay wherever they 
are. Further people do not have to worry 
about whether the bank is closed or not 
as most online transactions happen via 
LankaPay Realtime Payment Network 
(CEFTS) within 30 seconds. The time that 
is spent on counting the cash stack can 
be saved when doing transactions online. 
And above all, the most cumbersome step, 
which people dislike the most is filling out 
numerous forms just to pay a single bill is 
eliminated. 

Analyzing the situation in detail, online 
transactions can be recognized as an 
effortless, trouble-free, and simple mode 
to augment the concept of sustainability. 

As an organisation driving towards 
success, implementing the sustainable 
concept more widely within the 
organisation is vital. To promote this 
concept within the business, the 
governance structure should explicitly 
and directly consider the environmental 
and social performance of the company 
which holds a major role in sustainable 
development in addition to financial 
performance. 

Therefore, while the company’s direct 
negative environmental impacts 
are minimized, its indirect positive 
environmental impacts are much more 
significant and also save time, as an 
increasing number of Sri Lankans are 
expected to move toward a paperless 

future electronic and mobile transactions 
powered by the LankaPay.

Minimising Environmental Impacts 
As a responsible corporate entity and 
as the operator of the National Payment 
Network, LankaClear is conscious of its 
environmental responsibility and has 
also introduced many internal processes 
to identify and minimise potential direct 
negative environmental impacts. 

At LankaClear (Pvt) Ltd. every possible 
effort is put forward in making sure 
all e-waste produced is disposed of 
according to the current best practices. 
As a technology-intensive company, it is 
absolutely critical to ensure all e-waste 
corresponding to servers, storage drives, 
and other portable media are disposed 
of and recycled without compromising 
sensitive data which meets the guidelines 
issued by the Central Environmental 
Authority (CEA) of Sri Lanka. A similar 
process is followed when disposing of 
archived CITS CDs. Moving forward the 
requirement to archive CDs is greatly 
reduced due to the increase of online 
clearing cycles and high reliability of VPN 
services has shifted the archival media 
mostly to online modes. The company 
expects to dispose of the e-waste 
accumulated due to the completed 
Common Card and Payment Switch 
Server upgrade, upcoming head office 
refurbishment, and completed staff 
workstation upgrades in an eco-friendly 
manner.

Hazardous waste such as used lead-acid 
batteries are returned to the authorised 
local agent for proper disposal which 
ensures no waste is used for landfills or 
hazardous materials added to the soil. 
This is a commitment that LankaClear 
has maintained since its inception and to 
date. The company has not participated 
in or encouraged any landfills which 
signifies the company’s commitment 
to environmental conservation and 
sustainability. Effectively the company has 

taken substantial measures to reduce its 
carbon footprint by implementing, 

1) Close monitoring of energy 
consumption through sectional 
measurement and monitoring of 
different work areas (data centre, 
office area, etc.) 

2) Lighting in common areas is provided 
with the use of LED lights and natural 
light is integrated into office areas 
where possible. 

3) Generator fuel consumption is 
monitored in each run and test 
runs are scheduled to optimize 
consumption and equipment wear 
and tear. 

4) Water consumption on site is closely 
monitored and the use of air-cooled 
precision air conditioners for the 
data center has led to minimum use 
of water usage by the data centre 
infrastructure. 

5) Inverter-type air conditioners are 
used for comfort cooling in office 
spaces fitted with micro energy 
meters to monitor and optimize 
energy consumption while strictly 
non-CFC-based refrigerants are 
used. 

6) Municipal waste is segregated into 
organic and inorganic waste to be 
disposed of in an environmentally 
friendly manner. 

7) All e-waste is sent for recycling to a 
CEA-approved recycling company. 

8) Automated systems and procedures 
have been implemented to reduce 
physical printing requirements, 
thereby reducing paper consumption 
as a result of business activities.

9) Recycling office paper waste to 
produce notebooks for staff and 
other stakeholders making optimal 
use of resources.
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Highlights 

Type of Waste Quantities (2021/22) Method of Disposal 

UPS Batteries (units) 48 Sealed lead batteries handed over 
to local authorized agent 

Landfills 0 Zero landfills from LankaClear 
business operations 

The Company has further strengthened its commitment towards greater sustainability 
by implementing best practices in green building concepts in its new data centre 
construction with the integration of high-efficiency precision air conditioning units and 
UPS systems along with sectional measurement to ensure higher efficiencies which 
would lead to improved margins. At its core structure, the data centre dry walls are 
constructed using compressed paddy straw boards which are fully recyclable and are 
manufactured locally according to international standards while ensuring optimum fire 
protection capability using native paddy waste. 

Moving forward the Company hopes to strengthen its commitment towards greater 
sustainability by implementing green practices, using renewable energy, and several 
other practices which would contribute to better efficiencies within the organization and 
further reduce any adverse environmental impacts. 

All the stakeholders of the organization, including both internal and external parties, 
have been made aware of the positive consequences of working in accordance with the 
concept of sustainable development. We also understand the numerous benefits that 
can be obtained via these initiatives, including effective use of resources, reduced costs 
and wastage, and improved staff morale. Finally, all these lead to an enhanced business 
image, which would help to identify and undertake new business opportunities and 
ventures.

Power Consumption (Kwh) Diesel Consumption (L)

286,388 (DRS) 1489.39

298,195 (HO)     
 

Paper Consumption (Kg)

Paper Consumption 2020/21 402.5

Paper Consumption 2021/22 245

Paper Consumption Savings 2021/22 157.5

Number of Trees Saved (Unit) 3.78

Natural Capital
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As the operator of the National Payment 
Network, LankaClear has been engaging 
with multiple stakeholders including 
both direct and indirect customers in 
the financial sector. The Company’s 
stakeholder engagement process has 
evolved over the years and is illustrated 
below.

Stakeholder Identification 
The Company’s stakeholders were clearly 
identified via a comprehensive process 
governed by the criteria depicted in the 
diagram. 

1. Those who exhibited all three 
of the identified characteristics 
were considered as the critical 
stakeholders for engagement (a) 
- Central Bank of Sri Lanka as 
the regulator, shareholders, 
other relevant ministries and 
government institutions, Board 
of Directors, management and 
employees, licensed commercial 
banks and major suppliers.

2. Those who exhibited two of the 
identified characteristics were 
identified as the next most important 
stakeholders for engagement. (b, c 
& d) - Shareholders other than 
those who are in the Board, 
competitors, FinTech apps and 
customers.  

3. Those who exhibited only 
one or none of the identified 
characteristics were treated with 
the lowest significance (e, f, g and 
h) - Non-shareholder customers, 
suppliers, international business 
partners, auditors, media, 
agencies, industry bodies and 
professional institutes. 

h

e

d c

fb

g

a

Influenced by 
LankaClear 
Activities 
Positively or 
Negatively

Power to 
Influence Legally, 
Financially and 
Operationally

Influenced Over 
Performance of
LankaClear

Stakeholder Engagement 
Process
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Stakeholders & Method of Engagement 2021/22
A close engagement and careful management of activities with the relevant stakeholders was a critical business activity. In order to 
ensure that the Company achieves its planned outcomes, a comprehensive mechanism to engage with each stakeholder category was 
designed and implemented. The priority and the effort of the stakeholder engagement was based on the above selection criteria. The 
frequency at which such engagements takes place, methods of engagement, other material aspects with regard to stakeholders and 
our responses are listed in the table below.

01. Central Bank of Sri Lanka

Description Central Bank of Sri Lanka is the financial sector regulator and the largest shareholder of LankaClear. The 
National Payment Network is operated under the guidance and approval of the Central Bank of Sri Lanka. 
LankaClear needs to collaborate with the Central Bank of Sri Lanka at multiple levels in designing, implementing 
and driving an agenda for financial inclusivity via the national payment network.

Method of 
Engagement

�� Support and assist in devising and executing the payment systems road map of the Central Bank via the 
National Payment Council 

�� Discussions at monthly Board meetings and other policy-driven initiatives such as regular meetings and 
forums 

�� Obtaining support and advisory services on all regulatory matters related to payments and settlements - 
general directions , mandates, participant approvals 

�� Consultancy on best business practices 
�� Through the provision of settlement related financial services 
�� Driving new payment and settlement initiatives for the banking and finance sector 
�� Driving awareness amongst industry stakeholders 
�� Joint initiatives towards driving adoption of electronic and digital payments. One of such notable initiatives 

implemented during the year was the launch of national remittance mobile application - LankaRemit

02. Board of Directors

Description The Board constitutes of two Directors and the Chairman of Board is nominated by Central Bank of Sri Lanka, 
two Directors representing the two state banks, two Directors representing the private local commercial banks, 
one Director representing the branches of the foreign banks and one Observer representing the Sri Lanka 
Banks’ Association.

Method of 
Engagement

�� Engagement at monthly Board meetings 
�� Via submitting Board papers for approval and information 
�� Engagement in Board HR, Risk and Audit Committee meetings (Refer Details under the Corporate 

Governance Section) 
�� One-on-one engagements as required 
�� Monthly and quarterly management accounts and annual audited financial statements

03. Shareholders

Description Central Bank and all Licensed Commercial Banks which have contributed to the share capital of LankaClear.

Method of 
Engagement

�� AGM held on 6th August 2021
�� Annual/monthly reports and circulations

Stakeholder Engagement Process
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04. Banks, Non-bank Financial Institutions and Other Select Corporates

Description All licensed banks and non-banking financial institutions serve as direct customers of LankaClear as all its 
services are offered via those institutions. The company also provides a limited set of customised solutions 
on digital security and other payment related services outside the scope of the national switch to a selected 
number of corporate customers and government organisations.

Method of 
Engagement

�� The company assigned account managers for high volume member banks and NBFIs who act as 
relationship managers for those banks. Review meetings are held weekly and the account managers 
actively engage with those banks in their interactions with LankaClear.

�� LankaClear Member Portal was launched as an add-in to the company website allowing permitted staff of 
member banks to access information relating to LankaClear products and services conveniently. 

�� Customer satisfaction surveys are conducted annually
�� LankaPay Technnovation Awards has been a great platform to promote healthy competition among 

member institutions. LankaClear organized LankaPay Technnovation Awards for the 4th consecutive 
year in 2022 March, attended by over 200 participants mainly decision making level officials of member 
institutions.

�� Conducted an awareness session on legal validity of digital signatures for banks in association with ICTA.
�� LankaPay Interbank Quiz Competition conducted for the second year.
�� LankaClear engages with its member institutions on a regular basis;

�y through the provision of clearing and other services 
�y progress review meetings 
�y through the charges levied for LankaClear services 
�y providing advisory services 
�y training and awareness programmes on LankaClear products and services. During the year 12 trainings 

were conducted for member banks, NBFIs and FinTech apps
�y Joint promotions - during the year LankaClear conducted over 13 joint promotional activities engaging 

banks, NBFIs and FinTechs for JustPay.

05. Relevant Ministries and Government Institutions

Description The company works closely with the Ministry of Finance, Ministry of Telecommunication and Digital 
Infrastructure and other ministries and government institutions when required to facilitate citizen payments 
towards government services as well as digital certificate based services.

Method of 
Engagement

�� Meetings and deliberations relating to payment related policy making and e-Government initiatives. 
Amongst numerous government agencies that LankaClear closely associated during the year are Ministry 
of Digital Infrastructure, Ministry of Transport, National Transport Commission NTC), Sri Lanka Transport 
Board (SLTB), ICTA, Sri Lanka Customs, Sri Lanka Port Authority, Inland Revenue Department, Import Export 
Control Department, BoI, Sri Lanka Standard Institute and EPF Department.

�� Together with ICTA a mandate was issued to all government institutions via Presidential Secretariat 
directing all government institutions to accept LankaSign digital certificates

�� Together with Sri Lanka Customs and Inland Revenue Department, LankaClear conducted awareness 
sessions for their customers.

�� LankaClear work closely with several government institutions with regard to LankaPay Government 
Payment Platform. 

�� Chairman of ICTA headed the Judging panel of LankaPay Technnovation Awards. LankaClear also 
collaborated with ICTA for several e-government projects during the year.

�� LankaClear partnered with the Ministry of Transport, SLTB and NTC to launch the Sri Lanka Transit Card 
project.
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06. Employees

Description A core set of stakeholders equipped with special technology and financial industry related skills and experience 
in operating the National Payment Network.

Method of 
Engagement

Engagement with employees happens at multiple levels and done extensively, which is described in detail under 
the Human Capital Development section of this report.

07. Customers

Description Any Sri Lankan with a bank account is potentially a consumer of our services. They are the ultimate beneficiaries 
of convenience provided through our product offerings. They are customers of our member banks and financial 
institutions which can be individuals, merchants, corporates as well as government institutions. Their adoption 
of electronic payments and digital payment instruments directly affect the business outcomes of LankaClear.

Method of 
Engagement

�� Advertising on radio, print and social media. 
�� On air promotions with radio stations
�� Social media engagement campaigns 
�� Market research activities. During the year, LankaClear carried out a qualitative research to concept test 

the LankaPay card.
�� LankaClear carried out a social media campaign to counter social engineering towards raising public 

awareness on financial scams and how to prevent them. 
�� Interactions through joint promotions with banks and JustPay enabled app. LankaClear carried our several 

common promotions for JustPay and exclusive promotions with a few selected JustPay enabled apps during 
the year.

�� Media releases, strategic PR and blogs

08. Competitors

Description The biggest competitor of digital payments is cash. Being a cash-based economy where over 95% of the 
transactions are taking place in cash, LankaClear considers its biggest competition to be coming from cash. 
Other organisations who carry out similar business activities as LankaClear in the local market such as 
international card schemes are the other competitors.

Method of 
Engagement

�� With the launch of the National Card Scheme (NCS) the only domestic card scheme in Sri Lanka, the 
Company has entered in to a direct competition with existing International Cards Schemes to compete for 
the payment card industry in Sri Lanka.

�� LankaClear considers its biggest competition to come from the habit of using cash with over 95% of retail 
transactions taking place via cash. In this light, the Company constantly monitors the market to understand 
the emerging and unmet needs of the public, as our prime objective is to promote financial inclusivity by 
ensuring that our offerings are accessible, affordable to a larger segment of the population in addition to 
being convenient and secure.

09. Suppliers

Description Suppliers/vendors of technology solutions play a vital role in providing and supporting the world-class 
technology backend on which the mission critical National Payment Network is being operated. 
LankaClear has identified two categories under this stakeholder group. The major suppliers are those who 
provide operational critical services and supplies; and other suppliers who provide non- critical services and 
supplies.

Method of 
Engagement

�� In-house vendor support staff 
�� The 24x7x365 service support 
�� Suppliers’ forums (local/foreign) 
�� Tender/RFP/EOI procedures 
�� Timely payments 
�� Briefing meetings 
�� Scheduled meetings with existing vendors 
�� Awareness sessions conducted by vendors

Stakeholder Engagement Process
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10. International Business Partners – JCB International

Description LankaClear has partnered with JCB International to establish the National Card Scheme and facilitate the 
domestic payment card which is co-branded with JCB International.

Method of 
Engagement

�� Service provision to LankaClear customers internationally 
�� Ongoing agreements 
�� Technology sharing 
�� Brand support given to LankaClear
�� Brand and Marketing support given to LankaClear

11. Third Party Payment App Developers (Fintech)

Description LankaClear collaborates with innovative software development companies that create creative payment 
applications and their acquiring financial institutions to facilitate initiatives such as JustPay.

Method of 
Engagement

�� LankaClear closely associate with premier industry bodies FITIS, BCS Sri Lanka Region, Computer Society of 
Sri Lanka towards raising awareness on LankaClear product offerings amongst IT fraternity. 

�� LankaClear continued with the joint initiative with BCS Sri Lanka to support 'The Best Mobile Payment 
Application of the Year' category at the NBQSA 2021. 

�� LankaClear GM/CEO was the Deputy Chairman of FITIS Digital Services Chapter.
�� Technical guidance. 
�� Facilitating partnerships with LankaClear members to promote such payment application. 

12. Auditors

Description Auditors of LankaClear carry out the following external audits: 
�� Financial audits – internal & external audits
�� IT audits 
�� Systems security audits 
�� Compliance and procedural audits

Method of 
Engagement

�� Auditors’ reports 
�� Meetings with Board Audit Committee, management, etc. 
�� Advisory and assurance services 
�� Provision of information required to auditors as and when requested 

13. Media

Description LankaClear intends on local media in creating awareness for its services under a single umbrella brand 
‘LankaPay’. Given the national significance of the role played by the company, the media plays a pivotal role 
in successful implementation of the company’s thought leadership initiatives which is essential in shaping 
public opinion on the Company and its services. This is to put a concerted effort into building the brand equity 
(awareness and loyalty). 
The Company engaged with media buying houses, electronic media stations, newsprint publications, business 
editors, leading business magazines and outdoor advertising agencies during the year under review to drive 
awareness in addition to social media which too has become an integral part of the company’s media mix.

Method of 
Engagement

�� Media events such as press conferences 
�� Press releases and interviews 
�� Press advertisements 
�� One-on-one engagements and meetings 
�� Other goodwill measures such as sponsorships 

Capital Management  Stakeholder Engagement Process
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14. Agencies

Description LankaClear engaged with a wide range of external agencies to carry out its branding and communications 
related activities. These include advertising, media buying, outdoor, digital media, PR and research agencies, etc.

Method of 
Engagement

�� Execution of communications and branding activities
�� Strategy meetings/pitch presentations and reviews 
�� Timely payments 

15. Industry Bodies and Professional Institutes

Description LankaClear closely work with Sri Lanka Bank’s Association (SLBA). Secretary General of SLBA serves on our 
Board as an Observer. GM/CEO of LankaClear serves on the Board of SL CERT. He also served as the Digital 
Services Chapter - Deputy Chairman of FITIS. LankaClear has associated with AAT SL, CIMA Sri Lanka, FITIS, Bar 
Association of Sri Lanka, Ceylon Chamber of Commerce – SME Chamber and BCS Sri Lanka also during the year.

Stakeholder Feedback & Review 2021/22
Status of material aspects with regard to stakeholders during the year 2021/22 are elaborated in the below table. 

Stakeholder Group Feedback under each Material Aspect

Central Bank 
of Sri Lanka, 
Member Banks, 
NBFIs, FinTechs, 
Customers

Ensure trust and high availability of all payment systems in LankaPay National Payment Network

�� We are continuously committed to ensure delivery cut-off times, no breaches on financially and legally 
critical rules and regulations, ensuring system patches are implemented at the earliest possible times, 
timely update of operations documents, identification and filling skill gaps, ensure required disaster 
recovery site live runs and Business Continuity Plan Management. 

�� During the year, uptime of 99.72% and 100% was maintained for CITS and CCAPS respectively. 

�� During the year under review, we implemented a brand new primary data centre to further strengthen 
the IT and security infrastructure of the organisation. We designed and built our brand new state-of-the-
art data centre with a 2 hours of fire resistance enclosure, which is aligned with ‘Uptime Tier 3’ standard 
and has capabilities of N+1 availability on power architected with primary and secondary feeders and 
precision air-conditioning system. 

�� During the year under review, a major upgrade of the infrastructure of Common Card and Payment 
Switch was undertaken with respect to hardware and software enhancing the capacity and the security 
in many folds.

Enhance information security and compliance

LankaClear as the first entity in Sri Lanka to obtain the certification of PCI-DSS reaffirmed the compliance for 
the 6th consecutive year as well, which affirmed the best of class security standards. Regular scans, tests and 
audits were carried out during the year to identify gaps, which were bridged immediately.

Implement industrial best practices for LankaClear products

�� Obtaining PCI-DSS recertification for CCAPS 
�� Obtaining ISO 27001 recertification for LankaSign 
�� Maintaining Business Continuity Plan Management to the industry best practices

Stakeholder Engagement Process
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Stakeholder Group Feedback under each Material Aspect

Timely introduction of innovative and efficient payment solutions and services to best meet customer 
expectations whilst driving financial inclusivity 

We have continuously strived to deliver value for customers where new products were introduced while 
others were further improved. During the year under review; 
�� JustPay is in full-scale operation with many Fintech applications enabling customers to make retail 

payments using their bank accounts via the JustPay enabled apps. 
�� Facilitating the operation of LankaQR, the company has enabled multi bank QR payments through a 

unified QR code introduced in 2020 under the guidance of the Central Bank
�� During the year under review, the company introduced LankaRemit, national remittance mobile 

application towards attracting remittances through formal channels
�� LankaClear through LankaPay Government Payment Platform extended its services to the Inland 

Revenue Department, Board of Investment, Sri Lanka Ports Authority, Sri Lanka Customs and e-Local 
Government to facilitate tax and government payments. This would provide a more convenient and 
economical option to the existing manual process, which is cumbersome and time consuming. With the 
new system, customers could make payments online and in real-time by simply logging into the member 
banks’ internet banking portal. 

�� Significant progress was made to the National Card Scheme towards making ‘cards’ to be an affordable 
option to many customers. MCB Bank was the first bank to issue a debit card under NCS initiative in 
August 2018, which is a Chip based (EMV) co-branded LankaPay card with international acceptance via 
JCB network. LankaClear is in the process of introducing “LankaPay 2in1” card, a chip based NFC card 
with both debit and stored value functionality for providing a secure tap-and-go convenience for low 
value payments. Currently LankaClear together with National Transport Commission, Sri Lanka Transport 
Board and People’s Bank is working towards issuing the first ever Transit Card to Sri Lanka with use of 
‘LankaPay 2in1’ functionality. 

�� Common QR code for financial sector and Payment Exchange Number (PEN) which are novel solutions 
were introduced, which gained momentum during the year. 

Manage banks and financial institution integration with LankaClear products

Smooth integration of the new participants to LankaClear product is a vital task in an environment where the 
product line is continuously enhancing. 

The task was achieved whilst keeping the systems stable and providing the best experience for new 
participants.

Customer Enhance customer satisfaction levels

�� Conduct quarterly progress review meetings, achieving laid out KPI targets. 
�� Market research 
�� Customer surveys during brand activations and awareness campaigns 
�� We have taken continuous efforts to celebrate International Customer Service Week to recognize 

the importance of customers and appreciate the internal and external customer for their day-to-day 
support. 

�� All inquiries/activities and complaints are resolved within the stipulated target time-lines unless 
otherwise extended due to official reasons. 

�� Inquires/activities are addressed within 24 hours
�� Complaints are addressed within 48 hours 

Capital Management  Stakeholder Engagement Process
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Stakeholder Group Feedback under each Material Aspect

Management Ensure the availability of highly qualified, trained, efficient and motivated team of staff members

Even though the year was very challenging, the company was able to create many learning and development 
opportunities to our employees in the accomplishment of new projects. During the period under review 
the company was able to fill many of the identified competency gaps even though the facilitating of external 
trainings were beyond our reach.

Employees Ensure fair and equitable compensation and benefits to all employees

Amidst challenging financial conditions full salary amounts were paid with fair increments and bonuses.

Shareholders, 
Management, 
Employees

Enhancing overall financial health of the organisation through driving increasing revenue and 
profitability growth while safeguarding company assets

Annual and monthly revenue profit targets were set and financial performance was monitored on a regular basis. 

Further cost management initiatives were undertaken continuously. Cost items were regularly monitored and 
procurements were negotiated to obtain best prices in the market. 

Account management initiated special attention on enhancing revenue and driving required promotional 
activities and customer enrolments. 

The close monitoring of revenue accounts and cost management initiatives were instrumental in achieving the 
improved financial results. 

Achieving healthy financial results over the years is a key indicator to sound financial performance and the 
health of the organisation and further details are discussed under financial review.

Shareholders, 
Management, 
Suppliers

Ensuring of continued contractual safeguards and contractual rights

Timely negotiation, drafting and execution of new contracts or renewing of existing contracts and timely 
serving of contractual/legal notices, letters of demand or imposition of penalties against defaulting parties. 

Shareholders, 
Management, 
Customers

Take the LankaPay brand to the masses

Brand building and creating awareness is one of the key challenges that LankaClear had to address to make 
optimum use of the payment systems offered for the greater benefit of society, which would lead to adequate 
revenue generation for the company and its members. 

During the year under review, a strong promotional brand development plan was executed through print, 
media, social media campaigns, and event sponsorships. 

LankaClear conducted a social media campaign towards raising public awareness on social engineering and 
preventing financial scams as a means to addressing the fear factor which is one of the primary deterrent for 
adopting digital payments and towards safeguarding the customers from rising financial crimes across the board. 

The company has been working with FinTech apps connected to JustPay that cater to the masses in driving 
digital adopting amongst underserved masses. It was heartening to note that large percentage of JustPay 
transactions are below Rs. 250 in value and comes from areas outside western province.
 
Company carried out several radio campaigns in Sinhala and Tamil languages during the year towards raising 
awareness on LankaPay products. 

The company has allocated a minimum of 4 social media posts per month for Sinhala and Tamil language 
communications.

Stakeholder Engagement Process
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Stakeholder Group Feedback under each Material Aspect

Shareholders, 
Management, 
Customers, 
General Public

Contribute for sustainable development

Contribution for sustainable development is one of the key expectations of the stakeholders. 
We made our best efforts to contribute to sustainable development. Our highest energy consumers were 
data centres at primary and disaster recovery sites, which were designed to minimise the energy use 
with technologies such as use of virtual servers, identifying optimum temperature levels etc. LankaClear 
implemented a process to revamp its data centre to further reduce its power consumption. 

The possibility of generating power through solar energy was also looked into, which would be a more 
sustainable and cleaner source of energy. 

Sustainable development is further discussed under the sustainable development section.

Central Bank 
of Sri Lanka, 
Shareholders, 
Management, 
Customers,  
General Public 
and Media

Maintaining good governance controls

Maintaining good governance within the organisation is an essential aspect as an organisation with a national 
importance. The higher levels of governance and controls maintained at all times within LankaClear is 
discussed in detail under the Governance section.

Management, 
Employees, 
Customers, 
General Public, 
Media

Promoting social harmony by contributing for a worthy CSR cause

We are at LankaClear value of being a responsible corporate citizen. During the year the company donated an 
oxygen manifold system with automatic control panel with 500L / min to Colombo South Teaching Hospital

LankaPay Technnovation Awards 2022
LankaPay Technnovation Awards is 
Sri Lanka’s first and the only Payment 
Technology Innovation Awards initiated 
with the objective of recognizing the 
pioneers of the country’s payment 
technology innovations, who are steadfast 
to the cause of providing excellence 
and convenience by promoting digital 
payments. Aptly themed ‘Honouring the 
Digital Superheroes’, this year’s event 
recognized the silent contribution, of 
Banks, NBFIs and FinTechs toward helping 
businesses, the public and the economy 
to perform smoothly despite numerous 
challenges in the midst of the pandemic.

The 4th edition of the LankaPay 
Technnovation Awards 2022 was held as 
a solemn event at the Shangri-la Hotel 
Colombo on 28th March 2022 where the 
Bank of Ceylon clinched the pinnacle of 
awards winning the Gold Award for Overall 
Excellence in Interbank Digital Payments 
under the Banking Institutions Category; 
while Sampath Bank and Hatton National 
Bank bagging the Overall Silver and 
Bronze Awards, respectively. Commercial 
Bank was adjured the Overall Merit Award 
Winner under banking institutions. LOLC 
Finance PLC emerged as the Overall Gold 
Award Winner under the Non-banking 
Financial Institutions (NBFIs) Category 
while LB Finance secured Overall Silver.

The event was held under the patronage 
of Chief Guest - Hon. Namal Rajapaksa, 
Minister of Youth & Sports, Minister 
of Development Co-ordination and 
Monitoring and State Minister of Digital 
Technology and Enterprise Development; 
and Guest of Honour - Mr. Jayantha 
De Silva, Secretary to the Ministry of 
Technology with the participation of 
nearly 200 guests - the banking fraternity 
glitterier.
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The Platinum Sponsor of the event was 
Microsoft while the Gold Sponsor was 
BPC Banking Technologies. JCB and 
NETS, Singapore were onboard as Silver 
Sponsors. Daily Mirror, Daily FT, Sunday 
Times, Daily Mirror Online, FM Derana and 
TV Derana were the media sponsors. 

The Chairman of the Panel of Judges 
of LankaPay Technnovation Awards 

Overall Gold Award Winner – Bank of Ceylon Overall Silver Award Winner – Sampath Bank PLC

Overall Bronze Award Winner – Hatton 
National Bank PLC

Overall Merit Award Winner – Commercial 
Bank of Ceylon PLC

Winners for the Overall Excellence in Interbank Digital Payments under the Banking 
Institutions Category 
 

Overall Gold Award Winner – LOLC Finance PLC

Overall Silver Award Winner – LB Finance PLC 

Winners for the Overall Excellence in 
Interbank Digital Payments under the 
Non-banking Financial Institutions 
(NBFIs) Category

Panel of Judges of LankaPay Technnovation Awards 2022

Stakeholder Engagement Process

2022 was the Chairman of ICTA and 
Board Member - SL CERT, Mr. Oshada 
Senanayake. The other members of 
the panel of judges were Mr. Asite 
Talwatte FCA, FCMA, MBA (SriJ), Chairman 
Management Systems (Pvt) Ltd and 
Past President - CIMA and CA Sri Lanka; 
Dr. (Hon DCL) Linda Speldewinde, 
Chairperson/Founder - Design Corp 
Group of Companies; Mr. Lasantha 

Capital Management  Stakeholder Engagement Process

Wickremasinghe, Past President - Institute 
of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka 
and Partner BR De Silva; Mr. Rajeeva 
Bandaranaike, Chief Executive Officer 
of Colombo Stock Exchange; Mr. Manil 
Jayesinghe (FCA, FCMA, CPFA), Country 
Managing Partner of Ernst & Young Sri 
Lanka& Maldives and Past President – 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri 
Lanka. 
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LankaPay Technnovation Awards 2022
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Altogether 44 awards under 10 categories were presented at the event and the Gold Award winners were; 

Gold Award Winners 

01. Bank of the Year for Excellence in Customer Convenience

Category A Category B Category C Category D

  

02. Best Common ATM Enabler of the Year

Category A Category B Category C

03. Financial Institution of the Year for Financial Inclusivity

Category A Category B Category C Category D

04. Most Innovative Bank of the Year

05. Most Popular Digital Payment Product 

Internet and Mobile Banking Mobile Payment App FinTech

Bank of Ceylon (Product: B App) LB Finance (Product: CIM) Pay Master Solutions (Pvt) Limited – 
(Product: Pay Master)

Stakeholder Engagement Process
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06. Best Bank for Retail Payments

07. Best Mobile Application for Retail Payments Via JustPay 

Via JustPay Via LankaQR

Banks and Non-Banking 
Financial Institutions 

category

FinTech  
category

Banks and Non-Banking 
Financial Institutions 

category

FinTech  
category

LOLC Finance PLC  
(Product: iPay)

MegaPay (Pvt) Limited 
(Product: Pay&Go)

People’s Bank  
(Peoples Pay)

Orel Corporation (Private) 
Limited (Product: OrelPay)

08. Best Acquirer on LankaPay Online Payment Platform

09. Financial Institution for Best Digital Payment Strategy

10. Best LankaPay Card Implementor of the Year

Capital Management  Stakeholder Engagement Process
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One for All  
in Speed
With the changing lifestyles and the need to handle 
multiple things simultaneously, the speed at which the 
services are offered and consumed becomes critical. By 
incorporating the latest innovations and technologies, 
LankaClear is making wait times shorter and offering 
services much faster by introducing new services and 
improving the existing ones. Need of the hour is to 
reimagine and digitize the entire customer journey to 
be relevant to them and we believe that going digital in 
many spheres enables speed.
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Corporate 
Governance

We at LankaClear believe that Corporate 
Governance is the mechanism by which 
a company is directed, controlled, and 
monitored in the right direction. This 
includes mechanisms, rules, practices, 
processes, and procedures, which 
essentially involve balancing the interest 
of the Company’s stakeholders, such 
as shareholders, board of directors, 
management, employees, customers, 
suppliers, creditors, government, and the 
community as a whole whilst specifying 
the rights and responsibilities of each 
stakeholder for better decision making. By 
doing so, it provides a framework through 
which the objectives of the Company are 
set and means of attaining same while 
periodically monitoring its performance 
and compliance. 

Accordingly, LankaClear operates within 
a good Integrated Corporate Governance 
Framework which is built on the core 
principles of; 

1. Responsibility and Accountability 
2. Respect for others as who they are
3. Being a catalyst for change 
4. Leadership 
5. Integrity and Trust 
6. Availability and Accessibility 
7. Teamwork and Collaboration 

With adherence to the mandatory 
requirements of the Companies Act 
No 07 of 2007, the directions, rules, 
regulations and circulars issued by the 
Central Bank of Sri Lanka from time to 
time, rules and regulations of the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka 
and legislations of the government of Sir 
Lanka as applicable, PCIDSS requirements 
and also with the guidance of accepted 
National and/ or International policies, 
procedures and best practices relevant to 
the business of LankaClear.

We have also established our own set 
of internal policies and procedures 
in meeting accepted best practices 
in governance with the guidance and 

direction of the Board of Directors to ensure a long-term sustainable economic growth 
of LankaClear.

The Governance Structure of LankaClear, which is given below, facilitates the efficient 
operation of its business while encouraging its employees to elevate the Corporate 
Governance standards at all times. LankaClear has established a sound transparent 
communication channel to communicate all decisions, policies, processes and 
procedures laid down by the Board to all employee levels by internal circulars; the 
authority has been given to the Senior Management to review the same periodically and 
inform the Board whether any amendments are required to ensure that all elements of 
its governance framework are fit for its purpose. 

LankaClear further ensures that the Company has sound levels of risk management 
processes, and also periodic, effective financial, operational and IT/IS audits are 
performed and findings are closely monitored through risk management not merely to 
satisfy regulatory requirements, but also to showcase transparency of LankaClear to all 
our stakeholders and to the general public. 

Corporate Governance Framework
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Governance Structure
Our governance structure facilitates efficient operation while ensuring sufficient checks and balances to safeguard the rights and 
interests of all stakeholders and it also ensures compliance with regulatory requirements and internal policies.

A.1 the Board of Directors
The Company’s Articles of Association 
define LankaClear’s purpose, duties and 
responsibilities of its members. The Board 
of Directors is the Company’s highest 
governing body and the formation of the 
Board is as stipulated in the Articles of 
Association. Conscious of their obligation 
to comply with applicable laws and 
regulations, the Board of Directors of 
LankaClear have committed themselves to 
ensure that there is effective overseeing of 
the business affairs of the Company and 

to ensure that all such business affairs of 
the Company are conducted adhering to 
the best practices and highest business 
standards.

The Board of Directors is the ultimate 
governing body which directs, leads 
and controls LankaClear. It comprises 
eight Non-Executive Directors who are 
eminent professionals in their respective 
fields who possess the skills, expertise 
and knowledge complemented with a 
high sense of integrity and independent 

judgement, who collectively contributes 
towards the effective control and overall 
management of the Company. Individual 
profiles of the Board of Directors are given 
under the Board of Directors section of 
this Annual Report on pages 36 to 40. 

Composition of the Board of Directors:
�� The Chairman is appointed by the 

Governor of the Central Bank of Sri 
Lanka, in accordance with the Articles 
of Association. 

General Manager/
CEO

Manager-Legal

Management & 
Senior Management

Shareholders
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�� Two Directors represent the interest of the Central Bank of Sri Lanka. 
�� Two Directors represent the two state banks. (Bank of Ceylon & People’s Bank)
�� Three Directors are nominated by the Sri Lanka Bank’s Association, two of whom 

represent the private local commercial banks and the other represents foreign 
banks. 

�� The Secretary-General of the Sri Lanka Bank’s Association constitutes the final 
Board member, who participates as an observer and is usually invited to express 
his views. 

The Board is responsible for setting the strategic direction and establishing a sound 
control framework and the ultimate supervision and accountability for the stewardship 
function of the Company. Its overriding objective is to deliver superior returns to 
stakeholders, demonstrate responsible corporate behaviour and act in a transparent 
manner. In all actions taken by the Board, the Directors are expected to exercise their 
business judgment considering the best interests of the Company.

We at LankaClear have adopted best practices stated in the Code of Best Practices 
on Corporate Governance issued by the Securities and Exchange Commission of Sri 
Lanka (SEC) and the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka (CA Sri Lanka). The 
executive summary of which is given as follows.

Rule No. Subject Compliance Status and Comment

A.1.1 Board Meetings The Board meets regularly and there had been 
12 board meetings during the year under review 
(Refer to Table No.1).

A.1.2 Board 
Responsibilities

Separately given in detail in this Report.

A.1.3 Access to 
Independent 
Professional 
Advise

The Board collectively and individually acts in 
accordance with the laws of Sri Lanka. Provisions 
are made for the Directors to seek independent 
professional advice, in furtherance of their duties, 
where necessary.

A.1.4 Access to 
Company 
Secretary

The Board has access to the Company Secretary. 
Details are separately given in this Report.

A.1.5 Independent 
Judgement

The Board brings independent judgment with 
the expertise required for the business of the 
Company.

A.1.6 Dedication of 
Adequate Time 
and Effort by the 
Board

The Board has dedicated adequate time for 
the fulfilment of their duties as Directors of 
LankaClear. Other than attending Board Meetings 
and Sub-Committee Meetings the Board of 
Directors has also contributed to decision-making 
via circular resolution where necessary.

A.1.7 Training for 
Directors

When a new Director is appointed to the Board, 
Chairman will give a brief idea of the business of 
the Company and when necessary LankaClear 
may arrange for the required training or workshop 
for the Directors. 

A.1.2 Board Responsibilities
The business of the Company is 
conducted by its senior managers, 
managers and employees under the 
direction and the supervision of the 
Board. The Board aims at fulfilling its 
responsibilities by creating value that 
is sustainable and beneficial for all 
stakeholders.

The Board is primarily responsible for:
�� Setting strategies, and direction and 

establishing goals for management.
�� Monitoring performance against 

goals and objectives as well as 
ensuring adequate internal control 
with the highest ethical standards.

�� Ensuring the financial health of the 
Company.

�� Appointing the Chief Executive 
Officer and determining the 
remuneration of management and 
staff.

�� Reporting to shareholders.

Board Sub-Committees
The Board has delegated some of its 
functions to Board Sub-Committees while 
retaining final decision-making rights, 
pertaining to matters under the purview 
of these committees.

The Board sub-committees are as follows;

The Board Audit Committee 
The Board Audit Committee comprised of 
three Directors as follows;
a) Mr. W. P. R. H. Fonseka - Chairman
b) Mr. K. V. K. Alwis - Member
c) Mr. E. R. De Silva - Member

The Audit Committee met on three 
occasions (03) during the year under 
review and at these meetings the quarterly 
internal audit reports, Information system 
audit reports and actions taken were 
reviewed, whilst actions to be taken 
were recommended by the Board Audit 
Committee. These actions were reported 
to the Board to ensure compliance and 
governance.

Corporate Governance
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The Board HR Committee 
The Board HR Committee consisted of 
the Chairman of LankaClear (who is also 
the Chairman of this Committee) and two 
members of the Board of Directors as 
follows;
a) Dr. Kenneth G. C. De Zilwa - Chairman 
b) Mr. Ranjith Kodithuwakku - Member 
c) Mr. E. R. de Silva - Member

The terms of reference of the Board 
HR Committee include making 
recommendations to the Board relating 
to the regulation of the organisation 
structure, salary increments, and bonus.

The Board HR Committee held three 
meetings during the year under review. 
Distribution, amendments to salary 
scales, changes to company policies or 
major changes to procedures and the 
final selection of candidates for senior 
management positions. Matters discussed 
and recommendations by the Board HR 
Committee made, detailed in the Board 
HR Committee Report of this Annual 
Report.

Board Integrated Risk Management 
Committee 
The Board Integrated Risk Management 
Committee consisted of three members of 
the Board of Directors as follows;
a) Mr. Ravin Basnayake - Chairman
b) Mr. K.V.K. Alwis - Member
c) Mr. Ranjith Kodithuwakku - Member

The committee is governed by the 
Risk Committee Charter and terms of 
references and reviews significant risks 
and their related mitigations and reports 
back to the LankaClear Board.

The committee held two meetings during 
the year under review. Matters discussed 
and recommendations made appear in 
the Board Integrated Risk Management 
Committee Report of this Annual Report.

Further actions taken in managing the 
risks are highlighted in detail in the 
Enterprise Risk Management section of 
this Annual Report.

Board and Board Sub Committee 
Meetings
The Board held twelve (12) board 
meetings during the year under review 
and the attendance of each Director 
at Board and Board Sub Committee 
meetings are given in the Table No. 01. 
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Table no. 01 - Board and Board Sub-Committees Composition and Attendance - 2021/22

Name Appointments and Resignations 
Made During the year under 
Review

Board 
Meetings

Board 
Audit 

Committee 
Meetings

Board HR 
Committee 
Meetings

Board Risk 
Committee 
Meetings

H
el

d*

Pr
es

en
t

H
el

d*

Pr
es

en
t

H
el

d*

Pr
es

en
t

H
el

d*

Pr
es

en
t

Mr. A.S. Amarasuriya Appointed w.e.f. 01st June 2018
Resigned w.e.f. 31st May 2021

02 02

Dr. Kenneth G.C. De Zilwa - 
Chairman

Appointed w.e.f. 01st June 2021
10 10 02 02

Mr. R. A. A. Jayalath - Director Appointed w.e.f. 05th October 2017 12 11

Mr. K.V.K. Alwis - Director Appointed w.e.f. 05th July 2018 12 12 03 03 02 02

Mr. B.C.Thewarathanthri - 
Director

Appointed w.e.f. 26th February 2019 
Resigned w.e.f. 20th July 2021

04  04

Mr. L.P.B. Talwatte - Director Appointed w.e.f. 31st March 2020 
Resigned w.e.f. 08th July 2021

04 04

Mr. W. P. R. H. Fonseka - Director Appointed w.e.f. 18th May 2020 12 10 03 03

Mr. K.E.D. Sumanasiri -
Alternate Director to Mr. Mr. W. P. 
R. H. Fonseka

Appointed w.e.f. 18th May 2020 
Resigned w.e.f. 23rd November
2021

07 01

Mr. R. Kodituwakku - Director Appointed w.e.f. 21st July 2020 12 11 02 01 02 02

Mr. A. Jonathan Alles - Director Appointed w.e.f. 05th February 2021 
Resigned w.e.f. 09th July 2021

03 02 01 01

Mr. Sanjay Wijemanne - Director Appointed w.e.f. 09th July 2021 09 08

Mr. Lakshman Silva - Director Appointed w.e.f. 17th August 2021 
Resigned w.e.f. 31st December 2021

04 04

Mr.Thimal Perera - Director Appointed w.e.f. 01st January 2022 03 03

Mr.Ravin Basnayake - Director Appointed w.e.f. 21st September 
2021

06 04 01 01

Mr. Rohana Kumara -
Alternate Director to 
Mr. W. P. R. H. Fonseka 

Appointed w.e.f. 23rd November 
2021 05 00

Mr. E. R. de Silva - Observer 
(SLBA)

Appointed w.e.f. 22nd 
August 2017

12 10 03 03 02 02

* Held –Total number of meetings held during the term of office
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Rule No. Subject Compliance Status and Comments

A.2 Chairman and 
CEO

Due to the nature of roles and responsibilities, two different persons hold the positions of 
Chairman and CEO. This ensures the balance of power and authority such that any individual does 
not have any unfettered power of making all decisions.

A.3 Chairman’s Role The primary role of the Chairman is to provide effective leadership to the Board to discharge 
its responsibilities. The Chairman is also responsible to conduct Board proceedings in a proper 
manner by ensuring that the Directors receive accurate, timely and clear information, on the 
Company’s current performance, to enable the Board to take sound decisions, monitor effectively 
and provide advice to promote the success of the Company. 

The General Manager/CEO is responsible for the day to day management of the business of 
LankaClear, in line with the strategy and long term objectives approved by the Board.

A.4 Financial Acumen The Board consists of members who have sufficient financial acumen and knowledge to offer 
guidance on respective matters and business of the Company.

A.5 Board Balance The purpose of having a balanced Board with executive and non-executive directors is to ensure 
that no individual or small group of individuals can dominate the Board’s decision making. 

As given in this Report, the composition of the Board at LankaClear is such that, it has members 
to represent the interest of the Central Bank of Sri Lanka, two State Banks, private local banks, 
foreign banks and also the Sri Lanka Banker’s Association, this composition ensures that one 
individual or group of individuals cannot dominate others.

A.6 Supply of 
Information

The Board was provided with timely and appropriate information by the Management by way of 
Board papers, Information Papers and Circular papers during the year under review. The Board 
sought additional information as and when necessary. 

Board papers are usually sent to the Directors at least 4-5 days before the respective Board 
meetings giving adequate time for Directors to study the related papers and prepare for a 
meaningful discussion at the respective meetings.

A.7 Appointments to 
the Board

The appointment of new directors to the Board is carried out in a transparent manner. Details are 
given under ‘Composition of the Board of Directors’ section in this Report.

A.8 Re-Election At LankaClear, we have a process of re-nomination. The directors nominated by the Board of 
the Sri Lanka Banker’s Association shall unless they earlier vacate their office, hold office for a 
minimum period of one year from the date of nomination and may serve for a further term of one 
year unless otherwise decided against by the nominee.

The Directors nominated by the two state banks and the director nominated by the Governor of 
the Central Bank shall unless they earlier vacate their office, hold office for a period of two years 
from the date of nomination and shall retire at the end of period and unless disqualified, be 
eligible for re- nomination.

A.10 Disclosure of 
information 
in respect of 
Directors 

Details of the Directors are given on their individual profiles, appointments, attendance at the 
Board and Sub-Committee Meetings are given on this Report.

B. Director’s 
Remuneration 

The Board decides the remuneration of the Chairman. The Chairman shall not participate in such 
decision making nor have any influence. The Director’s remuneration is decided by the Board as 
a whole, in which remuneration will be a nominal value. Details of remuneration of the Board as a 
whole are disclosed in note 23 (page 175) to the financial statements. 

Governance  Corporate Governance
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Rule No. Subject Compliance Status and Comments

C. Relations with 
Shareholders and 
Disclosures 

In its desire to maintain good relationships with Shareholders, the Board of LankaClear follows a 
policy of disclosing all relevant information, both financial and non-financial to Shareholders. The 
Board constantly strives to enhance shareholders’ values who have built this winning organisation.

The shareholders are given the opportunity of exercising their rights at the Annual General 
Meeting. Each resolution brought before the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting is voted 
on separately by them. The notice of the Annual General Meeting and the relevant documents 
required are published and sent to the shareholders within the statutory period.

D. Accountability and 
Audit

Financial Reporting
LankaClear has reported a true and fair view of its financial position and performance for the year 
ended 31st March 2021.

The Director’s Report forms part of the Annual Report and the Financial Statements are in 
accordance with the Sri Lanka Accounting Standards for Small and Medium sized Entities (SLFRS for 
SME’s) and the Companies Act No. 07 of 2007 and the generally accepted accounting principles.

Going Concern 
The Board of Directors, upon the recommendation of the Audit Committee, is satisfied that the 
Company has sufficient resources to continue in operation for the foreseeable future.

Internal Control
At LankaClear we have established a sound framework of risk management and internal controls 
and monitoring its effectiveness on a continuous basis.

Audits
In addition to the annual financial audit it is our desire to ensure compliance with the relevant 
directions, rules and circulars by the Central Bank of Sri Lanka. Internal audits are conducted on a 
quarterly basis and audit reports are discussed and required corrective actions to be taken by the 
management is agreed at the Board Audit Committee meetings.

Further, an internal and external IT audits were carried out during the year under review and the 
report by the auditor has been submitted to the Audit Committee for evaluation.

Board Audit Committee
The details and required disclosures of the Board Audit Committee are given on Board Audit 
Committee Report on pages 140 to 141.

IT Governance
Information Technology (IT) landscape is increasingly complex and vulnerable. Also there is an 
unprecedented dependency on the technology and intolerable consequences when technology 
fails. Effective IT governance is required to address such challenges by managing the risks 
associated with IT. 

We at LankaClear believe that the IT governance also plays a pivotal role under the wings of 
corporate governance. Being an organisation powered by IT , it is imperative that LankaClear 
manages all IT related risks to an acceptable level in keeping with required levels of availability 
in services rendered. We manage technology risks by adhering to the IT governance framework 
which identifies the mechanisms to create value and manage risks associated with IT. LankaClear’s 
IT governance framework provides the business with a structure, process and authorities to set 
IT direction and oversee key activities in support of business strategy. Additionally IT governance 
helps LankaClear ensure that key IT decisions are made in alignment with organisation’s overall 
business direction.

Corporate Governance
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Rule No. Subject Compliance Status and Comments

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics
The Code of Conduct is affirmed by the seven core principles/values of the Company which are 
well institutionalised through structured communication. The degree of employee conformance to 
same is monitored and considered in reward recognition scheme. 

Whistle Blowing Policy
A whistle blowing policy was introduced during the year under review enhancing the corporate 
governance of the organisation.

Voluntary Disclosures 
Under the stipulations of the Company’s Act No 07 of 2007, LankaClear is required to provide 
its audited financial statements to all shareholders, at the end of the financial year. LankaClear 
acknowledges the importance of maintaining high standards of governance within the 
organisation and among all stakeholders.

As the National Payment Network, LankaClear voluntarily publishes an Annual Report at the end 
of each fiscal year, and ensures its circulation to all member institutions. In addition, the Annual 
Report is made available to the general public through the LankaClear website. All department 
heads of the Company take direct responsibility for their areas of operations by personally 
providing information. This high level of voluntary disclosure is considered an element of good 
governance by the Board and the Management of LankaClear, as a responsible corporate citizen 
and furthermore as the National Payment Network.

E & F. Institutional 
Investors and 
Other Investors 

The company generally maintains a good relationship with the shareholders and potential 
investors.

G. Sustainability 
Reporting

We believe that the combination of financial performance, brand image, productive workforce 
along with a prudent and independent Board carries a great importance on sustainable 
development. The Company aligns its strategies, plans and goals according to the sustainability 
content on an annual basis. 

H Internet of Things 
and Cyber Security

Cyber security and information security remains at the heart of LankaClear due to its paramount 
importance to the economy and country. We have laid down latest technologies and best 
practices to safeguard information and fight against cyber threats. All the devices connected to 
our network is monitored for security and conformity.

Information systems audits are carried out regularly by the Senior Manager - Information Systems 
Audit and by external expertise audit terms on various scopes and aspects.
The board Integrated Risk Committee deals with all the risks of the organisation including the 
Cyber security at the board level and reports to the Board.

LankaClear Pvt Ltd has been continuing to maintain its certifications on ISO 27001 and PCI DSS. 
Additionally, LankaClear Pvt Ltd maintains an up-to-date vulnerability management programme to 
ensure it remains ahead of the rapidly evolving threat landscape.

LankaClear Pvt Ltd has spread it wings to establish and maintain secure communications between 
entities. LankaSign is the only authorised Certification Service Provider (CSP) in Sri Lanka under the 
National Certification Authority. LankaSign caters to Public Key Infrastructure (PKI) requirements of 
the banking and financial sector & other sectors of the country.
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Senior Management
All members of the senior management team are well qualified and experienced to perform the authorities delegated by the General 
Manager/CEO.

Secretaries to the Board
Managers and Secretaries (Pvt) Ltd., functions as the Secretaries to the Company. The Secretaries are duly registered under the 
regulations and provide the necessary expertise and advice to the Board.

Compliance with Statutory and Regulatory Requirements
A number of statutes govern LankaClear operations. As of March 31, 2022, the Company’s compliance status is listed below. 

Regulation/ACT Noncompliant
Partially 

Compliant 
Fully 

Compliant

The Payment and Settlement Act No. 28 of 2005 y

Electronic Transaction Act No. 19 of 2006 y

Payment Devices Frauds Act No. 30 of 2006 y

Monetary Law Act (Chapter 422) y

Companies Act No. 7 of 2007 y

Circulars issued by the Central Bank of Sri Lanka during the period April 1, 
2014 – March 31, 2022

y

Shop and Office Employees Act No 19 of 1954 y

Right to Information Act No.12 of 2016 y

Corporate Governance
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Enterprise Risk 
Management

LankaClear has a robust and effective 
risk management process where process 
and asset related risks are proactively 
identified, analysed, communicated, and 
managed across the organisation and all 
interested parties are kept well informed. 
This is of paramount importance in order 
for us to operate the National Payment 
Network to facilitate numerous inter-bank 
payment and settlement transactions 
on behalf of all banks and financial 
institutions. 

Our risk management framework, which 
is an integral part of our management 
practices is a proactive approach to 
risk management. It plays a significant 
role in corporate governance as it 
improves decision-making, ensures 
smooth functioning of the business 
operations, enhances accountability, 
and facilitates business continuity and 
resilience to achieve greater profits. 
LankaClear Management is committed 
to adopting ‘Best Practices’ in enterprise 
risk management continuously across 
our operations while striving to adhere to 
international standards and benchmarks 
where applicable. 

Risk Management Framework 
Risk management at LankaClear for the 
year under review was governed by the 
Risk Charter, Enterprise Risk Management 
Policy Statement, and Terms of Reference 
for the Risk Committee. As per the current 
Enterprise Risk Management Policy, 
the Management Level Risk Committee 
is responsible and accountable for 
the overall risk management of the 
organisation and is represented by the 
General Manager/Chief Executive Officer, 
Chief Operating Officer, Deputy General 
Manager Finance, Head of HR and 
Administration, Assistant General Manager 
– IT and Senior Manager, Information 
Systems Audit.

LankaClear adheres to the industry best practice approach for Risk Management i.e. 3 
Lines of Defense. Business unit management and the process owners, as the 1st Line, 
are responsible for identifying applicable risk to its own processes and assets, bringing 
in appropriate mitigation controls, adhering to the same, and continuously monitoring 
the effectiveness. As the 2nd Line, Risk and Compliance Team holds the responsibility 
of assuring completeness of risks identification and challenging the proposed controls. 
Also, the risk and compliance team will be presenting the risk dashboards and progress 
of mitigation controls to the corporate management and BIRMC. The BIRMC reviews 
significant risk items of each business unit with applicable mitigation. It also evaluates 
the risk appetite and appropriateness of risk acceptances and continues monitoring 
that the accepted risks will not exceed the prevailing appetite and cause any unforeseen 
issues. BIRMC reports back to the LankaClear Board with any improvements needed, 
while the internal audit and Audit Committee, as the 3rd line of defense, focuses on 
providing independent assurance on the adequacy level of controls and adherence. The 
combined assurance process of 3 lines of defense optimises assurance coverage and 
ensures that significant risks are adequately addressed, enabling an effective control 
environment, and ensuring the integrity of information used for decision-making and 
reporting. The following diagram depicts the current Risk Management Framework in 
keeping with good governance. 

3 LINES OF DEFENSE

3rd Line of defense 
(Audit Committee)
Independent 
Assurance on Risk 
Landscape

2nd Line of Defense
(Risk & Compliance 
Team)
Challenge 1st line 
for the adequacy

1st Line of Defense
(Business Unit 
Management, 
Process Owners)
Identify + Manage 
Own Risks
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Risk Management Process 
LankaClear enterprise risk 
management process was defined 
and developed along with the 
risk management framework and 
strategies under the supervision of 
the Board Risk Committee. 

Identified product related risks have 
been classified under five broad risk 
categories such as Operational Risk, 
Financial Risk, Legal Risk, Compliance 
Risk and Reputational Risk and are 
monitored, controlled and managed 
through the Risk Management 
Process of LankaClear. 

Board HR 
Committee

Shareholders

Reputational RiskCompliance RiskLegal RiskFinance Risk Operational Risk

Board Audit 
Committee

Board Risk 
Committee

Management Level 
Risk Committee

Board of Directors

Step 5
Step 4

Implement 
Risk Mitigation 

Control

Monitor & 
Continuous 

Improvements

Step 2
Risk Review, 
Analysis and 

Rate

Step 3
Develop Risk 

Mitigation 
Strategy

Step 1
Identification  

of Risks

Enterprise Risk Management

How We Oversee Risk
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Compliance RiskLegal RiskReputational 
RiskFinance Risk Operational Risk
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Risk Categorisation
As per the enterprise risk management framework of LankaClear, all potential risks are categorised into pre-defined risk categories.
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Enterprise Risk Management

Risk Matrix
Previous experience has been used to assess likelihood of occurrence. To identify and define the ‘Likelihood of Occurrence’, outcomes 
of the corporate-wide business impact analysis was considered. The Impact of the event was assessed by determining the potential 
loss or unavailability of service that may result and the severity of the impact. 

The values of ‘Likelihood of Occurrence’ and ‘Impact’ were used to measure the risk.  

Frequency

Business Impact Classification

Type
Insignificant  

 1
Minor  

 2
Moderate  

 3
Major  

 4
Severe  

 5

5 10 15 20 25

<-
-- 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 
---

>

Has occurred 9-10 times in last 
10 years in the organisation 5

Almost 
certain

25 50 75 100 125

Has occurred 7-9 times in last 10 
years in the organisation or it is likely 
to occur in next couple of years

4 Likely 20 40 60 80 100

Has occurred 3-7 times in last 10 
years in the organisation or it is 
considered to have reasonable 
likelihood of occurrence in next 
couple of years

3 Possible 15 30 45 60 75

Has occurred 2 or 3 times in last 
10 years in the organisation 2 Unlikely 10 20 30 40 50

Has occurred or reasonably be 
considered to occur only a few 
times in 100 years

1 Rare 5 10 15 20 25

<--- Impact --->
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Risk Categorisation and Risk Management Strategies
The following types of risks are specifically identified due to the severity of the implications/impact such risks could pose on the organisation 
and its business from among the various types of risks that LankaClear is exposed to base on the current state of our business.

Operational Risk

Strategic Risk Low

Failure to implement strategic plans and address market needs of payment systems on time

Impact/Implication Risk Management Strategy

Loss of credibility in the market 
and impact on the efficiency 
levels of national payment 
network.

�� Regular meetings are held by the Board of Directors and members of the Management in 
order to formulate future strategies and to review and revise (where necessary) corporate 
plans, taking into consideration the dynamic business environment and technology 
landscape.

�� All senior managers attend regular workshops, seminars and professional training 
programmes in order to update their skills and knowledge and to keep abreast of 
international trends and technology developments concerning the financial industry.

�� Aligning organisational strategies with the payment systems roadmap of the National 
Payments Council (NPC) of the Central Bank.

Possible reduction in revenue 
from existing payment systems 
due to shifts towards more 
technologically advanced 
competitor products

�� Continuously keeping abreast of technological developments in the payments industry 
globally.

�� Continuous monitoring of the customer demand for efficient payments systems in the local 
market.

�� Investments made in upgrading the electronic payments systems infrastructure to meet 
the growing demand for electronic payments. The Common Card and Payment Switch 
(CCAPS) is continuously being explored to provide additional payment options to the 
general public via multiple payment channels such as ATMs, payment cards, smart mobile 
devices, internet and payment kiosks.

Continuous increase in 
operational costs due to the 
increase technology, systems 
and equipment maintenance 
charges 

�� LankaClear management has been conscious of rising costs and continuously looked for 
ways to better manage costs under various cost management programmes.

�� Procedures are in place to reduce sourcing costs through structured and extensive 
negotiations by procurement committees and following the procurement processes.

�� The IT division emphasises on green technology in technology upgrades to reduce the 
impact on the environment and better manage operational costs.

�� Use of stationery has been minimised by digitising most of the commonly circulated 
documents within LankaClear and introducing digital signatures.

Operational Risk

Product Risk Moderate

Risks associated with system security, reliability and availability of the system.

Impact/Implication Risk Management Strategy

Loss of confidence and reputation 
on LankaClear products leading to 
reputational damage and loss of 
revenue

�� A layered design had been adopted to segregate functions to reduce risks
�� All systems are designed to be PA - DSS certified and PCI - DSS and ISO 27001:2013 

aligned
�� IT security and procedure documents are continuously reviewed and enhanced
�� Security risk analysis and proactive intelligence gathering is carried out on a periodic 

basis
�� Process and technological improvements to achieve 99.97% system uptime
�� Establishment of a new and improved DR site to ensure high availability

Governance  Enterprise Risk Management
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Operational Risk

Economic Risk Moderate 

Business impacts due to risks relating to the political-economic climate

Impact/Implication Risk Management Strategy

Impact on revenue and 
profitability due to lower growth 
rates, cost increases due to 
inflationary effects and exchange 
rate fluctuations.

�� Regular reviews undertaken on the socio-economic climate impact on the payment 
industry of the country and making necessary alignments.

�� Facilitating government objectives by introducing new payment systems and improving 
existing systems to create higher efficiency, thereby contributing to financial inclusivity.

Operational Risk

Business Continuity Risk Moderate

Risks from natural or man-made disasters

Impact/Implication Risk Management Strategy

Loss of assets resulting in financial 
losses due to a prolonged non-
availability of payment systems 
operated by the company

�� Financial losses due to loss of physical assets are covered by the company’s 
comprehensive insurance arrangements with leading insurance companies.

�� LankaClear has a comprehensive Business Continuity Plan (BCP) in place which is 
reviewed and revised (where necessary) regularly and has a fully functional and tested 
Disaster Recovery Site (DRS) where all Clearing Systems and their functions have been 
replicated in order to mitigate the risks associated with natural disasters and/or inability 
to operate from the Primary Site in Colombo.

Operational Risk

Competitive Risk Low

Risks from competitive actions of existing market participants and new entrants.

Impact/Implication Risk Management Strategy

Reduced transaction volumes of 
existing payment systems and 
reduced financial viability of new 
payment systems

�� Some of the national payment systems operated by the company are protected from 
competitive risks due to the non-presence of credible competitors. However, the 
company takes every possible action to ensure that a superior service is offered to the 
customers in order to protect and improve on the current financial status.

�� The company concentrates on the maintenance of high level of standards with respect to 
its employees, processes and technology in order to mitigate competitive risks.

�� The strategy of offering world-class services at the lowest possible cost to the customer 
has mitigated the competitive pressure.

Enterprise Risk Management
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Operational Risk

Process Risk Low

Inadequate or break down of internal controls, processes and procedures.

Impact/Implication Risk Management Strategy

Loss of reputation, business 
integrity and stakeholder trust on 
National Payment Systems.

�� LankaClear ensures adherence to operational guidelines for all clearing systems, desk 
instruction manuals and dual-control mechanisms. We ensure that participating banks 
also adhere to these processes and guidelines by means of interdepartmental peer 
audits, internal audits and training.

�� Continuous improvements to operational manuals and desk instruction manuals.
�� The monitoring of activities by the Central Bank through the involvement of two Directors 

of the Company appointed by Central Bank and also through periodic system audits.
�� CCAPS has obtained PCI-DSS version 3.2.1 certification, which is the National Payment 

Switch that processes the retail electronic payments and the LankaSign Certificate 
Authority has obtained ISO 27001 certification.

�� Annual review of Business Continuity Plan (BCP) and conducting two operations 
switch-overs between Primary and disaster recovery (DR) sites annually which enables 
LankaClear to ascertain adequacy and accuracy of BCP procedures in place.

Operational Risk

Information Technology and Security Risk Low

Information Technology and Security

Impact/Implication Risk Management Strategy

Loss of confidential information 
resulting in damage to reputation 
and possibility of being subject to 
litigation.

�� LankaClear has a well-defined Information Security Policy aligned and governed by PCI-
DSS and ISO 27001 standards and international best practices in order to mitigate risks 
associated with information security. Strict adherences to these IT Security Policies is 
ensured by daily monitoring of IT systems, IT housekeeping and through numerous IT 
audits and assessments. Further, IT infrastructure is re-examined with a comprehensive 
IT audit carried out independently by an internationally reputed IT audit firm followed 
by immediate action taken wherever any deficiencies/shortcomings were identified. In 
addition, every aspect relating to procedural controls is audited via an internal audit 
function to ensure continuous identification of any deficiencies/shortcomings.

�� Obtaining timely annual recertification of PCI-DSS version 3.2 for CCAPS by conducting 
regular audits during the previous year.

�� Non-disclosure agreements are signed by all LankaClear employees committing them to 
ensure the confidentiality of company information.

�� IT systems related to payment and clearing systems are replicated to DR site and 
clustered at head office for maintaining zero data loss. 

�� All documents and communications are annotated with the level of confidentiality as the 
relevant policy.
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Operational Risk

Process Risk Low

Inability to operate from the primary data centre due to natural disaster or technical failure or unanticipated/unforeseen 
situation

Impact/Implication Risk Management Strategy

The National Payment Systems 
operated by the Company (i.e. 
CITS, SLIPS, SL Rupee Draft 
Clearing, USD Draft Clearing , 
CCAPS) will be affected and hence 
could have an impact to the Sri 
Lankan business community, state 
sector and general public

�� Fully functional DR site is available for business continuity for all clearing systems in order 
to mitigate the risks associated with natural disasters and/or inability to operate from the 
primary site in Colombo.

�� LankaClear has a formalised Business Continuity Plan (BCP) and several DR drills 
take place annually in accordance with BCP to ensure our capability to effectively and 
expeditiously recover from a disaster or setback. The CITS having an uptime of 99.8% and 
100% uptime for CCAPS for the year under review is testimony to the effectiveness of the 
fully functional DR site.

Operational Risk

Employee Risk Low

Inability to attract the right staff, develop existing staff and retain skilled and experienced staff

Impact/Implication Risk Management Strategy

Reduced productivity and quality 
of service.

�� In order to minimise people related risks, LankaClear sets SMART (Specific, Measurable, 
Achievable, Relevant and Time bound) corporate objectives to ensure the staff has 
clarity of what should be achieved. Having a clear direction and clarity of what is 
expected of employees help the employees to focus on their objectives and evaluate 
their own performance against the objectives. The well-defined HR policies, practices 
and procedures − spanning from hiring, familiarisation, training and development, 
performance review, personal improvement plans, compensation and benefits, employee 
engagement to general conduct and a grievance resolution mechanisms−ensures a 
strong and satisfied workforce.

�� Human resource processes currently in place to facilitate the recruitment of the right 
staff, manage performance and rewards, plan and implement training and development, 
employee engagement and handle succession planning and career progression of 
employees.

�� LankaClear HR Initiatives involve strong market survey initiatives such as staff satisfaction 
surveys, salary surveys, networking with the industry, which has helped timely adoption of 
change.

�� The Board HR Committee, which comprises three Board members, provides the strategic 
direction to the HR function of the organisation while ensuring compliance, growth and 
staff development.

Enterprise Risk Management
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Legal Risk

Legal Risk Low

Risk of legal action due to non-performance of legal and statutory requirements and poorly drafted legal agreements

Impact/Implication Risk Management Strategy

Inability to enforce terms against 
vendors, contractors, service 
providers, etc., due to their 
obligations, the company’s rights, 
and other protective provisions 
benefitting the company, 
indemnities for the company, 
etc. not being adequately and/or 
accurately addressed

Higher default rate by parties to 
contracts with the company

Inability to impose or enforce 
penalties against parties to 
contracts with the company in 
events of default

High cost of legal and penalty fees 
resulting in reduction in profits

Adverse impact to the organisation’s 
credibility, reputation and brand 
image

�� A comprehensive internal control system is in place supplemented by regular audit from 
the corporate internal audit

�� The company has a dedicated manager specialised in managing/drafting legal 
agreements to inter alia monitor/draft legal agreements and related obligations, advise 
the company as to its rights and liabilities under contracts and other transactions, 
analyse and review contracts which bind or obligate the company, provide legal opinions 
and recommendations to ensure that the Company is properly safeguarded and 
effectively represented in such matters, review, respond to and draft correspondence 
necessary for certain operations of the company.

�� Ensuring of all statutory and legal obligations are met in all transactions
�� Obtaining expert external consultancy services in fulfilling legal obligations where 

necessary. 
�� Introduction of an automated agreement tracking system to mitigate any risks on non-

renewal of agreements on a timely basis.

Financial Risk

Credit Risk Low

The risk of loss of principal amount or loss of a financial reward stemming from a borrower's failure to repay a loan or 
otherwise meet a contractual obligation

Impact/Implication Risk Management Strategy

Loss of principal amount invested
Loss of interest/return on 
investment 

�� Cash surpluses are invested with commercial banks and subsidiaries of banks identifying 
the most profitable investment opportunities.

�� The credit rating of the financial institution is considered and a maximum limit is 
determined with regard to any single financial institution in which an investment is made.

�� Following the investment policy to regulate the investment of surplus funds until they are 
utilised.
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Financial Risk

Gearing Risk Low

Risks from high financial gearing

Impact/Implication Risk Management Strategy

The possibility of excessive losses 
is enhanced in highly geared 
positions

�� The company is debt free and has generated cash surpluses enabling the funding of all 
its proposed investments from internally generated funds.

Financial Risk

Interest Rate Risk Low

Risk of fluctuating interest rates

Impact/Implication Risk Management Strategy

The possibility of lower returns on 
investments due to interest rates’ 
downward movements

�� In mitigating such risks, the interest rate movements are closely monitored and the 
investment tenure is decided accordingly.

Financial Risk

Liquidity Risk Low

Risk of not having sufficient resources to meet financial obligations in full, at a reasonable cost

Impact/Implication Risk Management Strategy

Penalty charges and unfavourable 
terms when obtaining future loans 
or loan facilities

�� Regular cash flow forecasts, monitoring of disbursements and collections are used as 
tools by LankaClear to mitigate the liquidity risk

�� The company keeps an adequate amount of resources in short term financial 
instruments to purchase consumables and pay short-term liabilities.

�� Credit terms provided by vendors are utilised in full to manage cash outflows of the 
company. Further, emphasis for bringing down the debtors’ collection period was carried 
out by mandating all customers to settle payments via direct debits so that the dues are 
automatically drawn from the customers’ bank accounts.

Financial Risk

Foreign Exchange Rate Risk Major 

Risk from fluctuating foreign exchange rates

Impact/Implication Risk Management Strategy

The possibility of incurring higher 
costs related to foreign currency 
payments 

�� Foreign exchange risk has not been a major concern to LankaClear previously, however, 
with the significant fluctuations of the exchange rates, mainly costs of the IT maintenance 
and IT equipment procurement was impacted significantly. LankaClear has limited 
avenues to mitigate foreign exchange related risks for the moment and leaves us with 
limited option and to apply the conversion rate prevailing at the time to pay for such 
crucial services. Hence, the prices were extensively negotiated to obtained lowest prices 
and required procurements were done expeditiously to minimise the impact. Most of the 
maintenance contracts were negotiated in Rs. to reduce exchange risk.

�� Further introduction of National Card Scheme where the company would be exposed to 
foreign exchange 

Enterprise Risk Management

Governance  Enterprise Risk Management



139LankaClear (Private) Limited Annual Report 2021/22

Financial Risk

Placement Risk Low

Risk of placing funds in projects which do not give adequate returns

Impact/Implication Risk Management Strategy

Affects profitability of the 
company

�� Undertaking detailed cash flow predictions of income and expenses to check whether 
projects would make adequate return based on available market data and conservative 
assumptions. 

�� Business plans were submitted to the Board depicting the plans for achieving the 
required financial returns from the invested projects.

Reputational Risk

Reputational Risk Moderate

Risks arising from the use of social media marketing

Impact/Implication Risk Management Strategy

Use of social media marketing 
could affect the organisation if 
social media posts are used in an 
inappropriate or abusive manner 
by the staff

�� Development of a culture where we encourage a positive attitude regarding compliance 
with laws and regulations of the country. Strong corporate values, supported by 
performance incentives.

Reputational Risk

Reputational Risk Moderate

Failure to manage public relationships

Impact/Implication Risk Management Strategy

Negative effects of public opinion, 
customer opinion and market 
reputation, and the damage 
caused to the brand by failing to 
manage public relations

�� Continuous awareness amongst employees, customers and general public.
�� Several ground level activation initiatives to improve customer awareness and brand 

equity.
�� Strong controlled environment with policies procedures and compliance.
�� Healthy relationship with local media.

Governance  Enterprise Risk Management
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The Board Audit 
Committee Report

The Board Audit Committee functioned 
in terms of the Audit Committee Charter 
approved by the Board of Directors and 
purposed to assist the Board of Directors 
of the company in fulfilling its oversight 
responsibilities for the financial reporting 
process, internal control, the audit 
process, and the monitoring process for 
compliance with laws and regulations. 

The scope of the Audit Committee 
Charter is reviewed and updated regularly 
incorporating the provisions of the many 
regulatory requirements, standards and 
Acts. 

Apart from the direct inquiries of the 
Board Audit Committee, External Auditors, 
Internal Auditors and Senior Manager 
- Information Systems Audit assist the 
committee to fulfil their obligations 
effectively on different perspectives. 

Mainly External Auditors carry out the 
audit on financial statements with a 
view of providing an opinion on the 
same. Internal Auditors mainly carry out 
their audit on internal controls of the 
organisation based on the assigned scope 
by the Board Audit Committee. Senior 
Manager - Information Systems Audit 
ensure overall IT governance, IT risk and IT 
compliance of the organisation.

 The following areas come under the 
purview of the Board Audit Committee: 

Financial information 
a) Reviews the financial information of 

the company in order to ensure the 
integrity of the financial statements, 
its annual report, accounts etc. 

b) Evaluates the adequacy and 
effectiveness of internal controls 
and risk management systems over 
financial reporting. 

Compliance 
a) Reviews the effectiveness of the 

systems and procedures adopted 
by the company and monitors 
compliance with applicable laws and 
regulations of the country. 

b) Reviews the findings of any 
examination by regulatory agencies 
and/or any auditor on compliance 
with such laws and regulations. 

c) Follows–up on any instances of 
noncompliance. 

External Audit
a) Reviews the External Auditor’s 

independence, audit scope and plan, 
its audit quality control/assurance 
processes. 

b) Reviews the performance of 
External Auditor and makes 
recommendations to the Board of 
Directors on their appointment, 
reappointment, discharge or rotation 
if necessary. 

c) Reviews the External Audit Report 
on the financial statements and 
any supplementary report (e.g., 
Management Letter) outlining 
the findings, observations and 
recommendations and management 
responses and the status of any 
corrective action plans. 

d) As part of the routine Committee 
meeting agenda, meets separately 
with the External Auditors to discuss 
any matters that the Committee or 
Auditors believe should be discussed 
privately. 

Internal Audit 
a) Reviews with Management and the 

Internal Auditor, the audit charter, 
audit plans, activities, audit scope, 
reporting requirements, etc. of 
the internal audit function of the 
company and approves same. 

b) Reviews findings and 
recommendations by the Internal 
Auditors, together with comments 
made by Management. 

c) Assesses the effectiveness of such 
findings and responses. 

External IT Audit 
Reviews the findings of IT Audits carried 
out by external parties & monitors the 
implementation of the recommendations 
to manage the risks highlighted in their 
reports. This includes findings submitted 
on ISO/ IEC 27001:2013 and PCI-DSS 
compliance. 

Internal IT Audit 
Internal IT Audit is carried out by the 
Senior Manager - Information Systems 
Audit (SM – ISA) of LankaClear. LankaClear 
Board Audit Committee is overseeing the 
tasks assigned to Information Systems 
Auditor. Internal IT Audit Charter and IT 
Audit Plan are reviewed by the Board 
Audit Committee. 

Composition of the Board Audit 
Committee 
LankaClear Board Audit Committee 
comprised of three Non-Executive 
Directors of the Board. The following 
Directors served as the members of the 
Committee during the year under review. 
 
Mr. W. P. R. H. Fonseka - Chairman 
Mr. K. V. K. Alwis - Member 
Mr. E. R. De Silva - Member 

The wide range of experience mainly in 
financial and IT controls and the banking 
industry brought to the Committee from 
positions held by the present members 
can be seen in the Directors’ biographical 
details appearing in this annual report. 
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The quorum of the Committee is two 
members. Chief Operating Officer, Deputy 
General Manager – Finance, Head of HR & 
Administration, Assistant General Manager 
– IT, Senior Manager - Information 
Systems Audit, Head of Clearing Systems, 
Head of External Services, Senior 
Manager Information Security Solutions 
and other relevant Managers from 
LankaClear together with representatives 
of the Internal Auditors were present by 
invitation at the meetings held. 

The Secretary to the Board functions 
as the Secretary to the Board Audit 
Committee and DGM –Finance liaise 
Board Audit Committee Meetings and 
related Board Audit Committee activities 
as the Audit Representative based on the 
instruction of the Board Audit Committee. 

Meetings 
The Committee held three meetings 
during the year under review. The 
attendance of the members at these 
meetings is shown under Corporate 
Governance in the Annual Report. The 
proceedings of the Audit Committee 
are reported regularly to the Board of 
Directors through Board Audit Committee 
Meeting Minutes and special remarks 
made by Board Audit Committee 
Chairman at the Board Meetings. 

Summary of Activities carried out 
during the year
During the year under review the 
Committee discharged its duties as 
follows: 

Financial information 
a) Reviewed the financial information 

and annual financial statements of 
the company. 

b) Evaluated the adequacy and 
effectiveness of internal controls. 

Compliance
a) Reviewed the effectiveness of the 

systems and procedures of the 
company to monitor compliance with 
applicable laws and regulations of 
the country. 

External Audit 
Board Audit Committee reviewed the 
External Auditor’s report on the financial 
statements and supplementary reports 
outlining the findings, observations, 
recommendations, management 
responses and the status of any action 
plans. External Audit functions were 
carried out by Messrs. Ernst & Young 
(Chartered Accountants)

Internal Audits 
a) Reviewed the internal audit scope 

and assigned the Internal Auditors 
at regular intervals to review the 
effectiveness of the internal control 
procedures, accounting systems 
and operations procedures of the 
organisation through quarterly 
audits. 

b) Reviewed the Internal Audit 
programmes to ensure that 
implementation of internal control 
is monitored and their adequacy is 
assessed on a continuous basis. 

c) Reviewed the Internal Audit reports 
and monitored the implementation 
of recommendations made therein. 
Internal Audit functions were carried 
out by Messrs. B R De Silva & 
Company (Chartered Accountants) 

Internal IT Audit 
The Board Audit Committee reviewed the 
IT Audit Reports submitted on ‘LankaSign 
operation and application review’ and 
monitors the implementation of the risk 
remediation actions recommended by the 
Senior Manager - Information Systems 
Audit in order to mitigate/ remedy the 
prevailing risks and vulnerabilities. 
 

Appointment of Auditors 
The Board Audit Committee 
recommended the appointment of M/S 
PricewaterhouseCoopers, (Chartered 
Accountants) as the External Auditors for 
the year ending 31st March 2023 subject 
to the approval of the shareholders at the 
Annual General Meeting. 

Conclusion 
Based on the reports submitted by the 
External Auditors, Internal Auditors and 
IT Auditors, the Committee reported to 
the Board of Directors, identifying matters 
in respect of which it considers action 
or improvement was needed and made 
recommendations as to the steps to be 
undertaken. 

The Audit Committee is satisfied that the 
internal controls of LankaClear (Pvt) Ltd 
provide a reasonable assurance that the 
affairs of the organisation are managed 
in accordance with the policies of the 
organisation and that the organisation’s 
assets are properly accounted for and 
adequately safeguarded. 

W. P. Russel Fonseka 
Chairman 
Board Audit Committee 

Colombo, Sri Lanka 
21st June 2022
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The Board HR Committee of LankaClear 
was established under the direction of the 
Board in order to provide the strategic 
HR Direction to the Human Resource 
function of the organization. The Terms 
of Reference of the Board HR Committee 
were approved by the Board.

The Board HR Committee during the first 
two quarters of the year under review 
consisted of four Board Members namely 
Mr. P. Talwatte, Mr. K.E.D. Sumanasiri, Mr. 
Ravi De Silva, and the undersigned. The 
formation of the Board HR Committee 
was subsequently revised by the Board 
by appointing Mr. Ranjith Kodituwakku to 
the Committee due to Mr. Talwatte and 
Sumanasiri leaving the committee. Mr. 
Sumanasiri left the committee to take up 
a challenging position in his organization 
while Mr. Talwatte left the Committee due 
to his tenure on the main Board coming 
to an end.

We wish to place on record the immense 
contribution of Mr. Sumanasiri and 
Talwatte to the decision-making and 
strategic direction process of the Board 
HR committee. 

The mandate of the Board HR Committee 
as approved by the Board includes 
while providing strategic leadership and 
direction to the organization, making 
recommendations to the Board inter-alia 
on the following; 

�� Changes to the Organizational 
Structure and HR Strategy

�� Human capital development policies 
and processes

�� Compensation and Benefits policy 
setting

�� Health and Occupational Safety 
including approvals for Management 
recommendations on physical 
environment improvements and 
enhancements.

The Board HR Committee provided the 
HR team direction and leadership to the 
organization at a time when the entire 
country was battling the threat of the 
pandemic. The timely directions facilitated 
and extended by the Committee paved 
the way to conduct company operations 
with the least interruptions to customers 
and with enhanced security and health 
safety measures for employees. 

Further, the Board HR Committee is 
actively involved in the recommendation 
and implementation of the final phase 
of the Compensation and Benefits 
Survey conducted by KPMG. As a result, 
the salaries of LankaClear Staff were 
benchmarked to the 66th Percentile 
of the market survey which helped 
the management to establish a more 
balanced and fair compensation strategy 
in the company. The recommendation 
by the Board HR Committee to award 
the above salary increments and 
adjustments effective January 2021 was 
received well by all at a time when the 
country was facing the threat of the 
pandemic. The Board HR Committee 
also provided directions to revise the 
Organization Structure introducing key 
positions and making several changes 
for the betterment and enhancing the 
governance of the organization. 

At a time when the global landscape is 
changing and the function of HR per 
se becomes much broader in scope, 
the Board HR Committee felt the need 
to revamp the current functionalities 
and bring about a new focus to the 
organizations. Hence, we undertook two 
more new Organizational development 
initiatives with the consultation of KPMG 
and E&Y. The Board sought advisory 
services from KPMG to implement a global 
talent assessment and Benchmarking 
and bring about a people-friendly and 
business development-oriented strategy 

for the organization. While E&Y would be 
assisting the management to establish an 
ESOP scheme, which we plan to roll out in 
2022. These bold initiates will change the 
shape of the organization in the future as 
the focus of these assignments would be 
to give strength to the decision-making 
process, empowering staff to be able 
to take business calls as needed, thus 
enabling us to expand the operations 
beyond the shores of Sri Lanka. 

As the Chairman of the Board HR 
Committee, I wish to place on record 
my appreciation of the valuable 
inputs shared by the members of the 
Board HR Committee that helped the 
decision-making process relating to HR 
management while improving profitability 
and employee satisfaction of the 
organization.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I wish 
to thank Mr. Ranjith Kodituwakku and Mr. 
Ravi De Silva for their untiring efforts to 
fulfill their duty as members of the Board 
HR Committee. 

In conclusion, on behalf of the committee, 
I wish to thank Mr. Channa de Silva 
- the General Manager/CEO and Mr. 
Lakshman C. Palliyaguruge - Head of HR 
& Administration for their contribution 
to the functioning of the Board HR 
Committee.

Dr. Kenneth De Zilwa 
Chairman – Board HR Committee

21st June 2022

The Board HR Committee 
Report
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The committee is governed by a formal 
Risk Committee Charter that is reviewed 
regularly. This charter guides the 
committee in terms of its objectives, 
authorities and responsibilities, as 
assigned by Board of the LankaClear (Pvt) 
Ltd. 

Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) 
framework of LankaClear (Pvt) Limited 
provides a structured, integrated, 
dynamic and consistent approach to risk 
management. This integrated approach 
recognises that effective risk management 
and governance oversight is critical to the 
achievement of strategic objectives and 
the long-term sustainable growth of the 
business. 

Composition 
The Board Integrated Risk Management 
Committee (BIRMC) comprises three 
members who are Non-Executive 
Directors. 

1. Mr. Ravin Basnayake - Chairman 
2. Mr. K.V. K. Alwis 
3. Mr. Ranjith Kodithuwakku 

Permanent members of the Management 
Level Risk Committee (MLRC) are as 
follows: 

1. Mr. Channa de Silva: Chairman of 
MLRC, General Manager/ CEO 

2. Mr. Dinuka Perera: Chief Operating 
Officer 

3. Mr. Rasika Galappaththy: Deputy 
General Manager Finance 

4. Mr. Lakshman Palliyaguruge: Head of 
HR & Administration 

5. Mr. Dilantha Samarasinghe: Assistant 
General Manager IT 

6. Mr. Chamath Algawatta : CISO
7. Ms. Srimali Premalal : Senior 

Manager Information Systems Audit

Ms. Srimali Premalal, Senior Manager 
Information Systems Audit commenced 
functioning as the secretary of the risk 
committee towards the end of the 

financial year 2021 after taking over from 
Mr. Rasika Galappaththty, DGM Finance 
who served as secretary of the risk 
committee from 2013. 

Committee Functions 
Overall, LankaClear Board remains 
accountable to ensure that risks are 
effectively managed and it has delegated 
the oversight of risk management, control 
implementation and compliance to 
designed controls are being delegated 
between Risk and Audit Committees 
in terms of two separate but aligned 
mandates. 

Preliminary responsibility of Risk 
Management falls under MLRC which 
will identify risks and opportunities 
throughout the year and treat them 
appropriately to minimise risks and 
optimise opportunities. 

Terms of Reference 
The Terms of Reference set out by the 
Board of Directors, includes the following:
 
1. Review and analyse the relationship 

and alignment of risk management 
with business strategies. 

2. Review and analyse the Risk 
Management Framework at regular 
intervals in order to assess and 
recommend on the maturity of the 
framework. 

3. Oversee the formal development of 
risk management policies within the 
entity, encompassing all products 
and business and support units and 
ensuring the development of policy 
manuals and procedures. 

4. Oversee the criteria and methods 
defined for the identification of risks. 

5. Oversee the formulation of risk 
treatment strategies and managing 
of the overall risks associated 
with the entity’s activities and 
satisfies itself on the design and 
completeness of the framework 
relative to the entity’s activities and 
risk profile. 

6. Oversee the communication of risks 
and treatment plans across the 
organisation. 

7. To consider any breaches of the 
entity’s risk appetite and each of 
the approved risk type limits and to 
approve a reduction plan and/ or 
ratify the excess request. 

8. Ensure that the Board of Directors is 
continuously aware of the Entity’s risk 
exposure, realised or potential losses 
(substantial incidents) and key risk 
indicators. 

9. Submit regular operational risk 
assessments to the Board, seeking 
its views, concurrence or specific 
directions. 

10. To review relationships with the 
regulatory authorities in Sri Lanka 
and to review developments 
and prospective changes in the 
regulatory environment, and the 
Company’s plans to help influence 
future regulatory policies.

11. To review the adequacy and quality 
of the Company’s compliance and 
risk management functions.

Exceptional Risk considerations
We have prioritized the impacts of Covid – 
19 pandemic outbreak which can disturb 
our usual business and had applied 
precautionary and mitigative controls 
such as facilitate all applicable staff to 
work from home, provide accommodation 
and meals for those who are essential to 
be physically present, fumigating office 
premises weekly, provide transportation 
for staff travelling, facilitate company paid 
PCRs etc.

Towards latter part of the financial year, 
we were in consideration of impact of 
adverse economic condition and soaring 
USD rate on our business. Volume of 
certain products might have some impact 
by the prevailing economic crises. Also 
the lack of equipment such as hardware, 
network devices and also the impact of 
exorbitant USD rate while receiving the 
vendor maintenance services are also 

The Board Integrated Risk 
Management Committee Report
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being considered. With the guidance of 
LankaClear Board of directors and IBRC, 
company is in the process of applying 
sufficient safeguard measures and 
compensative controls where applicable.

Meetings
Due to the change of the risk committee 
members BIRMC met twice for the 
financial year ended by 31st March 2022, 
to evaluate and address risks faced by the 
organisation. 

Discharge of Responsibilities 
�� Based on activities which lead up 

to submitting reports to the MLRC 
chaired by GM/CEO, supporting 
organisational risk identification and 
rectification activities at various levels 
throughout the organisation year-
round. 

�� Reports were submitted, discussed 
and reviewed at before submitting 
them to the BIRMC. 

�� The Risk Committee reviewed the 
significant observations submitted 
to them and provided their 
recommendations. 

�� The Company continuously seeks 
to improve and enhance the risk 
management process, while at the 
same time maintaining a practical 
and business minded approach. The 
discussions and conclusions reached 
at the meeting were recorded in 
minutes and circulated to the Board 
of Directors for information and 
advice. Critical issues were taken for 
discussion at the Board level. 

Conclusion
The members of the Integrated Risk 
Management Committee collectively 
evaluated the identified risks, the risk 
mitigation mechanisms, and the residual 
risks. The Committee has also made 
recommendations to be implemented 

where necessary. Thus, the Committee 
is of the view that LankaClear Risk 
Management process provides a 
reasonable assurance towards meeting 
the challenges of mitigating risks at 
a desirable level, safeguarding the 
interest of the stakeholders and assuring 
sustainable operations.

Mr. Ravin Basnayake
Chairman
Board Integrated Risk Management 
Committee 

07th June 2021

The Board Integrated Risk Management 
Committee Report
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Our Commitment to Sustainable 
Development Goals
LankaClear as the operator of Sri Lanka’s 
National Payment Network understands 
its role in influencing and shaping the 
transition to a more sustainable, greener 
and inclusive society. As the entity, 
which is responsible for all interbank 
payments, the company takes lead in 
promoting digital payments in the country 
and is committed towards enriching 
the lives of every Sri Lankan through 

Sustainability 
Report

accessible, affordable, convenient and 
secure payments and access to financial 
services. In this endeavor we are 
contributing towards driving Sri Lanka 
towards a paperless economy, therefore 
contributing actively towards promoting a 
greener lifestyle. In this context, we believe 
that sustainability is already entrenched in 
our entire operations and business ethos. 

We have recognized the need to align 
ourselves with the global mandate to 
achieve the United Nations Sustainable 
Development Goals (SDGs) agreed 
by 193 countries by 2030. Based on 
a policy priority process, LankaClear 
supported 14 of the 17 SDGs last year. 
Our sustainability, responsible ethics and 
operations are largely the basis for this, 
which had the biggest impact. 

 

After identifying people, prosperity, 
planet, peace, and partnership as the core 
pillars of SDG, LankaClear applied these 
pillars under the themes of sustainability 
of human, operational sustainability, 
business and social sustainability. 
LankaClear firmly believes that all these 
themes and every pillar is interconnected. 

Our sustainability plans started internally 
and extended to society through our 
operations. We believe that this leads to 
financial stability and economic growth 
in the country and the world; greener 
inclusive economies; stronger and resilient 
societies.
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Human Sustainability

�� Carried out a CSR project to provide oxygen manifold system with automatic control panel with 500L / 
min” to Colombo South Teaching Hospital

�� Internal awareness of infectious diseases and public health strategies. 
�� Display posters about the need for hand hygiene and wearing face masks within LankaClear premises.
�� Establishment of an enhanced medical insurance scheme covering all employees and family members
�� Life coverage is also provided to the employee as part of the insurance scheme
�� Pregnant mothers are entitled to maternity leave and their hospital fees are covered by the 

hospitalisation cover offered by the company.
�� Provides medical allowance to employees towards reimbursing medical expenses.
�� Workman compensation insurance is provided to all employees
�� Special arrangements for Covid 19, given under the section, Our Covid-19 Response

�� Conducted a LankaPay product awareness program for newly appointed BOC legal officers
�� Conducted product awareness programs for A/L and university students
�� Included a payment system module to the curriculum of banking exams conducted by Institute of 

Bankers of Sri Lanka.
�� Introduced an ‘Educational Assistance Programme’ for internal staff at a value of 2.4 Mn
�� Introduced a Management Trainee Programme for the purpose of carrier growth and succession 

planning of internal employees
�� Reimbursement of professional membership contributions to encourage professional affiliation of 

employees in their respective fields
�� Improving the work-related competences and skills of individuals by identifying and recommending 

training and skills needed by individuals within the two assessment cycles
�� Internal knowledge sharing programmes and skills development workshops

�� Key female incumbents to legal, research & development, marketing, information systems audit & 
project delivery roles 

�� LankaClear condemns and do not practice gender-based discrimination in hiring, promotions, 
increments and bonus allocation.

�� Our services are for all - irrespective of their gender, age, race, religion etc. 

�� Revised the organization’s salaries and benefits, as recommended by an industry survey carried out 
by KPMG (The most recent compensation and benefits revision in which the salaries of all staff were 
benchmarked to 66 Percentile of the KPMG survey without any gender discrimination)

�� Equality in pay and employment during Covid – 19 pandemic (Outsourced workers who are daily paid 
were treated equally as in the case of permanent staff and continued the payment of salaries when 
WFH although they were unable to perform any work from home)

�� Extended retirement age up to 60 years

Sustainability Report
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�� Implemented the company’s whistleblower policy (This is an attempt to properly implement the 
grievance handling process approved by the Board. It promotes industrial peace and coexistence. 
According to the policy, every employee has the right to raise personal or official complaints, either 
through the immediate manager or not) 

�� The institutional open door policy also convenes employees in the grievance redressal process.
�� Employees of the company are benefited by the provisions of the Shop and Office Act, EPF Act, ETF Act, 

Termination of Employees Act, Industrial Dispute Act and Gratuities Act
�� Our FinCSIRT team constantly monitor and report financial crimes, frauds and security incidents, 

thereby help the financial sector to be better prepared for similar security incidents. 
�� The company has been educating the public on cyber crimes and how to prevent themselves from 

such frauds through a series of mini videos shared on social media as a means of countering social 
engineering

Operational Sustainability

We manage energy via;
�� close monitoring of energy consumption through sectional measurement and monitoring of different 

work areas (data centre, office area etc.)
�� monitoring generator fuel consumption in each run
�� scheduling test runs to optimize consumption and equipment wear and tear.

We have reduced electricity consumption through; 
�� lighting common areas with LED lights
�� natural light is integrated to office areas wherever possible. 
�� inverter type air conditioners for comfort cooling in office spaces with fitted micro energy meters to 

monitor and optimization of energy consumption. No CFC based refrigerants are used.
�� periodical upgrades to IT infrastructure to enhance energy and processing efficiency. LankaClear 

upgraded the older IT infrastructure to the latest IBM POWER 9 processor architecture-based power 
systems (Power S924) in 2021

�� switching off of devices including computers, AC’s and other electrical equipment at the end of each 
working day or when staff leave office. 

�� the facility maintenance team conducts daily inspections to switch off any electrical appliances that are 
left on after office hours.

�� split AC units and maintaining 25°C at all times. These units are only operated when central AC is not 
available

�� facilitating team by conducting yearly awareness sessions on energy saving best practices. Energy 
saving best practices are also encouraged through awareness posters and stickers in the premises

Measures to improve efficiency
�� Generator fuel consumption is monitored in each run and test runs are scheduled to optimize 

consumption and equipment wear and tear. 
�� Periodic maintenance and gas pressure checks are done for all split AC and precision AC units to 

ensure systems are operated efficiently.

Decommissioning of inefficient systems and equipment 
�� All capital infrastructure equipment are depreciated over a period of 10 years, LankaClear has 

decommissioned all AC and UPS units that are over 10 years old.
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�� Internship opportunities and career guidance for school leavers and undergraduates with the aim of 
giving them experience to make them job ready. 

�� The overall average salary increment granted to confirmed employees : 11.66 %
�� All confirmed employees were granted bonus for the year 2021/22. The increase of bonus cost for year 

2021/22 from previous year was 151% (2021/22 - Rs. 32,121,175, 2020/21 - Rs. 12,814,188) 
�� 61% employee satisfaction rating
�� Annual customer satisfaction survey to address issues if any and to improve
�� 88% employee retention rate
�� Won Merit Award for Excellence in Capacity Building at National Business Excellence Awards 2022 

organised by National Chamber of Commerce.
�� We protected our employees during Covid 19 pandemic through the activities specified under Our 

Covid-19 Response.
�� Company did not resort to any layoffs or pay cuts even during challenging times.

�� As the operator of the National Payment Network, LankaClear has been in the forefront of payment 
technology innovations in the country and has pioneered numerous payment innovations as 
mentioned under milestones section of this report.

�� Our overarching objective is driving financial inclusivity in the country which is directly connected to 
enriching peoples’ lives and creating an inclusive society. 

�� Facilitated over 175 Mn transactions via digital channels during the year under review, recording a 45% 
growth from the previous year

�� Upgraded the virtualised infrastructure at DR site with an investment of Rs. 45 Mn
�� For the 4th time, LankaClear organised LankaPay Technnovation Awards - the first and the only 

payment technology innovation awards in the country towards recognising the progressive banks, 
NBFIs and FinTechs in the sphere of payment technology innovation.

�� Obtained PCI-DSS recertification complying with the highest international standard for payment card 
industry data security

�� Water consumption on site is closely monitored and the use of air-cooled precision air conditioners for 
the data centers have led to minimum water usage by the data centre infrastructure.

�� Municipal waste is segregated into organic and inorganic waste to be disposed of in an environmentally 
friendly manner

�� All e-waste is sent for recycling to a CEA approved recycling company
�� Automated systems and procedures have been implemented to reduce physical printing requirements, 

thereby reducing paper consumption in business activities.
�� Recycling office paper waste to produce notebooks for staff and other stakeholders making optimal 

use of resources.
�� Establishing a risk culture within the company for overall risk mitigation
�� System audits to minimize vulnerabilities
�� Assessing risk perspectives of digital platforms

�� Electrical accessories and fittings are replaced as soon as new technologies are proven feasible
�� LankaClear changed all fluorescent lights to LED and disposed relevant electrical waste though a 

e-waste recycling company 

Sustainability Report
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Business & Social sustainability

�� COVID-19 led to a significant increase in poverty due to layoffs, pay cuts and loss of earnings. Even 
during the challenging times, the company did not resort to any layoffs or pay cuts.

�� As the operator of the National Payment Network, financial inclusivity is high on our agenda and one 
of the notable contribution of LankaClear to the nation is making digital transactions more affordable 
to everyone and making these payment options more widespread and accessible. In 2021/22 closer to 
50% of JustPay transactions were found to be below Rs. 250 in value and increasingly apps that cater 
to masses are joining the network and we also observe an increase in transaction taking place through 
these apps. 

�� There were predictions of a food shortage stemming from the shortage of fertilizer. There are 
certain products that are imported to Sri Lanka that needs the SLS certification. There are many 
other government organisations that are involved in the process of getting food items to Sri Lanka. 
LankaClear helped in a small way to increase the efficiency of payments made to these organisations. 
LankaPay Government Payment Platform connects Sri Lanka Customs, Import and Export Control 
Department, Sri Lanka Standards Institution, Sri Lanka Ports Authority (vessels, cargo and entry 
permits) which are directly connected to the import export process. By enabling realtime payments to 
these institutions seamlessly even during lockdowns, we have contributed towards reducing delays in 
the importation of essential items. 

�� Through various products launched by LankaClear, we are transforming how community at large is 
making payments to make sustainable cities and communities.

�� Launched the Sri Lanka Transit Card to improve the customer experience in public transport.
�� LankaPay Government Payment Platform (LPOPP)) connects several government institutions, enabling 

online realtime payments to those institutions 24x7x365 basis. Currently, payments to Sri Lanka 
Customs, BOI, Inland Revenue Department, Sri Lanka Port Authority (vessels, cargo and entry permits), 
EPF, Import and Export Control Department (IECD), Sri Lanka Standards institution (SLSI) can be 
made via the platform. During 2020/21 over Rs. 240 Bn worth of transactions were facilitated via this 
platform.

�� LankaSign digital certificates provides an affordable and a convenient alternative to physical document 
signing process thereby help transform the workflows. 

�� Partnered with Central Bank to launch the National Remittance App - LankaRemit
�� Continued partnerships with FITIS, BCS Sri Lanka, SME Chamber, AAT, CIMA Sri Lanka, Institute of 

Bankers of Sri Lanka and Sri Lanka Bank’s Association, SL CERT 
�� Partnered with Ministry of Transport, Sri Lanka Transport Board and National Transport Commission to 

launch Sri Lanka Transit Card project 
�� LankaClear partnered with Japanese Card Bureau (JCB) to launch LankaPay card and acceptance of JCB 

international cards
�� Partnership with NETS Singapore for our CITS system
�� Partnership with Fidelity Information Systems for Common Card and Payment Switch
�� Partnerships with other software and hardware vendors through periodic agreements
�� Partnerships with local banks and financial institutions as our business partners to reach end 

customers
�� Adherence to the ISO/IEC 27001:2013 Information Security Management System Standards and 

annually renewing the same
�� Secured PCI-DSS re-certification  
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Sustainability Report

Poster Awareness in HO & DR site to Save 
Water 
 

Designing the Office Layout 
by Incorporating Natural Sun 
Light in the DR Site  

Monitoring of Generator Fuel 
Consumption  
 

Offering LankaPay Branded Seasonal Gifts to 
Members Using Recycled Paper Waste at LankaClear

Historic Agreement Signed to Implement Sri 
Lanka Transit Card

Partnership with JCB

MOT Opening at Kalubowila General Hospital 

Partnership with CIMA 

Distribution of Water Bottles to 
Employees Marked with Daily 
Water Consumption Target to 
Ensure a Healthy Lifestyle

Our Initiatives for Sustainability
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Gender Parity is equally important to LankaClear 
It is critical for LankaClear to maintain and sustain operations in a gender-balanced atmosphere. This provides LankaClear with a 
fantastic chance to engage with everyone on an equal footing without having to discriminate on the basis of gender or any other 
social or ethnic basis. The addition of more female workers to the company has increased women’s participation in LankaClear 
decision making during the past year.

We have consistently ensured that equal opportunities are established and made available without regard to gender, and with 
the strong support of business policy processes that promote gender equality. At LankaClear, where women may work in senior 
management roles, we advocate gender parity as a fair playing field for women to achieve their professional goals.

Females are represented at all levels of the organisation, and this tendency is expected to continue, despite the fact that women 
make up 11% of the company’s management team. The company is also in the process of reviewing its HR policy in order to provide 
more opportunities to female employees, such as appointing female employees to more accountable and responsible positions in the 
execution of company policy procedures, overall project management, and other key areas of the company. In addition, the company 
has assigned female employees to Board committees to guarantee that chances are available based on merit. Through training 
and awareness, as well as a robust grievance handling mechanism, the firm is dedicated to reinforce our policies in order to foster 
a culture of inclusion and non-discrimination. There were no incidents of discrimination or human rights violations during the year 
under review. 

Pandemic Crisis and Impact
Although the pandemic had an influence on the company’s overall operations, there was no major decline in employment or 
reduction in hours worked as a result of management actions. Because of the establishment of the Working From Home (WFH) policy, 
everyone has an equal chance to work while staying at home.

The vulnerable staff of both genders were encouraged to take extra care while continuing to work from home even after the crisis’s 
impact had faded. The company ensured that everyone was treated fairly and continued to pay all wages and other due payments to 
employees. In this perspective, “Outsourced Employees” were handled in the same manner as permanent employees throughout the 
crisis.

Gender Equality Enablers Indicators of Equality in the execution 

�� Implementation of the Working Home Policy (WFH) 
during the pandemic and enabling all to WFH without 
discrimination

�� The policy provides wider framework for equal work 
opportunities to all

�� The HR Policy and Manual clearly describes 
the company gender parity initiatives where no 
discrimination at recruitment and placement.

�� Bord level importance to HR Policy setting through the Board 
HR Committee

�� Grievance Handing Procedure of the company is 
properly administrated to ensure nothing is covered.

�� Matters are even reported to board risk committee level for 
policy definitions

�� Revision of compensation and benefits of the 
organization as recommended by the KPMG Survey 

�� Equality in pay and employment during Covid – 19 Crisis 

�� The most recent compensation and benefits revision in which 
the salaries of all staff were benchmarked to 66 Percentile of 
the KPMG Survey without any gender discrimination

�� Outsourced workers who are daily paid were treated equally 
as in the case of permanent staff and continued the payment 
of salaries when WFH although they were unable to perform 
any work from home. 

Gender 
Parity
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One for All  
in Accessibility
Our conviction that everyone should have seamless 
access to financial services has enabled the country to 
move towards gradual financial inclusivity. LankaClear 
ensures that its services remain uninterrupted by 
operating redundant primary and disaster recovery 
datacentres functioning on 24X7 basis. Depending on 
the type of service required, it is offered and accessible 
to all via many channels such as mobile phones, 
internet banking platforms, ATMs, POS terminals and 
Cash Recycle Machines etc.
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Statement of Director’s Responsibilities 
for Financial Statements

The Companies Act No.07 of 2007 
requires Directors to ensure that the 
Company keeps proper books of accounts 
of all the transactions and prepare 
Financial Statements that give a true and 
fair view of the state of the Company’s 
affairs and of the profit and loss for the 
year.

The Directors are also required to ensure 
that the Financial Statements have been 
prepared and presented in accordance 
with the Sri Lanka Accounting Standards 
for small and medium – sized entities and 
provide the information required by the 
Companies Act No. 07 of 2007. They are 
also responsible for taking reasonable 
measures to safeguard the assets of the 
Company, and in that context to have 
proper regard to the establishment of 
appropriate systems of internal control 
with a view to prevention and detection of 
fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are of the view that, these 
Financial Statements have been prepared 
under the generally accepted accounting 
principles and in accordance with the Sri 
Lanka Accounting Standards for small and 
medium – sized entities as laid down by 
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
Sri Lanka.

The Directors endeavor to ensure that 
the Company maintains sufficient records 
to be able to disclose with reasonable 
accuracy, the financial position of the 
Company and to be able to ensure that 
the Financial Statements of the Company 
meet with the requirements of the 
Companies Act and Sri Lanka Accounting 
Standards for small and medium – sized 
entities.

The Directors have reasonable 
expectation, after making enquiries and 
following a review of the Company’s 
budget for the ensuing year including 
cash flows and borrowing facilities, that 
the Company has adequate resources to 
continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future, and therefore have 

continued to adopt the going concern 
basis in preparing the accounts.

Messrs. Ernst & Young the Auditors of the 
Company have examined the Financial 
Statements made available by the Board 
of Directors together with all relevant 
financial records, related data, minutes of 
Shareholders and Directors meeting and 
express their opinion in their report on 
page 158 of the Annual Report.

By Order of the Board
LankaClear (Private) Limited

Managers & Secretaries (Pvt) Limited
Secretaries

21st June 2022
Colombo, Sri Lanka
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Annual Report of the 
Board of Directors

The Directors of LankaClear (Pvt) Ltd have 
pleasure in presenting the 20th Annual 
Report of your Company together with the 
Audited Financial Statements for the year 
ended March 31, 2022.

General
LankaClear (Pvt) Ltd was incorporated as 
a private limited liability company under 
the Companies Act No. 17 of 1982 on 
February 8, 2002 and re-registered under 
the Companies Act No. 7 of 2007 on 
September 18, 2008 under the Company 
Registration No. PV 7551. The registered 
office of the Company is at Level 18, Bank 
of Ceylon Head Office, BOC Square, No. 1, 
Bank of Ceylon Mawatha, Colombo 01. 

Principal Activities
�� National Payment System Operator 

for LKR cheque clearing (CITS) 
�� National Payment System Operator 

for inter-bank electronic batch mode 
payments (SLIPS) 

�� National Payment System Operator 
for US Dollar Draft clearing (UITS)

�� National Payment System Operator 
for Common ATM Network (CAS)

�� National Payment System Operator 
for Realtime Payment Network 
(CEFTS) comprising;
�� LankaPay Government Payment 

Platform (LPOPP) for institutional 
payments

�� JustPay for mobile base retail 
payments

�� LankaQR for standardised QR 
code payments

�� PEN: Payment Exchange Name 
easing inter-bank fund transfers

�� Direct Debit for pull money from 
another bank account upon pre-
defined instructions.

�� Operating the hosted ATM switch for 
Banks/ FIs (LankaPay - SAS) 

�� National Payment System Operator 
for inter-bank Point of Sale Switch 
(CPS).

�� Operator of the LankaPay National 
Card Scheme (NCS)

�� Operating the hosted card 
management solution for Banks/FIs 
(LankaPay - CMS) 

�� National Payment System Operator 
for inter-bank electronic batch mode 
US Dollar payments 

�� Operating the national financial 
sector certificate authority 
(LankaSign) 

�� Attending to financial sector 
computer security incidents 
(FinCSIRT) 

Review of the Business and Future 
Developments
The financial and operational performance 
during the year ended March 31, 2022 
and future business developments of the 
Company are provided in the Chairman’s 
message on pages 24 to 29, GM/ CEO’s 
review on pages 30 to 35, Operational 
review appearing on pages 46 to 69 and 
Capital management on pages 72 to 117. 
These reports which form an integral 
part of the ‘Annual Report of the Board 
of Directors’ together with the audited 
financial statements reflect the state of 
affairs of the Company.

Financial Statements and Auditor’s 
Report
The financial statements of the Company 
for the year ended March 31, 2022 have 
been prepared in accordance with the Sri 
Lanka Accounting Standard for Small and 
Medium-sized Entities (SLFRS for SME’s) 
duly signed by the Directors and the 
auditor’s report on the financial statements 
are provided on pages 158 to 176.

Corporate Governance
The Corporate Governance principles and 
practices of the Company are described 
from pages 121 to 128 of this report. The 
Directors confirm that the Company is in 
compliance with the Companies Act No. 7 
of 2007.

System of Internal Control and Risk 
Management
The Board has implemented an effective 
and comprehensive system of internal 

controls which provide reasonable but 
not absolute assurance that assets 
are safeguarded and that the financial 
reporting system may be relied upon 
in the preparation of the financial 
statements. The Audit Committee receives 
and acts upon reports on the results of 
internal control reviews carried out by 
independent external auditors. 

The Board confirms that there is an 
ongoing process for identifying, evaluating 
and managing any significant risks faced 
by the Company and that financial, 
operational and compliance controls 
have been reviewed. Risk assessment and 
evaluation for the Company takes place 
as an integral part of the business and 
the principal risks and mitigating actions 
in place are reviewed regularly by the 
Management. Foreseeable risks that may 
materially impact business are disclosed in 
the Risk Management Statement on pages 
129 to 139 of this Report.

Going concern
The Board of Directors after considering 
the financial position, operating 
conditions, regulatory and other 
factors has made an assessment of the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern and is satisfied that it has the 
resources to continue in business for the 
foreseeable future. 

For this reason, they continue to adopt 
the Going Concern basis in preparing the 
Financial Statements.

Accounting Policies 
All the significant accounting policies 
adopted by the Company are mentioned 
on pages 164 to 167. There have been 
no changes in the accounting policies 
adopted by the Company during the year 
under review. For all periods up to and 
including the year ended 31st March 
2022, the Company prepared its financial 
statements in accordance with Sri Lanka 
Accounting Standards for Small and 
Medium-sized Entities (SLFRS for SME’s) 
and Companies Act No. 7 of 2007. 
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Revenue
Revenue generated by the Company 
amounted to Rs. 1.33 Bn (2021 – Rs. 1.10 
Bn).

Profit & Appropriations
The profit after tax of the Company 
and the profit attributable to the equity 
holders for the year was Rs. 568 Mn 
(2021- Rs. 489 Mn) 20% of the profit 
after tax amounted to Rs. 114 Mn 
recommended by the Board to distribute 
among the Shareholders of the Company 
as Dividend.

Dividends 
A final dividend of Rs. 7.45 per share 
for the Financial Year ended March 31, 
2022 was recommended by the Board 
of Directors on resulting in a total cash 
payout amounting to Rs. 113,612,500 
(2021 - Rs. 97,905,000)

As required by Section 56 (2) of the 
Companies Act No. 7 of 2007, the Board of 
Directors has confirmed that the Company 
satisfies the solvency test in accordance 
with Section 57 of the Companies Act No. 
7 of 2007, and has obtained a certificate 
from the Auditors, prior to paying the final 
dividend of Rs. 7.45 per share. The final 
dividend will be paid after obtaining the 
approval form the Shareholders.

Property, Plant & Equipment and 
Intangible Assets 
The Company’s capital expenditure on 
property, plant and equipment amounted 
to Rs. 59 Mn (2021 – Rs. 251 Mn) and all 
other related information and movements 
have been disclosed in the note 5 (page 
168) to the financial statements.

Additions of intangible assets of the 
Company during the year amounted to 
Rs. 127 Mn (2021- Rs. 34 Mn) and all other 
related movements are disclosed under 
the note 06 (page 169)

Investments
Detailed description of the short term 
financial investments held as at the 

reporting date, are given in note 10 (page 
170) to the financial statements.

Stated Capital
The total stated capital of the Company as 
at March 31, 2022 was Rs. 165 Mn (2021 
– Rs. 165 Mn). The Stated Capital of the 
Company comprises of 15 Mn Ordinary 
Shares fully paid up.

Reserves
Total reserves as at March 31, 2022 for 
the Company amounted to Rs. 3.39 Bn 
(2021 - Rs. 2.93 Bn) The movement of 
reserves during the year is disclosed in the 
Statement of Changes in Equity on page 
162.

Contingent Liabilities & Capital 
Commitments
Commitments made for capital 
expenditure as at March 31, 2022 and 
the contingent Liabilities as at that date 
are given in Note 24 to the Financial 
Statements.

Events after the End of the Reporting 
Period 
There have been no events subsequent 
to the reporting date, which would have 
any material effect on the Company other 
than those disclosed in Note 25 to the 
Financial Statements.

Share Information & Shareholding
The Net Assets Value per Ordinary Share 
of the Company as at March 31, 2022 
was Rs. 233.11 (2021 - Rs. 202.77). The 
number of shareholders as at March 
31, 2022 was 25 (2021 - 25). An analysis 
of shareholders based on shares held, 
during the year are provided on page 178 
of this report.

The Board of Directors 
The Board of Directors of the Company as 
at March 31, 2022 and their brief profiles 
are given in the Board of Directors section 
of the Annual Report (Pages 36 to 40)

During the year the following changes 
took place in the Directorate.

�� Mr. A.S. Amarasuriya Chairman of 
the Board retired w.e.f. 31st May 
2021 and Dr. Kenneth De Zilwa was 
appointed w.e.f. 01st June 2021 in 
his place.

�� Mr. A. Jonathan Alles of HNB 
representing resigned w.e.f. 09th July 
2021 and Mr. Sanjay Wijemanne was 
appointed w.e.f. 09th July 2021 in his 
place.

�� Mr. K. E. D. Sumanasiri (alternate 
Director to Mr. Rusell Fonseka) 
resigned w.e.f. 23rd November 
2021, and Mr. Rohana Kumara was 
appointed as alternate Director to 
Mr. Rusell Fonseka of Bank of Ceylon 
representing state Bankers w.e.f. 
23rd November 2021 .

�� Mr. B. C. Thewarathanthri 
of Standard Chartered Bank 
representing Foreign Banks 
retired having completed two 
years w.e.f. 20th July 2021 and Mr. 
Ravin Basnayake of Citi Bank was 
appointed w.e.f. 21st September 
2021 representing the Foreign Bank. 

�� Mr. L.P.B. Talwatte of Nations 
Trust Bank representing Private 
Commercial Banks retired on 
completion of two years w.e.f. 08th 
July 2021 and Mr. Lakshman Silva of 
DFCC Bank was appointed w.e.f. 17th 
August 2021 representing the Private 
Bank

�� Mr. Lakshman Silva representing 
Private Commercial Banks resigned 
w.e.f. 31st December 2021 and Mr. 
Thimal Perera of DFCC Bank was 
appointed w.e.f. 01st January 2022 
representing the Private Bank.

Board Committees
Information relating to members of the 
Audit Committee, Human Resources 
Committee, Risk Committee including 
reports of each of the committees and 
attendance of Directors for each of the 
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committee meetings are disclosed under 
Corporate Governance in pages 120 to 
128.

Related Party Transactions 
Details of the transactions with Director-
related entities are disclosed in Note 23 
to the financial statements on page 175 
and have been declared at the Board 
meeting, pursuant to Section 192 (2) of 
the Companies Act No. 7 of 2007.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts
Details of the transactions with Director-
related entities are disclosed in Note 23 
to the financial statements on page 175 
and have been declared at the Board 
meeting, pursuant to Section 192 (2) of 
the Companies Act No. 7 of 2007. 

Directors’ Remuneration
Details of the remuneration and other 
benefits received by the Directors are set 
out in Note 19 of the financial statements.

Disclosure of Directors Dealing in 
Shares
There were no shares held by the 
Directors as at the reporting date.

Employment
The Company practices equality of 
opportunity for all employees irrespective 
of ethnic origin, religion, political opinion, 
gender, marital status or physical 
disability. Details of the Company’s Human 
Resource initiatives are detailed on pages 
83 to 89.

The number of persons employed by 
the Company as at March 31, 2022 was 
110 (2021 - 107). There were no material 
issues pertaining to employees and 
industrial relations during the financial 
year.

Environmental Protection
The Company has not engaged in any 
activities detrimental to the environment.

Statutory Payments
The Directors to the best of their 
knowledge are satisfied that all statutory 
payments in relation to the Government, 
other regulatory institutions and the 
employees have been either duly paid or 
appropriately provided for in the financial 
statements. The tax position of the 
Company is disclosed in Note 20 to the 
financial statements.

Donations
There were no donations made during the 
Year. 

Auditor’s Remuneration and 
Appointment of Auditors
The Audit Committee reviews the 
appointment of the Auditors, their 
effectiveness, independence and 
relationship with the Company, including 
the level of audit.  

Details of the Audit Fees paid to the 
External Auditors are set out in Note 19 
of the financial statements. Fees paid 
for performing non-audit services to 
Messrs. B.R. De Silva & Company a firm of 
Chartered Accountants amounted to Rs. 
883,000. 

Further details on the work of the Auditor 
and the Audit Committee are set out in 
the Audit Committee Report on pages 140 
to 141.

Notice of Meeting
The Annual General Meeting will be held 
at Level 18, Bank of Ceylon Head office, 
“BOC Square”, No.01, Bank of Ceylon 
Mawatha, Colombo 01 via Zoom Audit / 
Video on 30th of August 2022 at 10.00 
a.m.

The Notice of the Annual General Meeting 
appears on page 180. 

For and on behalf of the Board.

 

Dr. Kenneth De Zilwa 
Chairman

 
W. P. R. H. Fonseka 
Director

Managers & Secretaries (Pvt) Ltd) 
Secretaries 
LankaClear (Private) Limited 

21st June 2022
Colombo
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Independent 
Auditor’s Report

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF 
LANKACLEAR (PRIVATE) LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Financial 
Statements

Opinion
We have audited the accompanying 
financial statements of LankaClear 
(Private) Limited, which comprise the 
statement of financial position as at 
31 March 2022, and the statement of 
comprehensive income, statement of 
changes in equity and, statement of cash 
flows for the year then ended, and a 
summary of significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial 
statements give a true and fair view of 
the financial position of the Company 
as at 31 March 2022, and of its financial 
performance and its cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with Sri 
Lanka Financial Reporting Standards for 
Small and Medium-sized Entities (SLFRS 
for SMEs).

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance 
with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards 
(SLAuSs). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit 
of the financial statements section of 
our report. We are independent of the 
Company in accordance with the Code 
of Ethics issued by CA Sri Lanka (Code 
of Ethics) and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance 

with the Code of Ethics. We believe that 
the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of management and 
those charged with governance for the 
financial statements
Management is responsible for the 
preparation of financial statements that 
give a true and fair view in accordance 
with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards, and 
for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, 
management is responsible for assessing 
the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless management either 
intends to liquidate the Company or 
to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are 
responsible for overseeing the Company’s 
financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit 
of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 

report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level 
of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance 
with SLAuSs will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance 
with SLAuSs, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

�� Identify and assess the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.

�� Obtain an understanding of internal 
control relevant to the audit in order 
to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control.
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�� Evaluate the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures 
made by management.

�� Conclude on the appropriateness 
of management’s use of the going 
concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the 
Company’s ability to continue as 
a going concern. If we conclude 
that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention 
in our auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up 
to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Company to cease to 
continue as a going concern.

�� Evaluate the overall presentation, 
structure and content of the financial 
statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the financial 
statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner 
that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged 
with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our 
audit.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory 
Requirements
As required by section 163 (2) of the 
Companies Act No. 07 of 2007, we 
have obtained all the information and 
explanations that were required for the 
audit and, as far as appears from our 
examination, proper accounting records 
have been kept by the Company.

05th August 2022
Colombo
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As at 31 March   2022 2021 
  Notes Rs. Rs.

ASSETS
Non Current Assets
Property, Plant and Equipment  5 434,766,010 461,923,646
Intangible Assets  6 313,541,251 343,778,940
Long Term Financial Investments  7 - 385,448,761
   748,307,261 1,191,151,347

Current Assets
Inventories  8 13,950,234 4,157,775
Trade and Other Receivables  9 253,518,415 204,847,958
Short Term Financial Investments  10 2,454,602,746 1,756,872,736
Cash and Cash Equivalents  11 440,697,314 182,446,875
   3,162,768,709 2,148,325,344
Total Assets   3,911,075,970 3,339,476,691

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and Reserves
Stated Capital  12 165,200,000 165,200,000
Technology Upgrade Reserve  13 870,016,322 -
Retained Earnings   2,519,759,210 2,927,113,360
Total Equity   3,554,975,532 3,092,313,360

Non Current Liabilities
Retirement Benefit Obligation  14 76,951,842 55,907,227
Deferred Tax Liability  15 30,891,693 11,618,899
   107,843,535 67,526,126

Current Liabilities
Trade and Other Payables  16 238,421,278 171,026,103
Deferred Revenue   9,835,625 8,279,152
Income Tax Liability   - 331,950
   248,256,903 179,637,205
Total Equity and Liabilities   3,911,075,970 3,339,476,691

Net Assets Value Per Share   233.11 202.77

It is hereby certified that the above financial statements have been prepared in compliance with the requirements of the Companies 
Act No. 7 of 2007

R. L. Galappaththy
Deputy General Manager - Finance

The Board of Directors is responsible for these Financial Statements.
Signed for and on behalf of the Board by:

Dr. Kenneth de Zilwa W. P. Russel Fonseka
Chairman Director

The Accounting policies & Notes on pages 164 to 176 form an integral part of these Financial Statements

21st June 2022
Colombo

Statement of 
Financial Position
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Year ended 31 March   2022 2021 
  Notes Rs. Rs.

Revenue  17 1,329,295,649 1,057,154,707
Direct Operating Expenses   (733,429,877) (589,128,360)
Gross Profit   595,865,772 468,026,347

Other Income  18 217,103,300 209,155,196
Administrative Expenses   (175,644,358) (140,896,156)
Marketing Expenses   (19,961,817) (18,531,340)
Profit Before Tax  19 617,362,896 517,754,047

Income Tax Expense  20 (49,160,834) (28,175,912)
Profit for the Year   568,202,062 489,578,135

Other Comprehensive Income
Re-measurement Gain / (Loss) on Retirement Benefit Obligation (Net of Tax) 14.2 (7,634,890) (2,015,512)

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year   560,567,172 487,562,623

Earnings Per Share  21 37.26 32.10

The Accounting policies & Notes on pages 164 to 176 form an integral part of these Financial Statements

Statement of 
Comprehensive Income
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Year ended 31 March 2022 Stated Technology Retained Total 
 Capital Upgrade Reserve Earnings 
 Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.

Balance as at 01 April 2020 165,200,000 139,131,459 2,397,561,778 2,701,893,237

Comprehensive Income
Profit for the Year - - 489,578,135 489,578,135
Other Comprehensive Income, net of tax - - (2,015,512) (2,015,512)
Total Comprehensive Income - - 487,562,623 487,562,623

Changes in Ownership
Shares Disposed during the Year (17,623,000) - - (17,623,000)
Shares Issued during the Year 17,623,000 - - 17,623,000
Total Changes in Ownership - - - -

Transactions with Owners of the Company 
- Contribution and Distribution
Dividend paid - - (97,142,500) (97,142,500)
Transferred to Technology Upgrade Reserve - 129,438,512 (129,438,512) -
Utilisation of Technology Upgrade Reserve - (268,569,971) 268,569,971 -
Total Contributions and Distributions - (139,131,459) 41,988,959 (97,142,500)

Balance as at 31st March 2021 165,200,000 - 2,927,113,360 3,092,313,360

Comprehensive Income
Profit for the Year - - 568,202,062 568,202,062
Other Comprehensive Income, net of tax - - (7,634,890) (7,634,890)
Total Comprehensive Income - - 560,567,172 560,567,172

Transactions with Owners of the Company 
- Contribution and Distribution
Dividend paid - - (97,905,000) (97,905,000)
Special transfer to Technology Upgrade Reserve - 900,000,000 (900,000,000) -
General transfer to Technology Upgrade Reserve - 154,340,724 (154,340,724) -
Utilisation of Technology Upgrade Reserve - (184,324,402) 184,324,402 -
Total Contributions and Distributions - 870,016,322 (967,921,322) (97,905,000)

Balance as at 31st March 2022 165,200,000 870,016,322 2,519,759,210 3,554,975,532

The Accounting policies & Notes on pages 164 to 176 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.

Statement of 
Changes in Equity
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Year ended 31 March   2022 2021 
  Notes Rs. Rs.

Cash flows from Operating Activities
Profit Before Tax   617,362,896 517,754,047

Adjustments for
 Depreciation  5.2 89,994,001 77,328,844
 Amortisation  6.2 86,967,493 89,018,249
 Impairment on Receivables   6,391,926 6,391,926
 Finance Income   (181,759,981) (195,264,519)
 Gratuity Charge for the Year  14.1 15,023,297 10,355,429
 Profit/(Loss) on Disposal of Property, Plant & Equipment   - (150,098)
Operating Profit before Working Capital Changes   633,979,633 505,433,878
 (Increase)/Decrease in Inventories   (9,792,460) (219,950)
 (Increase)/Decrease in Trade and Other Receivables   (55,062,383) (51,963,456)
 Increase in Deferred Revenue   1,556,473 4,664,329
 Increase/(Decrease) in Trade and Other Payables   67,395,176 (8,456,873)
Cash Generated from Operations   638,076,439 449,457,928
 Income Tax Paid   (27,808,973) (51,989,805)
 Gratuity Paid  14 (4,024,589) (2,066,973)
Net Cash From Operating Activities   606,242,877 395,401,150

Cash flows from Investing Activities
 Acquisition of Property, Plant & Equipment  5.1 (58,829,267) (251,238,446)
 Acquisition of Intangible Assets  6.1 (126,860,416) (33,813,341)
 Common Card and Payment Switch Application Software Upgrade  6.2 66,123,513 (66,123,515)
 Proceeds from Disposal of Property, Plant & Equipment   - 150,098
 Investment in Long Term Financial Investments   385,448,761 146,239,092
 Investment in Short Term Financial Investments   (697,730,010) (237,628,761)
 Finance Income Received   181,759,981 195,264,519
Net Cash Flows Used in Investing Activities   (250,087,437) (247,150,355)

Cash flows from Financing Activity
 Dividend Paid  22 (97,905,000) (97,142,500)
Net Cash Flows Used in Financing Activity   (97,905,000) (97,142,500)

Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents   258,250,439 51,108,295

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the beginning of the year  11 182,446,875 131,338,580
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the end of the year  11 440,697,314 182,446,875

The Accounting policies & Notes on pages 164 to 176 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.

Statement of 
Cash Flows
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION 
1.1 Reporting Entity 
LankaClear (Private) Limited is a limited 
liability Company incorporated and 
domiciled in Sri Lanka. The Registered 
Office and the principal place of business 
is situated at Level 18, Bank of Ceylon 
Head Office, “BOC Square”, No.1, Bank of 
Ceylon Mawatha, Colombo 01.

1.2 Principal Activities and Nature of 
Operations
During the year, the principal activities 
of the Company are to provide cheque 
clearance transactions to all commercial 
banks on behalf of the Central Bank of 
Sri Lanka, facilitating online interbank 
electronic fund transfers through 
LankaPay Interbank Payment System 
(SLIPS), provide a local switch to facilitate 
routing of Not-on-Us ATM transactions, 
facilitating real-time interbank Electronic 
Fund Transfers (EFT) through Common 
EFT switch and provide digital certification 
services (LankaSign) to the financial sector.

1.3 Financial Period and Date of 
Authorization for Issue
The Statement of Financial Position, 
Statements of Comprehensive Income, 
Statement of Changes in Equity and 
Statement of Cash Flows, together with 
accounting policies and notes, (“Financial 
Statements”) of the Company, for the year 
ended 31 March 2022, covering the period 
from 01 April 2021 to 31 March 2022 was 
authorized for issue on 21st June 2022.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND 
MEASUREMENT
2.1 Statement of Compliance 
The Financial Statements have been 
prepared in compliance with Sri Lanka 
Accounting Standard for Small and 
Medium-sized Entities (SLFRS for SME’s) 
issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of Sri Lanka and are in 
compliance with Companies Act No.7 of 
2007 and the Sri Lanka Accounting and 
Auditing Standards Act No.15 of 1995.

2.1.1 Basis of Measurement
The Financial Statements have been 
prepared based on the historical cost, 
except for the following matters:

�� Employee Benefit is measured using 
the projected unit credit method.

�� Interest Income is recognized 
as it accrues in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

2.2 Comparative Information
The accounting policies have been 
consistently applied by the Company 
with those of the previous financial year 
in accordance with Sri Lanka Accounting 
Standard for Small and Medium-sized 
Entities (SLFRS for SME’s) issued by the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri 
Lanka. The previous year’s figures and 
phrases have been rearranged wherever 
necessary, to conform to the current 
presentation as indicated.

2.3 Functional Currency
The financial statements are presented 
in Sri Lankan Rupees, which is the 
Association’s functional currency. All the 
financial information presented in Rupees 
has been rounded to the nearest Rupee.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
JUDGMENTS, ESTIMATES AND 
ASSUMPTIONS
The preparation of Financial Statements 
in conformity with Sri Lanka Accounting 
Standard for Small and Medium-Sized 
Entities requires Management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the application of accounting 
policies and the reported amounts of 
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. 
Actual results may differ from these 
estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are 
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions 
to accounting estimates are recognized in 
the period in which the estimate is revised 
and in any future periods affected.

Assessment of Impairment
The Company assesses at the end of each 
financial year whether there is objective 
evidence that an asset or portfolio of 
assets is impaired. The recoverable 
amount of an asset or Cash Generating 
Unit (CGU) is the greater of its value in 
use and its fair value less costs to sell. 
In assessing value in use, the estimated 
future cash flows are discounted to 
present value using appropriate discount 
rates that reflects the current market 
assessments of the time value of money 
and risks specific to the asset. 

Useful life-time of the Plant and 
Equipment
The Company reviews the residual 
values, useful lives and methods of 
depreciation of assets at each reporting 
date. Management estimates these 
values, rates, methods and hence they are 
subject to uncertainty.

Useful –lives of intangible assets
The Company reviews the residual values, 
useful lives and methods of amortization 
of assets as at each reporting date. 
Judgment by the management is exercised 
in the estimation of these values, rates, 
methods and hence they are subject to 
uncertainty.

Going Concern
The board has made an assessment of 
the company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern and is satisfied that it has 
the resources to continue in business 
for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, 
the Board is not aware of any material 
uncertainties that may cast significant 
doubt upon the company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern and they do 
not intend either to liquidate or to cease 
operations of the company. Therefore, 
the financial statements continue to be 
prepared on the going concern basis.

Notes to the Financial 
Statements
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
4.1 Foreign Currency Translation
All foreign exchange transactions are 
converted to functional currency, at the 
rates of exchange prevailing at the time 
the transactions are affected. 

Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currency 
are translated to functional currency 
equivalents at the exchange rate 
prevailing at the end of the reporting 
period. Non-monetary assets and liabilities 
are translated using exchange rates that 
existed when the values were determined. 
The resulting gains and losses are 
recognised in profit or loss.

4.2 Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment are 
recognised if it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the 
assets will flow to the entity and cost of 
the asset can be reliably measured.

Items of property, plant and equipment 
are measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. 

Depreciation is charged so as to allocate 
the cost of assets less their residual values 
over their estimated useful lives, using the 
straight-line method. The estimated useful 
lives are as follows.

Computer Equipment  4 - 8 years
Furniture and Fittings  10 years
Electronic Equipment  5 years
Other Equipment 5 years
Motor Vehicles 5 years
Building 30 years

If there is an indication that there has 
been a significant change in assets 
useful life or residual value of an 
asset, the depreciation of that asset is 
revised prospectively to reflect the new 
expectations.

4.2.1 De-recognition
An item of property & equipment and 
any significant part initially recognized is 
derecognised upon disposal or when no 
future economic benefits are expected 
from its use or disposal. Any gain or 
loss arising from de-recognition of the 
assets are determined by comparing 
the proceeds from disposal with the 
carrying amount of the property, plant 
and equipment and recognized within 
“Other Income” in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

4.2.2 Restoration Costs
Expenditure incurred on repairs or 
maintenance of property and equipment 
in order to restore or maintain 
future economic benefits expected 
from originally assessed standard of 
performance is recognized as an expense 
when incurred.

4.3 Intangible Assets
An intangible asset is recognised if it 
is probable that the future economic 
benefits that are attributable to the asset 
will flow to the entity and the cost of 
the assets can be measured reliably. An 
intangible asset is initially measured at 
cost.

Purchased computer software is stated 
at cost less accumulated amortisation 
and any accumulated impairment losses. 
It is amortized over its estimated life of 
4 - 8 years using the straight-line method. 
If there is an indication that there has 
been a significant change in amortization 
rate, useful life or residual value of an 
intangible asset, the amortisation is 
revised prospectively to reflect the new 
expectations. 

4.3.1 Capital Work-in-Progress
Capital work-in-progress is stated at 
cost less any accumulated impairment 
losses. These are expenses which directly 
incurred in the construction of system 
development, awaiting capitalization. 

Capital work-in progress would be 
transferred to the relevant asset when 
it is available for use i.e. when it is in the 
location and condition necessary for it to 
be capable of operating in the manner 
intended by management. 

4.4 Borrowing Costs  
All borrowing costs are recognized in 
profit or loss in the period in which they 
are incurred.

4.5 Impairment of Assets
At each reporting date, property, plant 
and equipment and intangible assets are 
reviewed to determine whether there 
is any indication that those assets have 
suffered an impairment loss. If there is 
an indication of possible impairment, the 
recoverable amount of any affected asset 
(or group of related assets) is estimated 
and compared with its carrying amount. 
If estimated recoverable amount is lower, 
the carrying amount is reduced to its 
estimated recoverable amount, and an 
impairment loss is recognized immediately 
in profit or loss.

If an impairment loss subsequently 
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset 
(or group of related assets) is increased 
to the revised estimate of its recoverable 
amount, but not in excess of the amount 
that would have been determined had 
no impairment loss been recognized for 
the asset (group of related assets) in prior 
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is 
recognized immediately in profit or loss.

4.6 Long Term Financial Investments
Investments with maturity more than 
one year from the date of acquisition 
are considered as long term financial 
investments and are initially recognized 
at fair value. After initial measurement, 
such financial assets are subsequently 
measured at amortized cost using 
Effective Interest Rate method (EIR), less 
impairment.

Financial Reports  Notes to the Financial Statements
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4.7 Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost 
and net realizable value, after making 
due allowances for obsolete and slow 
moving items. Net realizable value is the 
price at which inventories can be sold in 
the ordinary course of business less the 
estimated cost of completion and the 
estimated cost necessary to make the sale.

4.8 Trade and other receivables  
Most sales are made on the basis of 
normal credit terms, and the receivables 
do not bear interest. Where credit is 
extended beyond normal credit terms, 
receivables are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method. 
At the end of each reporting period, the 
carrying amounts of trade and other 
receivables are reviewed to determine 
whether there is any objective evidence 
that the amounts are not recoverable. 
If so, an impairment loss is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss. 

4.9 Short Term Financial Investment 
Investments with maturities more than 
three months and less than one year from 
the date of acquisition are considered 
as short term financial investments 
and are initially recognized at fair value. 
Investments with short maturities i.e. 
three months or less from the date of 
acquisition are also treated as cash 
equivalents

4.10 Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents are cash 
in hand, demand deposits and short-
term highly liquid investments, readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and 
subject to insignificant risk of changes in 
value. Investment with short maturities 
i.e three months or less from the date 
of acquisition are also treated as cash 
equivalents. 
 
For the purpose of cash flow statement, 
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash 
in hand and deposits in banks net of 
outstanding bank overdrafts. 

Securities purchased under re-sale 
agreements are advances collateralised 
by purchase of treasury bills subject 
to a commitment to re-sale them at a 
predetermined price. Such securities 
remain on the statement of financial 
position of the Company and the asset is 
recorded in respect of the consideration 
paid and interest accrued thereon.

4.11 Trade and other payables  
Trade and other payables are obligations 
on the basis of normal credit terms and 
do not bear interest. 

4.12 Basic Financial Instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are 
recognized when the Company becomes 
a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument. Financial assets and financial 
liabilities are measured initially at the 
transaction price (including transaction 
cost except in the initial measurement 
of the financial assets and liabilities 
that are measured at fair value through 
surplus or deficit). Financial assets are 
derecognised when the contractual rights 
to the cash flows from the financial assets 
have expired or settled and the Company 
has transferred substantially all risk and 
rewards of ownership of the financial 
assets to another party. 

The Company derecognises a financial 
liability when the obligation specified in 
the contract is discharged, cancelled or 
expires. At the end of each reporting 
period, the financial instruments are 
measured at amortized cost.

At the end of each reporting period, the 
Company assesses whether there is 
objective evidence of impairment of any 
financial assets that are measured at cost or 
amortized cost. If there is objective evidence 
of impairment, the impairment loss is 
immediately recognized in surplus or deficit.

4.13  Provisions
Provisions are recognized when the 
Company has a present obligation (legal 

or constructive) as a result of a past event, 
where it is probable that an outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits 
will be required to settle the obligation 
and a reliable estimate can be made of 
the amount of the obligation. The expense 
relating to any provision is presented in 
profit or loss net of any reimbursement. 
If the effect of the time value of money 
is material, provisions are determined 
by discounting the expected future cash 
flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of 
money and, where appropriate, the risks 
specific to the liability. Where discounting 
is used, the increase in the provision due 
to the passage of time is recognized as an 
interest expense. 
 
4.14 Employee Benefits 
Defined Benefit Plans – Gratuity
Gratuity is a defined benefit plan. In order 
to meet this liability, a provision is carried 
forward in the Statement of Financial 
Position. The provision is calculated 
based on a projected unit credit method 
considering the future salary increment 
rates, discount rates and the expected 
staff turnover rate (these assumptions 
are shown in the Note 14 to the Financial 
Statements). The resulting difference 
between the brought forward provision 
at the beginning of the year and the 
carried forward provision at the end of 
the year is dealt within the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. However, as per 
the payment of the Gratuity Act No.12 
of 1983, gratuity liability is not externally 
funded. This liability is grouped under 
non-current liabilities in the Statement of 
Financial Position 

Defined Contribution Plans – Employees’ 
Provident Fund and Employees’ Trust 
Fund
A defined contribution plan is a post-
employment benefit plan under which 
an entity pays fixed contribution into a 
separate entity and will have no legal or 
constructive obligation to pay further 
amounts. Obligations for contribution 

Notes to the Financial Statements
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to Employee Provident and Employee 
Trust Funds covering all employees are 
recognized as an expense in profit or loss 
as incurred. The Company contributes 
12% and 3% of gross emoluments of 
employees to Employees’ Provident Fund 
and Employees’ Trust Fund respectively.

4.15 Revenue Recognition 
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it 
is probable that the economic benefits will 
flow to the Company and the revenue and 
associated costs incurred or to be incurred 
can be reliably measured. Revenue from 
rendering services is measured at the 
fair value of the consideration received 
or receivable, net of discounts and 
sales-related taxes collected on behalf 
of the government of Sri Lanka. Revenue 
from product lines is recognized on per 
transaction basis, except for FinCSIRT 
(Financial Sector Computer Security 
Incident Response Team) products which 
recognized on annual basis.

Interest Income
Revenue is recognised on a time 
proportion basis that takes in to accounts 
the effective interest rate on asset.

Rental Income 
Rental income is recognised on an accrual 
basis. 

4.16 Expenditure Recognition
Expenditure is recognized in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income on 
the basis of a direct association between 
the cost incurred and the earnings of 
specific items of income. All expenditure 
incurred in the running of the business 
and in maintaining the Property, Plant and 
equipment in state of efficiency has been 
charged to income in arriving at the profit 
for the period.

For the presentation of the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income, the Directors are 
of the opinion that the nature of expense 
method presents fairly the element of the 
Company’s performance, and hence such 
presentation method is adopted.

4.17 Income Tax 
Current income tax assets and liabilities 
for the current and prior periods are 
measured at the amount expected to be 
recovered from or paid to the taxation 
authorities. The tax rates and tax laws 
used to compute the amount are those 
that are enacted or substantively enacted 
by the reporting date.

Company is taxed under Inland Revenue 
Act No. 10 of 2006 and amendments 
thereto. 

The provision for income tax is based on 
the elements of income and expenditure 
as reported in the Financial Statements 
and computed in accordance with 
the provisions of the mentioned tax 
legislations.

As per the Gazette Notification dated 29th 
June 202, services rendered by LankaClear 
with regard to LankaPay Common ATM 
Network (CAS), LankaPay Realtime Payment 
Network (CEFTS), LankaPay Interbank 
Payment System (SLIPS) and LankaPay USD 
On-line Payment System (USDOPS) fall 
within the scope of “System Integration” and 
profits are qualifying for tax exemption.

4.18 Deferred Taxation
Deferred tax is recognized in respect 
of temporary differences between the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
for financial reporting purposes and the 
amounts used for taxation purposes. 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax 
rates that are expected to be applied to 
temporary differences when they reverse, 
based on the laws that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by the reporting 
date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
offset if there is a legally enforceable right 
to offset current tax liabilities and assets, 
and they relate to income taxes levied 
by the same tax authority on the same 
taxable entity, or on different tax entities, 
but they intend to settle current tax 

liabilities and assets on a net basis or their 
tax assets and liabilities will be realized 
simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognized 
for unused tax losses, tax credits and 
deductible temporary differences, to 
the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profits will be available against 
which they can be utilized. Deferred tax 
assets are reviewed at each reporting date 
and are reduced to the extent that it is 
no longer probable that the related tax 
benefits will be realized.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not 
discounted.

The net increase in the carrying amount 
of deferred tax liability net of deferred tax 
asset is recognized as deferred tax asset 
is recognized as deferred tax expense and 
conversely any net decrease is recognized 
as reversal to deferred tax expense, in the 
income statement.

4.19 Earnings Per Share
The Company presents Basic and Diluted 
Earnings per Share (EPS) data for its 
ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by 
dividing the profit or loss attributable to 
ordinary shareholders of the Company by 
the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding during the period. 
 
4.20 Cash Flow Statement
The cash flow statement has been 
prepared using the “indirect method” 
Cash and cash equivalents are short-term, 
highly liquid investments held to meet 
short-term cash commitments rather 
than for investment or other purposes. 
Therefore, an investment normally 
qualifies as a cash equivalent only when it 
has a short maturity of, say, three months 
or less from the date of acquisition.

4.21 Capital Commitments and 
Contingent Liabilities
All material capital commitments and 
contingent liabilities are considered and 
necessary adjustments or disclosures are 
made in these financial statements.
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5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

 Balance   Balance 
 as at   as at 
 01.04.2021 Additions Disposals 31.03.2022 
 Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.

5.1 At Cost
Computer Equipment 874,824,743 54,431,986 - 929,256,729
Furniture and Fittings 20,698,357 60,900 - 20,759,257
Electronic Equipment 25,671,572 3,032,000 - 28,703,572
Other Equipment 20,132,838 1,304,381 - 21,437,219
Motor Vehicle 6,695,000 - - 6,695,000
Freehold Land 21,238,620 - - 21,238,620
Freehold Building 68,940,628 - - 68,940,628
Total Value of Assets 1,038,201,758 58,829,267 - 1,097,031,025

 Balance Charge  Balance 
 as at for the  as at 
 01.04.2021 Year Disposals 31.03.2022 
 Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.

5.2 Depreciation
Computer Equipment 504,062,005 83,037,517 - 583,092,427
Furniture and Fittings 14,124,976 1,589,218 - 15,714,193
Electronic Equipment 23,756,894 1,146,031 - 24,902,924
Other Equipment 15,000,121 1,923,213 - 16,923,334
Motor Vehicle 6,695,000 - - 6,695,000
Freehold Building 12,639,116 2,298,021 - 14,937,137
Total Depreciation 576,278,111 89,994,001 - 662,265,015

   2022 2021 
   Rs. Rs.

5.3 Net Book Values
Computer Equipment   346,164,302 370,762,738
Furniture and Fittings   5,045,064 6,573,381
Electronic Equipment   3,800,648 1,914,678
Other Equipment   4,513,884 5,132,717
Freehold Land   21,238,620 21,238,620
Freehold Building   54,003,491 56,301,512
Total Carrying Amount of Property, Plant and Equipment   434,766,010 461,923,646

5.4 During the financial year, the Company acquired Property, Plant & Equipment by means of cash with an aggregate cost of  
Rs. 59 Mn (2021 - Rs. 251 Mn)

5.5 Based on the assessment of potential impairment carried out internally as at 31 March 2022, no provision was required to be 
made in the financial statements as at the reporting date.

5.6 There were no items of Property, Plant and Equipment pledged as securities for liabilities.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

 Balance   Balance 
 as at  Disposals/ as at 
 01.04.2021 Additions Transfers 31.03.2022 
 Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.

6.1 At Cost
Computer Software 915,158,441 126,977,192 (116,776) 1,042,018,857
 915,158,441 126,977,192 (116,776) 1,042,018,857

Capital Work in Progress
Application Software Upgrade  
 - Common Card and Payment Switch 66,123,516 - (66,123,516) -
 66,123,516 - (66,123,516) -
Total Value of Assets 981,281,957 126,977,192 (66,240,292) 1,042,018,857

 Balance Charge  Balance 
 as at for the Disposals/ as at 
 01.04.2021 Year Transfers 31.03.2022 
 Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.

6.2 Amortisation
Computer Software 637,503,018 86,967,493 - 728,477,606
Total Amortisation 637,503,018 86,967,493 - 728,477,606

   2022 2021 
   Rs. Rs.

6.3 Net Book Values
Computer Software   313,541,251 277,655,424

Capital Work in Progress
Application Software Upgrade - Common Card and Payment Switch   - 66,123,516
Total Carrying Amount of Intangible Assets   313,541,251 343,778,940

6.4 During the financial year, the Company acquired intangible assets by means of cash with an aggregate cost of Rs. 127 Mn (2021 - 
Rs. 34 Mn).

6.5 Based on the assessment of potential impairment carried out internally as at 31 March 2022, no provision was required to be 
made in the financial statements as at the reporting date.
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7. LONG TERM FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS

   2022 2021 
   Rs. Rs.

Investment in Fixed Deposits   - 351,769,615
Accrued Interest on Fixed Deposits   - 33,679,146
   - 385,448,761

8. INVENTORIES

   2022 2021 
   Rs. Rs.

Inventories   13,950,234 4,157,775
   13,950,234 4,157,775

9. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

   2022 2021 
   Rs. Rs.

Trade Receivables   166,847,598 137,449,270
Advances & Prepayments   26,911,551 62,181,677
Refundable Deposits   450,700 450,700
Income Tax Refund   46,693,147 -
Other Receivables   12,615,418 4,766,311
   253,518,415 204,847,958

10. SHORT TERM FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS

   2022 2021 
   Rs. Rs.

Investment in Fixed Deposits   2,326,364,849 1,728,150,290
Accrued Interest on Fixed Deposits   128,237,897 28,722,446
   2,454,602,746 1,756,872,736

11. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

   2022 2021 
   Rs. Rs.

Cash in Hand and Bank Balances   440,697,314 182,446,875
   440,697,314 182,446,875

Notes to the Financial Statements
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12. STATED CAPITAL

 2022 2021
 Number Rs. Number Rs.

Fully paid Ordinary Shares 15,250,000 165,200,000 15,250,000 165,200,000

Balance at the Beginning of the Year 15,250,000 165,200,000 15,250,000 165,200,000
Shares Disposed during the Year - - (100,000) (17,623,000)
Shares Issued during the Year - - 100,000 17,623,000
Balance at the End of the Year 15,250,000 165,200,000 15,250,000 165,200,000

13. TECHNOLOGY UPGRADE RESERVE

   2022 2021 
   Rs. Rs.

Balance at the Beginning of the Year   - 139,131,459
Special transfer to Technology Upgrade Reserve   900,000,000 -
General transfer to Technology Upgrade Reserve   154,340,724 129,438,512
Utilisation of Technology Upgrade Reserve   (184,324,402) (268,569,971)
Balance at the End of the Year   870,016,322 -

Technology Upgrade Reserve represents profits reserved by the Company for the replacement of capital assets that have either 
completed their useful economic life or with outdated technology necessitating replacements. Company allocates 25% of profit before 
tax to the Technology Upgrade Reserve annually. Due to the insufficient balance available in the Technology Upgrade Reserve in 
previous year, Rs.900 Mn was transferred during the year from Retained Earnings.

14. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATION

   2022 2021 
   Rs. Rs.

Balance at the Beginning of the Year   55,907,227 44,966,781
Gratuity Charge for the Year (Note 14.1)   15,023,297 10,355,429
   70,930,524 55,322,210
Payments made during the Year   (4,024,589) (2,066,973)
(Gain)/Loss arising from Changes in Assumptions (Note 14.1)   10,045,907 2,651,990
Balance at the End of the Year   76,951,842 55,907,227

The Company has adopted Section 28 of Sri Lanka Accounting Standard for SMEs - Employee Benefits in determining the Retirement 
Benefit Obligation as at 31st March 2022. The Present Value of the Retirement Benefit Obligation is estimated using Projected Unit 
Credit method under Actuarial Valuation.

The principal assumptions used in determining this obligation were,

   2022 2021

Discount Rate   15.30% 8.19%
Salary Increment Rate   14.80% 9.00%
Staff Turnover Factor   12.80% 5.66%
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   2022 2021 
   Rs. Rs.

14.1 Expenses recognised during the year in Statement of Comprehensive Income
Gratuity Charge for the Year recognised in Profit or Loss   15,023,297 10,355,429
Actuarial (Gain)/Losses recognised in Other Comprehensive Income   10,045,907 2,651,990

   2022 2021 
   Rs. Rs.

14.2 Retirement Benefit Obligations (Net of Taxes)
Actuarial (Gain)/Losses recognised in Other Comprehensive Income   10,045,907 2,651,990
Tax Expense/(Refund) Tax at 24%   (2,411,018) (636,477)
   7,634,890 2,015,512

15. DEFERRED TAXATION

   2022 2021 
   Rs. Rs.

Deferred Tax Liability   30,891,693 11,618,899
   30,891,693 11,618,899

Deferred tax relates to the following:

 Statement of Statement of 
 financial position Comprehensive Income
 2022 2021 2022 2021 
 Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.

Property, Plant and Equipment and Intangible Assets (49,360,135) (25,036,634) (24,323,501) 5,161,881
Retirement Benefit Obligation 18,468,442 13,417,734 5,050,708 2,625,707
Deferred Tax Asset / (Liability) (30,891,693) (11,618,899)
Deferred tax (expense) / benefit   (19,272,793) 7,787,588

Reconciliation of deferred tax liabilities, net

   2022 2021 
   Rs. Rs.

As of 1 April   11,618,899 19,406,487
Tax expense during the period recognised in profit or loss   21,683,811 (7,151,111)
Tax income/(expense) during the period recognised in OCI (Note 14.2)   (2,411,018) (636,477)
As at 31 March   30,891,693 11,618,899

Notes to the Financial Statements
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16. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

   2022 2021 
   Rs. Rs.

Sundry Creditors and Accruals   231,495,820 165,718,654
Value Added Tax (VAT)   6,925,458 5,307,449
   238,421,278 171,026,103

17. REVENUE

   2022 2021 
   Rs. Rs.

Revenue from LankaPay Cheque Imaging and Truncation System (CITS)   271,576,672 239,109,026
Revenue from Common Card and Payment Switch (CCAPS)   822,487,565 610,592,243
Revenue from LankaPay Interbank Payment System (SLIPS)   161,781,692 137,049,693
Revenue from Financial Sector Computer Security Incident Response Team (FinCSIRT)  24,954,449 27,963,411
Revenue from LankaSign Certificate Authority (CA)   41,703,522 36,454,083
Revenue from USD Online Clearing System   6,791,750 5,986,250
   1,329,295,649 1,057,154,707

18. OTHER INCOME

   2022 2021 
   Rs. Rs.

Interest on Fixed Deposits   175,997,308 192,457,956
Interest on Securities Purchase under Resale Agreement   4,509,453 1,077,905
Interest on Saving Account - LKR   502,597 1,120,564
Interest on Saving Account - USD   750,622 608,094
Rental Income   9,056,503 5,156,494
Other Income   3,611,759 2,269,685
Exchange Gain   22,675,057 6,314,400
Profit on Disposal of Fixed Assets   - 150,098
   217,103,300 209,155,196
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19. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

   2022 2021 
   Rs. Rs.

Profit Before Tax is stated after charging all expenses including the following: 
Directors' Emoluments   5,710,000 4,760,000
External Auditors' Fee   696,622 621,300
Depreciation (Note 5.2)   89,994,001 77,328,844
Amortisation (Note 6.2)   86,967,493 89,018,249
Donation   942,579 -
Impairment Loss on Receivable   6,391,926 6,391,926
Personnel Costs includes
 - Defined Contribution Plan Cost - EPF & ETF   36,763,428 25,044,651
 - Salaries and other staff costs   323,131,419 211,922,739

20. INCOME TAX EXPENSES

   2022 2021 
   Rs. Rs.

The major components of Income Tax expense for the Year ended 31 March are as follows:
Current Income Tax Expense
Current Income Tax Charge (Note 20.1)   27,477,023 35,327,022
(Over)/Under provision of current taxes in respect of previous year   - -

Deferred Income Tax Expense
Relating to Origination and (Reversal) of Temporary Differences (Note 15)   21,683,811 (7,151,111)
Total Income Tax Expense   49,160,834 28,175,912

   2022 2021 
   Rs. Rs.

20.1 Reconciliation of Accounting Profit to Income Tax Expense
Profit Before Tax   617,362,896 517,754,047
Profits not liable for Tax   (488,759,084) (364,315,720)
Aggregate Allowable Expenses   (291,025,837) (293,663,798)
Aggregate Disallowable Expenses   86,843,758 87,608,479
Adjusted Business Income   (75,578,267) (52,616,992)
Other Income   190,065,862 199,812,919
Taxable Income   114,487,595 147,195,926
Current Tax on Profit for the Year   27,477,023 35,327,022

Current tax has been computed in accordance with the provisions of Inland Revenue Act No. 10 of 2006 and amendments thereto
Profits and income earned from LankaPay Common ATM Network (CAS), LankaPay Realtime Payment Network (CEFTS), Sri Lanka Inter 
Bank Payment System, USD Online Clearing System and LankaSign are exempted from income tax under the Gazette Notification 
issued dated 29th June 2021.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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21. EARNINGS PER SHARE

   2022 2021 
   Rs. Rs.

Amount used as the Numerator
Net Profit attributable to Ordinary Shareholders   568,202,062 489,578,135

Number of Ordinary Shares used as the Denominator
Weighted average number of Ordinary Shares in Issue   15,250,000 15,250,000

Earnings Per Share   37.26 32.10

The calculation of Earnings Per Share is based on the profit attributable to Ordinary Shareholders and the weighted average number 
of Ordinary Shares outstanding during the year.

22. DIVIDEND PER SHARE

   2022 2021 
   Rs. Rs.

Final Dividend paid in respect of 2019/20   - 97,142,500
Final Dividend paid in respect of 2020/21   97,905,000 -
Dividend Per Share   6.42 6.37

23. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

   2022 2021 
   Rs. Rs.

Transactions with Related Parties
Central Bank of Sri Lanka *
Service rendered through LankaPay Cheque Imaging and Truncation System (CITS)  53,791 79,272
Service rendered through LankaPay Interbank Payment System (SLIPS)   348,439 379,526
Purchase of Digital Signing Certificates   42,739 385,328
Dividend paid   19,175,410 19,026,069

* Central Bank of Sri Lanka is the main investor of the company and it gives the main guidance for strategies of the Company.
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Transactions with key Management Personnel of the Company (KMP)
According to Section 33 of Sri Lanka Accounting Standard for SMEs "Related Party Disclosures", Key Management Personnel are those 
persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity, directly or indirectly, 
including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of that entity. Accordingly, the Directors of the Company, General Manager/
CEO and their immediate family members have been classified as Key Management Personnel.

   2022 2021 
   Rs. Rs.

Short Term Employment Benefits   5,710,000 4,760,000

No other significant transactions had taken place during the year with the parties/entities in which Key Management Personnel or 
their close family members were involved.

24. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
24.1 Capital Expenditure Commitments
The capital expenditure approved by the Board of Directors for which provision has not been made in the Financial Statements is as 
follows:

   2022 2021 
   Rs. Rs.

Commitments in relation to Intangible Assets - Approved and contracted for  - 46,499,392

24.2 Litigation against the Company
There were no litigation outstanding against the Company as at the reporting date.

25. EVENTS AFTER THE END OF REPORTING PERIOD
There were no material events occurring after the reporting period that requires adjustments to or disclosure in the Financial 
Statements other than those disclosed.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 March (Rs. Mn) 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

OPERATING RESULTS
Revenue 427.85 463.03 517.87 601.64 800.76 918.50 1,029.06 1,097.71 1,057.15 1,329.30
Gross Profit 282.11 260.90 247.16 262.17 390.04 462.61 532.54 532.38 468.03 595.87
Other Income 83.13 95.30 68.04 58.60 90.69 144.47 186.02 225.81 209.16 217.10
Administrative Expenses 104.78 128.01 121.81 126.40 138.18 161.57 165.26 173.13 140.90 175.64
Finance Cost - - - - - - - - -
Marketing Expenses - - 10.76 9.57 20.50 20.41 33.02 23.92 18.53 19.96
Profit Before Tax 260.46 228.20 182.63 184.81 322.04 425.10 520.28 561.13 517.75 617.36
Income Tax Expenses 71.55 41.41 53.15 11.06 43.55 63.67 89.81 75.49 28.18 49.16
Profit for the Year 188.91 186.79 129.48 173.74 278.49 361.43 430.47 485.64 489.58 568.20

CAPITAL EMPLOYED
Stated Capital 154.75 158.25 158.25 158.25 158.25 158.25 165.20 165.20 165.20 165.20
Technology Upgrade Reserve 167.51 229.67 222.04 236.15 245.58 265.56 258.16 139.13 - 870.02
Capital Reserves 395.00 120.00 - - - - - - - -
Retained Earnings 213.10 586.21 816.73 949.76 1,188.41 1,488.07 1866.70 2397.56 2,927.11 2,519.76
Non Current Liabilities 11.44 17.26 18.39 24.32 33.75 42.31 54.59 64.37 67.53 107.84
Total 941.79 1,111.39 1,215.40 1,368.48 1,626.00 1,954.19 2,344.65 2,766.27 3,159.84 3,662.82

ASSETS EMPLOYED
Property, Plant and Equipment 206.24 175.59 224.74 268.86 241.96 249.55 248.02 288.01 461.92 434.77
Intangible Assets 10.71 117.95 235.52 293.04 327.94 332.90 359.63 332.86 343.78 313.54
Long Term Financial Investments      781.74 1092.80 531.69 385.45 -
Deferred Tax Asset - 1.12 0.65 - - - - - -
Net Current Assets 724.83 816.72 754.50 806.58 1,056.11 590.00 644.20 1,613.70 1,968.69 2,914.51
Total 941.79 1,111.39 1,215.40 1,368.48 1,626.00 1,954.19 2,344.65 2,766.27 3,159.84 3,662.82

CASH FLOW
Cash Flows from/(used in)  
 Operating Activities 96.80 138.65 106.56 164.31 285.38 389.57 338.81 524.67 395.40 606.24
Cash Flows from/(used in)  
 Investing Activities (196.01) (87.81) (72.67) (124.35) (37.69) (572.13) (301.61) (368.54) (247.15) (250.09)
Cash Flows from/(used in)  
 Financing Activities (22.73) (23.01) (26.60) (26.60) (30.40) (41.80) (46.25) (75.49) (97.14) (97.91)
Net increase/(decrease) in  
 Cash and Cash Equivalents (121.93) 27.83 7.29 13.36 217.29 (224.36) (9.05) 80.64 51.11 258.25

KEY INDICATORS
Net Profit Margin 44% 40% 25% 29% 35% 39% 42% 44% 46% 43%
Earnings Per Share 12.47 12.32 8.52 11.43 18.32 23.78 28.28 31.85 32.10 37.26
Net Assets Per Share 61.41 72.18 78.75 88.41 104.75 125.78 150.17 177.17 202.77 233.11
Revenue Growth Rate 10% 8% 12% 16% 33% 15% 12% 7% -4% 26%
Dividend Per Share 1.75 1.75 1.75 2.00 2.75 3.50 4.95 6.37 6.42 7.45*
Dividend Payout (Rs. Millions) 26.51 26.53 26.60 30.40 41.80 53.20 75.49 97.14 97.91 113.61
Return on Equity 20% 17% 11% 13% 17% 19% 19% 18% 16% 16%

* Dividend Proposed in 2021/2022

Ten Year 
Summary
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Share 
Information

Shareholding as at 31st March 2022  
“LankaClear shares were owned by the Central Bank of Sri Lanka and 24 Commercial Banks operating in Sri Lanka, including State 
Banks, Private Banks and Foreign Banks.”  

Shareholders
Number of 

Shares
%

Central Bank of Sri Lanka 2,986,824 19.59%

Hatton National Bank PLC 2,214,521 14.52%

Bank of Ceylon 2,113,861 13.86%

People’s Bank 2,126,213 13.94%

Sampath Bank PLC 2,000,000 13.11%

Seylan Bank PLC 1,006,601 6.60%

Commercial Bank of Ceylon PLC 1,000,000 6.56%

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Ltd 200,000 1.31%

National Development Bank PLC 150,990 0.99%

Standard Chartered Bank 150,990 0.99%

Deutsche Bank AG 150,000 0.98%

Nations Trust Bank PLC 150,000 0.98%

Citibank NA 100,000 0.66%

DFCC Bank PLC 100,000 0.66%

Indian Bank 100,000 0.66%

Indian Overseas Bank 100,000 0.66%

MCB Bank Ltd 100,000 0.66%

Pan Asia Banking Corporation PLC 100,000 0.66%

Public Bank Berhad 100,000 0.66%

Amana Bank PLC 50,000 0.33%

Bank of China Ltd 50,000 0.33%

Cargills Bank Ltd 50,000 0.33%

Habib Bank Ltd 50,000 0.33%

State Bank of India 50,000 0.33%

Union Bank of Colombo PLC 50,000 0.33%

Total 15,250,000 100.00%
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‘ATM’ shall mean an Automated Teller 
Machine 

‘Bank’ shall mean a company or body 
corporate licensed under the Banking Act 
No. 30 of 1988 to carry on banking business 
in Sri Lanka; and the Central Bank of Sri 
Lanka in the capacity of a CITS participant.

‘BCP’ shall mean Business Continuity Plan

‘BIRMC’ shall mean Board Integrated Risk 
Management Committee

‘Business Day’ shall mean a day on which 
banks are ordinarily open for business in Sri 
Lanka.

‘CA: Certificate Authority’ A CA is an 
entity, which is core to many PKI (Public Key 
Infrastructure) schemes, whose purpose is 
to issue digital certificates to other parties. It 
authenticates a trusted third party.

“CAS” shall mean LankaPay Common ATM 
Network

‘CCAPS’ shall mean LankaPay Common Card 
and Payment Switch.

‘CEFTS’ shall mean LankaPay Realtime 
Payment Network (CEFTS).

‘CMS’ shall mean Card Management System

‘CITS’ shall mean LankaPay Cheque Imaging 
and Truncation System (CITS) which 
includes LankaClear systems, processes and 
procedures for the electronic clearing and 
archiving of CITS items and non-clearing 
items, if any.

‘CSP’ shall mean Certification Service 
Provider

‘CPS’ shall mean LankaPay Common POS 
Network (CPS).

‘DR Site/ DRS’  Disaster Recovery site of 
LankaClear.

‘FinCSIRT’ shall mean Financial Sector 
Computer Security Incidents Response Team

Glossary

‘ISOC’ shall mean Information Security 
Operations Centre.

‘LankaQR’ - LankaQR is a project initiative 
from the Central Bank of Sri Lanka to ensure 
all QR codes and QR based transactions 
in Sri Lanka are standardized and inter-
operable.

‘LankaClear’ shall mean LankaClear (Pvt) 
Limited, incorporated under the Companies 
Act No. 17 of 1982, and re-registered under 
the Companies Act No. 07 of 2007.

‘NCS’ shall mean National Card Scheme.  

‘PA-DSS’ shall mean Payment Application 
Data Security Standards

‘PCI-DSS’ shall mean Payment Card Industry 
Data Security Standards

‘PEN’ - “Payment Exchange Name” - System 
to facilitate peer-to-peer payments via a 
mobile number and a nickname.

‘POS’ shall mean Point of Sales

‘PKI: Public Key Infrastructure’
A PKI enables users of a basically unsecured 
public, private network such as the Internet 
or Virtual Private Network to securely and 
privately exchange data through the use 
of a public and a private cryptographic key 
pair that is obtained and shared through a 
trusted certification authority.

‘RTGS’  shall mean Real Time Gross 
Settlement System which is, operated by 
Central Bank of Sri Lanka. 

‘SAS’ shall mean LankaPay Shared ATM 
Network (SAS).

‘SLIPS’ shall mean LankaPay Interbank 
Payment System (SLIPS).

Appendices  Glossary

‘JustPay’ Highly secured payment 
mechanism which facilitate secure real-time 
retail payments below Rs. 50,000 under 
an extremely low tariff scheme, enable 
customers to make everyday payments by 
using their Savings or Current account by 
using smart mobile phones and other smart 
devices.

‘GRI’ shall mean Global Reporting Initiatives
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the 20th Annual General Meeting of LankaClear (Private) Limited will be held on 30th of August 2022 
at 10.00 a.m. at the Board Room of LankaClear (Private) Limited, Level 18, Bank of Ceylon Head office, “BOC Square”, No.01, Bank 
of Ceylon Mawatha, Colombo 01 via Zoom Audio / Video – (Virtual AGM) for the following purposes: 

1) To receive and consider the Report of the Directors and the Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2022 together 
with the Report of the Auditors thereon.

2) To declare the payment of a First & Final Dividend of Rs. 7.45 per share as recommended by the Directors.

3) Appointment of Auditors and authorize the Directors to determine their remuneration

 IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED that M/s PricewaterhouseCoopers, Chartered Accountants be and is hereby appointed as the Auditors 
of the Company for the ensuing year, as recommended by the Board and the Board is hereby empowered to determine their 
remuneration.

By Order of the Board
LankaClear (Private) Limited

Managers & Secretaries (Pvt) Limited
Secretaries

Colombo, 
21st June 2022

Notice of Annual 
General Meeting
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20th Annual General Meeting

Form of Proxy/Form of Registration of Shareholder
   

We the undersigned, ………………………….................................................................................................................................……………………………. bearing 

Registration No. ………………….............................……… of ……………….………………….................................................................................................................

............................................................................…………………........................................................…………………………………………………………….………………....... 

being a member of LankaClear (Private) Limited, hereby appoint 

�� Full name of Proxy : …………………………....................................................................................................................................…………………………..

�� NIC of Proxy : …………………………....................................................................................................................................…………………………..

�� Address of Proxy : …………………………....................................................................................................................................…………………………..

�� Contact Numbers : Land …………...........................................................…………..., Mobile ..................................................................................

�� Email address : …………………………....................................................................................................................................…………………………..

as our Proxy/Representative to represent us and vote for us on our behalf at the 20th Annual General Meeting of the Company to be 
held on 30th of August 2022 at 10.00 a.m. at the Board Room of LankaClear (Private) Limited, Level 18, Bank of Ceylon Head office, 
“BOC Square”, No. 01, Bank of Ceylon Mawatha, Colombo 01 via Zoom Audio / Video and at any adjournment thereof and at every poll 
which may be taken in consequence thereof.

Signed this …………….......................……… day of …………….............…………… 2022.

................................................................
Signature
Authorized Officer
(Under the common seal of company)
       
Note: Please refer overleaf for “Notes and Instructions as to completion of Form of Proxy/ Form of Registration of Shareholder”

Form of Proxy
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Notes and Instructions as to completion of Form of Proxy/Form of Registration of Shareholder

1. A Shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the meeting but is unable to attend the meeting, can appoint not more than one 
proxy to attend and vote at the AGM instead of him/her, by completing the Form of Proxy.

2. Please complete the Form of Proxy by filling in legibly, the requested details with date and sign in the space provided.

3.  In order to be valid, the Form of Proxy must be duly completed and forwarded to the Registered Office, LankaClear (Private) 
Limited, level 18, Bank of Ceylon Head office, “BOC Square”, No.01, Bank of Ceylon Mawatha, Colombo 01 or renuka.fernando@
lankaclear.com and must be received not later than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting, i.e. before 28th 
of August 2022.

4. If the Appointer is a Company or Corporation, the Form of Proxy should be executed either under its Common Seal or by a duly 
authorized officer of the Company or Corporation in accordance with its Articles of Association or Constitution.

5. The “Web Link” for participation at the AGM through the online platform will be forwarded to the Shareholder’s / Proxy holders 
above noted email address. 

Form of Proxy
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Notice is hereby given that an Extraordinary General Meeting of the shareholders of LankaClear (Private) Limited will be 
held on the 30th of August 2022 at the Board Room of LankaClear (Private) Limited. Level 18, Bank of Ceylon Head office, “BOC 
Square”, No.01, Bank of Ceylon Mawatha, Colombo 01 via Zoom Audio / Video – (Virtual AGM) following the Annual General Meeting 
of the Company, at 10.00 a.m. for the purpose of considering and if thought fit, passing the following Special Resolutions;

1. Change of Registered Name of Company
 Resolution 01 –
 IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED that the change of name of the Company as recommended by the Board, from “LankaClear (Private) 

Limited” to “LankaPay (Private) Limited” be and is hereby approved, with immediate effect, subject to necessary regulatory 
approvals and registrations. 

2. Adoption of Model Articles of Association of the Company in terms of Companies Act No 7 of 2007.
 Resolution 02 -
 IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED that the adoption of the model articles of the Companies Act No.07 of 2007 as the Articles of 

Association of the Company, with following amendments recommended by the Board be and hereby is approved for 
implementation with immediate effect; 

(i) Deletion of following objects of the Primary objects of the current articles.

 Primary Object No. ii - To carry on business relating to interbank electronic movement of funds and for such purpose to 
own and operate an electronic interbank funds transfer network.

 Primary Object No. vii - To provide the service of currency collection, processing and redistribution of cash at regional level 
in Sri Lanka on behalf of the Central Bank of Sri Lanka.

 Primary Object No. viii - To provide cash in transit services and cash management services, including withdrawals, deposits, 
transfers of cash, cheques and other documents.

(ii) Addition of following objects to the Primary objects of the current articles;
 Primary Object No. ii - To carry on business relating to interbank electronic movement of funds and for such purpose to 

own and operate an electronic interbank fund transfer network, implement and operate technology platforms to enhance and 
simplify such movement of funds and connect with any banking or non-banking system to facilitate same.

 Primary Object No. vii - To build and operate systems to enhance the security of the banking and non-banking financial 
sector including but not limited to systems which facilitate the issuance and maintenance of digital certificates to financial 
sector and third parties.

 Primary Object No. viii - To establish systems, platforms and staff to provide technical support to banking and nonbanking 
financial sector in assisting them to mitigate any security related incidents and risks.

Notice of Extraordinary 
General Meeting
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(iii) Deletion of the following article no 101 of the AoA in its entirety 

 The Seal
 The Directors shall provide for the safe custody of the seal, which shall only be used by the authority of the Directors or of a 

Committee of the Directors authorized by the Directors in that behalf, and every instrument to which the seal shall be affixed 
shall be signed by a Director and shall be countersigned by the secretary or by a second Director or by some other person 
appointed by the directors for the purpose. The secretary shall maintain a record of the documents sealed in a bound register.

By Order of the Board
LankaClear (Private) Limited

Managers & Secretaries (Pvt) Limited
Secretaries

Colombo, 
21st June 2022

Notice of Extraordinary General Meeting
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Form of Proxy/Form of Registration of Shareholder

We the undersigned, ………………………….................................................................................................................................……………………………. bearing 

Registration No. ………………….............................……… of ……………….………………….................................................................................................................

............................................................................…………………........................................................…………………………………………………………….………………....... 

being a member of LankaClear (Private) Limited, hereby appoint 

�� Full name of Proxy : …………………………....................................................................................................................................…………………………..

�� NIC of Proxy : …………………………....................................................................................................................................…………………………..

�� Address of Proxy : …………………………....................................................................................................................................…………………………..

�� Contact Numbers : Land …………..........................................................………..., Mobile ………….........................................................…………...,

�� Email address : …………………………....................................................................................................................................…………………………..

as our Proxy/Representative to represent us and vote for us on our behalf at the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company to be 
held on 30th of August 2022 at the Board Room of LankaClear (Private) Limited, Level 18, Bank of Ceylon Head office, “BOC Square”, 
No. 01, Bank of Ceylon Mawatha, Colombo 01 via Zoom Audio / Video following the Annual General Meeting of the Company, at 10.00 
a.m. and at any adjournment thereof and at every poll which may be taken in consequence thereof.

    For  Against

1. Special Resolution 01 - Change of Registered Name of Company
 
2. Special Resolution 02 - Adoption of Model Articles of Association of the Company in terms of 

Companies Act No 7 of 2007.

Signed this …………….......................……… day of …………….............…………… 2022.

................................................................
Signature
Authorized Officer
(Under the common seal of company)

Note: Please refer overleaf for “Notes and Instructions as to completion of Form of Proxy/ Form of Registration of Shareholder.

Extraordinary General Meeting - 
Form of Proxy
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Notes and Instructions as to the completion of Form of Proxy/Form of Registration of Shareholder

1. A Shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the meeting but is unable to attend the meeting, can appoint not more than one 
proxy to attend and vote at the EGM instead of him/her, by completing the Form of Proxy.

2. Please complete the Form of Proxy by filling in legibly, the requested details with date and sign in the space provided.

3.  In order to be valid, the Form of Proxy must be duly completed and forwarded to the Registered Office, LankaClear (Private) 
Limited, level 18, Bank of Ceylon Head office, “BOC Square”, No.01, Bank of Ceylon Mawatha, Colombo 01 or renuka.fernando@
lankaclear.com and must be received not later than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting, i.e. before 28th 
August 2022.

4. If the Proxy is a Company or Corporation, the Form of Proxy should be executed either under its Common Seal or by a duly 
authorized officer of the Company or Corporation in accordance with its Articles of Association or Constitution.

5. The “Web Link” for participation at the EGM through the online platform will be forwarded to the Shareholder’s / Proxy holders 
above noted email address. 

Extraordinary General Meeting - Form of Proxy
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Dear Shareholder/s,
Considering the prevailing situation in the 
country and the restrictions enforced by 
the Government of Sri Lanka, the Board of 
Directors of LankaClear (Private) Limited 
(Company) has decided to proceed with 
the AGM and EGM using audio visual 
technology.  

Please note the following procedure to be 
adopted in terms of the same;

1.  Only the key officials who are 
essential for the administration of 
the formalities of the meeting will 
be physically present at the venue. 
All Shareholders, will participate via 
the online meeting platform. This 
measure is being adopted to observe 
“social distancing” requirements to 
mitigate the danger of spreading the 
virus (COVID 19).

 2.  Adequate arrangements will be 
made for Shareholders who wish to 
participate in the AGM and EGM via 
the online meeting platform, with 
log-in information forwarded to the 
representatives of the Shareholders 
in advance of the meeting. 

 In order to enable such facilities, 
Shareholders who wish to participate 
in the meeting are requested to 
forward us their details as per the 
attached Proxy Form/Registration 
Form.

 3.  The meeting Invitation / link along 
with necessary details will be 
forwarded to the Shareholders for 
information and connecting to the 
meeting, on receipt of the completed 
Form of Proxy/Form of Registration. 

 4. Shareholders will be given 
opportunity to raise any questions 
or comment on the matters listed on 
the Agenda and Vote on the items via 
the online platform or the designated 
ancillary online application. All of 
such procedures will be explained 
to the Shareholders along with the 
communique on the meeting link.

6.  The Proxy/Registration must be 
forwarded to renuka.fernando@
lankaclear.com or to the registered 
office of the company, 48 hours prior 
to the date of the AGM and EGM.

 For any queries regarding any of 
the documents sent, please contact 
the Chairman’s Secretary on Tel: 
0769735635 during regular office 
hours. 

 
The Board wishes to thank the 
Shareholders of the company for their 
unwavering cooperation and support 
to ensure a smooth and uninterrupted 
process at this Annual General Meeting 
and Extraordinary General Meeting of the 
Company.

By Order of the Board 
LankaClear (Private) Limited

Managers & Secretaries (Private) 
Limited 
Director/Secretaries

21st June 2022

Supplementary Notice to 
Shareholders
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Notes

Appendices  Notes



Corporate 
information

Company name
LankaClear (Private) Limited

Registered Office and Principal Place of 
Business
Level 18, Bank of Ceylon Head Office 
BOC Square
No. 01, Bank of Ceylon Mawatha
Colombo 01

Contact
Tel : +94 11 2356900
Fax : +94 11 2544346
Email : info@lankaclear.com

External Services
Tel : +94 11 2356999

Legal Form and Ownership
Legal form
Incorporated as a private limited liability 
company under the Companies Act No. 
17 of 1982 on February 8, 2002 and re-
registered under the Companies Act No. 
7 of 2007.

Ownership
Operations carried out by Sri Lanka 
Automated Clearing House (SLACH) 
which was fully owned and operated 
by the Central Bank of Sri Lanka, were 
entrusted to LankaClear (Pvt) Ltd. upon 
incorporation of the Company on April 01, 
2002.

LankaClear (Pvt) Ltd. is owned by the 
Central Bank of Sri Lanka and all licensed 
commercial banks of Sri Lanka.

Company Secretaries 
Managers & Secretaries (Pvt) Ltd. 
No. 8, Tickell Road 
Colombo 08
Tel : +94 11 2015900 
Fax : +94 11 2015960

Bankers 
Bank of Ceylon 
Seylan Bank 
Union Bank

External Auditors 
M/s Ernst & Young 
Chartered Accountants 
No. 201, De Saram Place, Colombo 10
Tel : +94 11 2463500 
Fax : +94 11 2697369

Internal Auditors 
M/s B R De Silva & Company 
Chartered Accountants 
No. 22/4, Vijaya Kumaranatunga Mawatha 
Colombo 05
Tel : +94 11 4510368 
Fax : +94 11 4512404

Principal Activities 
�� National Payment System Operator  

for LKR cheque clearing (CITS) 
�� National Payment System Operator 

for inter-bank electronic batch mode 
payments (SLIPS) 

�� National Payment System Operator 
for US Dollar Draft clearing (UITS)

�� Operator of the national inter-bank 
Common ATM Switch (CAS)

�� Operator of the national inter-bank 
real-time Common Electronic Fund 
Transfer Switch (CEFTS) comprising;
�y LankaPay Online Payment 

Platform (LPOPP) for institutional 
payments

�y JustPay for mobile base retail 
payments

�y LANKAQR for standardised QR 
code payments

�y PEN: Payment Exchange Name 
easing inter-bank fund transfers

�y Direct Debit for pull money from 
another bank account upon pre-
defined instructions.

�y Lanka Remit to facilitate foreign 
remittances

�� Operating the hosted ATM switch for 
Banks/ FIs (LankaPay - SAS) 

�� Operator of the national inter-bank 
Point of Sale Switch (CPS).

�� Operator of the National Card 
Scheme (NCS)

�� Operating the hosted card 
management solution for Banks/FIs 
(LankaPay - CMS) 

�� National Payment System Operator 
for inter-bank electronic batch mode 
US Dollar payments 

�� Operating the national financial sector 
certificate authority (LankaSign) 

�� Attending to financial sector 
computer security incidents (FinCSIRT) 

Principal Products/Brands
�� CITS: Cheque Imaging and Truncation 

System 
�� SLIPS: Sri Lanka Interbank Payment 

System 
�� LankaPay CAS: Common ATM Switch 
�� LankaPay SAS: Shared ATM Switch 
�� LankaPay CMS: Card Management 

System 
�� LankaPay CEFTS: Common Electronic 

Fund Transfer Switch 
�y LPOPP: LankaPay Online Payment 

Platform 
�y JustPay 
�y LANKAQR
�y PEN: Payment Exchange Name 
�y Direct Debit 
�y LankaRemit

�� LankaPay CPS: Common POS Switch 
�� LankaPay Card issued under the 

National Card Scheme (NCS) 
�� USD On-line : Sri Lanka Interbank 

US Dollar On-line Payment System 
UITS: US Dollar Draft Online Image 
Transfer System 

�� LankaSign: Digital Certificate 
Authority for the Financial Sector 

�� FinCSIRT: Financial Sector Computer 
Security Incidents Response Team 

Markets Served
Banking and Financial Services Sector of 
Sri Lanka

Total No. of Employees 
110

Net Revenue 
Rs. 1,329,295,649

Stated Capital
Rs. 165,200,000
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